

Unicentre CH-1015 Lausanne http://serval.unil.ch

Year : 2020

Model-based simulations of drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Courlet Perrine

Courlet Perrine, 2020, Model-based simulations of drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Originally published at : Thesis, University of Lausanne

Posted at the University of Lausanne Open Archive <u>http://serval.unil.ch</u> Document URN : urn:nbn:ch:serval-BIB_16F3BCA247524

Droits d'auteur

L'Université de Lausanne attire expressément l'attention des utilisateurs sur le fait que tous les documents publiés dans l'Archive SERVAL sont protégés par le droit d'auteur, conformément à la loi fédérale sur le droit d'auteur et les droits voisins (LDA). A ce titre, il est indispensable d'obtenir le consentement préalable de l'auteur et/ou de l'éditeur avant toute utilisation d'une oeuvre ou d'une partie d'une oeuvre ne relevant pas d'une utilisation à des fins personnelles au sens de la LDA (art. 19, al. 1 lettre a). A défaut, tout contrevenant s'expose aux sanctions prévues par cette loi. Nous déclinons toute responsabilité en la matière.

Copyright

The University of Lausanne expressly draws the attention of users to the fact that all documents published in the SERVAL Archive are protected by copyright in accordance with federal law on copyright and similar rights (LDA). Accordingly it is indispensable to obtain prior consent from the author and/or publisher before any use of a work or part of a work for purposes other than personal use within the meaning of LDA (art. 19, para. 1 letter a). Failure to do so will expose offenders to the sanctions laid down by this law. We accept no liability in this respect.



UNIL | Université de Lausanne

Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Service de pharmacologie clinique Département de Médecine de Laboratoire et Pathologie

Model-based simulations of drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Thèse de doctorat ès sciences de la vie (PhD)

présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

par

Perrine COURLET

Pharmacienne diplômée de l'Université de Besançon, France

Jury

Prof. Irina Guseva Canu, Présidente Prof. Laurent Arthur Decosterd, Directeur de thèse Prof. Chantal Csajka, Co-directrice de thèse Prof. Serge Rudaz, Expert Prof. Sylvain Goutelle, Expert Dr Philip Tarr, Expert

Lausanne (2020)



UNIL | Université de Lausanne

Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Service de pharmacologie clinique Département de Médecine de Laboratoire et Pathologie

Model-based simulations of drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Thèse de doctorat ès sciences de la vie (PhD)

présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

par

Perrine COURLET

Pharmacienne diplômée de l'Université de Besançon, France

Jury

Prof. Irina Guseva Canu, Présidente Prof. Laurent Arthur Decosterd, Directeur de thèse Prof. Chantal Csajka, Co-directrice de thèse Prof. Serge Rudaz, Expert Prof. Sylvain Goutelle, Expert Dr Philip Tarr, Expert

Lausanne (2020)

Unil

UNIL | Université de Lausanne

Ecole Doctorale Doctorat ès sciences de la vie

Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Imprimatur

Vu le rapport présenté par le jury d'examen, composé de

Président·e	Madame	Prof.	Irina	Guseva-Canu
Directeur·trice de thèse	Monsieur	Prof.	Laurent	Decosterd
Co-directeur-trice	Madame	Prof.	Chantal	Csajka
Expert·e·s	Monsieur	Prof.	Serge	Rudaz
	Monsieur	Prof.	Sylvain	Goutelle
	Monsieur	Prof.	Philip	Tarr

le Conseil de Faculté autorise l'impression de la thèse de

Madame Perrine Courlet

Docteur en pharmacie* / Master 2 Pharmacologie modélisation et essais cliniques**, Université de Franche-Comté* / Université Claude Bernard/Lyon I**, France

intitulée

Model-based simulation of drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Lausanne, le 20 mars 2020

pour le Doyen de la Faculté de biologie et de médecine

N. m

Prof. Niko GELDNER Directeur de l'Ecole Doctorale

Acknowledgements

J'adresse mes remerciements,

Aux membres de mon jury de thèse, Prof Irina Guseva-Canu, Dr Philip Tarr, Prof Serge Rudaz et Prof Sylvain Goutelle, pour avoir accepté de faire partie de mon jury.

A mon directeur de thèse, Prof Laurent Decosterd, pour m'avoir permis d'effectuer ma thèse au sein du Service de pharmacologie clinique, et pour m'avoir donné l'opportunité de participer à de nombreux congrès, parfois, jusqu'au bout du monde.

A ma co-directrice de thèse, Prof Chantal Csajka, pour son soutien, son enthousiasme et ses conseils précieux (aussi bien professionnels que personnels).

A la Dresse Monia Guidi, pour le temps consacré à mes projets, son expertise en pharmacocinétique, et pour son amitié et son soutien sans faille.

A la Prof Catia Marzolini, pour son engagement infatigable dans la réalisation de mes travaux, pour son enthousiasme et ses nombreuses discussions enrichissantes, et pour toutes ces publications partagées ensemble.

Au Prof Thierry Buclin pour m'avoir accueilli au sein du Service de pharmacologie clinique, et de m'avoir permis de participer aux nombreuses activités du service, en particulier pour le Suivi Thérapeutique des Médicaments (*Therapeutic Drug Monitoring*, TDM).

A mes superviseurs pour la partie analytique, le Dr Dany Spaggiari et le Dr Vincent Desfontaine, pour leurs précieux conseils, pour toute l'énergie qu'ils ont dépensé sans compter pour m'encadrer dans ces développements analytiques par chromatographie liquide couplée à la spectrométrie de masse en tandem.

A tous les doctorants qui ont rendu ces années si particulières, que ce soit dans le bureau ou en dehors du travail. Merci à Anaïs, Akram, Catalina, Evelina, Frederic, Joanna d'avoir supporté mon stress permanent et de m'avoir décerné tous ces titres accrochés à mon mur. A mes amis de Lausanne, Emmanuelle et Céline pour les courses à pied, les randonnées, les *afterworks* et tous les bons moments passés ensemble.

A tous mes collègues du laboratoire de pharmacologie clinique, pour leur bonne humeur. Un merci particulier à ma belle portugaise, Susana Alves Saldanha, Technicienne en Analyses Biomédicales, pour son aide précieuse pour toutes les analyses réalisées au quotidien, et pour tout le temps et l'énergie qu'elle a consacré à m'aider dans chacun de mes travaux.

A tous les membres du Service de pharmacologie clinique, pour leur accueil chaleureux et leur aide au TDM.

A tous les membres du Service de Maladies Infectieuses, en particulier le Prof Matthias Cavassini et les infirmières de recherche de la Consultation Ambulatoire, Mme Deolinda Alves et Valérie Sormani, et qui ont été des interlocuteurs précieux auprès des patients, et pour leur aide inestimable pour la logistique et pour les prises de sang nécessaires à la réalisation de ce projet de recherche clinique.

A tous les patients du Service de Maladies Infectieuses qui nous ont accordé leur confiance en acceptant de participer à nos études cliniques observationnelles.

A mes parents, à mes sœurs, à Quentin, et à toute ma famille, pour leur soutien et leur présence tout au long de ce travail.

Abstract

Highly active antiretroviral treatments have transformed HIV infection from a deadly disease into a chronic condition. People living with HIV (PLWH) are ageing and experience age-related comorbidities such as cardiovascular diseases. Consequently, PLWH are often polymedicated, increasing the risk of drug-drug interactions. Antiretroviral drugs are among the therapeutic agents with the highest potential for drug-drug interactions, acting essentially as perpetrators. Drug-drug interactions can affect comedications plasma exposure, increasing or decreasing drug concentrations, with a risk of adverse events or therapeutic failure, respectively. In addition, age-related physiological changes (such as renal or hepatic impairment) can affect the magnitude of the interaction.

This thesis aimed at improving knowledge about drug-drug interactions frequently encountered in clinical practice, in order to propose drug dosage adjustments and therefore optimize patient's care. A multicentric study within the Swiss HIV Cohort Study was initiated in order to review the current state of drug prescriptions in PLWH. Cardiovascular drugs use and drug-drug interactions with this drug class were more common in elderly whilst central nervous system drugs were more prescribed and mainly involved in drug-drug interactions in younger PLWH. In order to improve knowledge about these frequent drug-drug interactions, a pharmacokinetic study with rich sampling was conducted in consenting patients receiving comedications of interest.

In addition to two bioassays for the quantification of antiretroviral drugs in human plasma, a third method was developed and validated for the determination of plasma concentrations of the most prescribed cardiovascular drugs and those with the higher risk for drug-drug interactions.

Quantitative results of these analysis allowed the development of population pharmacokinetic models for amlodipine, atorvastatin (and its major active metabolite), and rosuvastatin. These models showed that the magnitude of drug-drug interactions with antiretroviral drugs varied from weak to strong, thus potentially requiring drug dosage adjustment. In addition, a fourth model was developed for the evaluation of the pharmacokinetics of the most prescribed CNS drug escitalopram, for which no interaction with antiretroviral treatments was found, but which reveals that a significant proportion of patients were under-exposed. Finally, age was not retained as a significant covariate in any of the models, suggesting that aging has a marginal impact on the pharmacokinetics of evaluated drugs and thus, that dose adjustment based on age would *a priori* not warranted.

In conclusion, results of these studies provide overall reinsuring information on the drug exposure in PLWH, yet may be of help in clinical practice to guide the choice of comedication drugs and their dosage, taking into account patients' characteristics, specific clinical situation and the associated

antiretroviral treatment. They provide recommendations to improve to patients' care of an aging HIVinfected population, to optimize treatments to maintain clinical efficacy while insuring optimal safety.

Résumé

La mise sur le marché de puissants médicaments antirétroviraux a considérablement amélioré le pronostic de l'infection par le VIH, qui est désormais considérée comme une maladie chronique. Les personnes vivant avec le VIH deviennent ainsi de plus en plus âgées et sont touchées par diverses comorbidités habituellement liées à l'âge (maladies cardiovasculaires notamment) dont le traitement implique des associations médicamenteuses multiples et complexes, à fort risque d'interactions médicamenteuses avec les agents antirétroviraux. Ceci peut conduire à une augmentation ou une diminution des concentrations plasmatiques des comédications, avec des risques d'effets indésirables ou d'échecs thérapeutiques, respectivement. De plus, les changements physiologiques liés à l'âge (comme l'insuffisance rénale ou hépatique) sont susceptibles d'influencer l'intensité de telles interactions pharmacocinétiques.

L'objectif de cette thèse est d'améliorer nos connaissances sur les interactions médicamenteuses fréquemment rencontrées en pratique clinique, qui pourraient nécessiter d'adapter la posologie le cas échéant, dans le but d'optimiser la prise en charge thérapeutique des personnes vivant avec le VIH.

Une étude observationnelle multicentrique a été initiée sous les auspices de la *Swiss HIV Cohort Study* (SHCS) afin de dresser un état des lieux du type de prescriptions chez les personnes vivant avec le VIH, et de la prévalence des interactions médicamenteuses potentielles. Ce projet impliquait la saisie prospective détaillée de tous les médicaments pris par environ 1000 patients de la SHCS, ainsi qu'une prise de sang à l'occasion de la visite de cohorte habituelle, en même temps que les informations nécessaires à l'interprétation des taux sanguins des médicaments. Les médicaments du système cardiovasculaire et du système nerveux central étaient les plus prescrits et les plus à risque d'interactions chez les personnes âgées et les plus jeunes, respectivement. Afin d'évaluer l'importance de ces interactions dans la vie réelle, une étude de pharmacocinétique avec prélèvements riches (*e.g.* tout au long d'un intervalle de dosage de 24h) a été menée chez des patients consentants recevant les médicaments d'intérêt.

Ce projet a nécessité le développement et la validation de deux méthodes analytiques par spectrométrie de masse pour le dosage de plusieurs antirétroviraux dans le plasma, ainsi qu'une troisième méthode pour mesurer les concentrations plasmatiques des médicaments du système cardiovasculaire les plus prescrits, et les plus à risque d'interactions médicamenteuses.

Les résultats de ces dosages ont permis le développement de modèles pharmacocinétiques de population pour l'amlodipine, l'atorvastatine (et son métabolite actif majoritaire) et la rosuvastatine. Ces modèles ont montré la présence d'interactions de magnitudes faible à élevée avec les

antirétroviraux, nécessitant parfois une adaptation posologique. Enfin, un 4^{ème} modèle a été développé pour l'analyse pharmacocinétique de l'escitalopram, pour lequel aucune interaction avec les antirétroviraux n'a été démontrée. L'âge des patients ne semble pas jouer un rôle significatif dans aucun des modèles pharmacocinétiques investigués.

En conclusion, les résultats de ces études peuvent être utiles en pratique clinique pour guider le choix de certains médicaments et de leur posologie, en prenant en compte les caractéristiques individuelles de chaque patient, leur état clinique et le traitement antirétroviral associé. Ce travail apporte de nouvelles connaissances sur les interactions médicamenteuses observées en pratique clinique. Il propose des axes d'amélioration de la prise en charge d'une population vivant avec le VIH qui vieillit, afin d'optimiser les traitements pour en optimiser l'efficacité tout en diminuant les effets indésirables.

Résumé large public

La mise sur le marché des médicaments antirétroviraux a considérablement amélioré le pronostic de l'infection par VIH, désormais considérée comme une maladie chronique. Les personnes vivant avec le VIH deviennent ainsi de plus en plus âgées, et souffrent en conséquence des comorbidités habituellement liées à l'âge pour lesquelles ces patients sont également traités. Cette situation conduit à des associations médicamenteuses multiples et complexes, à fort risque d'interactions médicamenteuses, mais dont nous ne connaissons pas l'importance réelle dans la vie de tous les jours. Les antirétroviraux sont devenus très efficaces et sont globalement bien tolérés, mais ils sont parmi les médicaments à plus haut potentiel d'interactions médicamenteuses, qui peuvent conduire à une augmentation ou une diminution des concentrations sanguines des comédications, avec un risque d'effet indésirable ou d'échec thérapeutique, respectivement. De plus, les changements physiologiques liés à l'âge (comme l'insuffisance rénale ou hépatique) peuvent modifier l'importance de l'interaction médicamenteuse. Une meilleure connaissance de ces interactions permettrait l'adaptation des posologies de médicaments le cas échéant, avec comme conséquence une amélioration de la prise en charge des patients.

Les objectifs de cette thèse étaient d'abord de dresser un état des lieux des prescriptions chez les personnes vivant avec le VIH, afin de connaître les médicaments les plus fréquemment prescrits et ceux les plus à risques d'interactions médicamenteuses. Les médicaments du système cardiovasculaire et du système nerveux central étaient les plus prescrits chez les patients âgés et plus jeunes, respectivement. Nous avons développé des méthodes analytiques notamment pour les médicaments du système cardiovasculaire qui nous ont permis de mesurer les concentrations de ces médicamenteuses. Ces analyses ont finalement permis d'étudier l'évolution des concentrations sanguines de certains médicaments (amlodipine, atorvastatine et rosuvastatine) en fonction du temps, grâce à des modèles pharmacocinétiques. L'influence des caractéristiques démographiques et cliniques des patients sur les concentrations de ces médicaments, ainsi que l'importance des interactions entre les antirétroviraux et les comédications ont pu être quantifiées.

Les résultats de ces études peuvent s'avérer utiles en pratique clinique pour guider le choix de certains médicaments et de leur posologie, en prenant en compte les caractéristiques individuelles de chaque patient, leur état clinique et le traitement antirétroviral associé. En conclusion, ce travail propose des axes d'amélioration de la prise en charge d'une population vivant avec le VIH qui vieillit, afin d'optimiser les traitements pour en maximiser l'efficacité tout en diminuant les effets indésirables.

Scientific communications

Publications in peer-reviewed journal

- Perrine Courlet, Monia Guidi, Susana Alves Saldanha, Matthias Cavassini, Manuel Battegay, Marcel Stoeckle, Thierry Buclin, Catia Marzolini, Laurent Decosterd, Chantal Csajka and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Influence of drug-drug interactions on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and its active metabolite *ortho*-OH-atorvastatin in aging people living with HIV. Clinical Pharmacokinetics. 2020. [epub ahead of print]
- Perrine Courlet, Françoise Livio, Susana Alves Saldanha, Alexandra U. Scherrer, Manuel Battegay, Matthias Cavassini, Marcel Stoeckle, Laurent Decosterd, Catia Marzolini, and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Real-life management of drug-drug interactions between antiretrovirals and statins. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2020. [epub ahead of print]
 - Perrine Courlet, Susana Alves Saldanha, Matthias Cavassini, Catia Marzolini, Eva Choong, Chantal Csajka, Huldrych F. Günthard, Pascal André, Thierry Buclin, Vincent Desfontaine, Laurent Decosterd. Development and validation of a multiplex UHPLC-MS/MS assay with stable isotopic internal standards for the monitoring of the plasma concentrations of the antiretroviral drugs bictegravir, cabotegravir, doravirine and rilpivirine in people living with HV. Journal of Mass Spectrometry. 2020:e4506 [epub ahead of print]
 - Perrine Courlet, Felix Stader, Monia Guidi, Susana Alves Saldanha, Marcel Stoeckle, Matthias Cavassini, Manuel Battegay, Thierry Buclin, Laurent Decosterd, Catia Marzolini, and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging patients enrolled in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. AIDS. 2020;34(1):103-8.
 - Perrine Courlet, Françoise Livio, Monia Guidi, Matthias Cavassini, Manuel Battegay, Marcel Stoeckle, Thierry Buclin, Susana Alves Saldanha, Chantal Csajka, Catia Marzolini, Laurent Decosterd. Polypharmacy, drug-drug interactions and inappropriate drugs: new challenges in the aging population living with HIV. Open Forum Infectious Diseases. 2019;6(12):ofz531.

- Perrine Courlet, Dany Spaggiari, Vincent Desfontaine, Matthias Cavassini, Susana Alves Saldanha, Thierry Buclin, Catia Marzolini, Chantal Csajka, Laurent Decosterd. UHPLC-MS/MS assay for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for populationscale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV. Journal of chromatography B. 2019;1125:121733.
- Perrine Courlet, Monia Guidi, Anaïs Glatard, Susana Alves Saldanha, Matthias Cavassini, Thierry Buclin, Catia Marzolini, Chin B. Eap, Laurent Decosterd, Chantal Csajka. Escitalopram population pharmacokinetics in people living with human immunodeficiency virus and in the psychiatric population: Drug-drug interactions and probability of target attainment. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology. 2019;85(9):2022-32.
- Perrine Courlet, Laurent Decosterd, Jennifer A. Brown, Susana Alves Saldanha, Catia Marzolini, Matthias Cavassini, Marcel Stoeckle, Chantal Csajka, Niklaus Labhardt, Alexandra Calmy, and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Emtricitabine and lamivudine concentrations in saliva: a simple suitable test for treatment adherence. The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2019;74(8):2468-70.
- Perrine Courlet, Dany Spaggiari, Matthias Cavassini, Renaud Du Pasquier, Susana Alves Saldanha, Thierry Buclin, Catia Marzolini, Chantal Csajka, Laurent Decosterd. Determination of nucleosidic/tidic reverse transcriptase inhibitors in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid by ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. Clinical Mass Spectrometry. 2018; 8, 8-20.
- Felix Stader, Laurent Decosterd, Marcel Stoeckle, Matthias Cavassini, Manuel Battegay, Susana Alves Saldanha, Catia Marzolini, Perrine Courlet, and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV Cohort Study. AIDS. 2020 [epub ahead of print]

Veronika Baettig, **Perrine Courlet**, Tarik Delko, Manuel Battegay, Catia Marzolini. Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late postgastric bypass surgery periods. **AIDS. 2018**;32(13):1903-5. Dominique L. Braun, Teja Turk, Fabian Tschumi, Christina Grube, Benjamin Hampel, Carsten Depmeier, Peter W. Schreiber, Silvio D. Brugger, Michael Greiner, Daniela Steffens, Cornelia Bayard, **Perrine Courlet**, Kathrin Neumann, Herbert Kuster, Markus Flepp, Barbara Bertisch, Laurent Decosterd, Jürg Böni, Karin J. Metzner, Roger D. Kouyos, Huldrych F. Günthard. Non-inferiority of simplified dolutegravir monotherapy compared to continued combination antiretroviral therapy that was initiated during primary HIV infection: a randomized, controlled, multi-site, open-label, non-inferiority trial. **Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2019**;69(9):1489-97.

Catalina Barcelo, Manel Aouri, **Perrine Courlet**, Monia Guidi, Dominique Braun, Huldrych Günthard, Rein J. Piso, Matthias Cavassini, Thierry Buclin, Laurent A. Decosterd, Chantal Csajka, and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Population pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir: influence of drug-drug interactions in a real-life setting. **The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2019**; 74(9):2690-7.

Marco Previsdomini, Elisa Graziano, Laurent Decosterd, **Perrine Courlet**, Andreas Perren, Alessandro Ceschi. Severe rosuvastatin accumulation with rhabdomyolysis due to drug interactions and low cardiac output syndrome. **British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology. 2019**;85(7):1616-8.

Poster presentations

- Perrine Courlet, Françoise Livio, Susana Alves Saldanha, Alexandra U. Scherrer, Manuel Battegay, Matthias Cavassini, Marcel Stoeckle, Laurent Decosterd, Catia Marzolini, and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Real-life management of drug-drug interactions between antiretrovirals and statins. CROI, Boston, Massachusetts, 8-11 March 2020.
- Perrine Courlet, Phanie Bidlingmeyer, Isaure Nadin, Marc Sanchez, Thierry Buclin, Laurent Decosterd, Katharine Darling, Renaud Du Pasquier, Matthias Cavassini. Central nervous system penetration of antiretroviral drugs in HIV-positive patients with neurocognitive impairment, assessed from paired plasma-CSF concentrations. EACS congress, Basel, 6-9 November 2019.
- Perrine Courlet, Monia Guidi, Susana Alves Saldanha, Deolinda Alves, Matthias Cavassini, Thierry Buclin, Catia Marzolini, Laurent A. Decosterd, Chantal Csajka and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Influence of drug-drug interactions on population pharmacokinetics of

atorvastatin and its active metabolite *ortho*-OH-atorvastatin in people living with HIV. **PAGE meeting**, Stockholm, 11-14 June **2019**.

- Perrine Courlet, Catia Marzolini, Matthias Cavassini[,] Manuel Battegay, Susana Alves Saldanha, Deolinda Alves, Vreneli Waelti Da Costa, Chantal Csajka, Laurent Decosterd, and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Polypharmacy, inappropriate drugs and drug-drug interactions in HIV-infected elderly. CROI, Seattle, Washington, 4-7 March 2019.
- Perrine Courlet, Monia Guidi, Anaïs Glatard, Matthias Cavassini, Thierry Buclin, Catia Marzolini, Chin
 B. Eap, Laurent Decosterd, Chantal Csajka. Comparison of escitalopram pharmacokinetics in HIV-infected individuals with an uninfected psychiatric cohort.
 PAGE meeting, Montreux, Switzerland, 29 May-1 June 2018.
- Perrine Courlet, Matthias Cavassini, Eva Choong, Chantal Csajka, Catia Marzolini, Laurent Decosterd and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Prevalence of polypharmacy in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS). 2ème congrès de printemps de la SSMIG, Lausanne, Switzerland, 3-5 May 2017.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements5
Abstract7
Résumé9
Résumé large public11
Scientific communications13
Table of contents17
Abbreviations
CHAPTER I: GENERAL INTRODUCTION
I.1. Antiretroviral drugs
I.2. Therapeutic drug monitoring of ARTs28
I.3. The importance of LC-MS/MS for TDM
I.4. Drug-drug interactions with antiretroviral treatments
I.5. Population pharmacokinetic modeling33
I.6. Hypothesis and aim of the thesis35
I.7. References
CHAPTER II: POLYPHARMACY AND DRUG-DRUG INTERACTIONS IN PEOPLE
LIVING WITH HIV
II.1. Polypharmacy, drug-drug interactions and inappropriate drugs: new challenges in the aging population living with HIV.
II.2. Real-life management of drug-drug interactions between antiretrovirals and statins 59
CHAPTER III: LC-MS/MS ANALYSES69
III.1. Determination of nucleosidic/tidic reverse transcriptase inhibitors in plasma and
cerebrospinal fluid by ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass
spectrometry

pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for
population-scale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV
III.3. Development and validation of a multiplex UHPLC-MS/MS assay with stable isotopic internal
standards for the monitoring of plasma concentrations of the antiretroviral drugs bictegravir,
cabotegravir, doravirine and rilpivirine in people living with HIV
CHAPTER IV: POPULATION PHARMACOKINETIC ANALYSES
IV.1. Escitalopram population pharmacokinetics in people living with HIV and in the psychiatric
population: drug-drug interactions and probability of target attainment
IV.2. Population pharmacokinetic modelling to quantify the magnitude of drug-drug interactions
between amlodipine and antiretroviral drugs133
IV.3. Influence of drug-drug interactions on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and its major
active metabolite <i>ortho</i> -OH-atorvastatin in aging people living with HIV
IV.4. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modelling to describe non-HDL cholesterol lowering
effect of rosuvastatin in people living with HIV163
IV.5. Population pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir: influence of drug-drug interactions in a real-
life setting 187
life setting 187 CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS
life setting
life setting
life setting
life setting
life setting. 187 CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS 203 V.1. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV 207 Cohort Study. 207 V.2. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people 213 CHAPTER VI: VARIOUS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS 221
life setting. 187 CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS 203 V.1. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV 207 Cohort Study. 207 V.2. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people 213 CHAPTER VI: VARIOUS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS 221 VI.1. Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late post 201
life setting. 187 CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS 203 V.1. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV 203 Cohort Study. 207 V.2. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people 213 CHAPTER VI: VARIOUS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS 221 VI.1. Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late post 225
life setting. 187 CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS 203 V.1. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV 203 Cohort Study. 207 V.2. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people 213 CHAPTER VI: VARIOUS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS 221 VI.1. Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late post 225 VI.2. Emtricitabine and lamivudine concentrations in saliva: a simple suitable test for treatment 225
life setting. 187 CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS 203 V.1. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV 203 Cohort Study. 207 V.2. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people 213 CHAPTER VI: VARIOUS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS 221 VI.1. Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late post 225 VI.2. Emtricitabine and lamivudine concentrations in saliva: a simple suitable test for treatment 229
life setting. 187 CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS 203 V.1. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV 203 Cohort Study. 207 V.2. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people 213 CHAPTER VI: VARIOUS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS 221 VI.1. Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late post 225 VI.2. Emtricitabine and lamivudine concentrations in saliva: a simple suitable test for treatment 229 VI.3. Severe rosuvastatin accumulation with rhabdomyolysis due to drug interactions and low 229
life setting. 187 CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS 203 V.1. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV 203 Cohort Study. 207 V.2. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people 213 CHAPTER VI: VARIOUS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS 221 VI.1. Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late post 225 VI.2. Emtricitabine and lamivudine concentrations in saliva: a simple suitable test for treatment 229 VI.3. Severe rosuvastatin accumulation with rhabdomyolysis due to drug interactions and low 223

CHAPTER VIII: APPENDICES 253
VIII.1. Proposal of our project to the SHCS scientific board
VIII.2. Letter and medication form sent to patients for their participation in the study SHCS #815
VIII.3. Protocol submitted to the ethics committee for the PK study with rich sampling
VIII.4. Participant information sheet for the PK study with rich sampling
VIII.5. Poster presented at the EACS congress 2019 305
VIII.6. Posters presented at the CROI conferences 2019 and 2020

Abbreviations

3TC	Lamivudine	LLOQ	Lower Limit of Quantification	
ABC	Abacavir	ME	Matrix Effect	
aCSF	Artificial Cerebrospinal Fluid	MeOH	Methanol	
ACN	Acetonitrile	MPE	Mean Prediction Error	
ADME	Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism,	NCA	Non-compartmental analyses	
	Elimination			
ALT	Alanine Aminotransferase	NNRTI	Non Nucleoside Reverse	
			Transcriptase Inhibitors	
ARS	Anticholinergic Risk Score	NONMEM	Nonlinear Mixed Effects Modelling	
ART	Antiretroviral Treatment	NRTI	Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase	
			Inhibitors	
ARV	Antiretroviral	OATP1B1	Organic Anion Transporting	
			Polypeptide	
AST	Aspartate Aminotransferase	OFV	Objective function value	
ATC	Anatomical, Therapeutic, Chemical	РВРК	Physiologically-Based	
			Pharmacokinetic	
ATV	Atazanavir	pcVPC	prediction corrected Visual	
			Predictive Checks	
AUC	Area Under the Curve	PD	Pharmacodynamic	
AUCr	Area Under the Curve ratio	PDDI	Potential Drug-drug Interaction	
BCRP	Breast Cancer Resistance Protein	PE	Process Efficiency	
BID	Twice daily	PI	Protease Inhibitor	
BQL	Below the limit of quantification	РК	Pharmacokinetic	
BSV	Between-subject Variability		Person Living With HIV	
Cl	Clearance		Population Pharmacokinetics	
C _{max}	Maximum plasma concentrations	PrEP	Pre-exposure Prophylaxis	
C_{min}	Minimum plasma concentrations	pvcVPC	Prediction and variance corrected	
			Visual Predictive Checks	
CNS	Central Nervous System	Q	Inter-compartmental clearance	
CPE	CNS Penetration Effectiveness	QC	Quality Control	
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid	QD	Once daily	
СҮР	Cytochrome P450	QID	Four times a day	

D1	Zero order constant of absorption	rCSF	real Cerobrospinal Fluid	
DDI	Drug-drug Interaction	RMSE	Root Mean Squared Error	
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide	RSE	Relative Standard Error	
DRV	Darunavir	RT	Room Temperature	
DTG	Dolutegravir	RTV	Ritonavir	
EMEA	European Medicine Agency	SD	Standard Deviation	
ER	Extraction Recovery	SE	Standard Error	
ESI	Electrospray Ionization	SFSTP	Société Française des Sciences et	
			Techniques Pharmaceutiques	
ETV	Etravirine	SHCS	Swiss HIV Cohort Study	
FA	Formic acid	t _{1/2}	Half-life of elimination	
FDA	Food and Drug Administration	TAF	Tenofovir Alafenamide	
FOCE	First Order Conditional Estimation with	TAT	Turn–Around Time	
	Interaction			
$FR_{ator-oOH}$	Proportional coefficient between total	тс	Total Cholesterol	
	atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin			
	absorption rate constants			
FTC	Emtricitabine	TDF	Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate	
Gln-ZDV	Zidovudine glucuronide	TFV	Tenofovir	
GOF	Goodness-of-fit	TG	Triglycerides	
HAART	Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy	TID	Three times a day	
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein	TDM	Therapeutic Drug Monitoring	
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus	T _{max}	Time to C _{max}	
INSTI	Integrase strand transfer inhibitors	UGT	UDP-glucuronyltransferase	
IPRED	Individual Predicted Value	ULOQ	Upper Limit of Quantification	
IS	Internal Standard	UHPLC-	Ultra-High-Pressure Liquid	
		MS/MS	Chromatography coupled to	
			tandem mass spectrometry	
IS-nER	Internal Standard normalized Extraction	V _d	Volume of distribution	
	Recovery			
IS-nME	Internal Standard normalized Matrix Effect	WS	Working Solution	
IS-nPE	Internal Standard normalized Process	ZDV	Zidovudine	
	Efficiency			

IS-WS	Internal Standard Working Solution	θ	Theta: fixed effects parameters
			generated by NONMEM
ka	First order constant of absorption	η	Eta: inter-individual, random error
			in NONMEM models
LAI	Long-acting Injectable	ε	Epsilon: residual error of an
			observation y, also called random
			effect
LC-	Liquid Chromatography coupled to tandem	ω	Omega: standard deviation of
MS/MS	mass spectrometry		parameters θ generated by
			NONMEM
LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein	σ	Sigma: standard deviation of
			residual error ε

CHAPTER I: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Chapter I: General introduction 24

More than 30 years after HIV started to spread, and almost 25 years after combination antiretroviral therapy (ART) became available, the epidemic profile of HIV epidemic in Europe has changed [1]. Control the viral infection has been the subject of many studies since the first reported cases of AIDS in 1981 and the isolation of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in 1983 [2, 3]. The history of ART began with the first clinical trial of zidovudine in 1986 [4]. A better understanding of the HIV biology and pathogenesis allows the development of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART), with the advent of non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) and Protease Inhibitors (PIs) in the late 1990's and 2000's and then CCR5 antagonists and HIV integrase strand transfer inhibitors (INSTIs). These days, ART regimens are currently potent, convenient (possible once daily pill combining three drugs) and allow the reduction of HIV blood concentration to undetectable values within a few weeks after treatment initiation. ARTs can control the infection and help to prevent transmission, as demonstrated by the recent decrease in the worldwide number of new HIV infections and HIV-related deaths, by 16% and 33% respectively, between 2010 and 2016 [5].

Despite the success of ART, HIV continues to be a major global public health issue. According to the 2018 World Health Organisation (WHO) report, 770 000 people all over the world died from HIV-related causes, 37.9 million were living with HIV and another 1.7 million became newly infected [5]. Since 1988, an observational and longitudinal cohort in Switzerland has been successfully enrolling people living with HIV (PLWH). The Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS; www.shcs.ch) is a collaboration of all Swiss University hospitals, two large cantonal hospitals, with affiliated laboratories, smaller hospitals and private physicians. The major goal of SHCS is to provide optimal patient care, to reduce HIV transmission and to conduct research on several HIV dimensions. Approximately four hundred new individuals are recruited in SHCS every year, and the number of participants under active follow-up reached 9486 in 2018.

High levels of patient engagement in the HIV care continuum are key to the control of the global HIV epidemic. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) has set the target of ending AIDS by 2020. They estimate that this can be achieved if 90% of people living with HIV are diagnosed; if 90% of diagnosed people are taking ART; and if 90% of people taking ART are virally suppressed – the so-called 90-90-90 target (Figure 1). Countries in Western and Southern Europe are well on their way to meeting the UNAIDS 90-90-90 targets [6].



Source: UNAIDS/WHO estimates

Figure 1: HIV testing and care continuum (2018) [5]

The development of ARTs is a major turning point for the HIV epidemic over the past thirty years, transforming HIV infection from a deadly disease into a chronic condition, and therefore improving quality of life of PLWH [7-9]. However, such chronic treatments raise challenging issues regarding the maintenance of both therapeutic effectiveness and long-term tolerability. Indeed, ARTs do not fully restore health, as latent T-cell infection and residual replication in sanctuary compartments such as CNS do persist.

I.1. Antiretroviral drugs

Nowadays, more than 25 drugs have been approved for the treatment of HIV infection. Antiretroviral drugs can be classified according to the five following classes based on the step by which they inhibit the viral replication and their mechanism of action (Figure 2):

- Entry inhibitors, preventing viral entry into the host cell while blocking binding proteins on HIV (*e.g* fusion inhibitor enfuvirtide) or CD4 cells surface (*e.g* coreceptor CCR5 inhibitor, or humanized mAb to CD4 receptor) [10, 11].
- 2. Nucleoside/nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs), which resemble endogenous deoxyribonucleotides and have a high affinity for the viral reverse transcriptase but their incorporation results in termination of transcription (*e.g.* abacavir, lamivudine, emtricitabine, tenofovir and zidovudine) [12].

- 3. Non–nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), that also prevent viral DNA synthesis, although by allosteric inhibition (*e.g.* efavirenz, nevirapine, rilpivirine, etravirine, doravirine) [13].
- 4. Integrase strand transfer inhibitors (INSTIs), which bind the viral integrase cofactors blocking the insertion of proviral DNA into the host genome (*e.g.* raltegravir, elvitegravir, dolutegravir, cabotegravir and bictegravir) [14].
- 5. **Protease inhibitors** (PIs), which the viral protease active site as target, preventing cleavage of viral polypeptides and maturation of the virion (*e.g.* ritonavir, lopinavir, darunavir and atazanavir) [15].



Figure 2: The HIV-1 life cycle and the antiretroviral drug class intervention points [16]

Current HIV guidelines recommend initiating ART in all PLWH, regardless of CD4 T lymphocyte cell count, to reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with HIV infection [17]. INSTI-based regimens (on top of two NRTIs, either abacavir/lamivudine or tenofovir/emtricitabine) are recommended as initial therapy for most PLWH. An alternative regimen based on NNRTIs or protease inhibitors may be preferred in certain clinical situations [18]. Globally, the regimen's efficacy, genetic barrier to resistance, adverse effects profile, drug-drug interactions potential, and patient's convenience are the factors which will guide the choice between the mechanistic classes available.

Besides therapeutic effectiveness, HIV cure is currently not available and drug tolerability and longterm health impact become key issues for treatments that need to be taken indefinitely. Treatment intolerance is one of the most important causes of treatment interruption or modification. Seven years ago, treatment intolerance was reported in approximately one third of HIV-infected patients receiving first-line antiretroviral drugs [19], leading to treatment modification or interruption. The new generation of ARTs seems to have improved safety and tolerance profiles. Indeed, HIV drug development is currently focused on increased safety (*e.g.* tenofovir alafenamide, doravirine, bictegravir) of existing drug classes, combination therapies to facilitate adherence (*e.g.* single-tablet regimens), treatment simplification (*e.g.* long-acting injectables (LAI), cabotegravir and rilpivirine) and novel mechanisms of action (*e.g.* attachment inhibitors, maturation inhibitors, broadly neutralizing antibodies). Additionally, research and development efforts are centred on targeting persistent HIV reservoirs [20].

Currently, the first two-drug LAI formulation of cabotegravir plus rilpivirne have just reached the final phase of its clinical development. This is a promising approach to overcome adherence issues by administering long-acting drug formulations less frequently than the so far standard daily administration [21, 22]. Transition from daily oral drug intake to monthly or every two month injections can also improve treatment convenience, affect patients' privacy and reduce social stigmas associated with the treatment. Much hope has also been placed on LAI-ART for PrEP, as highly variable adherence to daily oral regimens profoundly impacts the prophylactic effect. However, clinical trials already showed an important pharmacokinetic variability of cabotegravir and rilpivirine injected intramuscularly as LAI. This variability may further increase in underweight or obese patients, in case of alteration of hepatic or renal functions, with drug-dug interactions (DDIs) involving treatments for chronic conditions (hypertension, cardiovascular problems, diabetes...) or coincident morbidities (tuberculosis, HCV infection, epilepsy, cancer...) and finally, should it occur, during pregnancy. In such instances, information of the PK profile of those novel LAI-ART are at present lacking.

I.2. Therapeutic drug monitoring of ARTs

During the past decades, blood concentrations measurements have been increasingly used to adjust the concentration exposure and optimize the therapeutic use of drugs administered to patients with serious clinical conditions (patients with life-threatening infections, intensive care unit or oncology settings, or patients with severe conditions characterized by fluctuating patho-physiological state) wherein tolerance and therapeutic efficacy are critical. This approach is based on the assumption that the actual drug concentration measured in plasma is a better predictor of the concentration at the target site than the dose administered to patient.

Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is routinely used to guide dosing of certain drugs, which typically should fulfil the following criteria [23]:

- Sensitive and specific analytical method available
- Broad knowledge of their pharmacokinetic (PK) processes

- Important between-subject PK variability
- Good correlation between drug concentrations and pharmacological effects, such as established PD properties and defined therapeutic range of concentrations
- Narrow therapeutic window
- Lack of precocious clinical markers of therapeutic efficacy or toxicity

Several antiretroviral drugs meet most of the TDM criteria mentioned above [24, 25]: elvitegravir plasma concentrations showed great intra- and inter-patient variability [26]; and therapeutic range of efavirenz was based on a good correlation between plasma concentrations and efficacy and toxicity [27, 28]. Moreover, a recent study suggested a relationship between plasma dolutegravir trough concentrations and neuropsychiatric adverse events [29]. TDM also improved the virological response and/or decreased the incidence of concentration-related drug toxicities of nevirapine in pregnant women [30, 31]. Finally, TDM may also be used as a -poor- indicator of short-term adherence [32].

Generally, maintaining circulating drug concentrations over a given threshold is crucial to ensure optimal antiviral action. Suboptimal drug levels allow low-level viral replication during therapy, which substantially increases the risk of viral resistance and virological failure. On the other hand, avoiding unnecessarily high concentrations may limit the likelihood of adverse effects.

The last generation of anti-HIV agents have more favourable tolerance profiles than the earlier ones. However, FDA drug prescribing information, supported by numerous observations also made within the frame of our TDM service, indicates that heterogeneity in drug response (in both efficacy and safety) still remains of concern also for last generation drugs. To that endeavour, the availability of concentration exposure monitoring for these new drugs is certainly an important component of patients' follow-up, particularly for patients with multi-resistant HIV receiving complex regimens, for which clinicians have limited experience. Therefore, current HIV guidelines recommend performing TDM only in certain scenarios [18]:

- Suspected drug-drug interactions that might result in clinically altered efficacy or toxicity
- Changes in patho-physiological state that may impair gastrointestinal, hepatic or renal function
- Special populations, including pregnant and pediatrics patients
- Treatment-experienced patients who may have viral isolates with reduced susceptibility to ART
- Use of alternate dosing regimen whose safety and efficacy have not been established in clinical trials
- Concentration dependent toxicities

- Lack of expected virological response
- Monitoring short term adherence

In all the above-mentioned cases, it is important to highlight the role of clinical pharmacologists and clinical pharmacists for the interpretation of the concentration results, and for the dose adjustment recommendations, if necessary. It must be acknowledged however, that comprehensive studies formally assessing in the real life setting whether patient's tailored antiretroviral regimens would allow to achieve a better management of HIV-infected patients still needs to be performed.

Finally, the monitoring of antiretroviral drugs in plasma may provide useful information in the setting of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of uninfected individuals. Indeed, antiretroviral drugs can also be taken by HIV-negative individuals at high risk for HIV exposure. Such proactive prevention strategy implies the administration of anti-HIV drugs prior to potential HIV exposure. Several clinical trials conducted from 2010 to 2011 have established the proof of concept for PrEP [33-35], demonstrating efficacy for reducing rates of HIV transmission. Then, the World Health Organization recommended PrEP as a prevention choice for people at substantial risk of HIV infection (gay community, sex workers) in combination with usual prevention approaches. The use of Truvada[®] (emtricitabine/tenofovir disoproxil fumarate) as PreP has been therefore approved by the FDA in July 2012. Plasma concentrations of tenofovir have been shown to be highly predictive of protection from HIV acquisition but these PrEP studies identified drug adherence as a primary obstacle to efficacy [36]. In this context, TDM can be used as short-term adherence measure for PrEP.

I.3. The importance of LC-MS/MS for TDM

Over the last 25 years, the major advances in the field of bioanalysis (involving the continuous improvement of acquisition speed and sensitivity) led to considerable progress in clinical pharmacokinetics and TDM. The LC–MS/MS technology is an important tool in TDM as it offers impressive analytical performances and improved turn–around time (TAT) as compared to the other available bioanalytical methods. Liquid chromatography coupled to MS/MS play a major role for the current deployment of TDM in clinical laboratories. Numerous LC-MS procedures dedicated to TDM have been reviewed in the last few years [37-40].

Several strength of LC-MS/MS should be acknowledged. First, the selectivity provided by tandem mass spectrometry allows to simultaneously analyse several chemically-unrelated drugs and metabolites at the same time (*i.e.* so called "multiplex") and this, within short analytical times (typically 5–7 min, including rinsing and re-equilibration steps). Therefore, numerous multiplex assays for the

quantification of drugs from the same therapeutic class in a single chromatographic run have been developed, and especially for ARTs (in plasma and cells) [41-43].

Overall, the main advantages of this approach are:

- a unique sample preparation and short analytical run
- a reduction of the required blood sample volume by simultaneously analysing commonly coprescribed drugs
- time saving through the establishment of simultaneous calibration curves
- simplified analyses of blood samples from patients receiving either single drug, or combination regimens. This latter feature is particularly relevant for the analysis of triple therapies in HIV-infected patients [44]
- a rapid access to the analytical results on a daily basis, allowing the provision of TDM dosage adjustment advice within short time intervals
- the capacity to multiplex LC-MS assays allows the measurement of several drugs and metabolites in one run, which may also help to identify errors in drug prescription or administration.

More generally, thanks to the improved analytical performances with the achievement of a high sensitivity, the detection of extremely low drug levels in biological matrices is now possible. For drugs with a high clearance (slowly eliminated from the human body), such an increased sensitivity has allowed to extend the time during which drugs can be detected in biological fluids, leading to frequently update the half-life values of many therapeutic molecules. This is another example of the reciprocal interaction intrinsically linking clinical pharmacokinetics and bioanalytical methodologies.

A large number of factors may influence the MS response, leading to significant day-to-day variations. Therefore, internal standards (IS) are usually required to achieve reliable and accurate quantitative results. Stable isotopically-labelled IS (deuterium, ¹³C or ¹⁵N) constitute the gold standard IS for quantification and have greatly facilitated the development of LC-MS/MS methodologies. It compensates for the variability in sample preparation, recovery, injection, possible compound degradation, and especially can effectively circumvent the deleterious matrix effect variably of biological samples, which may otherwise compromise the accuracy of the analytical method. These IS are also important for the accurate quantification of analytes that are quantified simultaneously without fully optimized chromatographic separation. For the assay of drugs analysed in alternate biological matrices (such as cerebrospinal fluid, dried blood spots, cellular or tissue extracts...), the use

of isotopically-labelled IS insures that unidentified, possibly variable, matrix effect are compensated for.

This illustrates the importance of LC-MS/MS methodologies in clinical settings, enabling the development of TDM applications, with promising perspectives for TDM services in the growing context of personalized medicine. Considering the fact that "every patient is different", such optimization should allow the administration of "the right drug at the right dosage to the right patient" in the routine setting.

I.4. Drug-drug interactions with antiretroviral treatments

The reduction in mortality due to ARTs has transformed HIV infection into a long-term chronic illness for many patients, and the growing aging HIV-infected population is increasingly affected by agerelated diseases. Aging PLWH encounter chronic conditions such as hypertension, cardiovascular problems, diabetes, neurocognitive impairment and malignancies [9], which lead to increasingly complex drugs associations with a high potential of DDIs [45, 46]. Moreover, renal and hepatic functions become altered in a significant percentage of patients, necessitating appropriate treatment adjustments.

Antiretroviral drugs are among the therapeutic agents with the highest potential for DDIs. PIs, and NNRTIs are extensively metabolized by CYPs, and can inhibit and/or induce different CYP isoforms [47]. DDIs with ARTs can also occur at the level of drug transporters [48] and especially for INSTIs, at glucuronidation enzymes [49], complexation with divalent cations [50] and pH-dependent drug absorption [51]. The prevalence of DDIs with HIV therapy has been assessed in several studies performed in USA, the Netherlands, United Kingdom, Switzerland, and in resource-limited countries [46, 52-57]. These studies indicate that DDIs with HIV therapy affect 19-41% of prescriptions, while clinically significant interactions are found in one third of patients receiving antiretroviral therapy. The issue of DDIs is likely to worsen with the aging HIV population encountering age-related morbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, cancers etc. [58, 59] susceptible to increase the burden of polymedication [45]. DDIs lead to substantial risks of either toxicity or decreased efficacy and subsequent emergence of drug resistance and ultimately, potential HIV transmission to seronegative partners [60]. For these reasons, the prevention, identification, and management of DDIs are crucial for patient care. A publicly available website (www.hivdruginteractions.org) under the auspices of the University of Liverpool, is a valuable resource about DDIs. However, 90% of the DDIs mentioned are predicted only based on mechanistic knowledge of their metabolic pathways identified *in vitro*. This is usually sufficient to warn about a potential for drug interactions, but this neither brings quantitative information nor accounts for the complexity of multiple and contradictory effects. Indeed, there is currently a major lack of real-life clinical data on the extension and management of DDIs, especially in the context of polymorbid, polymedicated patients poorly accounted for in treatment guidelines largely elaborated for single diseases [61]. In the growing movement of personalized medicine, research efforts must therefore be pursued to improve the prescription of ART not only with regard to antiretroviral efficacy but also according to tolerability, long-term safety and potential DDIs, possibly modulated by patients' pharmacogenetics traits. These issues will be best addressed by an integrated strategy of drug selection and dosage individualization based on relevant demographic/clinical factors, genetic markers (precision medicine) and drug concentrations measured in plasma.

I.5. Population pharmacokinetic modeling

It has been recognised that for most systemic therapies, circulating drug concentration exposure is a leading factor associated with both efficacy and toxicity. Nevertheless, drugs are often prescribed at standard dosage regimens, which does not account for between-subject variability (BSV) in drug levels. However, BSV can be remarkably large for some drugs (including ART), impacting therapeutic response. Multiple sources of variability have been identified such as demographic, environmental, clinical and genetic factors. Due to the complexity of real-life data, which confound multiple pharmacokinetic, host-related, viral, environmental, genetic factors and drug-drug interactions into a resulting phenotype, it has become advisable to develop models that can incorporate all relevant determinants of treatment response. Population-based approaches represent the best way to characterize the pharmacokinetic profile of drugs in a cohort of patients, and to capture the contribution of multiple genetic and non-genetic influences affecting drug levels [62, 63]. The basic concept of population modelling is to include patient data obtained from observational studies into non-linear mixed effects regression models. One of the advantages of the population approach is the possibility to analyse sparse datasets, with often only one concentration measurement per individual. Compartmental methods are applied in PK modelling and consider the body as a system of related compartments where the drug is absorbed and distributed before being eliminated (Figure 3). PK parameters such as clearance, volume of distribution and absorption rate constant can be calculated with this approach.



Figure 3: Representation of a two-compartments pharmacokinetic model for an orally administered drug. Ka, absorption rate; Q, intercompartmental clearance; Cl, total clearance.

In population pharmacokinetics (population PK), mathematical and statistical models are applied to obtain a typical value of PK parameters in a given population of individuals, along with betweensubject variability. Then, factors that might influence these parameters will be identified to explain BSV.

Fixed effects include mean parameters (θ) that represent the population average PK parameters (*e.g.* clearance, volume of distribution...). These are susceptible to fixed effect covariates (z_i), which are individual characteristics (*e.g.* body weight, age or renal function) that induce PK variability across the population.

Two sources of variability are responsible for random effects. First, differences among two individuals defines between-subject variability. For a given individual i, $\theta_i = \theta + \eta_i$, where η_i is the individual BSV and is modelled in terms of η , which is normally distributed with a mean of 0 and variance of ω^2 . Secondly, the within-subject variability, also named residual error, is the variability observed in the different measurements of the same individual and is expressed as variance σ^2 . For a given individual i, and observation j, the observation is predicted by $y_{ij} = \hat{y} + \varepsilon_{ij}$, where ε_{ij} follows a normal distribution with mean of 0 and variance of σ^2 .

Therefore, the general mixed effects model is represented by: $y_{ij} = f(x_{ij}, \Phi_i) + \epsilon_{ij}$

where y_{ij} is the jth observation of the ith individual; f defines the PK model (one, two or three compartments, linear or nonlinear kinetics); x_{ij} is a known predictor (time and dose); Φ_i is the PK parameter vector for the ith individual and ε_{ij} is the additive residual error, which could also be modelled as exponential or as combination of both.

The parameter model is then represented by: $\Phi_i = g(z_i, \theta) + \eta_i$

where g is the structural model which is function of fixed effects covariates (z_i) and PK parameters (θ). Based on a maximum likelihood approach, the software NONMEM[®] [64] estimates the best possible values of θ , ω^2 and σ^2 . The objective function value (approximately equal to minus twice the logarithm of the maximum likelihood) allows the comparison between two hierarchical models with the likelihood ratio test. In addition, diagnostic plots, changes in coefficients of variation of PK parameters, and precision of parameter estimates are also used to determine the model that best describes the data.

Today, population PK is consistently used in the drug development process, being recommended by regulatory agencies to detect sources of variability in drug response or toxicity among individuals [65, 66]. Population pharmacokinetic analyses of the NNRTIS (efavirenz [67-69], nevirapine [70], etravirine [71]), the PIs lopinavir ([72-74], atazanavir [75], indinavir [76], darunavir [77]) and other more recent drugs (raltegravir [78], maraviroc [79], tenofovir [80], elvitegravir [26] and dolutegravir [81] have been able to quantify variability and to assess relevant sources of variations in drug levels, including DDIs. Another advantage of models is that they can be used for comprehensive simulations, in particular to test alternative dosage regimens. Noteworthy, the clinical usefulness of such approaches has been acknowledged in medicine, allowing for Bayesian feed-back adjustment of dosage regimens, considered the best strategy for TDM [82].

I.6. Hypothesis and aim of the thesis

This present research addresses a key issue in current therapeutics of PLWH, which is the complex nature of therapeutic antiviral and non-antiviral regimens resulting in an elevated risk of DDIs.

It aims at identifying the most important drug-drug interactions in SHCS patients under real-life conditions, followed by model-based approaches possibly considering further patients' demographic, pathophysiologic and possibly pharmacogenetic characteristics, and formal clinical confirmation through targeted pharmacokinetic trials. Ultimately, these investigations would allow to personalize drug treatments while addressing the problem of interactions with comedications, for providing the most efficient and the safest possible patient's care. More generally, this proposal aims to bridge a large translational research gap starting from mechanistic pharmacokinetics, going through population modeling, and ending up at the level of pharmaco-epidemiology, in an endeavor to bring significant contributions to current knowledge in the field of DDIs.

Building up on our mass spectrometry and population pharmacokinetics modelling expertise and established frameworks, we intend to launch a systematic analysis of complex DDIs relevant to
antiviral treatments and comedication in PLWH. Specifically, the following specific objectives have been undertaken:

- Large-scale cross-sectional capture, at the occasion of the bi–annual cohort visit of SHCS patients, of TDM blood samples along with relevant therapeutic information (date/time of last drug dose and blood sampling), not only for antiretroviral treatments but also for all other drugs part of their co-medication (*i.e.* statins, cardiovascular and psychotropic drugs, etc.)
- 2. Multiplex mass spectrometry analyses of antiretroviral drugs and relevant comedications in plasma samples.
- 3. Population pharmacokinetic modeling of the exposure to antiretroviral drugs and to selected comedications in SHCS patients
- 4. Analyses of DDIs observed in SHCS individuals in real-life conditions, followed by model-based simulations and formal small-scale validation pharmacokinetic studies of problematic drug interactions.

I.7. References

1. Hamers FF, Downs AM. The changing face of the HIV epidemic in western Europe: what are the implications for public health policies? Lancet. 2004;364(9428):83-94.

2. Barre-Sinoussi F, Chermann JC, Rey F, Nugeyre MT, Chamaret S, Gruest J, et al. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science. 1983;220(4599):868-71.

3. Hymes KB, Cheung T, Greene JB, Prose NS, Marcus A, Ballard H, et al. Kaposi's sarcoma in homosexual men-a report of eight cases. Lancet. 1981;2(8247):598-600.

4. Fischl MA, Richman DD, Grieco MH, Gottlieb MS, Volberding PA, Laskin OL, et al. The efficacy of azidothymidine (AZT) in the treatment of patients with AIDS and AIDS-related complex. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. N Engl J Med. 1987;317(4):185-91.

5. World Health Organization. HIV/AIDS [Available from: http://www.who.int/hiv/en/.

6. Gourlay A, Noori T, Pharris A, Axelsson M, Costagliola D, Cowan S, et al. The Human Immunodeficiency Virus Continuum of Care in European Union Countries in 2013: Data and Challenges. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2017;64(12):1644-56.

7. Mocroft A, Vella S, Benfield TL, Chiesi A, Miller V, Gargalianos P, et al. Changing patterns of mortality across Europe in patients infected with HIV-1. EuroSIDA Study Group. Lancet. 1998;352(9142):1725-30.

8. Degroote S, Vogelaers D, Vandijck DM. What determines health-related quality of life among people living with HIV: an updated review of the literature. Arch Public Health. 2014;72(1):40.

9. Smit M, Brinkman K, Geerlings S, Smit C, Thyagarajan K, Sighem A, et al. Future challenges for clinical care of an ageing population infected with HIV: a modelling study. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2015;15(7):810-8.

10. Haqqani AA, Tilton JC. Entry inhibitors and their use in the treatment of HIV-1 infection. Antiviral Res. 2013;98(2):158-70.

11. Henrich TJ, Kuritzkes DR. HIV-1 entry inhibitors: recent development and clinical use. Curr Opin Virol. 2013;3(1):51-7.

12. Cihlar T, Ray AS. Nucleoside and nucleotide HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitors: 25 years after zidovudine. Antiviral Res. 2010;85(1):39-58.

13. De Clercq E. Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs): past, present, and future. Chem Biodivers. 2004;1(1):44-64.

14. Schafer JJ, Squires KE. Integrase inhibitors: a novel class of antiretroviral agents. The Annals of pharmacotherapy. 2010;44(1):145-56.

15. Adamson CS. Protease-Mediated Maturation of HIV: Inhibitors of Protease and the Maturation Process. Mol Biol Int. 2012;2012:604261.

16. Smith RL, de Boer R, Brul S, Budovskaya Y, van Spek H. Premature and accelerated aging: HIV or HAART? Front Genet. 2012;3:328.

17. Group ISS, Lundgren JD, Babiker AG, Gordin F, Emery S, Grund B, et al. Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in Early Asymptomatic HIV Infection. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(9):795-807.

18. Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents. Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Adults and Adolescents Living with HIV. Department of Health and Human Services. Available at http://www.aidsinfo.nih.gov/ContentFiles/AdultandAdolescentGL.pdf. .

19. Lubomirov R, Colombo S, di Iulio J, Ledergerber B, Martinez R, Cavassini M, et al. Association of pharmacogenetic markers with premature discontinuation of first-line anti-HIV therapy: an observational cohort study. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2011;203(2):246-57.

20. Cihlar T, Fordyce M. Current status and prospects of HIV treatment. Curr Opin Virol. 2016;18:50-6.

21. Dolgin E. Long-acting HIV drugs advanced to overcome adherence challenge. Nat Med. 2014;20(4):323-4.

22. Flexner C. Antiretroviral implants for treatment and prevention of HIV infection. Current opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2018;13(4):374-80.

23. Touw DJ, Neef C, Thomson AH, Vinks AA, Cost-Effectiveness of Therapeutic Drug Monitoring Committee of the International Association for Therapeutic Drug M, Clinical T. Cost-effectiveness of therapeutic drug monitoring: a systematic review. Therapeutic drug monitoring. 2005;27(1):10-7.

24. Punyawudho B, Singkham N, Thammajaruk N, Dalodom T, Kerr SJ, Burger DM, et al. Therapeutic drug monitoring of antiretroviral drugs in HIV-infected patients. Expert review of clinical pharmacology. 2016;9(12):1583-95.

25. Pretorius E, Klinker H, Rosenkranz B. The role of therapeutic drug monitoring in the management of patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Therapeutic drug monitoring. 2011;33(3):265-74.

26. Barcelo C, Gaspar F, Aouri M, Panchaud A, Rotger M, Guidi M, et al. Population pharmacokinetic analysis of elvitegravir and cobicistat in HIV-1-infected individuals. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2016;71(7):1933-42.

27. Marzolini C, Telenti A, Decosterd LA, Greub G, Biollaz J, Buclin T. Efavirenz plasma levels can predict treatment failure and central nervous system side effects in HIV-1-infected patients. Aids. 2001;15(1):71-5.

28. Fayet Mello A, Buclin T, Decosterd LA, Delhumeau C, di Iulio J, Fleurent A, et al. Successful efavirenz dose reduction guided by therapeutic drug monitoring. Antiviral therapy. 2011;16(2):189-97.

29. Yagura H, Watanabe D, Kushida H, Tomishima K, Togami H, Hirano A, et al. Impact of UGT1A1 gene polymorphisms on plasma dolutegravir trough concentrations and neuropsychiatric adverse events in Japanese individuals infected with HIV-1. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):622.

30. Veldkamp AI, Weverling GJ, Lange JM, Montaner JS, Reiss P, Cooper DA, et al. High exposure to nevirapine in plasma is associated with an improved virological response in HIV-1-infected individuals. Aids. 2001;15(9):1089-95.

31. Roustit M, Jlaiel M, Leclercq P, Stanke-Labesque F. Pharmacokinetics and therapeutic drug monitoring of antiretrovirals in pregnant women. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2008;66(2):179-95.

32. van Luin M, Wit FW, Smit C, Rigter IM, Franssen EJ, Richter C, et al. Adherence to HIV therapeutic drug monitoring guidelines in The Netherlands. Therapeutic drug monitoring. 2011;33(1):32-9.

33. Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, Mugo NR, Campbell JD, Wangisi J, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(5):399-410.

34. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu AY, Vargas L, et al. Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(27):2587-99.

35. Thigpen MC, Kebaabetswe PM, Paxton LA, Smith DK, Rose CE, Segolodi TM, et al. Antiretroviral preexposure prophylaxis for heterosexual HIV transmission in Botswana. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(5):423-34.

36. Marcus JL, Buisker T, Horvath T, Amico KR, Fuchs JD, Buchbinder SP, et al. Helping our patients take HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP): a systematic review of adherence interventions. HIV medicine. 2014;15(7):385-95.

37. Shipkova M, Svinarov D. LC-MS/MS as a tool for TDM services: Where are we? Clinical biochemistry. 2016;49(13-14):1009-23.

38. Adaway JE, Keevil BG. Therapeutic drug monitoring and LC-MS/MS. Journal of chromatography B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences. 2012;883-884:33-49.

39. Saint-Marcoux F, Sauvage FL, Marquet P. Current role of LC-MS in therapeutic drug monitoring. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2007;388(7):1327-49.

40. Decosterd L, Widmer N, André P, Aouri M, Buclin T. The emerging role of multiplex tandem mass spectrometry analysis for therapeutic drug monitoring and personalized medicine. Trends in Analytical Chemistry. 2016;84:5-13.

41. Aouri M, Calmy A, Hirschel B, Telenti A, Buclin T, Cavassini M, et al. A validated assay by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for the simultaneous quantification of elvitegravir and rilpivirine in HIV positive patients. J Mass Spectrom. 2013;48(5):616-25.

42. Colombo S, Beguin A, Telenti A, Biollaz J, Buclin T, Rochat B, et al. Intracellular measurements of anti-HIV drugs indinavir, amprenavir, saquinavir, ritonavir, nelfinavir, lopinavir, atazanavir, efavirenz and nevirapine in peripheral blood mononuclear cells by liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of chromatography B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences. 2005;819(2):259-76.

43. Fayet A, Beguin A, Zanolari B, Cruchon S, Guignard N, Telenti A, et al. A LC-tandem MS assay for the simultaneous measurement of new antiretroviral agents: Raltegravir, maraviroc, darunavir, and etravirine. Journal of chromatography B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences. 2009;877(11-12):1057-69.

44. Muller DM, Rentsch KM. Therapeutic drug monitoring by LC-MS-MS with special focus on antiinfective drugs. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2010;398(6):2573-94. 45. Marzolini C, Back D, Weber R, Furrer H, Cavassini M, Calmy A, et al. Ageing with HIV: medication use and risk for potential drug-drug interactions. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2011;66(9):2107-11.

46. Marzolini C, Elzi L, Gibbons S, Weber R, Fux C, Furrer H, et al. Prevalence of comedications and effect of potential drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Antiviral therapy. 2010;15(3):413-23.

47. Barry M, Mulcahy F, Merry C, Gibbons S, Back D. Pharmacokinetics and potential interactions amongst antiretroviral agents used to treat patients with HIV infection. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 1999;36(4):289-304.

48. Marzolini C, Battegay M, Back D. Mechanisms of Drug Interactions II: Transport Proteins. In: Piscitelli CS, Rodvold AK, Pai PM, editors. Drug Interactions in Infectious Diseases. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2011. p. 43-72.

49. Kiang TK, Ensom MH, Chang TK. UDP-glucuronosyltransferases and clinical drug-drug interactions. Pharmacology & therapeutics. 2005;106(1):97-132.

50. Moss DM, Siccardi M, Murphy M, Piperakis MM, Khoo SH, Back DJ, et al. Divalent metals and pH alter raltegravir disposition in vitro. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2012;56(6):3020-6.

51. Beique L, Giguere P, la Porte C, Angel J. Interactions between protease inhibitors and acidreducing agents: a systematic review. HIV medicine. 2007;8(6):335-45.

52. de Maat MM, de Boer A, Koks CH, Mulder JW, Meenhorst PL, van Gorp EC, et al. Evaluation of clinical pharmacist interventions on drug interactions in outpatient pharmaceutical HIV-care. Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics. 2004;29(2):121-30.

53. Miller CD, El-Kholi R, Faragon JJ, Lodise TP. Prevalence and risk factors for clinically significant drug interactions with antiretroviral therapy. Pharmacotherapy. 2007;27(10):1379-86.

54. Evans-Jones JG, Cottle LE, Back DJ, Gibbons S, Beeching NJ, Carey PB, et al. Recognition of risk for clinically significant drug interactions among HIV-infected patients receiving antiretroviral therapy. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2010;50(10):1419-21.

55. Kigen G, Kimaiyo S, Nyandiko W, Faragher B, Sang E, Jakait B, et al. Prevalence of potential drug-drug interactions involving antiretroviral drugs in a large Kenyan cohort. PloS one. 2011;6(2):e16800.

56. Patel N, Abdelsayed S, Veve M, Miller CD. Predictors of clinically significant drug-drug interactions among patients treated with nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-, protease inhibitor-, and raltegravir-based antiretroviral regimens. The Annals of pharmacotherapy. 2011;45(3):317-24.

57. Seden K, Merry C, Hewson R, Siccardi M, Lamorde M, Byakika-Kibwika P, et al. Prevalence and type of drug-drug interactions involving ART in patients attending a specialist HIV outpatient clinic in Kampala, Uganda. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2015;70(12):3317-22.

58. Hasse B, Ledergerber B, Furrer H, Battegay M, Hirschel B, Cavassini M, et al. Morbidity and aging in HIV-infected persons: the Swiss HIV cohort study. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2011;53(11):1130-9.

59. Brothers TD, Kirkland S, Guaraldi G, Falutz J, Theou O, Johnston BL, et al. Frailty in people aging with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2014;210(8):1170-9.

60. Les personnes séropositives ne souffrant d'aucune autre MST et suivant un traitement antirétroviral efficace ne transmettent pas le VIH par voie sexuelle. Bull Med Suisses, 89(5): 165–169.
2008.

61. Vigouroux C, Bastard JP, Capeau J. Emerging clinical issues related to management of multiorgan comorbidities and polypharmacy. Current opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2014;9(4):371-8.

62. Barrett JS, Labbe L, Pfister M. Application and impact of population pharmacokinetics in the assessment of antiretroviral pharmacotherapy. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2005;44(6):591-625.

63. Sheiner LB, Ludden TM. Population pharmacokinetics/dynamics. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology. 1992;32:185-209.

64. Beal SL, Sheiner LB, Boekmann AJ. NONMEM User Guides (1989-2006), locn Development Solutions, Ellicott City, MD, USA.

65. European Medicine Agency. Guideline on reporting the results of population pharmacokinetic analyses. , (June 2007).

66. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry, Population Pharmacokinetics, (February 1999).

67. Csajka C, Marzolini C, Fattinger K, Decosterd LA, Fellay J, Telenti A, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and effects of efavirenz in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2003;73(1):20-30.

68. Wyen C, Hendra H, Vogel M, Hoffmann C, Knechten H, Brockmeyer NH, et al. Impact of CYP2B6 983T>C polymorphism on non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor plasma concentrations in HIV-infected patients. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2008;61(4):914-8.

69. Barrett JS, Joshi AS, Chai M, Ludden TM, Fiske WD, Pieniaszek HJ, Jr. Population pharmacokinetic meta-analysis with efavirenz. International journal of clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2002;40(11):507-19.

70. de Maat MM, Huitema AD, Mulder JW, Meenhorst PL, van Gorp EC, Beijnen JH. Population pharmacokinetics of nevirapine in an unselected cohort of HIV-1-infected individuals. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2002;54(4):378-85.

71. Lubomirov R, Arab-Alameddine M, Rotger M, Fayet-Mello A, Martinez R, Guidi M, et al. Pharmacogenetics-based population pharmacokinetic analysis of etravirine in HIV-1 infected individuals. Pharmacogenetics and genomics. 2013;23(1):9-18.

72. Molto J, Barbanoj MJ, Miranda C, Blanco A, Santos JR, Negredo E, et al. Simultaneous population pharmacokinetic model for lopinavir and ritonavir in HIV-infected adults. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2008;47(10):681-92.

73. Crommentuyn KM, Kappelhoff BS, Mulder JW, Mairuhu AT, van Gorp EC, Meenhorst PL, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of lopinavir in combination with ritonavir in HIV-1-infected patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2005;60(4):378-89.

74. Lubomirov R, di Iulio J, Fayet A, Colombo S, Martinez R, Marzolini C, et al. ADME pharmacogenetics: investigation of the pharmacokinetics of the antiretroviral agent lopinavir coformulated with ritonavir. Pharmacogenetics and genomics. 2010;20(4):217-30.

75. Colombo S, Buclin T, Cavassini M, Decosterd LA, Telenti A, Biollaz J, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of atazanavir in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2006;50(11):3801-8.

76. Csajka C, Marzolini C, Fattinger K, Decosterd LA, Telenti A, Biollaz J, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of indinavir in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2004;48(9):3226-32.

Arab-Alameddine M, Lubomirov R, Fayet-Mello A, Aouri M, Rotger M, Buclin T, et al.
Population pharmacokinetic modelling and evaluation of different dosage regimens for darunavir and
ritonavir in HIV-infected individuals. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2014;69(9):2489-98.
Arab-Alameddine M, Fayet-Mello A, Lubomirov R, Neely M, di Iulio J, Owen A, et al. Population

pharmacokinetic analysis and pharmacogenetics of raltegravir in HIV-positive and healthy individuals. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2012;56(6):2959-66.

79. Chan PL, Weatherley B, McFadyen L. A population pharmacokinetic meta-analysis of maraviroc in healthy volunteers and asymptomatic HIV-infected subjects. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2008;65 Suppl 1:76-85.

80. Jullien V, Treluyer JM, Rey E, Jaffray P, Krivine A, Moachon L, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of tenofovir in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients taking highly active antiretroviral therapy. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2005;49(8):3361-6.

81. Barcelo C, Aouri M, Courlet P, Guidi M, Braun D, Gunthard HF, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of Dolutegravir: influence of drug-drug interactions in a real-life setting. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2018, submitted.

82. Neely M, Jelliffe R. Practical therapeutic drug management in HIV-infected patients: use of population pharmacokinetic models supplemented by individualized Bayesian dose optimization. Journal of clinical pharmacology. 2008;48(9):1081-91.

Chapter I: General introduction 44

CHAPTER II: POLYPHARMACY AND DRUG-DRUG INTERACTIONS IN PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV

Chapter II in the thesis context

Highly active antiretroviral treatments (ARTs) have transformed HIV infection from a deadly disease into a manageable chronic condition. As a consequence, PLWH live longer and become older. Moreover, ageing patients encounter chronic conditions such as hypertension, cardiovascular problems, diabetes, neurocognitive impairment and malignancies, which lead to increasingly complex drugs associations with a high potential of drug-drug interactions (DDIs) making the management of HIV-infection therapy more challenging. In addition, information about the influence of ageing on ARV pharmacokinetics is limited since PK studies are generally conducted in healthy young male volunteers which therefore do not reflect the real-life situation of elderly PLWH. Also, prescribing issues such as DDIs or inappropriate medication use can occur in elderly. Last studies that have evaluated medication use and DDIs in the SHCS date back to 2010 and 2011. However, prescribing patterns have changed with the arrival of new therapeutic classes such as strand transfer HIV integrase inhibitors (INSTIs). INSTIs are increasingly prescribed because of their safety profile, their high barrier to resistance and their lower potential from DDIs than protease inhibitors. Therefore, information about prevalence of DDIs in the SHCS needed to be updated. In addition, most studies evaluating the prevalence of polypharmacy and DDIs are based on data retrieved from patient's records completed by the physician. However, such databases are biased and error-prone since patient may not remember during the medical visit all his medications and drug dosages. To circumvent this limitations, the SHCS constitutes indeed an ideal framework since SHCS patients are keen to participate in research projects and the capture of detailed treatment information (both viral and non-virals drugs) at the usual cohort visit is facilitated by a dedicated form purposely prepared for drugs and dosage records (see Appendice VIII.2).

The first part of this chapter describes the prospective multicentre study conducted within SHCS during my thesis. This study constituted the fundamental basis of my entire thesis since it has allowed to generate fruitful qualitative and quantitative data to be analysed. This paper is a descriptive review of prescribing issues that occurred in the ageing HIV-infected population such as polypharmacy, DDIs and inappropriate medications.

The second section focuses on statins, frequently prescribed lipid-lowering agents with a known risk for DDIs. This study gives details about the management of drug-drug interactions in a real life setting, along with its pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics consequences.

Own contribution: Logistical organisation of the bi-centric (Lausanne and Basel) observational clinical study SHCS #815. Patients' recruitment and data collection. Writing of the research protocol and submission to the ethics committee for the pharmacokinetic study involving rich sampling

(NCT03515772) in patients consenting to participate to the 24h- pharmacokinetic study. Logistical organisation, data management, analyses and interpretation of the data. Writing of the manuscript.

II.1. Polypharmacy, drug-drug interactions and inappropriate

drugs: new challenges in the aging population living with HIV.

Manuscript published in Open Forum Infectious Diseases



Polypharmacy, Drug–Drug Interactions, and Inappropriate Drugs: New Challenges in the Aging Population With HIV

Perrine Courlet,^{1,®} Françoise Livio,¹ Monia Guidi,^{1,2} Matthias Cavassini,³ Manuel Battegay,⁴ Marcel Stoeckle,⁴ Thierry Buclin,¹ Susana Alves Saldanha,¹ Chantal Csajka,^{1,2,®} Catia Marzolini,^{4,5,*} and Laurent Decosterd^{1,*,©;} the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

¹Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, ²Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Western Switzerland, Geneva, Switzerland, ³Service of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, ⁴Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel and University of Basel, Switzerland, and ⁵Department of Molecular and Clinical Pharmacology, Institute of Translational Medicine, University of Liverpool, UK

Background. Antiretroviral therapy has transformed HIV infection from a deadly into a chronic condition. Aging people with HIV (PWH) are at higher risk of polypharmacy, potential drug–drug interactions (DDIs), and potentially inappropriate medications (PIMs). This study aims to compare prescribed drugs, polypharmacy, and potential DDIs between young (<65 years old) and elderly (≥65 years old) PWH. The prevalence of PIMs was assessed in elderly.

Methods. PWH from 2 centers within the Swiss HIV Cohort Study were asked to fill in a form with all their current medications. Polypharmacy was defined as being on \geq 5 non-HIV drugs. PIMs were evaluated using Beers criteria. Potential DDIs for the most prescribed therapeutic classes were screened with the Liverpool interaction database.

Results. Among the 996 PWH included, 122 were \geq 65 years old. Polypharmacy was more frequent in the elderly group (44% vs 12%). Medications and potential DDIs differed according to the age group: cardiovascular drugs and related potential DDIs were more common in the elderly group (73% of forms included \geq 1 cardiovascular drug; 11% of cardiovascular drugs involved potential DDIs), whereas central nervous system drugs were more prescribed and involved in potential DDIs in younger PWH (26%, 11%). Potential DDIs were mostly managed through dosage adjustments. PIMs were found in 31% of the elderly group.

Conclusions. Potential DDIs remain common, and PIMs constitute an additional burden for the elderly. It is important that prescribers develop and maintain a proactive approach for the recognition and management of DDIs and other prescribing issues frequently encountered in geriatric medicine.

Keywords. aging; drug-drug interactions; elderly; HIV; inappropriate drugs; polypharmacy.

Antiretroviral treatments (ARTs) have transformed HIV infection from a deadly disease into a chronic condition. As a consequence, people with HIV (PWH) are getting older, living long enough to develop age-related chronic conditions and consequently to receive significant polymedication in addition to their ARTs [1–4]. Furthermore, aging is characterized by physiological changes known to affect the exposure or response to drugs [5]. Thus, all together, elderly PWH are at increased risk of having polypharmacy, drug–drug interactions, and potentially inappropriate medications (PIMs) [6–10].

Open Forum Infectious Diseases®

ARTs are among the therapeutic agents with the highest potential for DDIs, either as perpetrators (ART impacting a non-ART drug) or victims (ART being impacted by a non-ART drug). Pharmacokinetic interactions can occur at the level of absorption (eg, complexation with divalent cations, pH modification) [11, 12], distribution, metabolism, or elimination (induction/inhibition of cytochrome [CYP] isoforms, glucuronidation enzymes or transporters) [13–15]. Interactions have the potential to lead to substantial risks of either toxicity or decreased therapeutic efficacy for either ARTs or non-ARTs. For these reasons, the prevention, identification, and management of DDIs are crucial in PWH.

Little is known about PIMs in older PWH, which may harm this vulnerable population. To the best of our knowledge, only 3 studies have raised this issue, showing that 52% to 66% of older PWH had at least 1 medication-related problem [7, 16, 17].

The aim of this study was to compare prescribed medications, polypharmacy, and potential DDIs between young and elderly PWH included in 2 centers of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS). The prevalence of PIMs was assessed in the elderly group. In addition, dosage adjustment was evaluated for

Received 3 October 2019; editorial decision 11 December 2019; accepted 13 December 2019. *Equal contribution

Correspondence: Laurent Decosterd, Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital of Lausanne and University of Lausanne, Rue du Bugnon 19, CH-1011 Lausanne, Switzerland (laurentarthur.decosterd@chuv.ch).

[©] The Author(s) 2019. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of Infectious Diseases Society of America. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/ by-nc-nd/4.0/), which permits non-commercial reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com D0I: 10.1093/ofid/ofz531

comedications for which official dosing recommendations are available in order to assess the management of DDIs in real life.

METHODS

Study Design

The SHCS, a multicenter prospective cohort study, has been continuously enrolling PWH since its establishment in 1988 [18]. Approximately 75% of PWH receiving ART in Switzerland agree to be followed within the SHCS network. Within the framework of SHCS project 815, we have launched a comprehensive analysis of relevant DDIs between ARTs and commonly prescribed comedications from January 2017 to December 2018 in the HIV clinics at the University Hospitals of Lausanne and Basel. PWH were contacted by post 1 week before their biannual SHCS appointment and invited to report all their current medications, the respective dosage, and date/ time of last drug intake before SHCS visit in a dedicated form, which they would bring back during their routine SHCS visit. Clinical nurses were responsible for gathering and checking the completeness of the medication forms. PWH were classified as "elderly" if they were ≥ 65 years old. This age cutoff was adopted as it represents the definition of elderly age in most developed world countries.

Description of Medications

The drugs reported in the forms included ARTs, prescription medications, and over-the-counter remedies. Comedications were classified according to the anatomical therapeutic chemical classification (ATC), as recommended by the World Health Organization [19], taking into account up to 3 digits. If a medication contained 2 or more pharmacologically active agents, each substance was counted individually in the analysis. Polypharmacy was defined as the concurrent administration of 5 or more comedications in addition to ART, which represents a rather conservative criterion, as the overall number of 5 drugs is commonly used to define polypharmacy [20]. As ARTs or comedications can be modified during the follow-up visit, all medication forms collected during the study period were considered for this analysis. Number and type of comedications were visually compared in multiple age groups.

PIMs were assessed using the most recent version of the classical Beers criteria and included, for instance, drugs with anticholinergic properties or benzodiazepines, which can impair cognition and consequently increase the risk of falls in elderly persons [3, 21]. Proton pump inhibitors were not considered a PIM, as our study did not capture treatment duration and only proton pump inhibitor treatment for longer than 8 weeks is considered inappropriate according to Beers criteria. Dosage of comedications was not taken into account in the analysis of PIMs. Anticholinergic burden was measured by means of the validated Anticholinergic Risk Scale, assigning drug points from 0 to 3, the latest corresponding to higher anticholinergic potential [22, 23]. If an elderly PWH received several drugs with anticholinergic properties, the total anticholinergic score was calculated by summing up each individual medication score.

Identification of Potential DDIs

We focused on 2 therapeutic classes, that is, cardiovascular and central nervous system (CNS), due to the fact that these therapeutic classes are largely utilized in PWH, as indicated by a previous analysis of the SHCS [24], and due to their potential for clinically relevant DDIs with ARTs. All medication forms containing at least 1 cardiovascular or CNS drug were included in the analysis. Potential DDIs between ARTs and these comedications were screened using the University of Liverpool HIV drug interaction checker [25]. These charts rank the clinical significance of an interaction from "no interaction" (green flag interaction) to "interaction of weak intensity not requiring additional action" (yellow flag interaction), "potentially clinically relevant DDI requiring either dose adaptation or close clinical monitoring" (amber flag interaction), or "contraindicated" (red flag interaction). Interactions within ARTs or within non-HIV medications were excluded from this analysis. Potential DDIs involving comedications not listed in the Liverpool drug interaction database were checked using Up-to-Date (https://www.uptodate.com/druginteractions/#di-druglist). When a comedication was involved in several potential DDIs as a victim, the most severe potential DDI was retained.

Dosage adjustments of comedications were evaluated to assess how DDIs are managed in real life. This evaluation was performed only for comedications whose label provides dosing recommendations to overcome given DDIs. Both European and American dosing guidelines were considered [26–28].

Statistical Analyses

Statistical and graphical analyses were performed in R, using the packages tableone and ggplot2 [29]. In the descriptive analysis, continuous variables were described by their medians and interquartile ranges (IQRs) and compared between groups using the Mann-Whitney U or Wilcoxon tests. Categorical variables were described by proportions and compared with the χ^2 test. Repeated-measures analyses were not performed considering the time interval between 2 follow-up visits, during which both ARTs and comedications could have been changed. Medication forms fulfilled more than once by a patient were therefore considered independent measures. In addition, the proportion of patients reporting multiple medication forms was a priori expected to be similar in younger and elderly PWH, as all patients had medical appointments on a biannual basis.

RESULTS

Study Population and Medication Use

In total, 996 PWH, mostly male (69%), were included in the study. Of those, 874 (88%) were <65 years old (median [IQR], 49 [40–55] years), and 122 (12%) were ≥65 years old (median [IQR], 71 [67–74] years). Elderly PWH tended to have longer duration of HIV infection and thereby HIV treatment. Furthermore, elderly individuals tended to have more complex ARTs and more comedications. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population at their first recorded cohort visit, stratified by age, are summarized in Table 1. Medication forms were completed 1, 2, or 3 times by 41% (n = 403), 57% (n = 570), and 2% (n = 23) of participants, respectively. Taking into account all the 1610 collected forms, integrase strand transfer inhibitor (INSTI)–containing regimens were the most prescribed, accounting for ~50% of overall ARTs in both age groups (Figure 1). Of interest, combined ARTs (ie, boosted protease inhibitor [PI] + INSTI or boosted PI + nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor [NNRTI] or boosted PI + INSTI + NNRTI), representing complex ARTs characterized by a higher potential to cause DDIs, were used more in elderly PWH (21% vs 14%). The most frequently administered boosted PI was ritonavir-boosted darunavir (68% of all boosted PIs), whereas efavirenz was the most prescribed NNRTI (38% of all NNRTIs).

As expected, the number of prescribed comedications increased with age (Figure 2). Considering all the 1610

Table 1. Characteristics of the 996 PWH at Their First Visit With Fulfilled Medication Form, by Age Group

Characteristics	<65 Years Old (n = 874)	≥65 Years Old (n = 122)
Age, median [IQR], y	48.8 [40.4–55.5]	71.0 [67.3–74.0]
Male sex, No. (%)	580 (66.4)	105 (86.8)
Weight, median [IQR], kg	73.0 [64.0–83.0]	73.0 [67.0–85.0]
Ethnicity, No. (%)		
White	611 (70.1)	114 (94.2)
Black	199 (22.8)	3 (2.5)
Hispano-American	30 (3.4)	2 (1.7)
Asian	31 (3.6)	2 (1.7)
CD4, median [IQR], cells/mm ³	691.5 [527.0–919.0]	616.0 [413.0-821.0]
HIV RNA <50 copies/mL, No. (%)	845 (97.6)	114 (94.2)
Date of HIV diagnosis, No. (%)		
<1990	99 (13)	17 (17)
1990–1999	156 (20)	35 (34)
2000–2009	299 (38)	34 (33)
≥2010	228 (29)	17 (17)
ART start date, No. (%)		
<1990	1 (0.1)	0
1990–1999	235 (27)	55 (46)
2000–2009	338 (39)	45 (37)
≥2010	298 (34)	21 (17)
Non-NRTI ARTs, No. (%)		
Integrase inhibitor	413 (47.3)	57 (46.7)
Combined regimen	136 (15.6)	29 (23.8)
NNRTI	238 (27.2)	23 (18.9)
Protease inhibitor	85 (9.7)	13 (10.7)
NRTIs (backbone), No. (%)		
ABC/3TC	317 (36.3)	57 (46.7)
TDF/FTC	330 (37.8)	20 (16.4)
TAF/FTC	151 (17.3)	18 (14.8)
Others	45 (5.1)	17 (13.9)
No backbone	31 (3.5)	10 (8.2)
Number of comedications, No. (%)		
0	382 (43.7)	14 (11.5)
1	121 (13.8)	8 (6.6)
2	118 (13.5)	10 (8.2)
3	86 (9.8)	20 (16.4)
4	61 (7)	18 (14.8)
≥5	106 (12.1)	52 (42.6)

Abbreviations: 3TC, lamivudine; ABC, abacavir; ART, antiretroviral therapy; FTC, emtricitabine; IQR, interquartile range; NRTI, nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; PWH, people with HIV; TAF, tenofovir alafenamide; TDF, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate.



Figure 1. Distribution of the most prescribed antiretroviral regimens for the entire study period, stratified by age group. Abbreviations: INSTI, integrase strand transfer inhibitor; NNRTI, non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; PI, protease inhibitor.

collected forms, elderly PWH tended to use a higher number of comedications (median [range], 4 [0-22]) compared with younger PWH (median [range], 1 [0-14]; P < .001). Ninety percent (n = 188) of the medication forms completed by elderly PWH included at least 1 comedication. Polypharmacy was more prevalent in PWH \geq 65 years (44%) compared with the younger group (12%). As indicated in Figure 3, drugs belonging to the cardiovascular class were the most utilized in the elderly group (73% of medication forms of elderly PWH included at least 1 cardiovascular drug), whereas CNS drugs were most commonly prescribed in younger PWH (26% of forms of younger PWH included at least 1 CNS medication). Calcium/vitamin D3 and acetylsalicylic acid (prescribed as an antithrombotic agent) were the most prescribed medications in their respective therapeutic classes (33% and 52%, respectively). With the exception of CNS drugs, the use of the most prescribed therapeutic classes (ie, cardiovascular, alimentary tract and metabolism, blood and blood-forming organs) increased in an exponential way with increasing age.

Thirty-eight elderly patients (31%) had a least 1 PIM, mostly benzodiazepines and hypnotics (n = 19, 27% of PIM). Three PWH received drugs characterized by a high anticholinergic

burden (anticholinergic risk scale = 3), that is, dimenhydrinate, quetiapine, and trimipramine.

Characteristics and Effect of the Identified Potential Drug–Drug Interactions With Cardiovascular and CNS Drugs

A total of 767 medications forms comprising at least 1 cardiovascular or CNS drug were collected in 500 PWH and were included in the analysis of potential DDIs. Of those, 417 prescriptions (54%) did not contain any potential DDIs. For the remainder of prescriptions, 23% (n = 178), 28% (n = 215), and 2% (n = 17) had at least 1 yellow, amber, and red flag potential DDI, respectively. These proportions were not statistically different between the 2 age groups (P = 1, .22, and .50 for yellow, amber, and red flag potential DDIs, respectively). However, most potential DDIs in elderly PWH were between ARTs and cardiovascular drugs, whereas in younger PWH, potential DDIs were mainly with CNS drugs. The frequency of potential DDIs with cardiovascular and CNS drugs, stratified by age, are depicted in Figure 4. Amber flag potential DDIs involved mainly zolpidem (n = 36, 12%) and rosuvastatin (n = 32, 11%), whereas red flag interactions involved predominantly the coadministration of quetiapine with boosted PIs (n = 12, 71%). Ritonavir-boosted darunavir was the most common ART involved in amber flag (n = 93, 32%) and red flag potential DDIs (n = 7, 41%). Potential pharmacodynamic DDIs resulting in potentially additive adverse effects (mostly QT prolongation interval or additive risk of nephrotoxicity) were found in 5% (n = 43) of the prescriptions.

Of note, apart from cardiovascular and CNS drugs, 5 patients (4 young and 1 elderly PWH) were treated with boosted PIs and clopidogrel, resulting in a red flag DDI.

Management of Potential DDIs With Cardiovascular and CNS Drugs

The maximum daily dose of atorvastatin recommended in the presence of boosted darunavir is 20 mg (US product label) and



Figure 2. Overall distribution of the number of prescribed comedications for the entire study period, stratified by age group.



Figure 3. Percentage of people with HIV treated with at least 1 comedication of the 4 most prescribed therapeutic classes for the entire study period, stratified by age group.

40 mg (European product label). These dosing recommendations were respected in all prescriptions. Although coadministration of ritonavir-boosted atazanavir and atorvastatin is not recommended by both US and European guidelines, 1 patient (2 cohort visits) was concomitantly receiving both drugs. However, the atorvastatin dosage was limited to 10 mg once daily, which is in line with the recommendations of the University of Liverpool database [25].

Concerning rosuvastatin, the maximum daily dose is 20 mg in the presence of boosted darunavir (US product label). This recommendation was applied in all prescriptions. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recommends that the dosage of rosuvastatin should not exceed 10 mg when coadministered with boosted atazanavir [28], whereas the European AIDS Clinical Society suggests that rosuvastatin use is generally safe if started at a low dose, not exceeding 20 mg daily [30]. In our study, 1 patient received 20 mg of rosuvastatin daily, exceeding the maximum dose recommended by the FDA.

Finally, there are clear dosage recommendations for quetiapine when used together with boosted PIs. US prescribing information recommends that the dosage of quetiapine be reduced to one-sixth of the original dose [31]. In our study, this recommendation was followed for 11 out of the 14 patients, whereas the other 3 received quetiapine extended-release at a dosage ranging from 50 mg to 200 mg once daily.

DISCUSSION

Our findings provide evidence that a high proportion of aging PWH are polymedicated and that the overall burden of medications has shifted from ARTs to treatments for other comorbidities. Our result demonstrating that 44% of elderly



Figure 4. Percentage of prescriptions (n = 767) with at least 1 drug of the corresponding therapeutic class for the entire study period. Potential DDIs between ART and non-ART drugs are represented with different shades according to the severity of potential DDIs: red flag (deleterious), amber flag (potential clinical relevance, manageable by performing dosage adjustment or close clinical monitoring), and yellow flag (weak clinical relevance). The green flag corresponds to the absence of potential DDIs. Abbreviations: ART, antiretroviral therapy; DDI, drug–drug interaction; PDDI, potential drug–drug interaction. PWH are polymedicated is in line with recent studies reporting a rate of 37% [32, 33]. Cardiovascular and CNS drugs were the most represented therapeutic classes in older and younger PWH, respectively. This is in agreement with a previous [24] and a more recent analysis of the SHCS [34], showing that cardiovascular disease is the first cause of comedication prescription, followed by depression. In addition to a higher number of comedications, elderly PWH received more complex ART regimens, characterized by a higher propensity to cause DDIs, than younger patients, thus further complicating their treatment. These associations of multiple ART drugs are likely to result from of a longer history of HIV infection, with the acquisition of drug resistance leading to the need for more complex ARTs. Indeed, most of the younger PWH (39%) started their ARTs between 2000 and 2009, whereas half of the elderly PWH received their first ARTs between 1990 and 1999.

Complex ARTs' associations with comedications would be expected to lead to an increased risk for DDIs in elderly PWH. Remarkably, our results did not demonstrate a higher frequency of potential DDIs in elderly PWH compared with younger patients. This observation could be explained by the fact that HIV clinicians of SHCS are well aware of the DDI potential of ART and therefore prescribe comedications devoid of interaction potential, particularly in the elderly. Of interest, the rate of red flag potential DDIs was 3%, similar to the previous value of 2% reported in an analysis of the SHCS performed in 2010 [24], whereas the rate of amber flag potential DDIs was significantly lower, likely due to a larger proportion of patients shifted to unboosted INSTIs, now recommended as firstline therapy and characterized by more favorable DDI profiles than boosted PIs or NNRTIS [35, 36]. Nevertheless, red flag potential DDIs remain clinically significant, particularly in cases involving boosted PIs coadministered with clopidogrel. It has been demonstrated that clopidogrel's active metabolite exposure was significantly reduced in PWH receiving boosted regimens, leading to insufficient inhibition of platelet aggregation in 44% of the patients [37]. Although prasugrel's active metabolite exposure was decreased to a similar extent by boosted regimens, this has no negative effect on prasugrel's pharmacodynamics, likely explained by its higher potency. Thus, prasugrel should be preferred in the presence of boosted regimens unless its use is contraindicated, in which case an alternative antiplatelet agent or ART should be considered.

Although the prevalence of potential DDIs remains important in PWH, our results demonstrated that potential DDIs notably with statins were generally managed correctly in real life through dosage adjustments, thereby reducing the probability of adverse events such as myalgia or even rhabdomyolysis. Due to our study design, it was not possible to assess the management of potential DDIs in an exhaustive manner, as for several drugs, like CNS drugs, a large range of drug doses is authorized, and dosage is adjusted mainly based on the clinical 55

response and side effects. Finally, the prevalence of pharmacodynamic interactions was particularly low in our study due to the increasing use of tenofovir alafenamide, characterized by a lower nephrotoxicity compared with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) [38].

PIMs were found in 31% of elderly PWH. This rate is lower than the rates reported in other studies, varying from 52% to 66% [7, 16, 17]. This difference may be explained by the fact that our study could not include all criteria defining inappropriate prescribing, for example, drugs prescribed without clinical indication, drugs administered beyond the recommended treatment duration, drugs not adjusted to the renal function of the patient, or prescribing omission. In addition, the prevalence of drugs with anticholinergic risk scale \geq 3 was very low compared with the value of 17% reported by Greene et al. in PWH, even lower than the value of 4% that was reported in HIV-negative individuals in the same study [7]. This could possibly be explained by the lower number of prescribed comedications in our study (median, 4) compared with the publication of Green et al. (median, 6). In addition, differences in prescribing patterns between the United States and Europe could also explain this difference. In our study, inappropriate prescribing mainly resulted from benzodiazepines and hypnotics, which are associated with an increased risk of falls, impaired cognition, loss of independence, and hospitalization in the elderly [39]. Although clinicians might be aware of the risks associated with benzodiazepines or hypnotics in the elderly, they might not be able to stop such treatments, as patients become dependent.

Some limitations of our study should be acknowledged. First, although we focused on 2 therapeutic classes of interest, potential DDIs may also have occurred with other drug classes. Moreover, we did not assess the interactions between non-HIV comedications, resulting in an underestimation of the actual number of potential DDIs. Another limitation, common to all studies of this type, relies upon the fact that potential DDIs are assessed only between 2 compounds, which poorly accounts for the complexity of multiple and mutual DDIs encountered in polymedicated patients, not to mention pharmacogenetic issues. Finally, the lack of data about plasma drug concentrations and clinical outcomes arising from these potential DDIs prevented us from adequately evaluating their management. This was especially true for CNS drugs with a wide range of possible dosages and dosage adjustments mainly based on clinical situation.

Some strengths of our study should be emphasized nevertheless. The multicenter and prospective design provides valuable data about potential DDIs, as it reflects the general prescribing patterns and documents at best an individual's complete drug regimen. Our large sample of PWH gives to our observations a fair degree of representativeness. To our knowledge, this is the first study prospectively analyzing prescriptions filled out by PWH. In conclusion, high rates of polypharmacy and the consequent DDI potential suggest that particular attention is needed when prescribing treatments to elderly PWH. Although the use of unboosted INSTIs is growing, one-fourth of elderly PWH had complex ARTs acting as perpetrator of DDIs. The acknowledgment that some medications may be inappropriate for aged patients constitutes an additional burden in health care provision to elderly PWH. Thus with the aging HIV population, education on geriatric medicine principles and periodic review of medicines is warranted to limit the risk of inappropriate prescribing in this vulnerable population. Clinicians should maintain a proactive approach for the recognition and management of potential DDIs, as well as for other prescribing issues tradi-

Acknowledgments

tionally encountered in geriatric medicine.

We would like to thank the PWH who agreed to participate in this study and the following persons for their invaluable help with forms and blood sample collection as study coordinators and study nurses: Alexandra Mitouassiwou-Samba, Deolinda Alves, Rachel Ribeiro, Valérie Sormani, Vreneli Waelti Da Costa (Lausanne); and Kerstin Asal, Rebekka Plattner, Vreni Werder, Reinhild Harant, Irena Ferati (Basel).

Members of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Anagnostopoulos A, Battegay M, Bernasconi E, Böni J, Braun DL, Bucher HC, Calmy A, Cavassini M, Ciuffi A, Dollenmaier G, Egger M, Elzi L, Fehr J, Fellay J, Furrer H, Fux CA, Günthard HF (President of the SHCS), Haerry D (deputy of "Positive Council"), Hasse B, Hirsch HH, Hoffmann M, Hösli I, Huber M, Kahlert CR (Chairman of the Mother & Child Substudy), Kaiser L, Keiser O, Klimkait T, Kouyos RD, Kovari H, Ledergerber B, Martinetti G, Martinez de Tejada B, Marzolini C, Metzner KJ, Müller N, Nicca D, Paioni P, Pantaleo G, Perreau M, Rauch A (Chairman of the Scientific Board), Rudin C, Scherrer AU (Head of Data Centre), Schmid P, Speck R, Stöckle M (Chairman of the Clinical and Laboratory Committee), Tarr P, Trkola A, Vernazza P, Wandeler G, Weber R, Yerly S.

Financial support. This work was supported by 2 Swiss National Science Foundation, grant number 324730-165956 (Lausanne) and 324730-166204 (Basel), and by the OPO and the Isaac Dreyfus Foundations (Basel). This study has received the 2017 SHCS AbbVie Award (given to L.A.D. and C.M.).

Potential conflicts of interest. P.C., F.L., M.G., M.B., T.B., S.A.S., C.C., and L.A.D. have no conflicts of interest to declare. M.C. has received through his institution research grants from ViiV and Gilead and offered expert testimony for AbbVie, MSD, Gilead, and Sandoz. M.S. has received fees for advisory board participation from Gilead, ViiV, MSD, Sandoz, and Mepha, as well as grants for conferences from Gilead and MSD, unrelated to the present study. C.M. received a research grant from Gilead and speaker honoraria for her institution from MSD.

Author contributions. Study design: P.C., C.M., L.A.D. Recruitment of participants: M.B., M.C., M.S. Recording in a database: P.C., S.A.S. Analysis and interpretation of data: P.C., C.M., F.L., M.G., C.C. Manuscript draft: P.C., C.M., F.L. Critical review and approval of the manuscript: all authors.

References

- Hasse B, Ledergerber B, Furrer H, et al; Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Morbidity and aging in HIV-infected persons: the Swiss HIV cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 2011; 53:1130–9.
- Smit M, Brinkman K, Geerlings S, et al; ATHENA observational cohort. Future challenges for clinical care of an ageing population infected with HIV: a modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis 2015; 15:810–8.
- Womack JA, Murphy TE, Rentsch CT, et al. Polypharmacy, hazardous alcohol and illicit substance use, and serious falls among PLWH and uninfected comparators. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2019; 82:305–13.
- Althoff KN, Smit M, Reiss P, Justice AC. HIV and ageing: improving quantity and quality of life. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2016; 11:527–36.
- Marzolini C, Livio F. Prescribing issues in elderly individuals living with HIV. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol 2019; 12:643–59.

- Edelman EJ, Gordon KS, Glover J, et al. The next therapeutic challenge in HIV: polypharmacy. Drugs Aging 2013; 30:613–28.
- Greene M, Steinman MA, McNicholl IR, Valcour V. Polypharmacy, drug-drug interactions, and potentially inappropriate medications in older adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014; 62:447–53.
- Marzolini C, Back D, Weber R, et al; Swiss HIV Cohort Study Members. Ageing with HIV: medication use and risk for potential drug-drug interactions. J Antimicrob Chemother 2011; 66:2107–11.
- Morillo-Verdugo R, Blanco Ramos JR, Abdel-Kader Martín L, Álvarez de Sotomayor M. The challenge of aging and pharmacoterapeutic complexity in the HIV + patient. Farm Hosp 2018; 42:120–7.
- Lopez-Centeno B, Badenes-Olmedo C, Mataix-Sanjuan A, et al. Polypharmacy and drug-drug interactions in HIV-infected subjects in the region of Madrid, Spain: a population-based study. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;ciz811.
- Béïque L, Giguère P, la Porte C, Angel J. Interactions between protease inhibitors and acid-reducing agents: a systematic review. HIV Med 2007; 8:335–45.
- Moss DM, Siccardi M, Murphy M, et al. Divalent metals and pH alter raltegravir disposition in vitro. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2012; 56:3020–6.
- Barry M, Mulcahy F, Merry C, et al. Pharmacokinetics and potential interactions amongst antiretroviral agents used to treat patients with HIV infection. Clin Pharmacokinet 1999; 36:289–304.
- Kiang TK, Ensom MH, Chang TK. UDP-glucuronosyltransferases and clinical drug-drug interactions. Pharmacol Ther 2005; 106:97–132.
- Marzolini C, Battegay M, Back D. Mechanisms of drug interactions II: transport proteins. In: Piscitelli CS, Rodvold AK, Pai PM, eds. Drug Interactions in Infectious Diseases. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2011:43–72.
- Livio F, Rrustemi F, Moffa G et al. Polypharmacy, drug-drug interactions and potentially inappropriate prescribing in elderly patients of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Paper presented at: 19th International Workshop on Clinical Pharmacology of Antiviral Therapy; 22–24 May 2018; Baltimore, MD.
- McNicholl IR, Gandhi M, Hare CB, et al. A pharmacist-led program to evaluate and reduce polypharmacy and potentially inappropriate prescribing in older HIV-positive patients. Pharmacotherapy 2017; 37:1498–506.
- Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Available at: http://www.shcs.ch/. Accessed 07 August 2017.
- WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. Guidelines for ATC Classification and DDD Assignment 2017. Oslo: 2017.
- Masnoon N, Shakib S, Kalisch-Ellett L, Caughey GE. What is polypharmacy? A systematic review of definitions. BMC Geriatr 2017; 17:230.
- 21. American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria Update Expert Panel. American Geriatrics Society 2019 Updated AGS Beers Criteria(R) for potentially inappropriate medication use in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc **2019**; 67: 674–94.
- Rudolph JL, Salow MJ, Angelini MC, McGlinchey RE. The anticholinergic risk scale and anticholinergic adverse effects in older persons. Arch Intern Med 2008; 168:508–13.
- Boustani M, Campbell N, Munger S, et al. Impact of anticholinergics on the aging brain: a review and practical application. Aging Heatth 2008; 4: 311–20.
- Marzolini C, Elzi L, Gibbons S, et al; Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Prevalence of comedications and effect of potential drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Antivir Ther 2010; 15:413–23.
- Liverpool HIV drug interactions website. Available at: http://www.hivdruginteractions.org/. Accessed 20 December 2017.
- European AIDS Clinical Society. Guidelines, version 9.0. 2017. Available at: http://www.eacsociety.org/files/guidelines_9.0-english.pdf. Accessed 11 January 2018.
- Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents. *Guidelines for* the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Adults and Adolescents with HIV. Department of Health and Human Services. Available at: http://www.aidsinfo.nih.gov/ ContentFiles/AdultandAdolescentGL.pdf. Accessed 11 January 2018.
- 28. Food and Drug Administration. FDA Drug Safety Communication: Interactions between certain HIV or hepatitis C drugs and cholesterol-lowering statin drugs can increase the risk of muscle injury [news release]. Food and Drug Administration; March 1, 2012. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-drug-safety-communication-interactions-between-certain-hiv-or-hepatitis-c-drugs-and-cholesterol. Accessed 20 December 2017.
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2016.
- European AIDS Clinical Society. Guidelines, version 9.0. 2017. Available at: https://www.eacsociety.org/guidelines/eacs-guidelines/eacs-guidelines.html. Accessed 11 January 2018.
- Food and Drug Administration. PREZISTA (Darunavir) Label. Food and Drug Administration; 2006. Available at: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_ docs/label/2012/021976s021lbl.pdf. Accessed 20 April 2018.
- 32. Guaraldi G, Malagoli A, Calcagno A, et al. The increasing burden and complexity of multi-morbidity and polypharmacy in geriatric HIV patients: a cross sectional

study of people aged 65 - 74 years and more than 75 years. BMC Geriatr **2018**; 18:99.

- Nozza S, Malagoli A, Maia L, et al; GEPPO Study Group. Antiretroviral therapy in geriatric HIV patients: the GEPPO cohort study. J Antimicrob Chemother 2017; 72:2879–86.
- Kamal S, Bugnon O, Cavassini M, Schneider MP. HIV-infected patients' beliefs about their chronic co-treatments in comparison with their combined antiretroviral therapy. HIV Med 2018; 19:49–58.
- Baecke C, Gyssens IC, Decoutere L, et al. Prevalence of drug-drug interactions in the era of HIV integrase inhibitors: a retrospective clinical study. Neth J Med 2017; 75:235–40.
- Günthard HF, Saag MS, Benson CA, et al. Antiretroviral drugs for treatment and prevention of HIV infection in adults: 2016 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society–USA Panel. JAMA 2016; 316:191–210.
- Marsousi N, Samer CF, Fontana P, et al. Coadministration of ticagrelor and ritonavir: toward prospective dose adjustment to maintain an optimal platelet inhibition using the PBPK approach. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2016; 100:295–304.
- Wang H, Lu X, Yang X, Xu N. The efficacy and safety of tenofovir alafenamide versus tenofovir disoproxil fumarate in antiretroviral regimens for HIV-1 therapy: meta-analysis. Medicine 2016; 95:e5146.
- Feinberg M. The problems of anticholinergic adverse effects in older patients. Drugs Aging 1993; 3:335–48.

8 • OFID • Courlet et al

II.2. Real-life management of drug-drug interactions

between antiretrovirals and statins.

Manuscript published in Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy

Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy

60

Real-life management of drug–drug interactions between antiretrovirals and statins

Perrine Courlet **1**, Françoise Livio¹, Susana Alves Saldanha¹, Alexandra Scherrer^{2,3}, Manuel Battegay^{4,6}, Matthias Cavassini⁵, Marcel Stoeckle^{4,6}, Laurent Arthur Decosterd **1** and Catia Marzolini^{4,6,7}* on behalf of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study†

¹Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital of Lausanne and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland; ²Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital of Zurich, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland; ³Institute of Medical Virology, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland; ⁴University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland; ⁵Service of Infectious Diseases, University Hospital of Lausanne and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland; ⁶Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel, Basel, Switzerland; ⁷Department of Molecular and Clinical Pharmacology, Institute of Translational Medicine, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, UK

> *Corresponding author. E-mail: catia.marzolini@usb.ch †Members are listed in the Acknowledgements.

Received 13 January 2020; returned 16 February 2020; revised 21 February 2020; accepted 22 February 2020

Background: PIs cause drug-drug interactions (DDIs) with most statins due to inhibition of drug-metabolizing enzymes and/or the hepatic uptake transporter OATP1B1, which may alter the pharmacodynamic (PD) effect of statins.

Objectives: To assess the management of DDIs between antiretrovirals (ARVs) and statins in people living with HIV (PLWH) considering statin plasma concentrations, compliance with dosing recommendations and achievement of lipid targets.

Methods: PLWH of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study were eligible if they received a statin concomitantly with ARVs. HDL, total cholesterol (TC) and statin plasma concentration were measured during follow-up visits. Individual non-HDL and TC target values were set using the Framingham score and the 2018 European AIDS Clinical Society recommendations.

Results: Data were analysed for rosuvastatin (n = 99), atorvastatin (n = 92), pravastatin (n = 46) and pitavastatin (n = 21). Rosuvastatin and atorvastatin underdosing frequently led to suboptimal PD response. Insufficient lipid control was observed with PIs despite high atorvastatin concentrations, likely explained by inhibition of OATP1B1 resulting in less statin uptake in the liver. Target lipid values were more often achieved with unboosted integrase inhibitors due to both their favourable DDI profiles and neutral effect on lipids. Insufficient lipid control was common with pravastatin and pitavastatin regardless of co-administered ARVs and despite using maximal recommended statin doses. The latter suggests lower efficacy compared with rosuvastatin or atorvastatin.

Conclusions: Suboptimal management of DDIs with statin underdosing was observed in 29% of prescriptions. Integrase inhibitor-based regimens and/or treatment with rosuvastatin or atorvastatin should be favoured in patients with refractory dyslipidaemia.

Introduction

Cardiovascular morbidities are highly prevalent in ageing people living with HIV (PLWH) as a result of traditional risk factors, HIV infection and side effects of antiretroviral drugs (ARVs).^{1,2} The management of comorbidities like dyslipidaemia presents several challenges as some ARVs, such as PIs and efavirenz, can cause dyslipidaemia.³ Furthermore, statins, the first-line drugs for the treatment of dyslipidaemia, are subject to drug-drug interactions (DDIs) with ARVs. Statins enter the liver, the site of action and subsequent metabolic elimination, via active transport by OATP1B1.⁴ PIs inhibit this hepatic uptake transporter,⁵ resulting in higher systemic exposure of statins and related increased risk of adverse drug reactions,^{6,7} whereas their pharmacodynamic (PD) effect can be potentially impaired by them not entering the liver (Figure 1). PIs also inhibit the intestinal transporter BCRP, resulting in higher absorption of certain statins.⁸ Finally, PIs are strong inhibitors of CYP3A4 and therefore may further increase the exposure of statins

© The Author(s) 2020. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. All rights reserved. For permissions, please email: journals.permissions@oup.com.



Figure 1. Mechanism of DDIs between PIs and statins, and pharmacokinetic/PD consequences. This figure appears in colour in the online version of JAC and in black and white in the print version of JAC.

like atorvastatin undergoing CYP3A4-mediated metabolism due to both inhibition of transporters and CYP3A4. This concept is indeed illustrated by the observation that darunavir/cobicistat increases atorvastatin and rosuvastatin (no CYP3A4 metabolism) exposures by 290% and 93%, respectively.⁹ Profound DDIs are expected with simvastatin or lovastatin as these statins are exclusively metabolized by CYP3A4¹⁰ so their co-administration with PIs is contraindicated. Importantly, the magnitude of DDIs depends also on OATP1B1 inhibition by PIs, which is strongest for atazanavir followed by lopinavir and darunavir. Rosuvastatin exposure was shown to be increased by 213%, 107% and 48% when coadministered with atazanavir/ritonavir,¹¹ lopinavir/ritonavir¹² and darunavir/ritonavir,¹³ respectively. Differences in the magnitude of DDIs have led to specific dosing recommendations for statins based on the co-administered PI. For instance, the European label of atorvastatin recommends not exceeding a daily dose of 10 mg with atazanavir or atazanavir/ritonavir; 20 mg with lopinavir/ritonavir or 40 mg with darunavir/ritonavir.¹⁴ Conversely, the NNRTIs efavirenz, nevirapine and etravirine can decrease atorvastatin exposure due to CYP3A4 induction, requiring a potential increase in dosage. Finally, no DDIs are expected between statins and

unboosted integrase inhibitors (INIs) like dolutegravir, raltegravir, bictegravir or the NNRTI rilpivirine as these ARVs have no inhibitory or inducing effects on CYP3A4 or drug transporters.

It is currently unknown how DDIs between ARVs and statins are systematically apprehended and managed in clinical practice. A previous study showed that a large proportion of PLWH on PI- or NNRTI-based regimens failed to reach adequate lipid targets while on statin treatment.¹⁵ Statin levels were not measured, therefore it is unclear whether the observed suboptimal response was due to DDIs with ARVs or to poor adherence. It is unknown whether better management of dyslipidaemia can be achieved when using non-interacting ARVs (i.e. unboosted INIs) or when using tenofovir disoproxil fumarate instead of tenofovir alafenamide in the backbone. Studies have demonstrated that switching from tenofovir disoproxil fumarate to tenofovir alafenamide was associated with the development of less-favourable lipid profiles regardless of the third agent (PI, NNRTI or INI).¹⁶

This work aimed to assess the management of DDIs between ARVs and statins in PLWH of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS) considering statin plasma concentrations, compliance with dosing recommendations and achievement of lipid targets.

Methods

Study design

PLWH enrolled in the SHCS and followed up in the centres of Lausanne and Basel were eligible if they received one commonly prescribed statin (i.e. rosuvastatin, atorvastatin, pravastatin or pitavastatin) concomitantly with ARVs. On the day of the follow-up medical visit, blood was collected for the measurement of lipid values and for the measurement of the statin plasma concentration. The timing of blood sampling and statin intake were documented in order to be able to interpret the statin concentration. The complete list of medications with their dosage was also documented during the medical visit. PLWH participated at most three times in this study.

Calculation of individual non-HDL and total cholesterol (TC) targets

Demographic and clinical parameters as well as lipid values measured during the medical follow-up visit were extracted from the SHCS database. Documented lipid laboratory parameters include TC, HDL cholesterol and triglycerides (TG). PLWH often have higher than normal TG values, therefore LDL values cannot be reliably derived using the Friedewald formula.¹⁷ Thus, non-HDL values were considered instead and calculated as follows: non-HDL = TC–HDL.

Individual LDL targets were calculated using the Framingham score¹⁸ considering the following patient parameters: age, gender, blood pressure, smoking (number of cigarettes/day), family history of diabetes and personal history of myocardial infarction. Individual non-HDL cholesterol targets were subsequently derived by adding 0.8 mmol/L to individual LDL targets.¹⁷ The added value corresponds to the cholesterol fraction contained in 1.7 mmol/L of TG (i.e. upper accepted limit for TG).

Individual TC targets were established based on the presence or history of cardiovascular diseases (i.e. myocardial infarction, coronary angioplasty/ stenting, coronary artery bypass grafting, cerebral haemorrhage or cerebral infarction) and/or diabetes mellitus. TC threshold was fixed at \leq 5 (in the absence of cardiovascular risks) or \leq 4 mmol/L (in the presence of cardiovascular risks) in agreement with the 2018 European AIDS Clinical Society guidelines.¹⁹

Plasma concentrations of statins

Blood samples collected during the SHCS follow-up visit were centrifuged and the isolated plasma was stored at -80° C until analysis. Drug concentrations were quantified for rosuvastatin, atorvastatin and pravastatin using a validated LC coupled with tandem MS analysis²⁰ with lower limits of quantification (LLOQs) of 0.5 ng/mL for rosuvastatin, 0.3 ng/mL for atorvastatin and 0.4 ng/mL for pravastatin. The measured drug concentrations were compared with published reference pharmacokinetic profiles of rosuvastatin,²¹ atorvastatin²²⁻²⁴ and pravastatin²⁵⁻²⁷ and categorized as low, normal or high with respect to the corresponding reference profile. Recent non-adherence was strongly suspected in the case of statin concentrations below the LLOQ.

Statin dosing recommendations in the presence of ARVs

Statins are impacted differently by ARVs, leading to specific dosing recommendations based on the co-administered ARV, as indicated in the Liverpool drug-interaction database²⁸ and the European AIDS Clinical Society guidelines.¹⁹ Dosing recommendations used for the evaluation of the management of DDIs between statins and ARVs are presented in Table 1. If PLWH were treated with combined ARVs (i.e. PI + NNRTI or PI + unboosted INI), statin dosing recommendations for the ARV with the strongest DDI potential (i.e. PI in this example) were applied.

J	4	L

62

Table 1. Statin maximal daily doses according to co-administered ARV²⁸

	Rosuvastatin	Atorvastatin	Pravastatin	Pitavastatin
Boosted ^a atazanavir	10 mg	10 mg	40 mg	4 mg
Boosted ^a darunavir	20 mg	40 mg	40 mg	4 mg
Boosted elvitegravir	20 mg	40 mg	40 mg	4 mg
Non-interacting ARVs	20 mg	80 mg	40 mg	4 mg

^aBoosted either with ritonavir or cobicistat.

Atorvastatin dosage above the maximal daily dose was allowed in the presence of ARVs with CYP3A4-inducing properties (i.e. efavirenz, etravirine or nevirapine) to compensate for the interaction. Since ARVs have a modest effect on pravastatin and pitavastatin exposures, maximal daily doses of pravastatin and pitavastatin were equal to the recommended daily maximal doses in the absence of interacting medications.

Evaluation of the management of DDIs between ARVs and statins

The management of DDIs between ARVs and statins was considered to be correct when both lipid values (i.e. non-HDL and TC) were within the target values for a given patient. When one or both lipid target values were not achieved, three scenarios were considered:

- Statin dosage agreed with dosing recommendations; however, the measured level was <LLOQ, suggesting a problem of non-adherence. In this situation, the management of DDI was considered as *a priori* correct.
- (ii) Statin dosage agreed with dosing recommendations. The lipid response was suboptimal despite detectable statin levels and despite using the highest recommended dosage, suggesting a problem of statin efficacy. The management of DDI was considered as *a priori* correct.
- (iii) Statin dosage did not agree with dosing recommendations (i.e. dosage outside the recommended dosage range). The management of DDI was considered as incorrect.

Results

Study population

Data were collected for 99 rosuvastatin (66 PLWH), 92 atorvastatin (61 PLWH), 46 pravastatin (34 PLWH) and 21 pitavastatin (14 PLWH) prescriptions. The demographic, clinical and ARV treatment characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 2. The median age of participants did not significantly differ between statin treatment groups. Rosuvastatin tended to be prescribed more often in PLWH with a history of a cardiovascular event and/or diabetes. Median non-HDL, TC and TG values were comparable in the rosuvastatin and atorvastatin treatment groups whereas all lipid values and TC tended to be higher in the pravastatin and pitavastatin treatment groups, respectively. Unboosted INIs (i.e. raltegravir or dolutegravir) represented the most common ARV-based regimens in the study population.

	Rosuvastatin	Atorvastatin	Pravastatin	Pitavastatin
Number of statin prescriptions	99	92	46	21
Number of PLWH	66	61	34	14
Age, years ^a	60 (55–67)	62 (58–71)	60 (53–65)	65 (55–72)
Women ^a	8 (12)	14 (23)	8 (24)	2 (14)
Cardiovascular event and/or diabetes ^b	46 (47)	23 (25)	12 (26)	6 (29)
Non-HDL, mmol/L ^b	3.2 (2.6-3.8)	3.1 (2.6-3.7)	3.7 (2.9-4.3)	3.2 (2.6-4.1)
TC, mmol/L ^b	4.5 (3.9–5.0)	4.5 (3.8–5.1)	4.9 (4.3–5.4)	4.8 (4.3-5.4)
TG, mmol/L ^b	1.9 (1.3-2.7)	1.7 (1.3–2.3)	2.2 (1.4-2.6)	1.5 (1.1-4.2)
ARV treatment ^b				
boosted PI	8 (8)	7 (8)	4 (9)	3 (14)
boosted INI	5 (5)	3 (3)	5 (11)	0
unboosted INI	23 (23)	36 (39)	13 (28)	12 (57)
NNRTI	26 (26)	20 (22)	13 (28)	4 (19)
combined regimen ^c	37 (38)	26 (28)	11 (24)	2 (10)
Backbone ^b				
TDF-based regimen	24 (24)	20 (22)	14 (30)	2 (10)
TAF-based regimen	28 (28)	12 (13)	6 (13)	1 (5)

Values are presented as n (%) or median (IQR).

TDF, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate; TAF, tenofovir alafenamide.

^aResults are presented considering the number of PLWH in each statin treatment group.

^bResults are presented considering the number of prescriptions in each statin treatment group.

^cPI + INI or PI + NNRTI or NNRTI + INI or PI + NNRTI + INI.

Data were collected once in 82 PLWH (49%), twice in 82 PLWH (49%) and three times in 4 PLWH (2%).

Overall response to statin treatment and management of DDIs

Rosuvastatin

Considering rosuvastatin dosing recommendations in the presence of ARVs, underdosing with non-achievement of lipid targets represented approximately one-third of rosuvastatin prescriptions whereas overdosage was uncommon (Figure 2). Suboptimal PD response was observed for 12% of rosuvastatin prescriptions despite using the maximal recommended dose and despite rosuvastatin levels mostly being within the normal range.

Taking into account patient non-adherence and issues of lower statin efficacy, the management of DDIs between rosuvastatin and ARVs was correct for 69% of rosuvastatin prescriptions.

Atorvastatin

Underdosing with uncontrolled lipids represented one-third of atorvastatin prescriptions (Figure 2). Of interest, suboptimal lipid control was common with PIs despite high atorvastatin concentrations (Figure 3). This observation is suggestive of a DDI impairing the entry of statin into the liver, the site of action. Thus, increasing atorvastatin dosage might not be helpful.

The management of DDIs was correct for 65% of atorvastatin prescriptions.

Pravastatin

Insufficient lipid control was common despite using the maximal pravastatin dose and despite pravastatin levels mostly being within the normal range. This observation is suggestive of an efficacy problem. Underdosing with uncontrolled lipids represented 17% of pravastatin prescriptions (Figure 2).

The management of DDIs was correct for 83% of pravastatin prescriptions.

Pitavastatin

Pitavastatin was mostly used at the highest recommended dose of 4 mg once daily. This statin demonstrated the lowest efficacy since lipid control was not achieved in 38% of pitavastatin prescriptions despite using the maximal recommended dose and despite mostly co-administering ARVs devoid of DDIs or with a neutral effect on lipids (Figure 2). Underdosing represented almost 24% of pitavastatin prescriptions.

The management of DDIs was correct for 76% of pitavastatin prescriptions.

Statin treatment and response in the presence of PIs versus non-interacting and lipid-neutral ARV drugs

Since PIs have a higher DDI potential and are less lipid-friendly, statin treatment and response were compared in the presence of PIs versus non-interacting and lipid-neutral ARVs (i.e. dolutegravir, raltegravir or rilpivirine) for each statin. This evaluation could not be performed for pitavastatin as it was mostly not prescribed with PIs and plasma levels were not quantified.

64



Figure 2. Achievement of lipid targets based on statin dosing recommendations considering the co-administered ARV (see Table 1 for statin dosage recommendations). Statin dosage was considered as correct if dosage was within the recommended range and the lipids were controlled. Statin dosage was considered as underdosed if the lipids were not controlled and the dosage of the statin could have been increased. Statin dosage was considered as overdosed if the dosage of the statin was above the upper limit of the recommended dosage. This figure appears in colour in the online version of *JAC* and in black and white in the print version of *JAC*.

Rosuvastatin

Rosuvastatin was generally prescribed at 10 mg once daily. High doses were used regardless of the presence of PIs, likely due to the fact that darunavir/ritonavir, the most prescribed PI, has only a weak effect on rosuvastatin exposure. This statement is indeed consistent with the low and comparable proportion of high rosuvastatin concentrations in the presence of PIs versus noninteracting ARVs. Non-HDL targets tended to be less often achieved with concomitant use of PIs (Figure 3).

Atorvastatin

Atorvastatin was mostly prescribed at 10 mg once daily. Lower doses were generally used in the presence of PIs whereas higher doses were more common when associated with non-interacting ARVs (Figure 3). PIs cause large DDIs with atorvastatin, as indicated by the fact that all atorvastatin concentrations were high in the presence of PIs. Conversely, low atorvastatin concentrations were observed in 42% of PLWH receiving an ARV with inducing properties (i.e. efavirenz or etravirine). Despite high concentrations, non-HDL targets were less often achieved in the presence of PIs, likely due to both their inhibitory effect on OATP1B1 and their effect on lipids.

Pravastatin

Pravastatin was mostly prescribed at the highest recommended dose of 40 mg once daily. Similar to rosuvastatin, a high dose of pravastatin was used regardless of the presence of a PI, likely owing to the known weak DDI with pravastatin. There was a tendency for less achievement of the non-HDL target with concomitant use of PIs (Figure 3).

Achievement of lipid targets in the presence of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-containing versus tenofovir alafenamide-containing backbone

Overall, 60 and 47 prescriptions had a tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-containing or tenofovir alafenamide-containing backbone, respectively. Lipid targets tended to be more often achieved in the presence of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-containing (88%) versus tenofovir alafenamide-containing (72%) regimens regardless of the third agent (PI, NNRTI or INI).

Discussion

Our study provides evidence of suboptimal management of dyslipidaemia in PLWH due to statin underdosing or the use of low-intensity statins, leading overall to 41% of statin prescriptions with insufficient response. Our observations are in line with previous studies reporting uncontrolled dyslipidaemia in 14% to 50% of PLWH.^{15,29,30} Uncontrolled dyslipidaemia is also common in HIV-uninfected persons with a prevalence of 24% to 49%.³¹⁻³³

Multiple factors contribute to the complexity of the management of dyslipidaemia. First, the choice of statin dosage may be guided by the magnitude of the interaction, which is high for atorvastatin (AUC increased by 200%–300%)³⁴ and weak for pravastatin (AUC increased by 81%)³⁵ and rosuvastatin (AUC increased by 48%).¹³ In our study, pravastatin and rosuvastatin dosages were similar regardless of co-administered ARV, while atorvastatin was



Figure 3. Percentage of statin prescriptions with high statin dose (i.e. 20 mg for rosuvastatin and 40 mg for both atorvastatin and pravastatin) (dark grey bars), high statin plasma concentrations (dark grey bars) and achievement of non-HDL cholesterol targets (dark grey bars) in the presence of PIs versus other non-interacting ARVs with neutral effects on lipids (Others: dolutegravir, raltegravir or rilpivirine).

systematically used at a lower dose in the presence of PIs, indicating that clinicians are aware of differences in the DDI profiles of ARVs. Since most statins have demonstrated a dose-response relationship in regard to the reduction of LDL cholesterol,^{36–40} it is important to follow the recommendations for maximal daily doses of statins,⁴¹ particularly in PLWH with suboptimal lipid responses. Nevertheless, our study shows that statin underdosing is one of the main factors in insufficient response to statin treatment, consistent with a previous study.¹⁵ The deliberate low dosage of statins could possibly be explained by the overestimation of the risk of DDIs, as exemplified by a study reporting a larger proportion of PLWH with subtherapeutic levels of antidepressants compared with uninfected individuals.⁴² However, the reluctance to use higher doses of statins is not limited to PLWH but has also been reported in HIV-uninfected persons regardless of the presence of interacting drugs.^{31,43} This observation seems to relate to the fear

of dose-dependent adverse reactions and to the fact that clinicians do not consider lipid targets as strict criteria, above which they will not necessarily increase statin dose.

In the case of insufficient response, an increase in the statin dose should be systematically considered in the presence of ARVs with inducing metabolic properties, such as efavirenz. Of interest, we frequently observed low statin concentrations in the presence of efavirenz whereas concentrations were mostly in the reference range with nevirapine. For ARVs with no interacting properties, the dose can be increased until the statin maximal recommended daily dose is reached. However, for ARVs with inhibitory effects on OATP1B1, like PIs, an increase in the statin dose might not necessarily improve the lipid response. As depicted in Figure 1, the inhibition of OATP1B1 by PIs prevents the entry of statins into the liver, resulting in less inhibition of HMG-CoA-reductase. Inhibition of hepatic uptake will also result in less statin being metabolized and eliminated thereby leading to increased systemic concentrations and a related increased risk of adverse drug reactions. This concept is supported in our study by the observation that lipid targets were less often achieved in the presence of PIs despite high statin concentrations, particularly for atorvastatin. Studies have indeed demonstrated reduced lipid responses in individuals carrving a genetic variation in the gene encoding OATP1B1, resulting in reduced statin uptake in the liver.⁴⁴ Whether attributed to genetic variations or to DDIs. a decrease in OATP1B1 activity may alter the PD response to statins. Importantly, alteration in OATP1B1 function was shown to impact atorvastatin exposure more profoundly compared with that of rosuvastatin or pravastatin.⁴⁵

Another factor modulating the response to statins is the effect of ARVs *per se* on lipids. Dolutegravir, raltegravir and rilpivirine have been shown to have a neutral effect on lipids^{3,46} whereas PIs and efavirenz can cause dyslipidaemia.³ Our study indeed shows that lipids are less often controlled in the presence of PIs. Thus, altogether, dyslipidaemia is more difficult to manage in PLWH on PIs as these agents have unfavourable DDIs and lipid effects. When possible, unboosted INIs should be preferred in PLWH with refractory dyslipidaemia. The choice of the backbone should also be considered since evidence suggests that tenofovir alafenamide has a less favourable lipid profile compared with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate.¹⁶

Finally, the efficacy of the statin is another factor to consider. Of interest, uncontrolled lipids were more commonly observed with pravastatin and pitavastatin despite using maximal recommended statin doses. This is due to their lower efficacy compared with rosuvastatin and atorvastatin, as indicated by the University of Michigan statin dose intensity and equivalence chart.⁴⁷ Our observation is consistent with multiple studies demonstrating a higher efficacy of rosuvastatin and atorvastatin compared with lower intensity statins both in PLWH⁴⁸ and uninfected individuals.^{49,50}

Optimal management of dyslipidaemia is particularly critical in PLWH as they are at high risk for cardiovascular events.⁵¹ Although large randomized controlled trials with clinical endpoints have not been completed in PLWH, a cohort study suggested that statin therapy was associated with a decrease in all-cause mortality.⁵² Therefore, optimal statin therapy may reduce morbidity and mortality in PLWH similarly to in the general population.⁵³

Some limitations of our study should be emphasized. Tolerability data regarding the statin treatment were not

documented, thus dose escalation might have been prevented in some cases due to the presence of adverse drug reactions. This could result in a potential overestimation of cases that were not managed correctly in our study. In addition, the small number of PLWH concomitantly receiving pitavastatin with PIs and the absence of plasma levels for this statin made it difficult to draw conclusions regarding the pharmacokinetics and clinical consequences of DDIs with pitavastatin. In addition, long-term adherence to statin treatment was not measured, thus it cannot be excluded that the apparent lack of efficacy might relate to adherence issues. Nevertheless, recent non-adherence could be detected with certitude in 19 prescriptions (7.4%) as statin concentrations were below the LLOQ. This result highlights the importance of monitoring adherence to comedications, particularly because lower levels of adherence have been reported for comedications compared with ARVs in an SHCS study.⁵⁴ Finally, the study was conducted before the introduction of bictegravir so data are lacking for this novel INI. Nevertheless, bictegravir is not expected to differ from other unboosted INIs due to its low potential for DDIs and its neutral effect on lipids and therefore would also constitute a preferable option.^{28,41}

Several strengths of our study should be acknowledged. This is the first study providing a systematic analysis of the management of dyslipidaemia in PLWH taking into account statin concentrations, dosing recommendations and clinical responses (non-HDL and TC levels). This comprehensive analysis allows us to better understand factors modulating the response to statins when treating PLWH.

In conclusion, suboptimal management of dyslipidaemia is common in PLWH due to statin underdosing or the use of lowintensity statins leading overall to 41% of statin prescriptions with suboptimal response. Management of dyslipidaemia in patients on PIs is challenging due to DDIs and their negative impact on lipid profile, potentially impairing the therapeutic effect of statins. Unboosted INI or rilpivirine-based regimens and/or treatment with rosuvastatin or atorvastatin should be favoured in patients with refractory dyslipidaemia.

Acknowledgements

Members of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Aebi-Popp K, Anagnostopoulos A, Battegay M, Bernasconi E, Böni J, Braun DL, Bucher HC, Calmy A, Cavassini M, Ciuffi A, Dollenmaier G, Egger M, Elzi L, Fehr J, Fellay J, Furrer H, Fux CA, Günthard HF (President of the SHCS), Haerry D (deputy of 'Positive Council'), Hasse B, Hirsch HH, Hoffmann M, Hösli I, Huber M, Kahlert CR (Chairman of the Mother & Child Substudy), Kaiser L, Keiser O, Klimkait T, Kouyos RD, Kovari H, Ledergerber B, Martinetti G, Martinez de Tejada B, Marzolini C, Metzner KJ, Müller N, Nicca D, Paioni P, Pantaleo G, Perreau M, Rauch A (Chairman of the Scientific Board), Rudin C, Scherrer AU (Head of Data Centre), Schmid P, Speck R, Stöckle M (Chairman of the Clinical and Laboratory Committee), Tarr P, Trkola A, Vernazza P, Wandeler G, Weber R, Yerly S.

Funding

This work was supported by two Swiss National Science Foundation grants (grant numbers 165956 for Lausanne, 166204 for Basel), the OPO Foundation, and the Isaac Dreyfus Foundation (Basel).

Transparency declarations

M.C. has received through his institution research grants from ViiV, Gilead, and offered expert testimony for Abbvie, MSD, Gilead and Sandoz. M.S. received payments for advisory boards from Gilead, ViiV, MSD, Sandoz and Mepha, as well as travel grants for conferences from Gilead and MSD, unrelated to the present study. C.M. received a research grant from Gilead and speaker honoraria for her institution from MSD. All other authors: none to declare.

References

1 Freiberg MS, Chang CC, Kuller LH *et al.* HIV infection and the risk of acute myocardial infarction. *JAMA Intern Med* 2013; **173**: 614–22.

2 Palella FJ, Hart R, Armon C *et al.* Non-AIDS comorbidity burden differs by sex, race, and insurance type in aging adults in HIV care. *AIDS* 2019; **33**: 2327–35.

3 Maggi P, Di Biagio A, Rusconi S *et al*. Cardiovascular risk and dyslipidemia among persons living with HIV: a review. *BMC Infect Dis* 2017; **17**: 551.

4 Kalliokoski A, Niemi M. Impact of OATP transporters on pharmacokinetics. *Br J Pharmacol* 2009; **158**: 693–705.

5 Griffin L, Annaert P, Brouwer KL. Influence of drug transport proteins on the pharmacokinetics and drug interactions of HIV protease inhibitors. *J Pharm Sci* 2011; **100**: 3636–54.

6 Holbrook A, Wright M, Sung M *et al*. Statin-associated rhabdomyolysis: is there a dose-response relationship? *Can J Cardiol* 2011; **27**: 146–51.

7 Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M, Backman JT. Drug interactions with lipid-lowering drugs: mechanisms and clinical relevance. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2006; **80**: 565–81.

8 Gupta A, Zhang Y, Unadkat JD *et al.* HIV protease inhibitors are inhibitors but not substrates of the human breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2). *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2004; **310**: 334–41.

9 Custodio JM, West S, SenGupta D *et al.* Evaluation of the drug-drug interaction potential between cobicistat-boosted protease inhibitors and statins. *18th International Workshop on Clinical Pharmacology of Antiviral Therapy, Chicago, IL, USA,* 2017. Abstract O_04.

10 Stader F, Kinvig H, Battegay M *et al*. Analysis of clinical drug-drug interaction data to predict magnitudes of uncharacterized interactions between antiretroviral drugs and comedications. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2018; **62**: e00717-18.

11 Busti AJ, Bain AM, Hall RG 2nd *et al.* Effects of atazanavir/ritonavir or fosamprenavir/ritonavir on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 2008; **51**: 605–10.

12 Kiser JJ, Gerber JG, Predhomme JA *et al*. Drug/drug interaction between lopinavir/ritonavir and rosuvastatin in healthy volunteers. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2008; **47**: 570–8.

13 Samineni D, Desai PB, Sallans L *et al.* Steady-state pharmacokinetic interactions of darunavir/ritonavir with lipid-lowering agent rosuvastatin. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2012; **52**: 922–31.

14 EMA. Lipitor, summary of product characteristics. https://www.ema.eur opa.eu/en/documents/referral/lipitor-article-30-referral-annex-iii_en.pdf.

15 Myers J, Rayment M, Sonecha S *et al*. Room for manoeuvre when prescribing statins to dyslipidaemic patients on antiretroviral therapy. *HIV Med* 2012; **13**: 190–2.

16 Mallon P, Brunet L, Fusco J *et al*. Changes in lipids after a direct switch from TDF to TAF. *Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, Seattle, WA, USA,* 2019. Abstract 652.

17 Mach F, Baigent C, Catapano AL *et al.* 2019 ESC/EAS Guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias: lipid modification to reduce cardiovascular risk. *Eur Heart J* 2020; **41**: 111–88.

18 Wilson PW, D'Agostino RB, Levy D *et al*. Prediction of coronary heart disease using risk factor categories. *Circulation* 1998; **97**: 1837–47.

19 EACS. Guidelines version 9.1. October 2018. http://www.eacsociety.org/files/2018_guidelines-9.1-english.pdf.

20 Courlet P, Spaggiari D, Desfontaine V *et al*. UHPLC-MS/MS assay for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for population-scale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci* 2019; **1125**: 121733.

21 Zhang R, Li Y, Jiang X *et al.* Pharmacokinetics and tolerability of multipledose rosuvastatin: an open-label, randomized-sequence, three-way crossover trial in healthy Chinese volunteers. *Curr Ther Res Clin Exp* 2009; **70**: 392–404.

22 Bullman J, Nicholls A, Van Landingham K *et al*. Effects of lamotrigine and phenytoin on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin in healthy volunteers. *Epilepsia* 2011; **52**: 1351–8.

23 Blonk M, van Beek M, Colbers A *et al.* Pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction study between raltegravir and atorvastatin 20 mg in healthy volunteers. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2015; **69**: 44–51.

24 Maekawa Y, Furuie H, Kato M *et al.* Effect of DS-8500a, a novel G proteincoupled receptor 119 agonist, on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin and atorvastatin in healthy subjects. *Clin Drug Investig* 2019; **39**: 967–78.

25 Pan HY, DeVault AR, Swites BJ *et al.* Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of pravastatin alone and with cholestyramine in hypercholesterolemia. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 1990; **48**: 201–7.

26 Hulskotte EG, Feng HP, Xuan F *et al.* Pharmacokinetic evaluation of the interaction between hepatitis C virus protease inhibitor boceprevir and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors atorvastatin and pravastatin. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2013; **57**: 2582–8.

27 Ide T, Sasaki T, Maeda K *et al*. Quantitative population pharmacokinetic analysis of pravastatin using an enterohepatic circulation model combined with pharmacogenomic information on *SLCO1B1* and *ABCC2* polymorphisms. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2009; **49**: 1309–17.

28 University of Liverpool. HIV Drug Interactions. http://www.hiv-druginteractions.org/.

29 Monroe AK, Fu W, Zikusoka MN *et al*. Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and statin treatment by HIV status among multicenter AIDS cohort study men. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 2015; **31**: 593–602.

30 De Socio GV, Ricci E, Parruti G *et al.* Statins and Aspirin use in HIV-infected people: gap between European AIDS Clinical Society guidelines and clinical practice: the results from HIV-HY study. *Infection* 2016; **44**: 589–97.

31 Yan AT, Yan RT, Tan M *et al*. Contemporary management of dyslipidemia in high-risk patients: targets still not met. *Am J Med* 2006; **119**: 676–83.

32 Gitt AK, Drexel H, Feely J *et al*. Persistent lipid abnormalities in statintreated patients and predictors of LDL-cholesterol goal achievement in clinical practice in Europe and Canada. *Eur J Prev Cardiol* 2012; **19**: 221–30.

33 Gant CM, Binnenmars SH, Harmelink M *et al.* Real-life achievement of lipid-lowering treatment targets in the DIAbetes and LifEstyle Cohort Twente: systemic assessment of pharmacological and nutritional factors. *Nutr Diabetes* 2018; **8**: 24.

34 EMA. Prezista, summary of product characteristics. https://www.ema.eur opa.eu/en/documents/product-information/prezista-epar-product-information_en.pdf.

35 Sekar V, Spinosa-Guzman S, Marien K. Pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction between the new HIV protease inhibitor darunavir (TMC114) and the lipid-lowering agent pravastatin. *8th International Workshop on Pharmacology of HIV Therapy, Budapest, Hungary,* 2007.

36 Adams SP, Tsang M, Wright JM. Lipid lowering efficacy of atorvastatin. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; issue **12**: CD008226.

37 Mandema JW, Hermann D, Wang W *et al.* Model-based development of gemcabene, a new lipid-altering agent. *AAPS J* 2005; **7**: E513–22.

67

38 Saito Y, Goto Y, Dane A *et al.* Randomized dose-response study of rosuvastatin in Japanese patients with hypercholesterolemia. *J Atheroscler Thromb* 2003; **10**: 329–36.

39 Peissig P, Sirohi E, Berg RL *et al.* Construction of atorvastatin doseresponse relationships using data from a large population-based DNA biobank. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* 2007; **100**: 286–8.

40 Faltaos DW, Urien S, Carreau V *et al*. Use of an indirect effect model to describe the LDL cholesterol-lowering effect by statins in hypercholesterolaemic patients. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* 2006; **20**: 321–30.

41 European AIDS Clinical Society. Guidelines version 10.0. https://www.eac society.org/files/2019_guidelines-10.0_final.pdf.

42 Cattaneo D, Baldelli S, Resnati C *et al*. Evaluation of the concentrations of psychotropic drugs in HIV-infected versus HIV-negative patients: potential implications for clinical practice. *World J Biol Psychiatry* 2018; 1–7.

43 Setia S, Fung SS, Waters DD. Doctors' knowledge, attitudes, and compliance with 2013 ACC/AHA guidelines for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in Singapore. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* 2015; **11**: 303–10.

44 Romaine SP, Bailey KM, Hall AS *et al*. The influence of *SLCO1B1* (OATP1B1) gene polymorphisms on response to statin therapy. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2010; **10**: 1–11.

45 Niemi M. Transporter pharmacogenetics and statin toxicity. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2010; **87**: 130–3.

46 Taramasso L, Tatarelli P, Ricci E *et al.* Improvement of lipid profile after switching from efavirenz or ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitors to rilpivirine

or once-daily integrase inhibitors: results from a large observational cohort study (SCOLTA). *BMC Infect Dis* 2018; **18**: 357.

47 University of Michigan Health System. Lipid Therapy Guideline. http://www.med.umich.edu/1info/FHP/practiceguides/lipids/lipidsupdate.pdf

48 Calza L, Manfredi R, Colangeli V *et al.* Rosuvastatin, pravastatin, and atorvastatin for the treatment of hypercholesterolaemia in HIV-infected patients receiving protease inhibitors. *Curr HIV Res* 2008; **6**: 572–8.

49 Kapur NK, Musunuru K. Clinical efficacy and safety of statins in managing cardiovascular risk. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* 2008; **4**: 341–53.

50 Barakat L, Jayyousi A, Bener A *et al*. Comparison of efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin, atorvastatin and pravastatin among dyslipidemic diabetic patients. *ISRN Pharmacol* 2013; **2013**: 146579.

51 Feinstein MJ, Hsue PY, Benjamin LA *et al.* Characteristics, prevention, and management of cardiovascular disease in people living with HIV: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2019; **140**: e98–124.

52 Rasmussen LD, Kronborg G, Larsen CS *et al.* Statin therapy and mortality in HIV-infected individuals; a Danish nationwide population-based cohort study. *PLoS One* 2013; **8**: e52828.

53 Chou R, Dana T, Blazina I *et al.* Statins for prevention of cardiovascular disease in adults: evidence report and systematic review for the US preventive services task force. *JAMA* 2016; **316**: 2008–24.

54 Kamal S, Bugnon O, Cavassini M *et al*. HIV-infected patients' beliefs about their chronic co-treatments in comparison with their combined antiretroviral therapy. *HIV Med* 2018; **19**: 49–58.

CHAPTER III: LC-MS/MS ANALYSES

Chapter III: LC-MS/MS analyses 70

Chapter III in the thesis context

Accurate determination of drug levels in biological fluids is a prerequisite for clinical pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics investigations. This requires the availability of validated LC-MS/MS methodologies for the precise and accurate measurements of drug concentration in plasma. Accuracy is a key characteristic of such bioassays since analytical results can impact TDM interpretation and clinical implications. In this thesis, the currently most prescribed antiretroviral plasma concentrations have been determined with previously developed LC-MS/MS methodologies used for the routine TDM service . However, three new analytical methods have been also developed and validated for additional drugs which were necessary for the research project

The first assay allows the determination of NRTIs in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid. This methodology is now being routinely used in our TDM service and is also applied for several projects within the frame of the SHCS, including the "Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging patients enrolled in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study" (chapter V) and the "Emtricitabine and lamivudine concentrations in saliva: a simple suitable test for treatment adherence" (chapter VI). Results of ARV measurements in paired plasma and CSF samples of PLWH have also been the subject of a poster presented at the European AIDS conference 2019 that showed the marked differences in penetration of various ARV in CNS sanctuary compartment (Poster in Appendice VIII.5).

The second part is a LC-MS/MS method for the measurement of the highly prescribed comedications in PLWH (along with two active metabolites) with a known risk of DDIs. In the perspective to study the magnitude of DDIs between ARVs and comedications, we have developed and validated the first multiplex analytical assay quantifying simultaneously amlodipine, metoprolol, atorvastatin (and its two active metabolites *o*-OH and p-OH atorvastatin), pravastatin, and rosuvastatin. The challenge of this bioassay consisted in the accurate measurement of plasma concentrations below the nanogram per millilitre.

The third method was developed to quantify the new generation of ARV drugs. Newly approved ARV drugs, such as bictegravir and doravirine are expected to be increasingly prescribed because of their potency and the convenience once daily administration. Yet, DDIs are likely to occur also with these last generation drugs in the real life, which necessitates assays to monitor their levels in plasma. Moreover, an important pharmacokinetic variability has been reported in clinical trials of the first wave of Long-Acting Injectable (LAI) regimen cabotegravir and rilpivirine, injected intramuscularly. This variability may further increase in underweight or obese patients, in case of alteration of hepatic or renal functions, with DDIs or during pregnancy, should it occurs. In such instances, information on whether patients are exposed to appropriate plasma drug concentrations is necessary, and a bioassay is thus needed to provide such irrevocable information.
Own contribution: development and validation of analytical assays, literature review and drafting of the article.

III.1. Determination of nucleosidic/tidic reverse transcriptase inhibitors in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid by ultra-highpressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Clinical Mass Spectrometry



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/clinms

Determination of nucleosidic/tidic reverse transcriptase inhibitors in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid by ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry



Perrine Courlet^a, Dany Spaggiari^a, Matthias Cavassini^b, Renaud Du Pasquier^c, Susana Alves Saldanha^a, Thierry Buclin^d, Catia Marzolini^e, Chantal Csajka^{d,f}, Laurent Decosterd^{a,*}

^a Laboratory and Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

^b Service of Infectious Diseases, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

^c Service of Neurology, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

^d Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

e Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital and University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

^f School of Pharmacy, University of Geneva, University of Lausanne, Geneva, Switzerland

ARTICLE INFO

Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors

Keywords:

LC-MS/MS

Cerebrospinal fluid

Plasma

HIV

ABSTRACT

Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) have been the first class of antiretroviral drugs used against HIV infection. Despite NRTI-free regimens have been eagerly sought over the years in an effort for treatment simplification. NRTIs remain in most antiretroviral combination treatment. There has been generally a limited interest for their therapeutic drug monitoring, arguably because NRTIs levels measured in plasma poorly predict the concentration of pharmacologically active metabolites in cells. Plasma concentrations do impact cellular levels, while large differences between NRTIs have been found with regard to their ability to distribute into the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) compartment. The renewed interest for the measurements of NRTIs concentrations in plasma and CSF was raised by ongoing efforts to understand some instances of toxicity or for determining their actual implication in the development of HIV-associated neurological disorders. In this context, a 5-min multiplex ultra-high-pressure chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) analysis in human plasma and CSF was developed for NRTIs used in clinical practice: abacavir, emtricitabine, lamivudine, tenofovir and zidovudine along with zidovudine glucuronide (Gln-ZDV). The 200-fold dilution of blank human plasma was shown to be a reliable surrogate matrix for quantification of NRTIs and Gln-ZDV in CSF. Both methodologies were fully validated over the clinically relevant concentrations, and satisfactorily fulfilled all parameters for bioanalytical methods validation. This sensitive, rapid, and robust UHPLC-MS/MS assay offers a methodology for increasing our understanding of the ability of NRTIs to cross the blood-brain barrier and their potential implication in neuropsychological disorders observed in HIV-infected patients.

1. Introduction

These days, combined antiretroviral therapy (cART) constitutes the cornerstone treatment to ensure suppression of human immunodeficiency

virus (HIV) infection in patients to so-called "undetectable levels" (i.e., not eradicated but below the detection limit of our currently used assays). This regimen specifies the use of three or more antiretroviral drugs, comprising two nucleoside/tide reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs), as the

E-mail addresses: perrine.courlet@chuv.ch (P. Courlet), dany.spaggiari@chuv.ch (D. Spaggiari), matthias.cavassini@chuv.ch (M. Cavassini),

renaud.du-pasquier@chuv.ch (R. Du Pasquier), susana.alves-saldanha@chuv.ch (S. Alves Saldanha), thierry.buclin@chuv.ch (T. Buclin), catia.marzolini@usb.ch (C. Marzolini), chantal.csajka@chuv.ch (C. Csajka), LaurentArthur.Decosterd@chuv.ch (L. Decosterd).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinms.2018.04.001

Received 22 January 2018; Received in revised form 18 April 2018; Accepted 24 April 2018 Available online 25 April 2018 2376-0998 (© 2018 Published by Elsevier B V, on behalf of The Association for Mass Spectrometry: Ap

2376-9998/ © 2018 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of The Association for Mass Spectrometry: Applications to the Clinical Lab (MSACL).

Abbreviations: 3TC, lamivudine; ABC, abacavir; ACN, acetonitrile; aCSF, artificial cerebrospinal fluid; CNS, central nervous system; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; ER, extraction recovery; ESI, electrospray ionization; FA, formic acid; FTC, emtricitabine; FWHM, full width at half maximum; Gln-ZDV, zidovudine glucuronide; IS, internal standard; IS-nER, internal standard normalized extraction recovery; IS-nME, internal standard normalized matrix effect; IS-nPE, internal standard normalized process efficiency; IS-WS, internal standard working solution; LC–MS, liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry; LLOQ, lower limit of quantification; ME, matrix effect; MeOH, methanol; NRTI, nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; PE, process efficiency; PreP, Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis; QC, quality control; rCSF, real cerebrospinal fluid; SRM, selected reaction monitoring; TAF, tenofovir alafenamide; TDF, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate; TFV, tenofovir; UHPLC–MS/MS, ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry; ULOQ, upper limit of quantification; WS, working solution; ZDV, zidovudine

^{*} Corresponding author at: Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology, Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, rue du Bugnon 19, 1011 Lausanne, Switzerland.

backbone regimen, combined with one non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI) or one protease inhibitor (PI) or one integrase strand transfer inhibitor (INSTI). At present, in the context of NRTI associations, tenofovir (TFV) and abacavir (ABC) appear among the most commonly used NRTIs, used in combination with emtricitabine (FTC) or lamivudine (3TC) [1].

NRTIs are prodrugs that require intracellular metabolic phosphorylation to be converted into the pharmacologically active phosphorylated species. Arguably, determination of the intracellular levels of NRTIs would probably be more confidently related to clinical response and toxicity than concentrations measured in plasma [2]. However, the monitoring of the very low intracellular concentrations of the active phosphate metabolites still remains an analytical challenge [3], and its actual clinical relevance remains to be formally demonstrated. Most Therapeutic Drug Monitoring (TDM) studies on antiretrovirals have been based on plasma concentrations, but there is also an interest in measuring drug levels in sanctuary compartments, such as the central nervous system (CNS), where low-level viral replication persists. NRTI concentrations in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) have been related to some instances of toxicity: higher plasma TFV trough concentrations have been associated with renal dysfunctions [4-7], whereas high concentrations of NRTIs in CSF are reportedly associated with neurocognitive disorders [8,9].

The numerous analytical methods for NRTIs using radioimmunoassay, capillary electrophoresis and liquid chromatography coupled with UV detection or tandem–mass spectrometry (LC–MS/ MS) have been previously reviewed [10]. In 2000, Kenney et al. developed the first reversed-phase LC–MS/MS method for the selective and sensitive determination of 3TC and zidovudine (ZDV) in human serum ultrafiltrate using stable-isotopically-labeled internal standards [11]. During the last decade, several LC–MS/MS methods have been developed for NRTIs analysis in various biological matrices, such as plasma [12–17], amniotic fluid [18] and peripheral blood 75

mononuclear cells [19–23]. Regarding CSF, Best et al. and Lahiri et al. recently reported NRTIs penetration into the central nervous system only for TFV and FTC by using adaptations of previously published bioanalytical methods [24,25]. In his seminal work, Letendre et al. has proposed a CNS Penetration Effectiveness (CPE) ranking of antiretrovirals, based on their chemical properties, concentrations in CSF, and/or their antiviral effectiveness in the CNS [26]. However, the predictive role of CPE on neurocognitive and clinical outcome has been conflicting [27]. In fact, few real-life clinical data are currently available on the ability of NRTIs to cross the blood brain barrier, which could, however, be determined by measuring NRTI levels in plasma and CSF, both collected simultaneously at unselected times over the dosing interval.

The aim of this project was to develop and validate a simplified, fast and robust approach using a unique multiplex UHPLC–MS/MS assay for the simultaneous quantification of five NRTIs (i.e., abacavir, emtricitabine, lamivudine, tenofovir and zidovudine) and zidovudine glucuronide (Gln-ZDV) in plasma and CSF.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Chemicals, reagents and biological matrices

ABC sulfate, FTC, 3TC, TFV, ZDV and Gln-ZDV were purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals Inc. (North York, ON, Canada). Their stable isotopically labeled internal standards (i.e., [²H₅]-ABC, [²H₃, ¹⁵N]-FTC, [¹³C, ²H₂, ¹⁵N₂]-3TC, [²H₆]-TFV, [¹³C, ²H₃]-ZDV) were obtained from Alsachim (Strasbourg, France). The chemical structures of the respective molecules are shown in Fig. 1.

Methanol (MeOH), acetonitrile (ACN) and formic acid (98–100%, FA) were of analytical grade (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). Daily fresh ultrapure water was obtained from a Milli-Q[®] UF-Plus apparatus (Millipore Corp., Burlington, MA, USA).



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of NRTIs. (A) Abacavir ($\log P = 0.39$). (B) Emtricitabine ($\log P = -0.90$). (C) Lamivudine ($\log P = -1.10$). (D) Tenofovir ($\log P = -3.43$). (E) Zidovudine ($\log P = -0.30$). (F) Zidovudine glucuronide ($\log P = -1.3$). Chemicalize was used for compound properties, 2017, https://chemicalize.com/ developed by ChemAxon (http://www.chemaxon.com).

Human blank plasma samples used during method validation experiments and for the preparation of calibration, validation and quality control (QC) samples were obtained from citrated blood (1970 g (3000 rpm)), 10 min, +4 °C, Hettich model Rotanta 460RF centrifuge) withdrawn from patients with Vaquez disease at occasion of their regular phlebotomy (CHUV, Lausanne, Switzerland). Surrogate CSF (sCSF) was obtained by diluting blank citrated human plasma 200-fold with daily fresh ultrapure water [28]. Pooled real CSF (rCSF) was obtained from the CHUV Clinical Chemistry Laboratory. Artificial CSF (aCSF) was prepared with an in-house formula: i.e., 0.2 g/L human serum albumin (Irvine Scientific, Santa Ana, USA), 7.3 g/L NaCl, 0.8 g/L glucose and 1.9 g/L NaHCO₃ (adjusted to pH 7.5 with phosphoric acid 85%) [29]. Reagents for aCSF preparation were obtained from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany).

2.2. NRTI and internal standard solutions

Each NRTI and Gln-ZDV were independently weighed and dissolved in the required volume of ultrapure water to obtain stock solutions at a final concentration of 1 mg/mL. The stock solutions used for ABC sulfate and Gln-ZDV sodium salt were corrected for the salt form of the analyte by applying the weighing factor. These solutions were diluted and combined to obtain a single working solution (WS) at a final concentration of 120 µg/mL for plasma and 60 µg/mL for CSF. The internal standards (IS) working solution (IS-WS), used for protein precipitation of plasma samples, was obtained by diluting the IS stock solutions in MeOH (1 mg/mL in MeOH) to obtain the following concentrations: 80 ng/mL for $[^{2}H_{5}]$ -ABC, 50 ng/mL for $[^{2}H_{3}$, $^{15}N]$ -FTC, 100 ng/mL for $[^{13}C, \,^{2}H_{2}$, $^{15}N_{2}]$ -3TC and $[^{2}H_{6}]$ -TFV, and 600 ng/mL for $[^{13}C, \,^{2}H_{3}]$ -ZDV.

For artificial, real and surrogate CSF sample preparation, IS concentrations in the WS used for sample dilution were adapted and prepared in a MeOH:H₂O 2:1 mixture to obtain the same percentage of MeOH and same IS concentrations in the final vial after plasma protein precipitation.

All solutions were prepared in 5-mL polypropylene tubes and stored at $-20\ {\rm ^{\circ}C.}$

2.3. Calibration/validation standards and quality controls (QCs) solutions

The WS, that includes the 6 compounds, was sequentially diluted and pooled with either: citrated blank plasma to obtain the following 9 concentration levels (k) in triplicate (n = 3): 6000, 3000, 1500, 750, 30, 10, 5, 2 and 1 ng/mL; or sCSF to obtain the following 9 concentration levels (k) in triplicate (n = 3): 3000, 1500, 750, 30, 10, 5, 2, 1 and 0.5 ng/mL. The following calibration ranges were used for quantification in plasma: 1-6000 ng/mL (k = 9) for FTC, 2-6000 ng/mLmL for ABC (k = 8), 5–6000 ng/mL for 3TC (k = 7), TFV and ZDV, 10–6000 ng/mL (k = 6) for Gln-ZDV. For quantification in CSF, calibration ranges in sCSF were determined as follows: 0.5-3000 ng/mL for FTC (k = 9), 1–3000 ng/mL (k = 8) for ABC, 3TC and TFV, 2–3000 ng/ mL (k = 7) for ZDV, 5–3000 ng/mL (k = 6) for Gln-ZDV. Two separated series of 8 dilutions (k) of WS were prepared in plasma (i.e., 1, 2, 5, 10, 30, 600, 2400, 4800 ng/mL) and in sCSF (i.e., 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10, 30, 600, standard samples preparation. 2400 ng/mL) for validation Determination of validation standard levels in plasma was carried out as follows: 1-4800 ng/mL (k = 8) for FTC, 2-4800 ng/mL (k = 7) for ABC, 5–4800 ng/mL (k = 6) for 3TC, TFV and ZDV, 10–4800 ng/mL for Gln-ZDV. In sCSF, validation standards were quantified as follows: 0.5–2400 ng/mL (k = 8) for FTC, 1–2400 ng/mL (k = 7) for ABC, 3TC and TFV, 2-2400 ng/mL (k = 6) for ZDV, 5-2400 ng/mL (k = 5) for Gln-ZDV. For accurately estimating the LLOQ values, each analyte had at least two low validation sample concentrations (i.e., one at the estimated LLOQ and one at 2-3x LLOQ). Calibrators, validation standards and QC samples (at different concentrations) were all prepared according to the recommendations for bioanalytical method validation, which state that the total added volume must be < 10% of the biological sample volume. The concentration ranges were chosen to encompass the expected patients' plasma and CSF levels in clinical samples [24,30–33].

2.4. Plasma and CSF sample pre-treatment

A 100 μ L aliquot of spiked plasma was carefully mixed with 300 μ L of methanolic IS-WS, and the mixture was centrifuged at +4 °C for 10 min at 20000g (14000 rpm) with a benchtop centrifuge (Benchtop Mikro 220R centrifuge, Hettich). A 150 μ L aliquot of the clear supernatant was diluted 1:1 with ultrapure water directly in the glass HPLC vial.

A 100 μL aliquot of CSF was diluted with 100 μL of IS-WS in MeOH/ H_2O 2:1 and the mixture underwent the same centrifugation conditions as used above for plasma. The clear solution was transferred into a glass HPLC vial for analysis.

For each matrix, the final glass HPLC vials were securely closed with crimp seals and then vortexed.

2.5. Evaluation of CSF surrogate matrices

Given the scarcity of blank human CSF, it is certainly difficult to justify its use solely for the purpose of calibration samples preparation. Thus, we have examined whether other potential matrix surrogates could confidently be used instead of CSF for the preparation of calibrator, validation and QC samples. For this endeavor, calibration samples were prepared in two separate matrices: one in 1:200 diluted plasma (sCSF) and one in artificial CSF (aCSF). Concentrations of QC samples prepared in real CSF were determined using the two types of calibrations, and trueness (%), as well as precision (RSD), were calculated. Additionally, QC results obtained with the two approaches were reported on a plot and compared using linear regression.

2.6. LC-MS/MS equipment

Chromatographic analyses were carried out using a Dionex Ultimate 3000 ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography (UHPLC) RSLC system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Reinach, Switzerland) integrating a binary pump and a Flow-Through-Needle (FTN) injector. The Acquity UPLC HSS T3 (Waters, Millford, USA) analytical column (2.1×50 mm, 1.8μ m) was kept in a thermostated oven set at +10 °C (using Peltier elements). The UHPLC system was coupled to a triple-stage quadrupole TSQ QuantivaTM mass spectrometer equipped with an Ion Max NGTM electrospray ionization (ESI) source (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Reinach, Switzerland). Data acquisition, peak integration, and quantification were performed using Xcalibur software version 1.1 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Reinach, Switzerland).

2.7. LC-MS/MS conditions

For chromatographic separations, the mobile phase A was ultrapure water with 0.1% FA and mobile phase B was composed of MeOH with 0.1% FA. The mobile phase was delivered at a flow rate of 0.5 mL/min using the following 2-step gradient elution program: linear gradient 0% to 10% B in 1 min; up to 30% B in 0.2 min, linear gradient to 35% B until 3 min. Then, B was increased up to 90% in 0.1 min for intensive rinsing during 1 min, followed by a re-equilibration step to the initial conditions from 4.1 to 5 min (total analysis time). The column oven was set at +10 °C, whereas samples were stored at +5 °C in the autosampler. The injection volume was 5 µL for both plasma and CSF methodologies.

The ESI source parameters were set as follows: the ion transfer tube and vaporizer temperatures were set at 250 and 400 °C, respectively; ESI spray voltage was set at 3500 and 3000 V for positive mode and negative mode, respectively; sheath and auxiliary gas (nitrogen) flow rates at 30 and 15 (arbitrary units), respectively. The first (Q1) and third (Q3) quadrupoles operated with a mass resolution of 0.7 Da (i.e., m/z 0.7 FWHM). The cycle time was 0.2 s. The Q2 collision gas (argon) pressure was 2 mTorr.

2.8. Analytical method validation

Validation of the analytical procedure was assessed according to current recommendations from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) [34], European Medicine Agency (EMEA) [35], and the Société Française des Sciences et Techniques Pharmaceutiques [36,37], as well as by reference published papers for bioanalytical method validation [38–42].

2.8.1. Selectivity and carry-over

The selectivity of the developed method for potential interferences emanating from biological matrices was assessed by analyzing blank human plasma extracts from ten different sources. Analyses of blank pooled rCSF and aCSF, as well as surrogate matrices, were carried out to evaluate the presence of potential endogenous and/or exogenous compounds that could interfere with the developed assay.

The MS-based cross-talk interferences between co-eluting analytes and corresponding IS were checked by individually injecting a high concentration calibration sample of the analytes processed with pure MeOH (no IS), and blank plasma processed with the methanolic IS-WS.

Carryover was assessed by analyzing one or more blank samples immediately after the injection of the highest concentration calibrator.

2.8.2. Matrix effect, extraction recovery, process efficiency

2.8.2.1. Qualitative evaluation of matrix effect. Matrix effects (MEs) were initially examined qualitatively by the continuous post-HPLC column infusion of a standard solution of analytes, and their corresponding ISs, into the mass spectrometer during the simultaneous UHPLC–MS/MS analysis of a blank plasma extract [43]. The analyte standard mixture, at 500 ng/mL in MeOH, was infused at a flow rate of $10 \,\mu$ L/min and blank plasma extracts from six different sources were analyzed. A significant alteration (i.e., drift or shift) of the LC–MS signals of each selected MS/MS transition at the analytes' retention time was considered to be a matrix effect [44].

2.8.2.2. Quantitative assessment of matrix effect, extraction recovery and process efficiency. Matrix effects (MEs), extraction recoveries (ER) and process efficiencies (PE) for selected NRTIs and Gln-ZDV were quantitatively estimated at low (L, 10 ng/mL), medium (M, 300 ng/ mL) and high (H, 3000 ng/mL) QC concentrations in seven different sources of human plasma [45]. Due to the difficulties in accessing a sufficient volume of real CSF from multiple donors, these parameters were assessed in surrogate CSF (sCSF, i.e., 1:200 diluted human plasma) at 10 ng/mL (LQC), 100 ng/mL (MQC) and 3000 ng/mL (HQC). For this purpose, three sets of solutions were prepared as follows: (A) three matrix-free samples (i.e., H₂O:MeOH mixture) spiked with analytes and IS, (B) seven blank human plasma or sCSF samples spiked in duplicate with both analytes and corresponding IS after extraction, and (C) seven blank human plasma or sCSF spiked in duplicate with analytes and corresponding IS before extraction. Matrix effects (i.e., B/A in %), extraction recovery (i.e., C/B in %) and process efficiency (i.e., C/A in %) for NRTIs and Gln-ZDV were calculated by taking into account the mean peak areas obtained for experiments A, B and C at the three QC levels. Variability of the parameters between the seven human plasma or sCSF sources was expressed as relative standard deviation (RSD). The IS-normalized parameters (i.e., IS-nME, IS-nER and IS-nPE) were also calculated by replacing the analyte peak area by the analyte/IS peak area ratio, with results expressed as bias [46].

For MEs, the standard line slopes approach suggested by Matuszewski was also evaluated [41]. Briefly, the RSD of slopes from linear regressions estimated through L, M, H concentrations for each

plasma or sCSF source of set B (n = 7) was calculated. This value should not exceed 3–4% to consider the developed method devoid of significant relative matrix effects [41].

2.8.3. Trueness, precision, accuracy profiles and limits of quantification

Three series of validation standard samples were analyzed in triplicate over three different days for method precision and trueness determination. Concentrations of the validation standards were backcalculated by using the daily calibration curves constructed with different mathematical regression models in order to determine the best quantitative relationship between response function and concentration (i.e., lowest bias over concentration range). The trueness was determined as the percentage deviation between nominal and measured concentrations, while precision parameters (i.e., repeatability and intermediate precision) were both calculated taking into account their variances as described in the SFSTP reports [36,47]. According to recommendations, repeatability and intermediate precision were reported as relative standard deviation, based on the reference nominal value at each concentration level [40].

The accuracy profiles (i.e., total error approach), based on β -expectation tolerance intervals, were obtained by combining trueness and precision results, as previously proposed by several authors [48,49]. This approach estimates the area where $\beta\%$ of the future results are expected to lie [40,50] and allows confident prediction, based on results obtained during the validation phase, of the results that will be obtained during routine application of the method.

The accuracy profiles reporting absolute concentration, instead of accuracy (%), were used to precisely estimate the lower and upper limit of quantification (LLOQ and ULOQ) for NRTIs and Gln-ZDV, as described by Feinberg et al. [51]. Briefly, LLOQ as well as ULOQ were extrapolated graphically as the concentration where the β -expectation tolerance intervals cross the acceptance limits (\pm 30%). Indeed, total error should not exceed 30%, as stated in FDA and EMEA official documents [34,35], as well as in reference publication [52].

Linearity of the trueness is required and defines the ability of the developed assay to generate quantitative results directly proportional to known nominal analyte concentrations within the validated range. Linearity of trueness was assessed by linear square regression of the experimental concentrations plotted as function of nominal concentrations, during the three days of validation.

A dilution integrity experiment was performed with QC samples at concentrations exceeding the highest calibrator and diluted 10-fold in blank plasma or sCSF to obtain the final test concentrations within the validated range of 800 and 300 ng/mL for plasma and sCSF, respectively. Trueness and precision should be within \pm 15%.

2.8.4. Short and medium stability studies

Bench-experiment sample stability, as well as medium-long stability studies for NRTIs and Gln-ZDV in human plasma and pooled rCSF were carried out as follows:

- a) Stability in matrices kept up to 48 h at room temperature and at $+4\,^\circ\mathrm{C};$
- b) Stability in matrices after three freeze/thaw cycles. Frozen samples were thawed at room temperature for 1 h and subsequently refrozen for 2 h;
- c) Stability in matrices frozen at $-\,20\ensuremath{\,^\circ C}$ and $-\,80\ensuremath{\,^\circ C}$ over 6 weeks;
- d) Stability in human plasma subjected to thermal viro-inactivation (i.e., 60 min at +60 °C in a water-bath) performed in our laboratory, prior to analysis. This treatment was shown to effectively inactivate HIV particles present in the samples [53–55].

Stability studies were performed in duplicate at low (i.e., 30 ng/mL for plasma and 10 ng/mL for CSF), medium (i.e., 300 ng/mL for plasma and 100 ng/mL for CSF) and high (i.e., 3000 ng/mL for both plasma and CSF) QC levels. The mean concentration of the studied samples was

Clinical Mass Spectrometry 8 (2018) 8-20



Fig. 2. UHPLC–MS/MS separation of five NRTIs and zidovudine glucuronide in plasma (calibration sample at 1500 ng/mL). Identical chromatographic separation of these analytes is obtained during CSF samples analysis.

expressed as a percentage of the initial concentration measured at the beginning (t_0) of the stability study or in absence of the parameter potentially affecting compound stability (e.g., freeze/thaw cycle or thermization process).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Analytical method development

The selected NRTI drugs (i.e., abacavir (ABC), emtricitabine (FTC), lamivudine (3TC), tenofovir (TFV) and zidovudine (ZDV)) and ZDVglucuronide (Gln-ZDV), despite having relatively high polarities (partition coefficient log P ranging from -3.43 to 0.39; Fig. 1), have been reported to be amenable to reverse-phase liquid chromatography [56,57]. Chromatographic separation of the six analytes was carried out on Acquity UPLC HSS T3 C18 column. This silica-based stationary phase was found compatible with the 100% aqueous mobile phase composition required at the start of the gradient program for the efficient chromatographic retention of these polar compounds. Optimization of the chromatographic conditions included: (i) evaluation of the organic solvent modifier in the mobile phase (ACN and MeOH), (ii) variation of the column temperature (+10 °C, +25 °C and +40 °C), and (iii) variation of the gradient program (one- and multi-step separation). The influence of these changes on chromatographic pattern, MS response, analyte retention time, peak selectivity and shape, and sensitivity, were thoroughly evaluated. Using MeOH as the mobile phase, with a lower eluting power than ACN, resulted in a reasonable chromatographic retention of the least retained compound, tenofovir (apparent retention factor k_e of 2.9). Moreover, sensitivity (signal/noise ratio) and peak shape were improved using MeOH in the mobile phase and also as plasma protein precipitating agent. A two-step gradient program was necessary to obtain a satisfactory chromatographic separation of analytes in terms of selectivity and analytical time. Temperature played a key role in the chromatographic resolution of the most critical pair represented by ABC and Gln-ZDV. Indeed, by decreasing the column temperature to +10 °C, a baseline separation of all compounds in less than 3 min was obtained (Fig. 2).

At this reduced column temperature, column efficiency (as evaluated by peak width) was not affected, yet an important drawback was the marked increase in column back-pressure (up to 800 bar) due to the more viscous mobile phase. The peak shape of tenofovir was found to deteriorate in the presence of the high percentage of MeOH present in the supernatant obtained after plasma protein precipitation. This could be improved by the dilution of the supernatant (1:1 with pure H_2O) and an injection volume of 5 µL which provided the best compromise in term of acceptable peak shape for tenofovir and overall sensitivity.

Table 1	l
---------	---

MS/MS parameters and typical retention times for the analysis of five antiretroviral drugs and zidovudine glucuronide and their respective stable-isotope-	labeled ISs
--	-------------

Compound	ESI polarity $(+/-)$	Precursor ion (m/z)	Product ion (m/z)	Collision Energy (eV)	Tube lens voltage (V)	Typical retention time (min)
ABC	+	287.2	150.1	32	67	2.3
			191.1	19		
[² H ₅]-ABC	+	292.1	196.0	20	70	2.3
FTC	+	248.1	130.0	12	35	1.8
[² H ₃ , ¹⁵ N]-FTC	+	252.1	132.1	16	35	1.8
3TC	+	230.1	112.0	13	32	1.6
[¹³ C, ² H ₂ , ¹⁵ N ₂]-3TC	+	235.2	115.1	13	37	1.6
TFV	+	288.3	159.1	31	89	1.5
[² H ₆]-TFV	+	294.2	182.0	27	85	1.5
ZDV	-	266.1	222.9	10	57	2.7
[¹³ C, ² H ₃]-ZDV	-	270.0	227.4	10	59	2.7
Gln-ZDV	-	442.1	125.1	24	84	2.4

P. Courlet et al.

79



Fig. 3. Qualitative assessment of matrix effect in human plasma. Overlaid UHPLC–MS/MS traces obtained for the analysis of six blank plasma extracts during postcolumn infusion of a standard solution containing NRTIs, Gln-ZDV (A) and ISs (B), at 500 ng/mL. Retention times and chromatographic peaks for NRTIs, Gln-ZDV and ISs obtained during experiment were superimposed for interpretation.

Sensitivity and selectivity of MS/MS detection was determined by direct infusion of a solution of analytes (1 µg/mL in MeOH) onto the MS detector while optimizing settings and MS/MS transitions (Table 1). The most intense and selective product ion was selected for each analyte by analyzing spiked plasma samples in real LC–MS/MS conditions

and was confirmed to be consistent with the molecular structure and previous reports [12–16]. For ABC, two product ions with similar signal intensities were selected to ensure sufficient sensitivity. For TFV, our preliminary selectivity experiments revealed that the TFV product ion (i.e., m/z 176), though chosen for SRM detection in previous studies

Table 2

Internal Standard normalized Matrix Effect (IS-nME), extraction recovery (IS-nER) and process efficiency (IS-nPE) in plasma and surrogate CSF (sCSF) for NRTIs and Gln-ZDV.

Compound	QC level ^a	IS-nME % (RSD)		IS-n % (R	ER (SD)	IS-nPE % (RSD)		
		Plasma	sCSF	Plasma	sCSF	Plasma	sCSF	
ABC/[² H ₅]-ABC	Low	-3 (5)	7 (2)	5 (7)	-4 (2)	2 (7)	3 (3)	
	Middle	-4 (3)	7 (4)	-2 (6)	-7 (5)	-5 (8)	0 (3)	
	High	8 (5)	9 (2)	-7 (8)	-6 (4)	0 (6)	3 (3)	
FTC/[² H ₃ , ¹⁵ N]-FTC	Low	-6 (5)	7 (3)	5 (8)	-2 (2)	0 (7)	5 (3)	
	Middle	-4 (3)	6 (3)	-3 (6)	-7 (5)	-6 (8)	-1 (3)	
	High	8 (5)	5 (2)	-7 (8)	-5 (4)	1 (6)	1 (2)	
3TC/[¹³ C, ² H ₂ , ¹⁵ N ₂]-3TC	Low	-2 (5)	8 (3)	5 (9)	0 (3)	3 (8)	8 (3)	
	Middle	-3(4)	7 (4)	-3 (6)	-7 (5)	-6 (8)	-1 (2)	
	High	9 (4)	6 (2)	-7(7)	-5 (4)	2 (5)	0 (2)	
TFV/[² H ₆]-TFV	Low	-9 (6)	2 (4)	2 (9)	10 (9)	-6 (8)	12 (10)	
	Middle	-2(4)	5 (4)	-2 (5)	-6 (6)	-4(7)	-1 (3)	
	High	6 (5)	6 (3)	-10 (8)	-6 (5)	-4 (6)	0 (3)	
ZDV/[¹³ C, ² H ₃]-ZDV	Low	0 (5)	2 (16)	17 (8)	13 (10)	16 (6)	15 (9)	
	Middle	-10(7)	-12 (3)	-19 (6)	12 (3)	-27 (10)	-2(3)	
	High	8 (5)	-4 (2)	-2 (6)	13 (3)	6 (4)	9 (2)	
Gln-ZDV/[¹³ C, ² H ₃]-ZDV	Low	-7 (5)	-15 (10)	17 (14)	12 (15)	9 (13)	-4 (8)	
	Middle	-10 (8)	-13 (5)	-21 (6)	12 (5)	-29 (9)	-3(3)	
	High	8 (6)	-1 (3)	-1 (6)	14 (4)	7 (4)	13 (3)	

^a Low concentration is defined as 10 ng/mL, middle concentrations as 300 ng/mL for plasma and 100 ng/mL for sCSF, and high concentrations are defined as 3000 ng/mL.

[58–60], co-eluted in several blank plasmas with a major matrix interference; thus, the product ion m/z 159 was monitored instead, leading to excellent selectivity and an insignificant decrease in sensitivity. Final optimization of ESI source parameters for each analyte (reported in Section 2.7) in real LC–MS/MS conditions enabled the best compromise for this multiplex analysis, in terms of signal intensity and reduction of background noise.

Unlike the majority of previously published bioanalytical method for NRTIs, stable-isotope-labeled internal standards have been systematically used in this study to confidently manage potential MEs from complex biological matrices, such as plasma and CSF [41,42,61]. Product ions of ISs and their concentrations were selected and optimized to both reduce cross-talk interference with target analytes and improve the accuracy, precision and quantification range of the method. As no deuterated IS was commercially available for Gln-ZDV, [13C, 2H3]-ZDV was successfully used for both ZDV and Gln-ZDV. Besides the use of stable-isotope labeled IS, matrix-matched calibration is a complementary approach that can be used to compensate for any existing MEs. While access to blank human plasma for calibration sample preparation is possible, the collection of sufficient blank CSF remains difficult. To address this, Hooshfar et al. suggests that 1:200 diluted plasma constitutes a reliable surrogate matrix to replace rCSF in the preparation of calibrators and QCs [28]. In their report, the MS response of lamivudine in 1:200 diluted plasma (sCSF) closely correlated to that measured in rCSF, but less so in other surrogate matrices (i.e., aCSF or alternate plasma dilutions). In our study, (Table S1 in Supplementary Files), mean trueness values for NRTIs and Gln-ZDV were within 90 and 110%, whereas RSDs were lower than 15% for both aCSF and sCSF (i.e., diluted plasma), except for FTC (where RSD was 17%). Both calibrations, therefore, either in aCSF or sCSF provide accurate concentrations of NRTIs and Gln-ZDV in rCSF. General agreement between these two matrices was confirmed after plotting QC results obtained with aCSF versus sCSF calibration for all analytes. Determination coefficients (R²) were all higher than 0.999, slopes ranged from 0.998 to 1.027 and intercepts varied from -2.347 to 2.919. A slope close to unity emphasizes the excellent correspondence of results obtained for the two calibration matrices. For practical reasons, the 1:200 diluted human plasma was chosen as a suitable sCSF matrix for quantifying NRTIs and Gln-ZDV in rCSF, and was used thereafter for all method validation.

3.2. Method validation

3.2.1. Selectivity and carry-over

No major interferences were observed at the retention times of the compounds in their corresponding MS/MS transition when human blank plasma samples were analyzed, confirming satisfactory selectivity of the UHPLC–MS/MS method. Selectivity was also confirmed for rCSF, aCSF and sCSF (i.e., no interfering signals from endogenous or exogenous compounds were present).

Cross-talk interferences coming from MS detection were observed between FTC and its IS, but without any consequence on quantitative data (i.e., < 10% at the LLOQ).

Carryover did not exceed 11% for any of the analytes when blank matrix samples were analyzed directly after the injection of the highest calibrator, which was in agreement with official recommendations (i.e., < 20% of the lower limit of quantification) [35].

3.2.2. Matrix effect, extraction recovery and process efficiency

The MEs in plasma were first examined qualitatively as shown in Fig. 3. Any diminutions, suppressions or enhancements of NRTI, Gln-ZDV or IS MS signals due to endogenous matrix components from extracted blank plasma samples were only observed outside the elution time of the analytes (from 1.5 to 2.6 min), emphasizing the suitability of the developed LC program. For CSF, we quantitatively determined the extraction recovery (ER) and process efficiency (PE) of the sCSF.

Quantitative determination of the internal standard normalized matrix effect (IS-nME), extraction recovery (IS-nER) and process efficiency (IS-nPE) parameters of all analytes in the two matrices (i.e., plasma and sCSF) are reported in Table 2. A value above or below 100% for the IS-nME indicates an ionization enhancement or suppression, respectively. As depicted by the results, co-eluting plasma matrix components did not appear to significantly affect the ionization process of the analytes. In plasma, IS-normalization decreases the variability for these parameters down to RSD \leq 8% for all compounds, contrary to the variability

Clinical Mass Spectrometry 8 (2018) 8-20

Table 3

Trueness, repeatability and intermediate precision in human plasma and sCSF over the validated range.

Compound	Conc.		Plasma		Conc.		sCSF		
	(lig/lill)	Trueness (%)		Precision	(lig/ lill)	Trueness (%)		Precision	
			Repeatability (%)	Intermediate precision (%)			Repeatability (%)	Intermediate precision (%)	
Abacavir	5	91.7	6.0	9.0	2	101.8	5.8	8.5	
	10	99.6	7.7	7.7	5	96.1	1.9	4.8	
	30	103.4	9.1	9.1	10	95.7	1.5	3.1	
	600	101.2	6.7	6.7	30	94.5	0.8	3.3	
	2400	97.8	7.3	8.0	600	97.7	1.3	2.2	
	4800	101.9	5.6	6.7	2400	95.9	7.5	7.5	
	(8000/10) ^a	109.0	1.5	5.1	(3000/10) ^a	91.5	1.9	3.2	
Emtricitabine					1	94.2	10.1	10.8	
	5	99.7	9.7	9.7	2	93.2	6.8	6.8	
	10	101.6	7.0	8.0	5	93.2	1.3	4.3	
	30	104.0	10.7	10.7	10	95.4	0.8	2.9	
	600	106.9	7.2	7.2	30	94.3	0.6	2.8	
	2400	104.6	8.4	9.1	600	94.7	0.8	3.9	
	4800	107.9	4.8	5.9	2400	95.4	0.9	2.2	
	(8000/10) ^a	109.5	2.9	6.2	(3000/10) ^a	87.6	2.3	2.3	
Lamivudine					2	93.7	7.1	7.1	
	10	99.9	11.2	11.2	5	96.7	7.8	8.0	
	30	103.4	7.9	10.8	10	97.7	4.1	5.4	
	600	103.7	6.5	6.5	30	94.1	2.4	4.1	
	2400	101.7	7.8	9.3	600	96.4	2.2	5.7	
	4800	105.5	5.2	7.5	2400	97.4	2.6	3.1	
	(8000/10) ^a	111.7	1.2	5.1	(3000/10) ^a	95.5	2.1	2.3	
Tenofovir	5	95.3	10.9	10.9	2	112.1	15.1	15.1	
	10	96.9	10.5	10.5	5	96.3	7.6	7.6	
	30	99.4	9.7	9.7	10	93.7	5.5	7.1	
	600	99.2	6.8	6.8	30	97.4	5.5	5.5	
	2400	100.3	8.7	9.9	600	97.7	2.4	2.7	
	4800	102.0	6.7	8.2	2400	97.7	2.0	2.0	
	(8000/10) ^a	109.5	2.9	6.2	(3000/10) ^a	95.5	5.2	5.2	
Zidovudine	10	110.4	12.6	13.9	5	100.0	5.0	5.9	
	30	107.6	10.5	10.5	10	97.9	3.6	5.6	
	600	105.5	5.5	6.5	30	92.7	2.8	4.8	
	2400	103.2	8.1	10.2	600	96.4	1.9	4.2	
	4800	105.2	6.0	7.1	2400	97.5	3.0	3.7	
	(8000/10) ^a	101.7	2.5	5.8	(3000/10) ^a	97.7	2.6	2.6	
Zidovudine	30	99.5	10.0	10.0	10	97.2	10.5	11.3	
glucuronide	600	103.1	6.7	7.7	30	92.9	5.6	6.0	
÷	2400	99.5	4.1	5.6	600	94.4	5.3	6.8	
	4800	101.1	6.1	6.1	2400	95.4	4.3	4.7	
	(8000/10) ^a	101.3	2.3	3.4	(3000/10) ^a	83.7	2.3	2.3	

^a Dilution integrity: spiked samples at high concentration were diluted 10-fold with the corresponding matrix.

observed for non-normalized parameters (see Supplementary material Table S2). The IS-nER was between 79 and 117%, with acceptable overall variability (i.e., RSD \leq 14%). Finally, reasonable overall performance was achieved for IS-nPEs that were in the range of 71–116%, with RSD \leq 13%. In sCSF samples, IS-nME, IS-nER and IS-nPE parameters were within the \pm 15% allowances together with satisfactory variability (i.e., RSD < 15%) at all QC levels.

Finally, the lack of significant MEs impacting NRTIs quantitation in plasma and CSF was confirmed by the standard line slope approach [41]: relative standard deviations of standard line slopes constructed in seven different blank plasmas and sCSF did not exceed 3.4% for plasma or 2.5% for sCSF, except for Gln-ZDV in plasma (i.e., RSD 4.3%, though considered as acceptable).

3.2.3. Trueness, precision and accuracy profile

Response functions were obtained by plotting analyte/IS peak area ratios against analyte concentration in plasma from 1 to 6000 ng/mL and from 0.5 to 3000 ng/mL in sCSF. Given the relatively broad dynamic range required, the linear model was not expected to provide a reliable description of response function. Therefore, two non-linear

regression models (i.e., quadratic log-log and quadratic weighted 1/x) were used to evaluate each analyte. For each compound, a calibration range was established that would allow a determination coefficient (R^2) greater than 0.99 and a back-calculated concentration of calibration samples within \pm 15%, or \pm 20% at the expected LLOQ. Concentrations of the validation standards were back-calculated using the daily prepared calibration curves and two different mathematical regression models. The 1/x weighted quadratic model was the most suitable in terms of trueness, precision and validation domain (i.e., lowest LLOQ). For both matrices, a calibration curve analyzed once per analytical series was finally selected, as the validation performances were similar to those obtained with triplicate analysis of calibrator. As reported in Table 3, satisfactory performances were obtained over the validated range in terms of trueness (plasma: 91.7-110.4%; CSF: 92.7-112.1%), repeatability (plasma: 4.1-12.6%; CSF: 0.6-15.1%) and intermediate precision (plasma: 5.6-13.9%; CSF: 2.0-15.1%). Both trueness and precision obtained after a 10-fold dilution of OC samples. with concentrations exceeding the highest calibrator, were within the acceptance criteria of \pm 15%, except Gln-ZDV in sCSF at -16.3%. The high spiked concentrations for Gln-ZDV in CSF are, however, hardly

Clinical Mass Spectrometry 8 (2018) 8-20



Fig. 4. Accuracy profiles over the investigated validation domain in plasma (left) and sCSF (right) of the five NRTIs and zidovudine glucuronide (Gln-ZDV). Trueness (blue, solid line), upper and lower β -expectation tolerance intervals ($\beta = 90\%$) (red, solid lines) and acceptance limits ($\lambda = \pm 30\%$), green, dotted lines) are shown.

observed *in vivo*, and dilution integrity was therefore considered as globally satisfactory.

The accuracy profiles with β -expectation tolerance intervals were built using a β value of 90%, which represents the percentage of the future results expected to fall within the calculated tolerance intervals during routine application of the method. As depicted in Fig. 4, the accuracy profiles exceed the acceptance limits of \pm 30% (established for biological samples), but only at very low concentrations [34].

The LLOQ values for the five NRTIs and Gln-ZDV correspond to the lowest concentration at which the tolerance limit crossed the acceptance limit by using absolute accuracy profiles [37]. The lowest level that can be measured in plasma and CSF with a defined total error (\pm 30%) were, respectively, 5 and 1.5 ng/mL for ABC, 3.7 and 1.2 ng/mL for FTC, 8.9 and 1.5 ng/mL for 3TC, 4.6 and 3.2 ng/mL for TFV, 26 and 2.6 ng/mL for ZDV, 19.6 and 3.4 ng/mL for Gln-ZDV. All LLOQ values were considered acceptable since they lie well below the trough concentrations (C_{trough}) commonly observed in clinical practice. Given its improved safety profile (i.e., bone and renal toxicities) as compared to tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF), tenofovir alafenamide (TAF) is increasingly prescribed. Plasma concentrations of TFV after TAF administration are known to be 90% lower than those obtained with TDF [62]. The TFV concentration range analyzed with our method is

Stability of NRTIs and zidovudine glucuronide under different storage conditions.

Compound	Abaca	vir		Emtric	zitabine		Lamiv	udine		Tenof	ovir		Zidov	udine		Zidovud	ine glucuroni	de
QC level ^a	Low	Middle	High	Low	Middle	High	Low	Middle	High	Low	Middle	High	Low	Middle	High	Low	Middle	High
Room temper	ature for	• 24 h																
Plasma	95	98	102	104	103	105	95	103	90	87	103	88	97	109	96	122	106	119
CSF	95	99	96	95	103	97	93	113	106	93	110	96	104	112	110	97	100	97
Room temper	ature for	• 48 h																
Plasma	101	99	101	108	103	104	89	92	108	107	114	108	113	99	100	143	109	124
CSF	92	96	96	97	101	95	101	108	105	90	104	95	90	111	111	104	92	97
+4°C for 24	h																	
Plasma	100	103	98	109	106	97	94	106	92	92	107	91	108	113	96	150	114	115
CSF	94	96	97	92	103	97	93	112	108	90	107	98	106	105	112	92	101	95
+4°C for 48	h																	
Plasma	97	100	102	105	106	105	91	111	95	87	94	86	92	107	100	128	110	124
CSF	92	96	96	99	101	95	102	109	103	90	107	99	99	109	108	94	89	94
After 3 conse	cutive fr	eeze-thaw o	cycles															
Plasma	102	101	103	103	101	102	102	101	102	104	98	98	101	100	100	98	95	104
CSF	86	98	95	92	99	96	86	99	97	87	97	95	89	100	94	94	101	95
–20°C durin	ıg 6 weel	ks																
Plasma	ັ99	100	104	106	98	104	103	107	107	109	111	111	98	107	108	103	111	111
CSF	98	95	93	105	100	97	104	106	103	96	109	93	92	99	94	90	88	85
– 80°C durin	ıg 6 weel	cs																
Plasma	101	104	105	102	105	111	103	106	110	108	103	104	115	112	114	111	114	113
CSF	101	99	98	106	104	100	108	114	107	95	111	95	115	114	113	108	102	99
Thermal viro-	inactiva	tion ^b																
Plasma	113	108	106	112	109	108	114	105	107	105	105	101	103	108	103	114	104	106

^a Low concentration is defined as 30 ng/mL for plasma and 10 ng/mL for CSF, middle concentrations as 300 ng/mL for plasma and 100 ng/mL for sCSF, and high concentrations are defined as 3000 ng/mL.

^b 60 min at +60 °C in a water bath.

suitable for the determination of TFV plasma levels over the entire dosing interval after either TDF 300 mg or TAF 25 mg administration. It must be acknowledged, however, that our current LLOQ for TFV would allow monitoring of TFV in plasma only until approximately 12 h after the administration of the 10 mg TAF dose, as such low doses yield TFV plasma levels higher than 10.2 ng/mL at a median time of 11.2 h (range 4.1–18.6 h) after dosing [63]. On the other hand, the concentration of the highest validation sample (i.e., 4800 ng/mL for plasma and 2400 ng/mL for sCSF) correspond to the ULOQ.

Linearity of trueness was determined by plotting back-calculated validation concentrations versus theoretical concentrations and by fitting it with a linear regression model (data not shown). Slopes ranged from 0.96 to 1.12 and 0.92 to 1.01, in plasma and CSF, respectively, and determination coefficients (R^2) were all greater to 0.99, indicating that satisfactory linearity was provided by the method.

Finally, the successful performance of our laboratory as part of the external quality proficiency program for NRTIs, as organized by Asqualab, Paris, France (http://www.asqualab.com/), constituted definitive demonstration that the proposed assay is able to provide sufficiently accurate analytical results.

3.2.4. Stability studies

The stability of NRTIs and Gln-ZDV in plasma and rCSF QC samples left at room temperature and at +4 °C was ascertained up to 48 h. The variation over time of each compound's levels at 24 h and 48 h (Table 4) was within \pm 15% of nominal concentrations, except for Gln-ZDV in plasma.

Variation after three freeze-thaw cycles was less than 15%, indicating no significant loss after three cycles.

Stability studies up to six weeks at -20 °C and -80 °C demonstrate no NRTI or Gln-ZDV degradation during long-term storage of plasma and rCSF samples.

Finally, the variation in NRTI/Gln-ZDV levels estimated after

heating plasma to +60 °C for 60 min was within $\pm 15\%$ of nominal concentrations, indicating that plasma samples can be subjected to our thermization procedure without significant loss of analyte.

In summary, for all conditions tested, deviations from initial concentrations of NRTIs ranged between 86 and 115%, suggesting no significant sample deterioration in plasma and CSF, except Gln-ZDV, which can be considered globally less stable under the different storage conditions. A reliable analysis of Gln-ZDV requires, therefore, that plasma and CSF be stored after collection without delay at temperature lower than -20 °C. To our knowledge, this is the first report on the stability of NRTIs and Gln-ZDV in human plasma and CSF up to 48 h [12,16,64].

3.3. Clinical applications

The validated method has been applied for the measurement of antiretroviral drug levels in both plasma and CSF from patients with documented mild neurocognitive impairment who are part of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS) project, NAMACO (Neurocognitive Assessment in the Metabolic and Aging Cohort study, SHCS #700). Comprehensive analyses of this ongoing prospective study will be published elsewhere. The chromatographic profiles of plasma and CSF samples from one patient receiving tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (300 mg once daily) and emtricitabine (200 mg once daily), in addition to ritonavir-boosted atazanavir, are shown in Fig. 5, patient A. Both plasma and CSF samples were collected simultaneously during a medical visit 15.5 h post-dose. This sampling design allowed determination of the CSF-to-plasma ratio for each drug. The measured concentrations in plasma were 116 ng/mL for TFV and 107 ng/mL for FTC, while concentrations in CSF were 6 ng/mL for TFV and 76 ng/mL for FTC, providing CSF-to-plasma ratios of 0.05 for TFV and of 0.71 for FTC. These results are in general agreement with previously published data [24,25,65].



Fig. 5. Representative UHPLC–MS/MS analyses of plasma and CSF samples. In HIV-infected patient A receiving a backbone combination regimen of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF, 300 mg) and emtricitabine (FTC, 200 mg), plasma and CSF samples were collected 15.5 h after drug intake. For patient B treated with abacavir (ABC, 600 mg) and lamivudine (3TC, 300 mg), both samples were collected 15.75 h after the last drug intake. In HIV-infected patient C treated with zidovudine (ZDV, 300 mg), plasma and CSF samples were collected after 5.75 h. See Section 3.3 for details.

The chromatograms of a patient treated with ABC (600 mg once daily), 3TC (300 mg once daily), in addition to dolutegravir, are represented in Fig. 5, patient B. Both plasma and CSF samples were collected 15.75 h post-dose. The concentration of ABC was 94 ng/mL and 42 ng/mL in plasma and CSF, respectively. The concentration of 3TC was 466 ng/mL and 99 ng/mL in plasma and CSF, respectively. Hence, CSF-to-plasma ratios were 0.45 and 0.21, for ABC and 3TC, in accordance with previously published data [32,66].

Another example of application is shown in Fig. 5, patient C: UHPLC-MS/MS analyses of plasma and CSF samples collected 5.75 h post-dose in one HIV-patient receiving ZDV (300 mg once daily). The concentrations ZDV and Gln-ZDV in plasma were 52 and 606 ng/mL. respectively, whereas their concentrations in CSF were 72 and 185 ng/ mL, respectively, giving CSF-to-plasma ratios of 1.38 and 0.31 for ZDV and Gln-ZDV, respectively. These results are in agreement with existing data for ZDV, which is known to have an effective CNS penetration with a CSF-to-plasma ratio increasing linearly with time after drug administration [33,67]. ZDV is also characterized by an important variability in that it is predominantly and selectively metabolized by the polymorphic UGT 2B7 to its inactive metabolite Gln-ZDV, making ZDV a probe substrate for this UGT isoform [57,68,69]. With the ability to simultaneously monitor ZDV and Gln-ZDV in both plasma and CSF, characterization of potential alterations in UGT 2B7 activity occurring in the liver and/or in the brain can be realized [70].

Following diligent internal and external quality control certification, this multiplex UHPLC–MS/MS assay was also integrated into our general routine TDM service for antiretrovirals allowing real-time plasma levels measurement of NRTIs in HIV patients, or, alternately, in individuals taking tenofovir disoproxil fumarate with emtricitabine in the context of Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) [71,72].

4. Conclusion

A multiplex assay method integrating a simplified sample processing protocol and a rapid, sensitive and robust UHPLC–MS/MS analysis was developed for the determination of concentrations of five NRTIs and Gln-ZDV in plasma and CSF. For both matrices, the quantitative performances of the method assessed during validation confirmed its suitability for routine application. The method was also applied to clinical research studies investigating the disposition of NRTIs in deep compartments, in order to increase our understanding of the ability of NRTIs to cross the blood brain barrier and their potential implication in the neuropsychological disorders observed in HIV-patients.

Declarations of interest

None.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the patients who have agreed to participate in the study, and the following persons for their invaluable help and implication in blood and CSF samples collection, as study physicians, study coordinator and study nurse: Alves Deolinda, Waelti Da Costa Vreneli, Mitouassiwou-Samba Alexandra, Sormani Valérie.

Funding sources:

This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant N° 324730-165956) for a comprehensive program on the clinical pharmacology of antiretroviral drugs within the frame of Swiss HIV Cohort Study.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the

Clinical Mass Spectrometry 8 (2018) 8-20

online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clinms.2018.04.001.

References

- A.K. Pau, J.M. George, Antiretroviral therapy: current drugs, Infect. Dis. Clin. North Am. 28 (3) (2014) 371–402.
- [2] C. Bazzoli, V. Jullien, C. Le Tiec, E. Rey, F. Mentre, A.M. Taburet, Intracellular pharmacokinetics of antiretroviral drugs in HIV-infected patients, and their correlation with drug action, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 49 (1) (2010) 17–45.
- [3] J.F. Rodriguez Orengo, J. Santana, I. Febo, C. Diaz, J.L. Rodriguez, R. Garcia, et al., Intracellular studies of the nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor active metabolites: a review, P. R. Health Sci. J. 19 (1) (2000) 19–27.
- [4] Y. Kunimoto, H. Ikeda, S. Fujii, M. Kitagawa, K. Yamazaki, H. Nakata, et al., Plasma tenofovir trough concentrations are associated with renal dysfunction in Japanese patients with HIV infection: a retrospective cohort study, J. Pharm. Health Care Sci. 2 (2016) 22.
- [5] A.M. Hall, B.M. Hendry, D. Nitsch, J.O. Connolly, Tenofovir-associated kidney toxicity in HIV-infected patients: a review of the evidence, Am. J. Kidney Dis. 57 (5) (2011) 773–780.
- [6] C.L. Woodward, A.M. Hall, I.G. Williams, S. Madge, A. Copas, D. Nair, et al., Tenofovir-associated renal and bone toxicity, HIV Med. 10 (8) (2009) 482–487.
- [7] I. Poizot-Martin, C. Solas, J. Allemand, V. Obry-Roguet, V. Pradel, S. Bregigeon, et al., Renal impairment in patients receiving a tenofovir-cART regimen: impact of tenofovir trough concentration, J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 62 (4) (2013) 375–380.
- [8] A.M. Margolis, H. Heverling, P.A. Pham, A. Stolbach, A review of the toxicity of HIV medications, J. Med. Toxicol. 10 (1) (2014) 26–39.
- [9] M.S. Abers, W.X. Shandera, J.S. Kass, Neurological and psychiatric adverse effects of antiretroviral drugs, CNS Drugs 28 (2) (2014) 131–145.
- [10] J. Lai, J. Wang, Z. Cai, Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors and their phosphorylated metabolites in human immunodeficiency virus-infected human matrices, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 868 (1–2) (2008) 1–12.
- [11] K.B. Kenney, S.A. Wring, R.M. Carr, G.N. Wells, J.A. Dunn, Simultaneous determination of zidovudine and lamivudine in human serum using HPLC with tandem mass spectrometry, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 22 (6) (2000) 967–983.
- [12] S. Compain, D. Schlemmer, M. Levi, A. Pruvost, C. Goujard, J. Grassi, et al., Development and validation of a liquid chromatographic/tandem mass spectrometric assay for the quantitation of nucleoside HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitors in biological matrices, J. Mass Spectrom. 40 (1) (2005) 9–18.
- [13] A. De Nicolo, M. Simiele, D. Pensi, L. Boglione, S. Allegra, G. Di Perri, et al., UPLC–MS/MS method for the simultaneous quantification of anti-HBV nucleos(t) ides analogs: entecavir, lamivudine, telbivudine and tenofovir in plasma of HBV infected patients, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 114 (2015) 127–132.
- [14] B.H. Jung, N.L. Rezk, A.S. Bridges, A.H. Corbett, A.D. Kashuba, Simultaneous determination of 17 antiretroviral drugs in human plasma for quantitative analysis with liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Biomed. Chromatogr.: BMC 21 (10) (2007) 1095–1104.
- [15] S. Notari, C. Mancone, M. Tripodi, P. Narciso, M. Fasano, P. Ascenzi, Determination of anti-HIV drug concentration in human plasma by MALDI-TOF/TOF, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 833 (1) (2006) 109–116.
- [16] J.E. Rower, B. Klein, L.R. Bushman, P.L. Anderson, Validation of a sensitive LC/MS/ MS method for the determination of zidovudine and lamivudine in human plasma, Biomed. Chromatogr.: BMC 26 (1) (2012) 12–20.
- [17] A. D'Avolio, M. Sciandra, M. Siccardi, L. Baietto, D. Gonzalez de Requena, S. Bonora, et al., A new assay based on solid-phase extraction procedure with LC-MS to measure plasmatic concentrations of tenofovir and emtricitabine in HIV infected patients, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 46 (6) (2008) 524–528.
- [18] T.N. Clark, C.A. White, M.G. Bartlett, Determination of Abacavir in maternal plasma, amniotic fluid, fetal and placental tissues by a polarity switching liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry method, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 18 (4) (2004) 405–411.
- [19] F. Becher, A. Pruvost, C. Goujard, C. Guerreiro, J.F. Delfraissy, J. Grassi, et al., Improved method for the simultaneous determination of d4T, 3TC and ddl intracellular phosphorylated anabolites in human peripheral-blood mononuclear cells using high-performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 16 (6) (2002) 555–565.
- [20] T. King, L. Bushman, P.L. Anderson, T. Delahunty, M. Ray, C.V. Fletcher, Quantitation of zidovudine triphosphate concentrations from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by anion exchange solid phase extraction and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectroscopy; an indirect quantitation methodology, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 831 (1–2) (2006) 248–257.
- [21] J.D. Moore, G. Valette, A. Darque, X.J. Zhou, J.P. Sommadossi, Simultaneous quantitation of the 5'-triphosphate metabolites of zidovudine, lamivudine, and stavudine in peripheral mononuclear blood cells of HIV infected patients by highperformance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 11 (12) (2000) 1134–1143.
- [22] G. Shi, J.T. Wu, Y. Li, R. Geleziunas, K. Gallagher, T. Emm, et al., Novel direct detection method for quantitative determination of intracellular nucleoside triphosphates using weak anion exchange liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 16 (11) (2002) 1092–1099.
- [23] G. Hennere, F. Becher, A. Pruvost, C. Goujard, J. Grassi, H. Benech, Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry assays for intracellular deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate competitors of nucleoside antiretrovirals, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 789 (2) (2003) 273–281.
- [24] B.M. Best, S.L. Letendre, P. Koopmans, S.S. Rossi, D.B. Clifford, A.C. Collier, et al.,

Clinical Mass Spectrometry 8 (2018) 8-20

86

Low cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of the nucleotide HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitor, tenofovir, J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 59 (4) (2012) 376–381.

- [25] C.D. Lahiri, K. Reed-Walker, A.N. Sheth, E.P. Acosta, A. Vunnava, I. Ofotokun, Cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of tenofovir and emtricitabine in the setting of HIV-1 protease inhibitor-based regimens, J. Clin. Pharmacol. 56 (4) (2016) 492–496.
- [26] S. Letendre, J. Marquie-Beck, E. Capparelli, B. Best, D. Clifford, A.C. Collier, et al., Validation of the CNS penetration-effectiveness rank for quantifying antiretroviral penetration into the central nervous system, Arch. Neurol. 65 (1) (2008) 65–70.
- [27] R. Libertone, P. Lorenzini, P. Balestra, C. Pinnetti, M. Ricottini, M.M. Plazzi, et al., Central nervous system penetration-effectiveness rank does not reliably predict neurocognitive impairment in HIV-infected individuals, J. Int. AIDS Soc. 17 (4 Suppl. 3) (2014) 19655.
- [28] S. Hooshfar, B. Basiri, M.G. Bartlett, Development of a surrogate matrix for cerebral spinal fluid for liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry based analytical methods, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 30 (7) (2016) 854–858.
- [29] S. Ostermann, C. Csajka, T. Buclin, S. Leyvraz, F. Lejeune, L.A. Decosterd, et al., Plasma and cerebrospinal fluid population pharmacokinetics of temozolomide in malignant glioma patients, Clin. Cancer Res. 10 (11) (2004) 3728–3736.
- [30] M.R. Blum, G.E. Chittick, J.A. Begley, J. Zong, Steady-state pharmacokinetics of emtricitabine and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate administered alone and in combination in healthy volunteers, J. Clin. Pharmacol. 47 (6) (2007) 751–759.
- [31] X. Panhard, M. Legrand, A.M. Taburet, B. Diquet, C. Goujard, F. Mentre, et al., Population pharmacokinetic analysis of lamivudine, stavudine and zidovudine in controlled HIV-infected patients on HAART, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 63 (11) (2007) 1019–1029.
- [32] E.V. Capparelli, S.L. Letendre, R.J. Ellis, P. Patel, D. Holland, J.A. McCutchan, Population pharmacokinetics of abacavir in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 49 (6) (2005) 2504–2506.
- [33] J.N. Nwogu, Q. Ma, C.P. Babalola, W.A. Adedeji, G.D. Morse, B. Taiwo, Pharmacokinetic, pharmacogenetic, and other factors influencing CNS penetration of antiretrovirals, AIDS Res. Treat. 2016 (2016) 2587094.
- [34] U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Validation, Available from: (2013) https://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/ guidances/ucm368107.pdf.
- [35] European Medicines Agency, Guideline on Bioanalytical Method Validation, Available from: (2011) http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_ library/Scientific_guideline/2011/08/WC500109686.pdf.
- [36] B. Boulanger, P. Chiap, W. Dewe, J. Crommen, P. Hubert, An analysis of the SFSTP guide on validation of chromatographic bioanalytical methods: progress and limitations, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 32 (4–5) (2003) 753–765.
- [37] P. Hubert, J.J. Nguyen-Huu, B. Boulanger, E. Chapuzet, P. Chiap, N. Cohen, et al., Harmonization of strategies for the validation of quantitative analytical procedures. A SFSTP proposal–Part I, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 36 (3) (2004) 579–586.
- [38] V.P. Shah, K.K. Midha, S. Dighe, I.J. McGilveray, J.P. Skelly, A. Yacobi, et al., Analytical methods validation: bioavailability, bioequivalence and pharmacokinetic studies. Conference report, Eur. J. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet. 16 (4) (1991) 249–255.
- [39] V.P. Shah, K.K. Midha, J.W. Findlay, H.M. Hill, J.D. Hulse, I.J. McGilveray, et al., Bioanalytical method validation – a revisit with a decade of progress, Pharm. Res. 17 (12) (2000) 1551–1557.
- [40] E. Rozet, A. Ceccato, C. Hubert, E. Ziemons, R. Oprean, S. Rudaz, et al., Analysis of recent pharmaceutical regulatory documents on analytical method validation, J. Chromatogr. A 1158 (1–2) (2007) 111–125.
- [41] B.K. Matuszewski, Standard line slopes as a measure of a relative matrix effect in quantitative HPLC–MS bioanalysis, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 830 (2) (2006) 293–300.
- [42] B.K. Matuszewski, M.L. Constanzer, C.M. Chavez-Eng, Strategies for the assessment of matrix effect in quantitative bioanalytical methods based on HPLC–MS/MS, Anal. Chem. 75 (13) (2003) 3019–3030.
- [43] R. Bonfiglio, R.C. King, T.V. Olah, K. Merkle, The effects of sample preparation methods on the variability of the electrospray ionization response for model drug compounds, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 13 (12) (1999) 1175–1185.
- [44] P.J. Taylor, Matrix effects: the Achilles heel of quantitative high-performance liquid chromatography–electrospray-tandem mass spectrometry, Clin. Biochem. 38 (4) (2005) 328–334.
- [45] A. Van Eeckhaut, K. Lanckmans, S. Sarre, I. Smolders, Y. Michotte, Validation of bioanalytical LC–MS/MS assays: evaluation of matrix effects, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 877 (23) (2009) 2198–2207.
- [46] A. De Nicolo, M. Cantu, A. D'Avolio, Matrix effect management in liquid chromatography mass spectrometry: the internal standard normalized matrix effect, Bioanalysis 9 (14) (2017) 1093–1105.
- [47] E. Chapuzet, N. Mercier, S. Bervoas-Martin, B. Boulanger, P. Chevalier, P. Chiap, et al., Méthodes chromatographiques de dosage dans les milieux biologiques: stratégie de validation – Rapport d'une commission, SFSTP 7 (1997) 169–194.
- [48] N. Ansermot, M. Brawand-Amey, C.B. Eap, Simultaneous quantification of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and metabolites in human plasma by liquid chromatography-electrospray mass spectrometry for therapeutic drug monitoring, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 885–886 (2012) 117–130.
- [49] B. Streel, A. Ceccato, R. Klinkenberg, P. Hubert, Validation of a liquid

chromatographic-tandem mass spectrometric method for the determination of loperamide in human plasma, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 814 (2) (2005) 263–273.

- [50] E. Rozet, C. Hubert, A. Ceccato, W. Dewe, E. Ziemons, F. Moonen, et al., Using tolerance intervals in pre-study validation of analytical methods to predict in-study results. The fit-for-future-purpose concept, J. Chromatogr. A 1158 (1–2) (2007) 126–137.
- [51] M. Feinberg, Validation of analytical methods based on accuracy profiles, J. Chromatogr. A 1158 (1–2) (2007) 174–183.
- [52] C.T. Viswanathan, S. Bansal, B. Booth, A.J. DeStefano, M.J. Rose, J. Sailstad, et al., Quantitative bioanalytical methods validation and implementation: best practices for chromatographic and ligand binding assays, Pharm. Res. 24 (10) (2007) 1962–1973.
- [53] S.S. Good, D.J. Reynolds, P. de Miranda, Simultaneous quantification of zidovudine and its glucuronide in serum by high-performance liquid chromatography, J. Chromatogr. 431 (1) (1988) 123–133.
- [54] J.S. McDougal, L.S. Martin, S.P. Cort, M. Mozen, C.M. Heldebrant, B.L. Evatt, Thermal inactivation of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome virus, human T lymphotropic virus-III/lymphadenopathy-associated virus, with special reference to antihemophilic factor, J. Clin. Invest. 76 (2) (1985) 875–877.
- [55] G.V. Quinnan Jr., M.A. Wells, A.E. Wittek, M.A. Phelan, R.E. Mayner, S. Feinstone, et al., Inactivation of human T-cell lymphotropic virus, type III by heat, chemicals, and irradiation, Transfusion 26 (5) (1986) 481–483.
- [56] S. Romand, S. Rudaz, D. Guillarme, Separation of substrates and closely related glucuronide metabolites using various chromatographic modes, J. Chromatogr. A 1435 (2016) 54–65.
- [57] J. Gradinaru, S. Romand, L. Geiser, P.A. Carrupt, D. Spaggiari, S. Rudaz, Inhibition screening method of microsomal UGTs using the cocktail approach, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 71 (2015) 35–45.
- [58] T. Delahunty, L. Bushman, C.V. Fletcher, Sensitive assay for determining plasma tenofovir concentrations by LC/MS/MS, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 830 (1) (2006) 6–12.
- [59] T. Delahunty, L. Bushman, B. Robbins, C.V. Fletcher, The simultaneous assay of tenofovir and emtricitabine in plasma using LC/MS/MS and isotopically labeled internal standards, J. Chromatogr. B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 877 (20–21) (2009) 1907–1914.
- [60] N.A. Gomes, V.V. Vaidya, A. Pudage, S.S. Joshi, S.A. Parekh, Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC–MS/MS) method for simultaneous determination of tenofovir and emtricitabine in human plasma and its application to a bioequivalence study, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 48 (3) (2008) 918–926.
- [61] A. Nicolo, M. Cantu, A. D'Avolio, Matrix effect management in liquid chromatography mass spectrometry: the internal standard normalized matrix effect, Bioanalysis 9 (14) (2017) 1093–1105.
- [62] S. Snopkova, K. Havlickova, P. Husa, Tenofovir alafenamide fumarate a new generation of tenofovir, Klin. Mikrobiol. Infekc. Lek. 22 (3) (2016) 111–117.
- [63] A.T. Podany, S.H. Bares, J. Havens, R.D. Shetty, J. O'Neill, S. Lee, et al., Plasma and intracellular pharmacokinetics of tenofovir in patients switched from tenofovir disoproxil fumarate to tenofovir alafenamide, Aids (2018).
- [64] D.M. Burger, H. Rosing, F.J. Koopman, P.L. Mennhorst, J.W. Mulder, A. Bult, et al., Determination of 3'-amino-3'-deoxythymidine, a cytotoxic metabolite of 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine, in human plasma by ion-pair high-performance liquid chromatography, J. Chromatogr. 622 (2) (1993) 235–242.
- [65] A. Calcagno, G. Di Perri, S. Bonora, Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antiretrovirals in the central nervous system, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 53 (10) (2014) 891–906.
- [66] A. Antinori, C.F. Perno, M.L. Giancola, F. Forbici, G. Ippolito, R.M. Hoetelmans, et al., Efficacy of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)-penetrating antiretroviral drugs against HIV in the neurological compartment: different patterns of phenotypic resistance in CSF and plasma, Clin. Infect. Dis. 41 (12) (2005) 1787–1793.
- [67] N.A. Foudraine, R.M. Hoetelmans, J.M. Lange, F. de Wolf, B.H. van Benthem, J.J. Maas, et al., Cerebrospinal-fluid HIV-1 RNA and drug concentrations after treatment with lamivudine plus zidovudine or stavudine, Lancet 351 (9115) (1998) 1547–1551.
- [68] O. Barbier, D. Turgeon, C. Girard, M.D. Green, T.R. Tephly, D.W. Hum, et al., 3'-Azido-3'-deoxythimidine (AZT) is glucuronidated by human UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B7 (UGT2B7), Drug Metab. Dispos. 28 (5) (2000) 497–502.
- [69] M.H. Court, S. Krishnaswamy, Q. Hao, S.X. Duan, C.J. Patten, L.L. Von Moltke, et al., Evaluation of 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine, morphine, and codeine as probe substrates for UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B7 (UGT2B7) in human liver microsomes: specificity and influence of the UGT2B7^{*}2 polymorphism, Drug Metab. Dispos. 31 (9) (2003) 1125–1133.
- [70] M. Ouzzine, S. Gulberti, N. Ramalanjaona, J. Magdalou, S. Fournel-Gigleux, The UDP-glucuronosyltransferases of the blood-brain barrier: their role in drug metabolism and detoxication, Front. Cell Neurosci. 8 (2014) 349.
- [71] R.M. Grant, J.R. Lama, P.L. Anderson, V. McMahan, A.Y. Liu, L. Vargas, et al., Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men, N. Engl. J. Med. 363 (27) (2010) 2587–2599.
- [72] J.M. Baeten, D. Donnell, P. Ndase, N.R. Mugo, J.D. Campbell, J. Wangisi, et al., Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women, N. Engl. J. Med. 367 (5) (2012) 399–410.

Supplementary material

Table S1: Quantification of real CSF quality controls by using two different calibrations, *i.e.* in artificial CSF (aCSF) and in surrogate CSF (sCSF, *i.e.* 1:200 diluted human plasma). Results are expressed as percentage of nominal concentrations.

	QC nominal	% of nominal	concentration
Compound	concentration	Calibration in	Calibration in
	(ng/mL)	aCSF	sCSF
	2	101	93
	5	96	95
Abacquir	10	94	96
Abacavir	30	98	102
	600	98	101
	2400	101	101
Trueness (%)		98.0	98.0
RSD (%)		2.7	3.8
	2	62	61
	5	97	97
	10	92	92
Emtricitabine	30	97	98
	600	103	104
	2400	101	103
Trueness (%)		92.0	92.5
RSD (%)		16.4	17.5
N° 7	2	98	94
	- 5	98	96
	10	100	98
Lamivudine	30	101	101
	600	102	102
	2400	100	102
Trueness (%)		99.8	98.8
RSD (%)		1.7	3.5
	5	97	96
	10	103	104
Tenofovir	30	97	99
renojovn	600	100	103
	2400	100	103
Trueness (%)	2100	99.4	101.0
RSD (%)		2,3	3.1
	5	115	98
	10	98	20 20
Zidovudine	30	gq	95
Liuovuullie	600	100	92
	2400	90	90
Trueness (%)	2700	102.2	95.8
RSD (%)		70	
130 (70)	Ę	7.0	70
	10	107	102
Zidovudine	20	02	00 201
glucuronide	50	33 100	92 100
	2400	100	100
- (24)	2400	98 07.0	98
Truchas			

Compound	OC level	M % (R	E SD)	EF % (R	R SD)	PI % (R	E SD)
compound	Quiere.	Plasma	sCSF	Plasma	sCSF	Plasma	sCSF
Analyte ^a							
ABC	Low	12 (12)	10 (3)	-6 (24)	-3 (8)	5 (23)	7 (7)
	Middle	-6 (26)	8 (5)	-23 (38)	-5 (6)	-28 (31)	3 (2)
	High	-3 (27)	2 (3)	0 (38)	-11 (2)	-3 (23)	-10 (2)
FTC	Low	25 (11)	9 (4)	-4 (23)	-2 (9)	20 (23)	7 (8)
	Middle	-5 (23)	8 (6)	-22 (33)	-5 (8)	-27 (27)	2 (3)
	High	-6 (27)	0 (3)	-2 (37)	-11 (3)	-8 (22)	-11 (3)
3TC	Low	31 (10)	17 (3)	-3 (23)	-3 (10)	26 (22)	13 (8)
	Middle	-2 (22)	11 (6)	-21 (32)	-7 (6)	-23 (27)	3 (3)
	High	-6 (26)	0 (4)	-2 (36)	-12 (3)	-8 (21)	-12 (3)
TFV	Low	73 (11)	20 (4)	4 (22)	10 (10)	80 (21)	33 (11)
	Middle	03 (21)	9 (4)	-19 (31)	-3 (6)	-16 (26)	5 (3)
	High	0 (27)	5 (3)	-3 (37)	-12 (4)	-3 (22)	-8 (4)
ZDV	Low	28 (10)	4 (15)	-3 (20)	16 (10)	24 (19)	21 (8)
	Middle	-9 (25)	-12 (7)	-25 (36)	12 (7)	-31 (29)	-2 (2)
	High	-7 (30)	-6 (3)	-2 (43)	5 (4)	-9 (25)	-2 (2)
Gln-ZDV	Low	19 (10)	-13 (13)	-2 (25)	15 (16)	17 (24)	0 (9)
	Middle	-9 (24)	-14 (8)	-26 (36)	13 (7)	-33 (30)	-2 (3)
	High	-6 (32)	-4 (4)	-1 (44)	6 (5)	-8 (25)	2 (3)
Internal standards ^b			- (-)			- ()	. (-)
	Low	17 (10)	3 (3)	-10 (23)	1 (9)	5 (21)	4 (8)
[²H₅]-ABC	Middle	-3 (25)	1 (5)	-20 (38)	2 (6)	-12 (35)	3 (1)
	High	-10 (29)	-7 (3)	8 (38)	-6 (2)	-2 (23)	-12 (3)
52	Low	33 (9)	2 (4)	-9 (21)	0 (9)	21 (20)	2 (9)
[² H ₃ , ¹⁵ N]-FTC	Middle	-2 (22)	2 (6)	-19 (35)	2 (7)	-20 (32)	4 (3)
	High	-13 (28)	-5 (4)	5 (37)	-7 (3)	-9 (23)	-12 (3)
	Low	34 (9)	8 (3)	-8 (21)	-3 (10)	23 (19)	5 (9)
[¹³ C, ² H ₂ , ¹⁵ N ₂]-3TC	Middle	01 (21)	4 (6)	-17 (33)	0 (6)	-16 (31)	4 (1)
	High	-13 (26)	-5 (3)	5 (36)	-7 (3)	-9 (21)	-12 (3)
	Low	88 (12)	19 (3)	1 (22)	0 (8)	91 (18)	19 (8)
[² H ₆]-TFV	Middle	5 (20)	03 (6)	-15 (31)	3 (7)	-12 (30)	7 (2)
	High	-6 (27)	-1 (4)	7 (37)	-7 (3)	1 (22)	-8 (3)
	Low	29 (10)	2 (7)	-16 (23)	3 (8)	8 (20)	5 (2)
[¹³ C, ² H ₃]-ZDV	Middle	01 (24)	0 (8)	-5 (35)	1 (8)	-4 (35)	0 (1)
	High	-14 (30)	-3 (3)	0 (41)	-7 (3)	-14 (25)	-10 (1)

Table S2: Matrix effects, extraction recoveries and process efficiencies for NRTIs, GIn-ZDV and IS in 7 different plasmas and surrogate CSF (i.e. 1:200 diluted plasma).

^a Low concentration was defined as 10 ng/mL, middle concentrations as 300 ng/mL for plasma and 100 ng/mL for sCSF, and high concentrations were defined as 3000 ng/mL ^b The IS were tested at the concentration used in the method namely 80 ng/mL for [²H₅]-ABC, 50 ng/mL for [²H₃, ¹⁵N]-FTC, 100 ng/mL for [¹³C, ²H₂, ¹⁵N₂]-3TC and [²H₆]-TFV and 600 ng/mL for [¹³C, ²H₃]-ZDV.

III.2. UHPLC-MS/MS assay for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for population-scale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Chromatography B

ELSEVIER



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jchromb

UHPLC-MS/MS assay for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for population-scale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV



Perrine Courlet^a, Dany Spaggiari^{a,1}, Vincent Desfontaine^a, Matthias Cavassini^b, Susana Alves Saldanha^a, Thierry Buclin^a, Catia Marzolini^c, Chantal Csajka^{a,d}, Laurent-Arthur Decosterd^{a,*}

^a Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Switzerland

^b Service of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Switzerland

^c Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel and University of Basel, Switzerland

^d School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Geneva, University of Lausanne, Switzerland

ABSTRACT

Thanks to highly active antiretroviral treatments, HIV infection is now considered as a chronic condition. Consequently, people living with HIV (PLWH) live longer and encounter more age-related chronic co-morbidities, notably cardiovascular diseases, leading to polypharmacy. As the management of drug-drug interactions (DDIs) constitutes a key aspect of the care of PLWH, the magnitude of pharmacokinetic DDIs between cardiovascular and anti-HIV drugs needs to be more thoroughly characterized. To that endeavour, an UHPLC-MS/MS bioanalytical method has been developed for the simultaneous determination in human plasma of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin and its active metabolites. Plasma samples were subjected to protein precipitation with methanol, followed by evaporation at room temperature under nitrogen of the supernatant, allowing to attain measurable plasma concentrations down to sub-nanogram per milliliter levels. Stable isotope-labelled analytes were used as internal standards. The five drugs and two metabolites were analyzed using a 6-min liquid chromatographic run coupled to electrospray triple quadrupole mass spectrometry detection. The method was validated over the clinically relevant concentrations ranging from 0.3 to 480 ng/mL for amlodipine, atorvastatin and p-OH-atorvastatin, and 0.4 to 480 ng/mL for pravastatin, 0.5 to 480 ng/mL for rosuvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin, and 3 to 4800 ng/mL for metoprolol. Validation performances such as trueness (95.4-110.8%), repeatability (1.5-13.4%) and intermediate precision (3.6-14.5%) were in agreement with current international recommendations. Accuracy profiles (total error approach) were lying within the limits of \pm 30% accepted in bioanalysis. This rapid and robust UHPLC-MS/MS assay allows the simultaneous quantification in plasma of the major currently used cardiovascular drugs and offers an efficient analytical tool for clinical pharmacokinetics as well as DDIs studies.

1. Introduction

Highly active antiretroviral treatments (ARTs) have transformed Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection from a deadly disease into a chronic condition. Consequently, people living with HIV (PLWH) live longer and the proportion of older individuals within the HIV-infected population is constantly growing [1]. Notably, interactions between traditional health risk factors and HIV infection itself lead PLWH to a higher risk of adverse cardiovascular events [2,3]. A wide variety of cardiovascular drugs such as calcium channel blockers, β -blockers and statins, are consequently prescribed to PLWH along with their ARTs. Atorvastatin, rosuvastatin, and pravastatin are the most prescribed lipid-lowering agents in PLWH [4]. Atorvastatin is predominantly metabolized by cytochrome P450 3A4 (CYP3A4) into two major active metabolites (namely *ortho*-hydroxy-atorvastatin, and *para*-hydroxy-atorvastatin), and the inactive metabolite atorvastatin lactone [5]. Conversely, rosuvastatin and pravastatin undergo minor hepatic metabolism. However, all statins are actively transported in the liver by the organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1 (OATP1B1) [6]. In the case of polymedicated PLWH, antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) such as

¹ Present address: Debiopharm International SA, Lausanne, Switzerland.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2019.121733 Received 22 May 2019; Received in revised form 2 July 2019; Accepted 24 July 2019 Available online 25 July 2019

1570-0232/ © 2019 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology BU19-04, Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, CHUV, 1011 Lausanne, Switzerland.

E-mail addresses: perrine.courlet@chuv.ch (P. Courlet), dany.spaggiari@debiopharm.com (D. Spaggiari), vincent.desfontaine@chuv.ch (V. Desfontaine), matthias.cavassini@chuv.ch (M. Cavassini), susana.alves-saldanha@chuv.ch (S. Alves Saldanha), thierry.buclin@chuv.ch (T. Buclin),

catia.marzolini@usb.ch (C. Marzolini), chantal.csajka@chuv.ch (C. Csajka), LaurentArthur.Decosterd@chuv.ch (L.-A. Decosterd).

atazanavir are strong inhibitors of OATP1B1 and are therefore expected to substantially increase statin exposure by both inhibiting the entry of the statin in the liver and by further inhibiting its biotransformation [7–9]. This drug-drug interaction (DDI) can lead to severe adverse drug reactions such as rhabdomyolysis [10].

Additionally, 26.1% of PLWH have been reported to suffer from high blood pressure in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS) [11]. Calcium channel blockers, such as amlodipine, are the preferred first-line antihypertensive drugs for most patients, including PLWH [12]. Amlodipine is predominantly metabolized by CYP3A4/5 [13,14]. In consequence, the inhibition of CYP3A4 by ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitors (PIs) can increase amlodipine plasma concentrations, potentially leading to toxicity [13]. Finally, metoprolol, a β -blocker commonly used in the treatment of hypertension and heart failure, is predominantly metabolized by the polymorphic CYP2D6, and boosted ARVs with inhibitory properties for this isoform could potentially lead to increase metoprolol plasma concentrations, though reportedly to a moderate extent [15].

Cardiovascular drugs are commonly used in PLWH, particularly in the context of an aging population, and are subject to DDIs leading to substantial risks of iatrogenic toxicity. Bioanalytical methodologies are therefore needed to determine plasma concentrations of cardiovascular drugs in PLWH and help manage DDIs in clinical practice.

Various methods have been published for the quantification in human plasma of a wide variety of cardiovascular drugs including calcium channel blockers, β-blockers and statins. Previously published assays for statins in human plasma, imply a chromatographic step on C18 support [16–29], or on Zorbax-SB phenyl column such as proposed by Macwan et al. for atorvastatin or rosuvastatin and their metabolites [30,31]. While multiplex liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analyses of various combinations of statins, calcium-channel inhibitors and β-blocker agents have been previously reported [20,21,32,33], none of them have actually investigated the simultaneous assay of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin and atorvastatin which represented the most prescribed drugs at risk of DDIs in the PLWH population under study [34]. In general, plasma clean-up procedure for cardiovascular drugs may be straightforward, using protein precipitation [18,24,31,33] or liquid-liquid extraction [20,32,35]. To our knowledge, only one study has reported the quantification by LC-MS/MS of atorvastatin and its metabolite in plasma by liquid-liquid extraction followed by evaporation to dryness [36]. Alternately, attractive -yet technically more demanding to set-up-solid-phase extraction (SPE) approaches have been also applied [17,19,23,25–27,29] to attain the required lower limits of quantification nearly or even well below the nanogram per milliliter levels, compatible with statins trough concentrations commonly encountered in clinical practice [37,38].

The aim of this project was to develop and validate a rapid and convenient multiplex ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) assay using a simplified sample preparation for the simultaneous quantification in human plasma of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin and atorvastatin (the latter with two active metabolites) all these drugs being the most prescribed cardiovascular drugs to PLWH and also those at high risk of DDIs (34).

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Chemicals and reagents

Amlodipine benzenesulfonate (chemical purity 98%), metoprolol tartrate (98%), pravastatin sodium salt (98%), rosuvastatin sodium salt (97%), atorvastatin calcium salt (98%), *ortho-* and *para-*hydroxy-atorvastatin (*o*-OH-atorvastatin and *p*-OH-atorvastatin) calcium salt (98% and 95%, respectively), and atorvastatin lactone (98%) were purchased from Alsachim (Strasbourg, France) (chemical structures are displayed

in Fig. 1). Their stable isotopically labeled internal standards (IS) (*i.e.* $[^{13}C_6]$ -amlodipine benzenesulfonate (chemical purity 95%), $[^{2}H_7]$ -metoprolol hydrochloride (98%), $[^{2}H_9]$ -pravastatin ammonium salt (98%), $[^{13}C, {}^{2}H_4]$ -rosuvastatin sodium salt (98%), $[^{2}H_5]$ -atorvastatin calcium salt (98%), $[^{2}H_5]$ -o-OH-atorvastatin calcium salt (98%), $[^{2}H_5]$ -p-OH-atorvastatin calcium salt (95%), $[^{2}H_5]$ -atorvastatin lactone (98%)), were also obtained from Alsachim (Strasbourg, France).

Acetonitrile (ACN), methanol (MeOH), and formic acid (98–100%, FA), all of analytical grade, were purchased from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). Dimethylsulfoxide (99.5%, DMSO) was purchased from Alfa Aesar (Kandel, Germany). Water was purified through a Milli-Q* UF-Plus apparatus (Millipore Corp., Burlington, MA, USA).

For method development and validation, human blank plasma samples were obtained either from citrated blood (1970g*i.e.* 3000 rpm, 10 min, +4 °C, Hettich model Rotanta 460RF centrifuge) withdrawn from TCS Bioscience[®] (Buckingham, UK) or from patients with Vaquez disease (CHUV, Lausanne, Switzerland).

2.2. Patients samples

Patients' samples have been collected within the framework of observational pharmacokinetics studies, aiming at examining the prevalence of polypharmacy and the potential drug-drug interactions (DDIs) between ARVs and frequently used comedications. For this purpose, a systemic collection of blood samples and pharmacokinetics (PK) information was performed during the medical visits of PLWH enrolled in the SHCS and followed at the HIV clinics in Lausanne and Basel. The study (SHCS project #815) has been approved by the SHCS Scientific Board and Executive Committee in 2017. In addition, an observational PK DDIs study with rich sampling over one dosing interval has been proposed to consenting SHCS patients from Lausanne and Basel centers. The protocol -still ongoing- was approved by Institutional Ethics committees in April 2018, and registered in clinicaltrials.gov (NCT03515772).

2.3. Analyte and internal standard stock solutions

Stock solutions of each analyte were prepared at 1 mg/mL, by accurate weighing and dissolving each analyte in the required volume of DMSO. Stock solutions were corrected for salt forms by applying the weighing factor. One single working solution (WS) containing the seven analytes at 10 µg/mL and metoprolol at 100 µg/mL was prepared in a mixture of H₂O:DMSO (3:1), and stored at -20 °C. Stock solutions of IS were prepared at 1 mg/mL in MeOH and stored at -20 °C. These solutions were further combined and diluted with MeOH containing 0.1% FA to obtain an internal standard WS (IS-WS) at 100 ng/mL for each IS except for [²H₉]-pravastatin and [²H₇]-metoprolol (1000 ng/mL). This IS-WS was subsequently diluted in MeOH (with 0.1% FA) to obtain the final plasma protein precipitation solution at 1 ng/mL (and 10 ng/mL for [²H₉]-pravastatin and [²H₇]-metoprolol).

2.4. Calibration/validation standards and quality controls (QCs) preparation

Further dilutions of the WS containing analytes were performed using a mixture H₂O:DMSO (3:1) and citrated blank plasma samples were spiked with these different diluted solutions to reach the required calibration/validation concentrations. For the calibration samples, nine concentration levels (k) were prepared in triplicate (n = 3): 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 2, 10, 50, 100, 500 ng/mL, except for metoprolol, having 10fold higher values (*i.e.* 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 20, 100, 500, 1000, and 5000 ng/ mL), with respect to the concentrations commonly observed in clinical practice. For the preparation of validation standard samples, eight concentrations levels were prepared in a mixture H₂O:DMSO (3:1) in triplicate (n = 3): 0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.6, 1.2, 12, 120, 480 ng/mL, except for metoprolol (10-fold higher values).

Journal of Chromatography B 1125 (2019) 121733



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of the selected cardiovascular drugs and relevant metabolites. (A) Amlodipine (logP = 3.0). (B) Metoprolol (logP = 1.9). (C) Pravastatin (logP = 0.6). (D) Rosuvastatin (logP = 0.1) (E) Atorvastatin (logP = 5.7). (F) *o*-OH-atorvastatin (logP = 4.6). (G) *p*-OH-atorvastatin (logP = 4.6). Chemicalize was used for compound properties, 2017, https://chemicalize.com/ developed by ChemAxon (http://www.chemaxon.com).

To accurately estimate the LLOQ values, one validation sample at the estimated LLOQ and one at 2–3-fold LLOQ were used for each analyte. Preparation of validation standards followed the recommendations for bioanalytical method validation stating that the total added volume must be <10% of the biological sample volume [39,40]. The concentrations ranges were selected to cover the expected patients' plasma concentrations encountered in clinical practice.

2.5. Plasma samples pre-treatment

For protein precipitation, $200 \,\mu$ L of calibration, validation or patient samples were mixed and vortexed with $600 \,\mu$ L of IS-WS. The mixture was centrifuged at 20,000g (14,000 rpm) at + 4 °C for 10 min with a benchtop centrifuge (Benchtop Mikro 220R centrifuge, Hettich, Bäch, Switzerland). A 600 μ L aliquot of the supernatant was transferred into a 5 mL polypropylene tube before evaporation to dryness during 4 h (nitrogen flux, at room temperature). The dried extract was reconstituted in 60 μL of MeOH:H_2O 3:1 mixture containing 0.1% FA, vortexed, sonicated and centrifuged again. Finally, a 50 μL -aliquot of limpid supernatant was directly transferred into an HPLC vial with glass insert.

2.6. LC-MS/MS apparatus

The liquid chromatography system involved a Vanquish Flex Binary UHPLC system (Thermofisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA). The separation was performed on an Acquity UPLC CSH^m analytical column (Waters, Millford, MA, USA) with dimensions 2.1×50 mm and particle size $1.7 \,\mu$ m, thermostated at 25 °C by a column oven. The detector consisted of a triple-stage quadrupole TSQ Quantiva^m mass spectrometer equipped with an Ion Max NG^m electrospray ionization (ESI) source (Thermofisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA). Xcalibur software version 1.1 was used for system control and data acquisition (Thermofisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA).

2.7. LC-MS/MS analysis conditions

The mobile phase used for the chromatographic separation consisted in a multi-steps gradient of ultrapure H_2O with 0.1% FA (A) and ACN with 0.1% FA (B). The following elution program was used: isocratic stage at 2% B from 0 to 0.2 min, followed by a first linear gradient from 2% to 45% B in 0.8 min, up to 50% B in 0.1 min, followed by a second linear gradient from 50% to 60% B until 3 min. Then, B was increased to 100% in 0.1 min for intensive column rinsing during 0.9 min and, finally, returned to initial conditions (2% B) in 0.1 min for re-equilibration from 4.1 to 6 min (total analysis time). The flow rate and injection volume were 0.5 mL/min and 5 μ L, respectively. The autosampler was thermostated at +5 °C for samples storage before injection.

The ionization conditions were set as follows: the ion transfer tube and vaporizer temperatures at 300 and 400 °C, respectively; ESI spray voltage at 3600 V and 3100 V for positive mode and negative mode, respectively; sheath, auxiliary and sweep gas flow rates at 50, 15 and 1 (arbitrary units), respectively. The instrument that we used has the capacity to enable positive and negative ionization mode alternatively, by programing specific transitions segments.

Mass resolution of both quadrupoles (Q1 and Q3) was set at 1.2 Da (*i.e.* m/z 1.2 full width at half maximum, FWHM). The cycle time was 0.2 s. The collision gas was argon and its pressure was set at 2 mTorr in the second quadrupole (Q2).

Identification of analytes was based on two specific MS/MS transitions (except for *o*-OH-atorvastatin), both used for quantification purposes. In addition, retention times obtained from the pure certified standard substances were considered as the reference retention times to appropriately identify analytes.

2.8. Analytical method validation

The strategy applied for the validation of the method was based on the recommendations by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) [40], the European Medicine Agency (EMEA) [39] and the Société Française des Sciences et Techniques Pharmaceutiques (SFSTP) [41,42]. The authors also referred to other published articles dealing with bioanalytical method validation [43–47].

2.8.1. Selectivity and carry-over

Method selectivity toward matrix was assessed at the retention times of analytes and IS while monitoring the chromatograms obtained with ten different blank human plasma extracts.

A high concentration calibration sample of the analytes processed without IS (pure MeOH), and a blank plasma processed with the IS-WS were injected for the evaluation of cross-talk interferences between the different analytes and their respective IS.

Carry-over effect was evaluated for each analyte by injecting one or more blank solvent (MeOH) or blank plasma extract immediately after the injection of the most concentrated calibration sample (including IS at usual concentrations).

2.8.2. Matrix effect, extraction recovery, process efficiency

2.8.2.1. Qualitative assessment of matrix effect. Matrix effects (MEs) were first assessed qualitatively using the widely recognized technique proposed by Bonfiglio *et al.* [48]. Extracts from different blank plasma (n = 6) were simultaneously injected into the UHPLC–MS/MS system while a standard solution of analytes and ISs was continuously infused post-column directly into the MS [48]. The mixture was infused at a flow rate of $10 \,\mu$ L/min at the concentration of 50 ng/mL (500 ng/mL for metoprolol) and 75 ng/mL (750 ng/mL for metoprolol) and PS matrix (respectively. For each MS/MS transition, any alteration (suppression or enhancement) of the LC-MS signals at the analytes' respective retention time is suggestive for a ME [49].

2.8.2.2. Quantitative evaluation of matrix effect, extraction recovery and process efficiency. Subsequently, MEs, extraction recoveries (ER), as well as process efficiencies (PE) were also assessed quantitatively, at low (L, 2 ng/mL; 20 ng/mL for metoprolol), middle (M, 20 ng/mL; 200 ng/mL for metoprolol) and high (H, 200 ng/mL; 2000 ng/mL for metoprolol) QC concentrations in seven different human plasmas [50].

For that purpose, several solutions were prepared as follows: three neat solutions (MeOH:H₂O 3:1) spiked with analytes and ISs (=A), seven blank plasma samples precipitated, dried, reconstituted and spiked in duplicate with both analytes and ISs (=B), and seven blank plasma samples, spiked in duplicate with analytes and ISs before protein precipitation, drying and reconstitution (=C). MEs (B/A in %), ERs (C/B in %) and PEs (C/A in %) were finally calculated from the average peak areas obtained from samples A, B and C, at the three QC levels. Variability between the seven plasma samples was expressed as relative standard deviation (RSD), and a maximum RSD value of 15% was accepted for each concentration. The IS-normalized ME, ER and PE (*i.e.*, IS-nME, IS-nER and IS-nPE) were also calculated.

The assessment of matrix effect was also based on the calculation of RSD values of slopes from linear regressions estimated at L, M and H concentrations for seven samples of blank plasma [46]. A method is considered devoid of significant matrix effect if the RSD value does not exceed 3–4%.

2.8.3. Response function, trueness, precision, accuracy profiles and limit of quantification

Method precision and trueness determination was carried out on three different days/series. Based on previous assessment of response functions during the pre-validation phase, two regression models were fitted for the calibration curve: quadratic log-log regression, and weighted (1/x) quadratic regression. Accuracy profiles were plotted for each compound and each calibration model. The optimal regression model was determined according to the best total error profile obtained when covering the entire concentrations' range. In order to determine trueness, repeatability and intermediate precision, the QC samples were recalculated using the daily established response function. The trueness was expressed as the percentage of deviation between the mean value obtained from a series of measurements and the true value. Precision was defined as the dispersion level among replicated measurements and described by both repeatability and intermediate precision, expressed as RSD based on the nominal concentration at each level, as described in the SFSTP reports [41,51]. Both systematic and random errors defined the total error of a procedure and can be represented with accuracy profiles based on β -expectation tolerance intervals, as previously suggested by several authors [52,53]. Acceptance criteria would ensure that a high proportion (β %) of future observations lie within acceptable limits [45,54]. As stated in FDA and EMEA official documents [39,40], and in reference publication [55], total error should not exceed 30%. Based on the results obtained in the validation step, this approach allows a confident prediction of the future results that will be obtained during the daily use of the method. As described by Feinberg et al. [56], lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) was graphically interpolated from the absolute accuracy profile: they corresponded to the concentrations at the intersection of the β -expectation tolerance intervals and the acceptance limits (\pm 30%).

During the 3 days of validation, back-calculated validation concentrations were plotted *versus* nominal concentrations and were fitted with a linear regression model. This allowed assessing the linearity of trueness of the method, that's to say its ability to generate quantitative results directly proportional to known nominal analyte concentrations.

2.8.4. Short and medium stability studies

Bench-experiments samples stability as well as medium stability studies in human plasma were performed under different conditions:

1) at room temperature (RT) and at +4 °C in the fridge up to 48 h;

Table 1

MS/MS parameters and typical retention times for the analysis of five cardiovascular drugs, three of their metabolites and the respective stable-isotope-labeled ISs.

Compound	ESI polarity $(+/-)$	Precursor ion (m/z)	Product ion (m/z)	Collision energy (eV)	Tube lens voltage (V)	Typical retention time (min)
Amlodipine	+	409	238	12	64	1.51
			294	11	64	
[¹³ C ₆]-Amlodipine	+	415	244	10	65	1.51
			300	10	65	
Metoprolol	+	268	116	18	74	1.20
			74	22	74	
[² H ₇]-Metoprolol	+	275	123	19	74	1.20
			191	18	74	
Pravastatin	-	423	321	14	81	1.66
			303	15	81	
[² H ₉]-Pravastatin	-	432	321	14	85	1.66
			303	17	85	
Rosuvastatin	+	482	258	33	110	1.90
			272	34	110	
[¹³ C, ² H ₄]-Rosuvastatin	+	487	263	34	122	1.90
			305	36	122	
Atorvastatin	+	559	440	20	93	2.50
			292	31	93	
[² H ₅]-Atorvastatin	+	564	440	21	91	2.49
			250	42	91	
o-OH-Atorvastatin	+	575.3	466	10	102	2.40
[² H ₅]-o-OH-Atorvastatin	+	580.1	445	22	100	2.39
			471	12	100	
p-OH-Atorvastatin	+	575.2	440	22	107	1.87
			466	12	107	
[² H ₅]-p-OH-Atorvastatin	+	580	445	21	99	1.87
			471	12	99	

- 2) three freeze/thaw cycles. Frozen samples were allowed to thaw at RT for 1 h and were then refrozen during for 2 h;
- 3) freezing at -20 °C and -80 °C during 6 weeks;
- 4) thermal viro-inactivation procedure (60 min at +60 °C in a waterbath) performed in our laboratory, prior to analysis. This treatment has been shown to efficiently inactivate HIV particles present in the samples [57–59].

Duplicate analyses at L (2 ng/mL and 20 ng/mL for metoprolol), M (20 ng/mL and 200 ng/mL for metoprolol) and H (200 ng/mL and 2000 ng/mL for metoprolol) QC levels were performed. For all stability tests, the variation in analyte's concentration was determined by dividing the concentration measured after storage or thermal viro-in-activation, by the initial value, and expressed in %.

Finally, some studies have reported that the inactive metabolite atorvastatin lactone may revert back to atorvastatin after hydrolysis at elevated temperature [17,60]. We have therefore examined the evolution of atorvastatin and its inactive lactone metabolite in plasma spiked with atorvastatin lactone subjected to the above thermization treatment.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Bioanalytical method development

The most prescribed cardiovascular drugs in the SHCS#815 study (see Section 2.2), and also those with the highest potential for DDIs in polymedicated PLWH were amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin and atorvastatin and were therefore incorporated into the multiplex UHPLC-MS/MS assay along with the two active atorvastatin metabolites, *o*-OH and *p*-OH-atorvastatin. First, optimal MS/MS transitions of the seven analytes have been selected (Table 1) by directly infusing into the MS detector a standard solution of analytes (1 μ g/mL in MeOH). Since analytes were mostly apolar (log P ranging from 0.13 to 5.7) -as previously reported in the literature- reverse-phase (RP) liquid chromatography was selected for the multiplex separation. The assay development design has included to test i) several RP-based stationary phases (i.e. Acquity UPLC HSS T3, Acquity UPLC CSH C18, or Acquity UPLC HSS cyano); ii) the nature of the organic solvent in the mobile phase (ACN or MeOH, both with 0.1% FA), and finally iii) column temperature (+10°C, +25°C or + 40°C). The optimal compromise in term of resolution, peak shape, MS response and reasonable analysis time of the seven compounds was obtained with the Acquity UPLC CSH C18 column, using ACN + 0.1% FA in the mobile phase, and a column temperature set at +25 °C. Mobile phase gradient program was finely optimized (multi-steps elution) providing a satisfactorily retention of the seven compounds resolved in $< 3 \min (Fig. 2)$. Despite a suboptimal separation of p-OH-atorvastatin and rosuvastatin with this 6-min gradient program, the use of deuterated IS for each analyte circumvent any potential reciprocal influence on their respective ionization efficiencies. Preliminary selectivity experiments revealed a major co-eluting matrix interference in the o-OH-atorvastatin quantitative transition using product ion m/z 440, which was the main ion used so far [16,61]. For this reason, the product ion m/z 466 was chosen in the transition used for quantification, leading to excellent selectivity with a very limited loss of sensitivity.

ESI source parameters (reported in the experimental section) were optimized for each analyte using the actual analytical conditions in order to obtain the best performance in terms of sensitivity and background noise minimization.

However, direct injection of supernatants obtained after generic plasma protein precipitation turned out to be insufficiently sensitive to detect low albeit clinically relevant plasma concentrations of some cardiovascular drugs. In fact, lower limits of quantification well below 1 ng/mL were required for some analytes, with respect to their reported plasma concentration ranges in clinical practice. The most convenient and cost-effective way to improve sensitivity down to sub-nanogram per milliliter levels was obtained *via* a combined solvent-based plasma protein precipitation followed by supernatant evaporation to dryness and reconstitution of solid residue in a suitable microvolume of solvent. Other published LC-MS/MS methodologies used complicated and time-consuming sample preparation mostly involving SPE processes. In our study, MeOH + 0.1% FA was preferred as protein precipitation solvent over ACN + 0.1% FA or ACN:MEOH 1:1 (+ 0.1% FA) because it

Journal of Chromatography B 1125 (2019) 121733



Fig. 2. UHPLC-MS/MS chromatograms of a calibrator sample containing the five cardiovascular drugs and two metabolites, at the concentration of 10 ng/mL for all the analytes except for metoprolol (100 ng/mL). Calibrator sample was prepared as described in the Materials and methods section.

provided better sensitivity. Of note, the addition of FA was required since several reports [31,62] have found that lowering the plasma pH was able to minimize the conversion of the -inactive- lactone form of statins into the corresponding hydroxy-acid form. After centrifugation, the supernatant was concentrated 10-fold *via* evaporation to dryness, reconstitution in MeOH:H₂O 3:1 (+ 0.1% FA) and sonication. Insoluble matrix components appeared after reconstitution of the dried residue and were removed by centrifugation to yield a clear supernatant directly injected for LC-MS/MS analysis.

Finally, for the preparation of calibration/QC samples, it was found that a low percentage of DMSO (H2O:DMSO 3:1) in WSs was necessary to obtain satisfactory linearity over the wide investigated calibration range while minimizing the organic solvent content to biological matrix, as recommended by guidelines [39,40].

3.2. Method validation

3.2.1. Selectivity and carry-over

When analyzing human blank plasma from 10 different sources, no endogenous or exogenous interferences were observed at the respective retention times of the seven analytes, demonstrating good selectivity of the chromatographic method.

Cross-talk was considered satisfactory as no significant signal was observed on the analytes' transitions when a blank plasma extract containing only IS was injected or conversely (absence of significant signal on the ISs' trace after the injection of the highest calibration standard without IS).

No carry-over was observed when analyzing blank matrix samples or MeOH directly after the highest calibration standard.

Journal of Chromatography B 1125 (2019) 121733



Fig. 3. Qualitative assessment of matrix effect in human plasma. Overlaid UHPLC-MS/MS traces obtained for the analysis of six blank plasma extracts during postcolumn infusion of a standard solution containing the seven analytes at 50 ng/mL (500 ng/mL for metoprolol). Retention times and chromatographic peaks obtained of the seven analytes were superimposed for interpretation.

Table 2

Internal Standard normalized Matrix Effect (IS-nME), extraction recovery (IS-nER) and process efficiency (IS-nPE) in human plasma.

Compound	QC level ^a	IS-nME % (RSD)	IS-nER % (RSD)	IS-nPE % (RSD)
Amlodipine/[¹³ C ₆]-amlodipine	Low	0 (2)	-4 (5)	-4 (6)
	Middle	-2(2)	3 (6)	1 (5)
	High	1 (1)	1 (5)	0 (5)
Metoprolol/[² H ₇]-metoprolol	Low	3 (1)	-7 (5)	-4 (5)
	Middle	1 (1)	-1 (5)	0 (5)
	High	-1(1)	0 (3)	-2(2)
Pravastatin/[² H ₉]-pravastatin	Low	5 (6)	-10 (5)	-6(7)
	Middle	1 (2)	-1(7)	0 (5)
	High	4 (1)	-3(3)	2 (3)
Rosuvastatin/[¹³ C, ² H ₄]-	Low	2 (2)	-8 (4)	-7 (4)
rosuvastatin	Middle	-4(2)	-1 (5)	-5 (5)
	High	-4(1)	-1 (4)	-5(4)
Atorvastatin/[² H ₅]-atorvastatin	Low	12 (4)	-20 (7)	-11 (7)
	Middle	-2(4)	-9(7)	-10 (9)
	High	1 (4)	1 (5)	1 (3)
o-OH-atorvastatin/[² H ₅]-o-OH-	Low	7 (3)	-6(4)	0 (5)
atorvastatin	Middle	2 (2)	3 (7)	5 (6)
	High	-3(1)	-2(2)	-5(2)
p-OH-atorvastatin/[² H ₅]-p-OH-	Low	10 (4)	-14 (5)	-5 (6)
atorvastatin	Middle	7 (3)	-3(7)	4 (6)
	High	-1 (3)	-5 (3)	-6 (3)

 $^{\rm a}$ Low concentration is defined as 2 ng/mL (20 ng/mL for metoprolol), middle concentrations as 20 ng/mL (200 ng/mL for metoprolol), and high concentrations are defined as 200 ng/mL (2000 ng/mL for metoprolol).

3.2.2. Matrix effect, extraction recovery and process efficiency

Matrix effects were qualitatively (post-column infusion) and quantitatively (Matuszewski's approach) determined.

Qualitatively, elution of the highly polar compounds present in plasma led to signal suppression at the beginning of the run (from 0 to 0.5 min), emphasizing the importance of the chromatographic step and sufficient analytes' retention such as obtained with the present method (*i.e.* first analyte eluted at 1.2 min). Signal interferences observed from 3 to 4.7 min (particularly total suppression between 3.6 and 4.7 min) were not problematic since localized after the last eluted peak (Fig. 3). A signal enhancement at the m/z transitions of atorvastatin and its metabolites was observed at 1.2 min, yet without consequences being far distant from their retention times. The MS response remained otherwise stable and constant, emphasizing the suitability of the developed LC program.

The quantitative internal standard normalized matrix effect (IS-nME), extraction recovery (IS-nER) and process efficiency (IS-nPE) parameters for each analyte are reported in Table 2. IS-nMEs ranged from 96 to 112% (RSD \leq 6%), confirming that the ionization process of the analytes was not significantly affected by co-eluting plasma matrix components. The IS-nERs were satisfactorily comprised between 80 and 103%, with acceptable variability overall (RSD \leq 7%). Finally, good performances were globally obtained for IS-nPEs that were in the range 89 to 105%, with satisfactory RSD \leq 9%.

Finally, standard line slopes approach confirmed the absence of significant MEs which could alter the quantitation in plasma, *i.e.* RSDs of standard line slopes constructed in seven different blank plasma matrices did not exceed 3.8% for all analytes.

3.2.3. Trueness, precision and accuracy profile

Response functions were obtained by plotting analyte/IS peak area ratios over analyte concentration in human plasma. Calibration range of each compound was determined in order to obtain determination coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) of the calibration curves higher than 0.99 and backcalculated concentration of calibration samples within $\pm 15\%$ ($\pm 20\%$ at expected LLOQ). Concentrations of the validation samples were calculated thanks to the calibration curves obtained for each serie and used to investigate the different regression models to find out the best response function. Validation criteria in terms of trueness and precision were met over the whole calibration range of 0.1–500 ng/mL for amlodipine, 0.2–500 ng/mL for atorvastatin, o-OH-atorvastatin, p-OHatorvastatin, pravastatin and rosuvastatin, and 0.5–5000 ng/mL for

Table 3

Trueness, repeatability and intermediate precision in human plasma over the validated range.

Compound	Conc.	Plasma				
	(lig/ mL)	Trueness (%)	Precis	ion		
			Repeatability (%)	Intermediate precision (%)		
Amlodipine	0.3	103.7	5.0	6.4		
	0.6	99.6	6.4	7.4		
	1.2	103.7	6.5	7.9		
	12	110.1	3.8	4.9		
	120	106.0	3.6	3.6		
	480	97.9	5.0	5.0		
Metoprolol	3	101.6	4.0	10.7		
	6	102.4	4.4	7.4		
	12	102.9	3.2	5.9		
	120	100.1	2.0	3.6		
	1200	98.2	3.5	3.9		
	4800	98.3	3.7	4.4		
Pravastatin	0.6	97.8	3.8	8.0		
	1.2	95.5	5.7	8.9		
	12	103.3	1.5	3.9		
	120	102.7	3.0	4.6		
	480	98.4	4.4	4.4		
Rosuvastatin	0.6	96.6	10.5	14.2		
	1.2	95.4	4.4	14.5		
	12	101.6	2.4	10.5		
	120	101.8	4.2	12.5		
	480	96.7	3.8	9.3		
Atorvastatin	0.3	110.8	5.5	5.8		
	0.6	106.4	7.4	9.1		
	1.2	109.8	3.2	4.6		
	12	108.5	2.1	4.2		
	120	105.9	5.3	6.0		
	480	103.1	3.1	8.4		
o-OH-atorvastatin	0.6	101.4	7.8	12.8		
	1.2	103.2	8.0	9.6		
	12	106.2	3.2	6.6		
	120	108.6	5.0	6.0		
	480	98.4	5.9	5.9		
p-OH-atorvastatin	0.3	108.8	6.5	7.8		
	0.6	99.5	13.4	13.4		
	1.2	98.9	5.0	9.1		
	12	105.4	3.3	4.3		
	120	105.7	6.1	6.1		
	480	101.0	4.7	6.0		

metoprolol. The quadratic log-log regression model turned out to be most appropriate in terms of trueness, precision and validation domain (*i.e.* lowest LLOQ) for each analyte, except for metoprolol (1/x weighted quadratic regression model).

Satisfactory performances were obtained in terms of trueness (95.4–110.8%), repeatability (1.5–13.4%) and intermediate precision (3.6–14.5%) (Table 3) all over the validated concentration ranges.

The accuracy profiles with β -expectation tolerance intervals were built using a β value of 80%, which represents the percentage of future results that would be expected to fall within the obtained tolerance intervals during routine application of the method [63]. Accuracy profiles obtained for each compound did not exceed the acceptance limits for biological samples (\pm 30%) over the validated domain [40] (Supplementary file S1). The LLOQ values correspond to the lowest concentration at which the tolerance limit crossed the acceptance threshold in the absolute accuracy profile representation (Supplementary file S2) [42]. The lowest concentrations measurable in human plasma with an accuracy of \pm 30% (total error) were 0.3 ng/mL for amlodipine, atorvastatin and *p*-OH-atorvastatin, 0.4 ng/mL for pravastatin, 0.5 ng/mL for rosuvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin, and 3 ng/mL for metoprolol. LLOQ were generally higher than those reported in published LC-MS/MS assays for the analytes of interest [16,17,64,65] but were considered satisfactory considering the expected range of plasma concentrations in clinical practice. ULOQ corresponds to the concentration of the highest validation sample (*i.e.* 480 ng/mL and 4800 ng/mL for metoprolol).

Linearity of trueness was satisfactory for all analytes, *i.e.* slopes ranged from 0.91 to 1.09 and determination coefficients (R^2) were all higher than 0.99.

3.2.4. Stability studies

Results of stability studies are summarized in Table 4.

The stability of QC samples left at RT and at +4 °C, ascertained up to 48 h indicated that human plasma samples could be stored at RT and +4 °C for up to 48 h, without significant degradation of the analytes (variation over time $< \pm 15\%$ of nominal concentrations), except for atorvastatin. Atorvastatin plasma concentrations were 30% higher after 48 h at RT probably due to the hydrolysis of atorvastatin lactone into atorvastatin, as previously reported [17,60].

After three freeze–thaw cycles, the variations in plasma were below 15%, indicating acceptable stability for all analytes. In the similar way, stability studies up to 6 weeks at -20 °C and -80 °C demonstrated no degradation during the investigated long-term storage of human plasma samples.

The concentrations variations assessed after heating plasma at 60 °C for 60 min were comprised within \pm 15% of nominal concentrations for all analytes, except for atorvastatin which showed a significant increase in atorvastatin concentrations (up to 60%), again presumably because of the thermal lability reported for its (inactive) metabolite atorvastatin lactone [17,60]. Accordingly, plasma spiked with atorvastatin lactone subjected to the above thermization procedure showed a corresponding decrease of about 66% of its initial concentrations.

Considering the poor stability of atorvastatin lactone metabolite present in patients that is likely to yield spuriously elevated atorvastatin levels *ex vivo*, spiked and patient samples should be maintained at +4 °C after blood collection, centrifuged without delay at +4 °C, then immediately frozen and stored at -80 °C. In addition, the thermization procedure will be omitted for PWLH samples on atorvastatin and therefore optimal safety conditions for plasma handling have to be implemented (*i.e.* wearing gloves and samples treatment under class II biohazard laminar flow).

3.2.5. Clinical applications

The validated bioanalytical method was applied for the quantification of cardiovascular drugs and relevant metabolites concentrations in PLWH plasma samples collected during the above mentioned observational SHCS#815 study and for the currently ongoing pharmacokinetic study (see 2.2). A representative example of chromatogram of a patient treated with atorvastatin 10 mg, concurrently with cobicistat-boosted darunavir, is reported in Fig. 4A. Plasma sample was collected 6 hour post-dose and plasma concentrations were 7.4 ng/mL for atorvastatin and 0.9 and 0.4 ng/mL for o- and p-OH-atorvastatin, respectively. As expected, atorvastatin concentration was higher than the ones reported in absence of CYP3A4 and OATP1B1 inhibitors which would lie within 3 ng/mL for both atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin [66]. Conversely, o-OH-atorvastatin concentration was lower while p-OH-atorvastatin concentration remained unchanged. An example of the chromatographic profile of a plasma from a PLWH receiving amlodipine 10 mg QD and pravastatin 40 mg QD in addition to his ART (i.e. rilpivirine, emtricitabine, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate) is shown in Fig. 4B. Plasma concentration of amlodipine and pravastatin were 7.6 ng/mL and 1.8 ng/mL, respectively, in a sample collected 9 h after the last doses of both comedications. Finally, Fig. 4C represents a

Journal of Chromatography B 1125 (2019) 121733

Table 4

Stability of the analytes under different storage conditions.

Compound	QC level ^a	Room temperature for 24 h	Room temperature for 48 h	+4 °C for 24 h	+ 4 °C for 48 h	After 3 consecutive freeze-thaw cycles	– 20 °C during 6 weeks	– 80 °C during 6 weeks	Thermal viro- inactivation ^b
Amlodipine	Low	-5.9	-2.4	-2.2	1.5	4.4	-6.3	-2.5	-5.9
	Middle	-3.4	-3.3	-1.1	-0.2	1.7	-3.7	-4.0	-1.0
	High	-5.3	-6.9	-0.2	-3.6	3.6	1.2	-3.0	-0.2
Metoprolol	Low	-1.1	1.6	0.9	1.3	1.6	-3.1	-2.8	2.3
	Middle	-0.7	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.3	-3.3	-3.3	-0.9
	High	-1.1	1.6	0.7	1.2	2.6	-4.0	-0.6	-0.2
Pravastatin	Low	-4.2	3.4	2.4	2.9	-0.6	-1.9	-3.3	-0.2
	Middle	-1.7	-0.3	0.6	1.3	5.4	-6.4	-5.0	1.3
	High	-1.6	0.3	-1.6	-0.5	6.4	-4.0	-0.3	2.7
Rosuvastatin	Low	1.5	-2.0	0.6	2.8	-8.5	7.1	-7.4	-5.2
	Middle	-2.7	1.2	-0.9	3.7	-8.3	-4.6	-4.3	-5
	High	-1.2	-0.2	3.8	2.3	-6.2	-4.2	-2.0	-4.8
Atorvastatin	Low	13.9	25.0	-0.3	1.2	-8.5	-1.7	-3.7	36.8
	Middle	22.1	33.7	4.6	5.6	2.8	-3.1	-3.8	55.8
	High	19.1	30.5	0.9	2.9	9.1	6.5	5.9	61.1
o-OH-atorvastatin	Low	-4.4	-5.5	-5.5	-1.8	-6.3	-12.8	-11.4	-6.4
	Middle	-0.8	-0.5	-2.4	0.0	1	-8.5	-3.4	-0.6
	High	1.4	-1.1	-3.0	-0.8	3.1	6.6	9.2	2.0
p-OH-atorvastatin	Low	-0.2	-2.2	-0.8	-2.3	-0.7	1.4	-3.6	-0.4
	Middle	0.7	1.9	2.1	3.3	0.9	0.4	2.1	2.8
	High	0.2	-0.3	-0.7	1.4	4.3	5.0	9.5	3.5

Data are reported as mean deviations (%) of investigated concentration (n = 3) from concentration measured at t_0 .

^a Low concentration is defined as 2 ng/mL (20 ng/mL for metoprolol), middle concentrations as 20 ng/mL (200 ng/mL for metoprolol), and high concentrations as 200 ng/mL (2000 ng/mL for metoprolol).

^b 60 min at 60 °C in a water bath.

Α RT: 1.87 RT: 2.40 NL: 2.31E5 NL: 2.31E5 TIC F: + c ESI SRM ms2 575.200 [439.999-440.001, 465.999-466.001] 100 0.4 ng/mL p-OH-Atorvastatin 50 Relative Abundance 0 RT: 1.87 RT: 2.40 NL: 2.11E5 TIC F: + c ESI SRM ms2 575.300 [439.999-440.001, 465.999-466.001] 100 0.9 ng/mL o-OH-Atorvastatin 50 0 RT: 2.54 NL: 2.91E6 TIC F: + c ESI SRM ms2 559.000 [291.999-292.001, 439.999-440.001] 100 7.4 ng/mL Atorvastatin 50 0 -F 0.0 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 4.5 5.0 5.5 6.0 Time (min) В NL: 2.22E6 TIC F: + c ESI SRM ms2 409.000 [237.999-238.001, 293.999-294.001] MS ICIS RT: 1.53 100 Relative Abundance 7.6 ng/mL Amlodipine 50 0 NL: 6.61E4 RT: 1.68 100 TIC F: - c ESI SRM ms2 423.000 [302.999-303.001, 320.999-321.001] MS ICIS 1.8 ng/mL Pravastatin 50 0 1.0 2.5 3.5 4.5 0.0 0.5 1.5 2.0 3.0 4.0 5.0 5.5 6.0 Time (min) С RT: 1.18 NL: 4.20E6 TIC F: + c ESI SRM ms2 268.000 [73.999-74.001, 115.999-116.001] 100 Relative Abundance 8.3 ng/mL Metoprolol 50 0 NL: 2.28E5 TIC F: + c ESI SRM ms2 482.000 [257.999-258.001, 271.999-272.001] MS ICIS 100 RT: 1.91 0.5 ng/mL Rosuvastatin 50 0 1.0 1.5 4.5 6.0 0.0 0.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 5.0 5.5 Time (min)

Fig. 4. Representative UHPLC-MS/MS analysis and measured concentrations in plasma sample from three PLWH receiving comedications concurrently to ARTs. See Section 3.2.5 for details.

chromatogram of a plasma sample collected 23.5 h after the last doses of metoprolol 12.5 mg QD and rosuvastatin 5 mg QD. The concentrations of metoprolol and rosuvastatin in this patient were 8.3 ng/mL and 0.5 ng/mL, respectively. Plasma concentrations of both analytes were similar to those reported in other published LC-MS/MS methods [32,67]. Comprehensive pharmacokinetic analyses are to be published elsewhere.

4. Conclusion

A sensitive and selective bioanalytical UHPLC-MS/MS assay was developed to enable the simultaneous quantification of the five cardiovascular drugs amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin and atorvastatin and two active metabolites in human plasma. Simple and convenient sample preparation consisting in protein precipitation followed by evaporation and reconstitution was found suitable to achieve satisfactory LLOQ. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first assay for cardiovascular drugs that combines the convenience of protein precipitation followed by supernatant preconcentration. This assay therefore offers to analytical scientists a simplified approach to quantify low levels of most frequently cardiovascular drugs, without the need of solid-phase extraction procedures that are delicate to develop and validate. Validation performances were in compliance with international recommendations and validation ranges covered the low plasma concentrations commonly observed in clinical practice. Finally, this assay can confidently be applied to clinical pharmacokinetic studies aiming at exploring the DDIs between these cardiovascular drugs and co-administered ARTs in PLWH.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2019.121733.

Declaration of Competing Interest

None.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the patients who have agreed to participate in the studies, and the following persons for their invaluable help, dedication and implication in blood collection, as study coordinator and study nurse: Deolinda Alves, Vreneli Waelti Da Costa, Alexandra Mitouassiwou-Samba and Valérie Sormani.

Funding sources

This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant N° 324730-165956) for a comprehensive program on the clinical pharmacology of antiretroviral drugs within the frame of Swiss HIV Cohort Study.

References

- D. Costagliola, Demographics of HIV and aging, Curr. Opin. HIV AIDS 9 (4) (2014) 294–301.
- [2] M.S. Freiberg, C.C. Chang, L.H. Kuller, M. Skanderson, E. Lowy, K.L. Kraemer, et al., HIV infection and the risk of acute myocardial infarction, JAMA Intern. Med. 173 (8) (2013) 614–622.
- [3] E. Cerrato, A. Calcagno, F. D'Ascenzo, G. Biondi-Zoccai, M. Mancone, W. Grosso Marra, et al., Cardiovascular disease in HIV patients: from bench to bedside and backwards, Open Heart 2 (1) (2015) e000174.
- [4] C. Bednasz, A.E. Luque, B.S. Zingman, M.A. Fischl, B.M. Gripshover, C.S. Venuto, et al., Lipid-lowering therapy in HIV-infected patients: relationship with antiretroviral agents and impact of substance-related disorders, Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol. 14 (3) (2016) 280–287.
- [5] H. Lennernas, Clinical pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 42 (13) (2003) 1141–1160.
- [6] B. Chauvin, S. Drouot, A. Barrail-Tran, A.M. Taburet, Drug-drug interactions between HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors (statins) and antiviral protease inhibitors, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 52 (10) (2013) 815–831.
- [7] D. Samineni, P.B. Desai, L. Sallans, C.J. Fichtenbaum, Steady-state pharmacokinetic

99

interactions of darunavir/ritonavir with lipid-lowering agent rosuvastatin, J. Clin. Pharmacol. 52 (6) (2012) 922–931.

- [8] R. Hoetelmans, A. Lasure, A. Koester, The Effect of TMC114, a Potent Next-generation HIV Protease Inhibitor, With Low-Dose Ritonavir on Atorvastatin Pharmacokinetics (Poster H-865), ICAAC, Washington, 2004.
- [9] J.M. Custodio, S. West, D. SenGupta, A. Zari, R. Humeniuk, K.H. Ling, et al., Evaluation of the drug-drug interaction potential between cobicistat-boosted protease inhibitors and statins, Abstract O_04. 18th International Workshop on Clinical Pharmacology of Antiviral Therapy; 14–16 June 2017; Chicago, 2017.
- [10] P.J. Neuvonen, M. Niemi, J.T. Backman, Drug interactions with lipid-lowering drugs: mechanisms and clinical relevance, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 80 (6) (2006) 565–581.
- [11] T.R. Glass, C. Ungsedhapand, M. Wolbers, R. Weber, P.L. Vernazza, M. Rickenbach, et al., Prevalence of risk factors for cardiovascular disease in HIV-infected patients over time: the Swiss HIV Cohort Study, HIV Med. 7 (6) (2006) 404–410.
- [12] Hypertension: The Clinical Management of Primary Hypertension in Adults: Update of Clinical Guidelines 18 and 34. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence: Guidance. London 2011.
- [13] M.J. Glesby, J.A. Aberg, M.A. Kendall, C.J. Fichtenbaum, R. Hafner, S. Hall, et al., Pharmacokinetic interactions between indinavir plus ritonavir and calcium channel blockers, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 78 (2) (2005) 143–153.
- [14] J.E. Lee, R. van Heeswijk, K. Alves, F. Smith, V. Garg, Effect of the hepatitis C virus protease inhibitor telaprevir on the pharmacokinetics of amlodipine and atorvastatin, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 55 (10) (2011) 4569–4574.
- [15] R. Puech, M.C. Gagnieu, C. Planus, B. Charpiat, A. Boibieux, T. Ferry, et al., Extreme bradycardia due to multiple drug-drug interactions in a patient with HIV post-exposure prophylaxis containing lopinavir-ritonavir, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 71 (4) (2011) 621–623.
- [16] R.I. El-Bagary, E.F. Elkady, Z.A. El-Sherif, A.M. Kadry, LC-MS-MS simultaneous determination of atorvastatin and ezetimibe in human plasma, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 52 (8) (2014) 773–780.
- [17] P. Partani, S.M. Verma, S. Gurule, A. Khuroo, T. Monif, Simultaneous quantitation of atorvastatin and its two active metabolites in human plasma by liquid chromatography/(-) electrospray tandem mass spectrometry, J. Pharm. Anal. 4 (1) (2014) 26–36.
- [18] J. Wang, J.A. Luzum, M.A. Phelps, J.P. Kitzmiller, Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry assay for the simultaneous quantification of simvastatin, lovastatin, atorvastatin, and their major metabolites in human plasma, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 983–984 (2015) 18–25.
- [19] Z. Zhu, L. Neirinck, High-performance liquid chromatography coupled with negative ion tandem mass spectrometry for determination of pravastatin in human plasma, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 783 (1) (2003) 133–140.
- [20] N.R. Pilli, J.K. Inamadugu, R. Mullangi, V.K. Karra, J.R. Vaidya, J.V. Rao, Simultaneous determination of atorvastatin, amlodipine, ramipril and benazepril in human plasma by LC-MS/MS and its application to a human pharmacokinetic study, Biomed. Chromatogr.: BMC 25 (4) (2011) 439–449.
- [21] A. Narapusetti, S.S. Bethanabhatla, A. Sockalingam, N. Repaka, V. Saritha, Simultaneous determination of rosuvastatin and amlodipine in human plasma using tandem mass spectrometry: application to disposition kinetics, J. Adv. Res. 6 (6) (2015) 931–940.
- [22] R. Taguchi, T. Naito, H. Sato, J. Kawakami, Validated LC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous determination of amlodipine and its major metabolites in human plasma of hypertensive patients, Ther. Drug Monit. 39 (6) (2017) 625–631.
- [23] J. Bhatt, S. Singh, G. Subbaiah, B. Shah, S. Kambli, S. Ameta, A rapid and sensitive liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method for the estimation of amlodipine in human plasma, Biomed. Chromatogr.: BMC 21 (2) (2007) 169–175.
- [24] P. Venkateswarlu, B.N. Kumar, K. Seshaiah, V.V. Prasad, Selective and sensitive method for the determination of metoprolol in human plasma using liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry, Acta Pharma. 60 (2) (2010) 177–184.
- [25] M. Hermann, H. Christensen, J.L. Reubsaet, Determination of atorvastatin and metabolites in human plasma with solid-phase extraction followed by LC-tandem MS, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 382 (5) (2005) 1242–1249.
- [26] C.K. Hull, A.D. Penman, C.K. Smith, P.D. Martin, Quantification of rosuvastatin in human plasma by automated solid-phase extraction using tandem mass spectrometric detection, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 772 (2) (2002) 219–228.
- [27] R. Nirogi, K. Mudigonda, V. Kandikere, Chromatography-mass spectrometry methods for the quantitation of statins in biological samples, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 44 (2) (2007) 379–387.
- [28] X. Zhang, D.I. Vernikovskaya, X. Wang, T.N. Nanovskaya, M. Costantine, G.D. Hankins, et al., Quantitative determination of pravastatin and its metabolite 3alpha-hydroxy pravastatin in plasma and urine of pregnant patients by LC-MS/MS, Biomed. Chromatogr.: BMC 30 (4) (2016) 548–554.
- [29] L. Novakova, H. Vlckova, D. Satinsky, P. Sadilek, D. Solichova, M. Blaha, et al., Ultra high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometric detection in clinical analysis of simvastatin and atorvastatin, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 877 (22) (2009) 2093–2103.
- [30] J.S. Macwan, I.A. Ionita, F. Akhlaghi, A simple assay for the simultaneous determination of rosuvastatin acid, rosuvastatin-5S-lactone, and N-desmethyl rosuvastatin in human plasma using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS), Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 402 (3) (2012) 1217–1227.
- [31] J.S. Macwan, I.A. Ionita, M. Dostalek, F. Akhlaghi, Development and validation of a sensitive, simple, and rapid method for simultaneous quantitation of atorvastatin and its acid and lactone metabolites by liquid chromatography-tandem mass

spectrometry (LC-MS/MS), Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 400 (2) (2011) 423-433.

- [32] A.K. Sarkar, D. Ghosh, A. Das, P.S. Selvan, K.V. Gowda, U. Mandal, et al., Simultaneous determination of metoprolol succinate and amlodipine besylate in human plasma by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method and its application in bioequivalence study, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 873 (1) (2008) 77–85.
- [33] M. Yacoub, A.A. Awwad, M. Alawi, T. Arafat, Simultaneous determination of amlodipine and atorvastatin with its metabolites; ortho and para hydroxy atorvastatin; in human plasma by LC-MS/MS. Journal of Chromatography B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 917–918 (2013) 36–47.
- [34] P. Courlet, C. Marzolini, M. Cavassini, M. Battegay, M. Guidi, S. Alves Saldanha, et al., Polypharmacy, Inappropriate Drugs and Drug-Drug Interactions in HIV Infected Elderly, CROI, Seattle, 2019.
- [35] Y. Zhou, J. Li, X. He, M. Jia, M. Liu, H. Li, et al., Development and validation of a liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, atorvastatin and its metabolites ortho-hydroxy atorvastatin and para-hydroxy atorvastatin in human plasma and its application in a bioequivalence study, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 83 (2013) 101–107.
- [36] W.W. Bullen, R.A. Miller, R.N. Hayes, Development and validation of a high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry assay for atorvastatin, ortho-hydroxy atorvastatin, and para-hydroxy atorvastatin in human, dog, and rat plasma, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 10 (1) (1999) 55–66.
- [37] F. Huang, K. Marzin, R. Koenen, K.P. Kammerer, N. Strelkowa, M. Elgadi, et al., Effect of steady-state faldaprevir on pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin or rosuvastatin in healthy volunteers: a prospective open-label, fixed-sequence crossover study, J. Clin. Pharmacol. 57 (10) (2017) 1305–1314.
- [38] M. Blonk, M. van Beek, A. Colbers, B. Schouwenberg, D. Burger, Pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction study between raltegravir and atorvastatin 20 mg in healthy volunteers, J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 69 (1) (2015) 44–51.
- [39] European Medicines Agency, Guideline on Bioanalytical Method Validation 2011, Available from http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/ Scientific_guideline/2011/08/WC500109686.pdf.
- [40] U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Validation, Available from, 2018. https://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/ guidances/ucm368107.pdf.
- [41] B. Boulanger, P. Chiap, W. Dewe, J. Crommen, P. Hubert, An analysis of the SFSTP guide on validation of chromatographic bioanalytical methods: progress and limitations, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 32 (4–5) (2003) 753–765.
- [42] P. Hubert, J.J. Nguyen-Huu, B. Boulanger, E. Chapuzet, P. Chiap, N. Cohen, et al., Harmonization of strategies for the validation of quantitative analytical procedures. A SFSTP proposal—part I, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 36 (3) (2004) 579–586.
- [43] V.P. Shah, K.K. Midha, S. Dighe, I.J. McGilveray, J.P. Skelly, A. Yacobi, et al., Analytical methods validation: bioavailability, bioequivalence and pharmacokinetic studies. Conference report, Eur. J. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet. 16 (4) (1991) 249–255.
- [44] V.P. Shah, K.K. Midha, J.W. Findlay, H.M. Hill, J.D. Hulse, I.J. McGilveray, et al., Bioanalytical method validation—a revisit with a decade of progress, Pharm. Res. 17 (12) (2000) 1551–1557.
- [45] E. Rozet, A. Ceccato, C. Hubert, E. Ziemons, R. Oprean, S. Rudaz, et al., Analysis of recent pharmaceutical regulatory documents on analytical method validation, J. Chromatogr. A 1158 (1–2) (2007) 111–125.
- [46] B.K. Matuszewski, Standard line slopes as a measure of a relative matrix effect in quantitative HPLC-MS bioanalysis, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 830 (2) (2006) 293–300.
- [47] B.K. Matuszewski, M.L. Constanzer, C.M. Chavez-Eng, Strategies for the assessment of matrix effect in quantitative bioanalytical methods based on HPLC-MS/MS, Anal. Chem. 75 (13) (2003) 3019–3030.
- [48] R. Bonfiglio, R.C. King, T.V. Olah, K. Merkle, The effects of sample preparation methods on the variability of the electrospray ionization response for model drug compounds, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 13 (12) (1999) 1175–1185.
- [49] P.J. Taylor, Matrix effects: the Achilles heel of quantitative high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray-tandem mass spectrometry, Clin. Biochem. 38 (4)

(2005) 328-334.

- [50] A. Van Eeckhaut, K. Lanckmans, S. Sarre, I. Smolders, Y. Michotte, Validation of bioanalytical LC-MS/MS assays: evaluation of matrix effects, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 877 (23) (2009) 2198–2207.
- [51] E. Chapuzet, N. Mercier, S. Bervoas-Martin, B. Boulanger, P. Chevalier, P. Chiap, et al., Méthodes chromatographiques de dosage dans les milieux biologiques : stratégie de validation - Rapport d'une commission SFSTP, 7 (1997), pp. 169–194.
- [52] N. Ansermot, M. Brawand-Amey, Eap CB. Simultaneous quantification of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and metabolites in human plasma by liquid chromatography-electrospray mass spectrometry for therapeutic drug monitoring. Journal of chromatography B, Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 885–886 (2012) 117–130.
- [53] B. Streel, A. Ceccato, R. Klinkenberg, P. Hubert, Validation of a liquid chromatographic-tandem mass spectrometric method for the determination of loperamide in human plasma, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 814 (2) (2005) 263–273.
- [54] E. Rozet, C. Hubert, A. Ceccato, W. Dewe, E. Ziemons, F. Moonen, et al., Using tolerance intervals in pre-study validation of analytical methods to predict in-study results. The fit-for-future-purpose concept, J. Chromatogr. A 1158 (1–2) (2007) 126–137.
- [55] C.T. Viswanathan, S. Bansal, B. Booth, A.J. DeStefano, M.J. Rose, J. Sailstad, et al., Quantitative bioanalytical methods validation and implementation: best practices for chromatographic and ligand binding assays, Pharm. Res. 24 (10) (2007) 1962–1973.
- [56] M. Feinberg, Validation of analytical methods based on accuracy profiles, J. Chromatogr. A 1158 (1–2) (2007) 174–183.
- [57] S.S. Good, D.J. Reynolds, P. de Miranda, Simultaneous quantification of zidovudine and its glucuronide in serum by high-performance liquid chromatography, J. Chromatogr. 431 (1) (1988) 123–133.
- [58] J.S. McDougal, L.S. Martin, S.P. Cort, M. Mozen, C.M. Heldebrant, B.L. Evatt, Thermal inactivation of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome virus, human T lymphotropic virus-III/lymphadenopathy-associated virus, with special reference to antihemophilic factor, J. Clin. Invest. 76 (2) (1985) 875–877.
- [59] G.V. Quinnan Jr., M.A. Wells, A.E. Wittek, M.A. Phelan, R.E. Mayner, S. Feinstone, et al., Inactivation of human T-cell lymphotropic virus, type III by heat, chemicals, and irradiation, Transfusion 26 (5) (1986) 481–483.
- [60] M. Jemal, Z. Ouyang, B.C. Chen, D. Teitz, Quantitation of the acid and lactone forms of atorvastatin and its biotransformation products in human serum by highperformance liquid chromatography with electrospray tandem mass spectrometry, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 13 (11) (1999) 1003–1015.
- [61] R. Gajula, N.R. Pilli, V.B. Ravi, R. Maddela, J.K. Inamadugu, S.R. Polagani, et al., Simultaneous determination of atorvastatin and aspirin in human plasma by LC-MS/MS: its pharmacokinetic application, Sci. Pharm. 80 (4) (2012) 923–940.
- [62] D.A. Taha, C.H. De Moor, D.A. Barrett, J.B. Lee, R.D. Gandhi, C.W. Hoo, et al., The role of acid-base imbalance in statin-induced myotoxicity, Transl. Res. 174 (2016) 140–60 e14.
- [63] S. Rudaz, M. Feinberg, From method validation to result assessment: established facts and pending questions, Trends Anal. Chem. 105 (2018) 68–74.
- [64] A. El-Zailik, L.K. Cheung, Y. Wang, V. Sherman, D.S. Chow, Simultaneous LC-MS/ MS analysis of simvastatin, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin and their active metabolites for plasma samples of obese patients underwent gastric bypass surgery, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 164 (2019) 258–267.
- [65] M.R. Rezk, K.A. Badr, Quantification of amlodipine and atorvastatin in human plasma by UPLC-MS/MS method and its application to a bioequivalence study, Biomed. Chromatogr.: BMC 32 (7) (2018) e4224.
- [66] N. Tsamandouras, Y. Guo, T. Wendling, S. Hall, A. Galetin, L. Aarons, Modelling of atorvastatin pharmacokinetics and the identification of the effect of a BCRP polymorphism in the Japanese population, Pharmacogenet. Genomics 27 (1) (2017) 27–38.
- [67] A. Bhadoriya, M. Sanyal, P.A. Shah, P.S. Shrivastav, Simultaneous quantitation of rosuvastatin and ezetimibe in human plasma by LC-MS/MS: pharmacokinetic study of fixed-dose formulation and separate tablets, Biomed. Chromatogr.: BMC 32 (10) (2018) e4291.

Journal of Chromatography B 1125 (2019) 121733

100



1

101

Supplementary file 2: Focus on lowest validation samples reported in the absolute accuracy profiles in order to determine LLOQs. Absolute accuracy is defined as the relative accuracy multiplied by the nominal value of the validation sample and is represented in y-axis. Trueness (red solid line), upper and lower β -expectation tolerance intervals (β = 80%) (black solid lines) and acceptance limits (λ = ± 30%), green, dotted lines) are shown.



III.3. Development and validation of a multiplex UHPLC-MS/MS assay with stable isotopic internal standards for the monitoring of plasma concentrations of the antiretroviral drugs bictegravir, cabotegravir, doravirine and rilpivirine in people living with HIV

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Revised: 4 February 2020



Development and validation of a multiplex UHPLC-MS/MS assay with stable isotopic internal standards for the monitoring of the plasma concentrations of the antiretroviral drugs bictegravir, cabotegravir, doravirine, and rilpivirine in people living with HIV

Perrine Courlet ¹ 💿 Susana Alves Saldanha ¹ Matthias Cavassini ²	
Catia Marzolini ^{3,4} Eva Choong ¹ Chantal Csajka ^{5,6,7} Huldrych F. Günthard ^{8,9}	
Pascal André ¹ Thierry Buclin ¹ Vincent Desfontaine ¹ Laurent Arthur Decosterd ¹	•

¹Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

²Service of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

³Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

⁴University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

⁵Centre for Research and Innovation in Clinical Pharmaceutical Sciences, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

⁶Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Western Switzerland, University of Geneva, University of Lausanne, Geneva, Switzerland

⁷School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

⁸Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital Zurich, Switzerland

⁹Institute of Medical Virology, Swiss National Reference Centre for Retroviruses, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Correspondence

Prof Laurent A. Decosterd, Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology BU19-04, Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, CHUV, 1011 Lausanne, Switzerland. Email: laurentarthur.decosterd@chuv.ch

Abstract

The widespread use of highly active antiretroviral treatments has dramatically changed the prognosis of people living with HIV (PLWH). However, such treatments have to be taken lifelong raising issues regarding the maintenance of both therapeutic effectiveness and long-term tolerability. Recently approved or investigational antiretroviral drugs present considerable advantages, allowing once daily oral dosage along with activity against resistant variants (eg, bictegravir and doravirine) and also parenteral intramuscular administration that facilitates treatment adherence (eg, long-acting injectable formulations such as cabotegravir and rilpivirine). Still, there remains a risk of insufficient or exaggerated circulating exposure due to absorption issues, abnormal elimination, drugdrug interactions, and others. In this context, a multiplex ultra-high performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) bioassay has been developed for the monitoring of plasma levels of bictegravir, cabotegravir, doravirine, and rilpivirine in PLWH. A simple and convenient protein precipitation was performed followed by direct injection of the supernatant into the UHPLC-MS/MS system. The four analytes were eluted in less than 3 minutes using a reversed-phase chromatography method coupled with triple quadrupole mass spectrometry detection. This bioassay was fully validated following international guidelines and achieved good performances in terms of trueness (94.7%-107.5%), repeatability (2.6%-11%), and intermediate precision (3.0%-11.2%) over the clinically relevant concentration ranges (from 30 to 9000 ng/mL for bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine and from 10 to 1800 ng/mL for rilpivirine). This sensitive, accurate, and rapid UHPLC-MS/MS assay is currently applied in our laboratory for routine therapeutic drug monitoring of the oral drugs bictegravir and doravirine and is also intended to be applied for the monitoring of

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2020 The Authors. Journal of Mass Spectrometry published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd

2 of 13 WILEY_MASS

Funding information

Swiss National Science Foundation, Grant/ Award Number: 324730-165956 cabotegravir/rilpivirine levels in plasma from PLWH receiving once monthly or every 2-month intramuscular injection of these long-acting antiretroviral drugs.

KEYWORDS

antiretroviral therapy, long-acting injectables, pharmacokinetics, therapeutic drug monitoring, UHPLC-MS/MS

1 | INTRODUCTION

Optimal efficacy and good tolerability are key points during the development of antiretroviral (ARV) drugs.¹ Yet, besides therapeutic effectiveness and drug safety profile, long-term adherence is required to achieve viral suppression.^{2,3} The development of long-acting inject-able (LAI) formulations can overcome the adherence issue⁴ by maintaining effective plasma concentrations over months. Thus, LAI has the potential to improve adherence thereby preventing drug resistance. In addition, LAI can improve patients' privacy and reduce social stigmas associated with daily intake of ARV drugs. It has been stated that about as much as 50% to 70% of people living with HIV (PLWH) would be interested in LAI formulations when available.⁵

Cabotegravir and rilpivirine are the first two drugs of LAI formulation, currently in final phase of clinical development.^{6,7} Cabotegravir is a potent HIV integrase strand transfer inhibitor (INSTI).⁸ while rilpivirine is non-nucleoside HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI). Long plasma half-life of both substances made them good candidates for the development of LAI formulations administered monthly^{9,10} or every 2 months.¹¹ In addition to HIV treatment, LAI-ARV drugs are also investigated separately in the indication of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PreP). Whether used for treatment or prevention, important pharmacokinetic variability was shown following intramuscular injection of cabotegravir and rilpivirine in clinical trials.^{9,10,12-14} These clinical studies have generally included carefully selected PLWH, who may not reflect the complex situation in a real-life clinical setting. In particular, drug-drug interactions (DDIs) are likely to occur, ¹⁵ also with LAI-ARV drugs, and we have at present very limited information on their actual clinical importance, prompting the monitoring of ARV plasma levels when new comedications at risk of DDIs are introduced in patients on LAI-ARV drugs. Besides, intersubject variability may be more pronounced particularly in special population (ie, underweight or obese patients, hepatic or renal impairment, aging, or pregnancy).

In addition to these novel injectable formulations, ARV developments are also focused on improving the safety and tolerability profile. The last-generation ARV drugs bictegravir (a potent unboosted INSTI¹⁶) and doravirine (a next-generation NNRTI¹⁷) represent attractive oral therapeutic options because of their improved tolerability profiles. Both bictegravir and doravirine are substrates of CYP3A4 and can consequently be victims of DDIs. However, there is currently a lack of data concerning the magnitude of DDIs with these novel ARV drugs. Yet, in the next few years, most PLWH in middle- and high-income countries will switch to one of these last-generation ARV therapies, either oral or LAI formulations. The availability of liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) methodologies for the determination of ARV concentrations in human plasma is a key aspect for drug pharmacokinetic studies and therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) in patients. Several assays have been previously developed for the measurement of rilpivirine as oral formulation.¹⁸⁻²⁰ To the best of our knowledge, only two LC-MS/MS assays have been published for the quantification of bictegravir in human plasma.^{21,22} In addition, although cabotegravir and doravirine plasma concentrations have been determined in several studies,^{23,24} no publication has been dedicated to the development and the validation of such LC-MS/MS methodologies.

In this article, we aimed at developing and validating a simple and fast multiplex assay by ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) for the simultaneous determination of the latest generation ARV drugs bictegravir, cabotegravir, doravirine, and rilpivirine in human plasma.

2 | MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 | Chemical and reagents

Bictegravir (purity \geq 98%) and cabotegravir (\geq 98%) were obtained from Alsachim (Strasbourg, France), while doravirine (98%) and rilpivirine (98.5%) were purchased from Toronto Research Chemical (Toronto, Canada). Chemical structures are depicted in Figure 1. Their stable isotopically labelled internal standards (ISs) (ie, [$^{13}C,^{2}H_{2},^{15}N$]bictegravir [purity \geq 98%], [$^{13}C,^{2}H_{5}$]-cabotegravir [\geq 95%], [$^{13}C_{6}$]doravirine [\geq 95%], and [$^{13}C_{6}$]-rilpivirine [99.3%]), were obtained from Alsachim. In addition, cabotegravir O- β -D-glucuronide (purity 95%) was purchased from Alsachim.

All solvents (ie, acetonitrile [ACN], methanol [MeOH], and formic acid [FA] [98%-100%]) were of analytical grade and were obtained from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO, 99.5%) was purchased from Alfa Aesar (Kandel, Germany). Ultrapure water was supplied by a Milli-Q UF-Plus apparatus (Millipore Corp, Burlington, MA, USA).

Human blank plasma samples used for method development and validation, as well as for the preparation of calibration samples and quality controls (QCs), were obtained according to institutional ethical standard from citrated blood from patients with *polycythemia vera* who underwent regular phlebotomy at the Center of Transfusion Medicine, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland, by centrifugation (1970g, ie, 3000 rpm, 10 min, +4°C, Hettich model Rotanta 460RF centrifuge) or from TCS Bioscience (Buckingham, UK).

FIGURE 1 Chemical structures of the analyzed antiretroviral drugs





2.2 | Stock solutions preparation

Each analyte was weighed and dissolved in the required volume of solvent. Stock solutions of bictegravir (1 or 5 mg/mL), cabotegravir (1 mg/mL), and doravirine (2 mg/mL) were prepared in DMSO. Rilpivirine powder was dissolved in a mixture of DMSO:MeOH 1:1 to obtain the final concentration of 0.5 mg/mL. These stock solutions were stored at -20° C for bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine. The stock solution of rilpivirine was stored at $+4^{\circ}$ C, as currently done for the routine monitoring of rilpivirine plasma concentrations in the framework of our TDM service.¹⁸

One working solution (WS) at 100 μ g/mL for bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine and 20 μ g/mL for rilpivirine was prepared in a mixture of H₂O:DMSO (3:1) for calibration standards. Another WS for validation standards was independently prepared in the same solvent, at the following concentrations: 90 μ g/mL for all analytes except for rilpivirine (18 μ g/mL). Spiking solutions for calibration and validation samples were prepared at the appropriate concentrations by sequentially diluting the WSs in a mixture of H₂O:DMSO (3:1).

Stock solutions of each IS were prepared at 1 mg/mL in DMSO (isotopically labelled bictegravir and cabotegravir) or MeOH (isotopically labelled rilpivirine and doravirine) and stored at -20° C. An IS-WS was prepared at 250 ng/mL for all analytes, except for rilpivirine (50 ng/mL) by mixing the required volumes of the four IS stock solutions with a mixture of MeOH:ACN 1:1.

All solutions were stored at -20° C.

2.3 | Calibration and validation standards preparation

Spiked plasma was obtained by diluting tenfold the spiking solutions (100 μ L) with blank plasma (900 μ L). The total added volume was \leq 10% of the biological sample volume to follow the recommendations for bioanalytical method validation.^{25,26} Nine concentration levels (k) of calibration samples were prepared each validation day (n = 3) at the following concentrations: 10 000, 5000, 2500, 1000, 500, 250, 125, 50, and 25 ng/mL, except for rilpivirine with fivefold lower concentrations (ie, 2000, 1000, 500, 200, 100, 50, 25, 10, and 5 ng/mL), with respect to the values commonly observed in clinical

practice.^{14,27,28} Eight validation standards were prepared at the following concentrations: 9000, 4500, 1500, 600, 300, 150, 60, and 30 ng/mL, except for rilpivirine, having fivefold lower values. For each analyte, accurate determination of lower limits of quantifications (LLOQs) relied on the use of one validation sample at the estimated LLOQ and one at twofold to threefold LLOQ.

2.4 | Plasma pre-treatment procedure

Protein precipitation was operated by adding a 300- μ L volume of the IS-WS to 100 μ L of calibration, validation, or patient plasma samples. The mixture was vortexed and centrifuged at 18 620g (14 000 rpm) at +4°C for 10 minutes with a benchtop centrifuge (Benchtop Mikro 220R centrifuge, Hettich, Bäch, Switzerland). Three hundred microliters of the supernatant were directly transferred into an HPLC vial with insert.

2.5 | UHPLC-MS/MS instrumentation

UHPLC-MS/MS analyses were conducted using an Ultimate 3000 Rapid Separation (RS) LC system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA) composed of an Ultimate 3000 RS column compartment, an RS autosampler, and an RS binary pump. Chromatographic separation was carried out with a Xselect HSS T3 analytical column from Waters (Milford, MA, USA) with 3.5- μ m particle size and dimensions of 2.1 × 75 mm. The UHPLC system was coupled with a TSQ Quantis triple quadrupole mass spectrometer from Thermo Fisher Scientific, equipped with an OptaMax NG ion source used in electrospray ionization (H-ESI) mode. Data acquisition, treatment, and instrument control were performed using the XCalibur software version 4.1.31.9 and Chromeleon version DCMS link (ThermoFisher Scientific).

2.6 | Analytic conditions

The mobile phases (ie, $H_2O + 0.1\%$ FA (A) and ACN + 0.1% FA (B)) were delivered at a flow rate of 300 µL/min, following this multistep gradient: first, linear gradient from 40% to 60% B in 3 minutes, up to 95% B in 0.2 minutes, followed by an isocratic stage at 95% B for 0.8 minutes. Then, solvent B was reduced to 40% (initial conditions) in 0.1 minute, followed by a re-equilibration step up to 5 minutes (total

4 of 13 WILEY MASS

analysis time). Samples were stored at +5°C in the autosampler, and the injection volume was 7 $\mu\text{L}.$

Polarity switching capability enabled ESI positive (spray voltage 3900 V) and negative (spray voltage 3400 V) analysis in the same sample injection. ESI source parameters were optimized as follows: the ion transfer tube and vaporizer temperatures at 300°C and 150°C, respectively; sheath, auxiliary, and sweep gas flow rates at 45, 25, and 0 (arbitrary units), respectively. The first (Q1) and third (Q3) quadrupoles operated with a mass resolution of 1.2 Da (ie, *m*/*z* 1.2 full width at half maximum, FWHM). The cycle time was 0.2 seconds. The pressure of the collision gas (argon) in the second quadrupole (Q2) was set at 1.5 mTorr.

2.7 | Validation procedure

2.7.1 | Selectivity

The selectivity of the method was evaluated by analyzing blank human plasma from 10 different donors processed with pure ACN: MeOH 1:1. Cross-talk interferences were then established by injecting a high concentration calibration sample processed with pure ACN:MeOH 1:1 (no ISs) and a blank plasma processed with the IS-WS. Finally, the injection of blank solvent (ACN:MeOH 1:1) or blank plasma extract immediately after a high calibration sample processed with IS-WS allowed the assessment of carryover effect.

In addition, since the INSTIs bictegravir and cabotegravir are metabolized by UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) to glucuronoconjugated metabolites, the separations between drug and their metabolites were investigated. This was particularly important to ascertain that these INSTIs and their respective glucuronides do not coelute that would give spuriously high drug levels because of the in-source dissociation of glucuronide to parent compound during the ionization step, such as previously reported for raltegravir.^{29,30} Cabotegravir glucuronide was provided by Alsachim, whereas bictegravir glucuronide was not available at the time of the current development. MS/MS transition of cabotegravir glucuronide was assessed by direct infusion into the MS detector. Bictegravir glucuronide MS/MS transition was empirically reckoned, considering that bictegravir was the main fragment obtained from bictegravir glucuronide. The selectivity of the method regarding glucuronides was evaluating by injecting a plasma sample containing cabotegravir and cabotegravir glucuronide processed with blank MeOH:ACN (1:1) and a plasma sample from an HIV-infected patient receiving bictegravir.

2.7.2 | Matrix effect, extraction recovery, and process efficiency

Qualitative evaluation of matrix effect

The method proposed by Bonfiglio et al³¹ allowed the evaluation of the potential impact of endogenous compounds on ionization process. A solution of analytes in MeOH (1100 ng/mL for bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine and 200 ng/mL for rilpivirine) and ISs (200 ng/mL for all

IS except for [¹³C₆]-rilpivirine at 50 ng/mL) was continuously infused postcolumn, while seven different blank plasma extracts processed with pure ACN:MeOH 1:1 were injected into the UHPLC-MS/MS system. Each MS/MS transition was visually examined to check for any alteration (suppression or enhancement) at the analytes' retention times.

Quantitative assessment of matrix effect, extraction recovery, and process efficiency

Matrix effects (MEs), extraction recoveries (ERs), and process efficiencies (PEs) were quantitatively evaluated following Matuszeswski's approach.³² Low (60 ng/mL for bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine and 12 ng/mL for rilpivirine), medium (600 ng/mL for bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine and 120 ng/mL for rilpivirine), and high (6000 ng/mL for bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine and 1200 ng/mL for rilpivirine) concentrations were considered. Three sets of samples at the three concentration levels were prepared as follows: (A) three neat solutions (H₂O) with analytes and ISs; (B) seven postextraction spiked blank plasma in duplicate; (C) seven pre-extraction spiked blank plasma in duplicate. IS normalization was considered by using ratio of analyte peak areas to the corresponding IS peak area to calculate the following parameters: IS-normalized matrix effects (IS-nMEs) as B/A (in %), ISnormalized extraction recoveries (IS-nERs) as C/B (in %), and ISnormalized process efficiencies (IS-nPEs) as C/A (in %).

Relative standard deviation (RSD) of slopes from linear regressions estimated at L, M, and H concentrations were also calculated. An LC-MS/MS method is considered devoid of significant ME if RSD value is <4%.

2.7.3 | Trueness, precision, accuracy profiles, limits of quantification, and linearity

Trueness and precision of the method were assessed over three different days. Several regression models were fitted to adequately describe the response concentration profile. The selection of the best calibration model was based on the estimations of trueness and precision, the narrowest β -expectation tolerance interval, and the lowest LLOQ.³³

Concentrations of the validation standards were back-calculated with the daily calibration curve. The trueness (systematic error) was defined as the percentage of deviation between the calculated concentrations of validation standards and the nominal value. The precision (random error) was estimated by two components: the repeatability (intraday variances) and intermediate precision (intraday and interday variances).³⁴⁻³⁶ Precision parameters were reported as RSD at each concentration level.³³ The total error encompassed both systematic and random errors and was evaluated using accuracy profiles. β expectation tolerance intervals represent the concentration range where β % of future results is expected to lie.³⁷⁻³⁹ Using data obtained during the validation phase, this approach allows to confidently predict the future results that will be obtained during the routine use of the method. Based on the absolute accuracy profiles, LLOQ was graphically interpolated as the lowest concentration for which the β -expectation tolerance interval crosses the acceptance limits (±30%).^{25,26,40}
Finally, the capacity of the method to give quantitative results proportional to nominal concentrations was evaluated by ordinary least square regression on the plot representing back-calculated concentrations vs nominal concentrations. This defines the linearity of trueness and was assessed each day of validation.

2.7.4 | Measurement uncertainty

An analytical result should also be reported with respect to its measurement uncertainty (MU). MU was evaluated by the type A estimation method, based on experimental measurements. Feinberg et al demonstrated that the β -expectation tolerance interval is directly related to the MU.⁴¹ The accuracy profile validation methodology enables the estimation of MU without any additional experiments.⁴² MU can be derived from the data collected during the validation phase, by fixing the β value at 0.95. Continuous models were developed in order to obtain values of MU as a function of the concentration of the analytes. Several models were tested to identify the one that fitted the data best, by visual inspection of the uncertainty profiles. Ordinary least squares regression was used to estimate the coefficients of the uncertainty function. This methodology allows easy calculation of the MU at any concentration within the validation domain. All calculations were performed using Excel.

2.7.5 | Stability studies

Stability studies included bench- and long-term stabilities. The stability of plasma at room temperature (RT) and in the fridge (+4°C) up to 48 hours was evaluated. In addition, stability after three freeze/thaw cycles was assessed by thawing frozen samples at RT for 1 hour and refreezing them during 1 hour, three times in a row. Furthermore, plasma samples were submitted to thermal viro-inactivation process (60 min at +60°C in a water bath) since this procedure has been shown to efficiently inactivate HIV particles present in the samples.^{43,44} Finally, medium stability was evaluated with plasma samples frozen at -20°C and -80°C during 6 weeks. Analyses were performed in triplicate. The mean of the concentrations obtained after each stability study were compared with the mean concentration of samples prepared at time 0.

2.8 | Patients samples

Blood samples were collected from PLWH at the request of physicians during their usual follow-up visits. In the frame of the hospital routine TDM program for ARV drugs, TDM was performed rather liberally, being particularly recommended in case of suspicion of altered pharmacokinetics (eg, DDIs or impaired hepatic/renal functions) or to evaluate short-term adherence to oral ARV drugs. Blood samples were collected in EDTA-Monovettes. The preanalytical sample preparation was performed in our laboratory by centrifuging the Monovettes, transferring plasma into propylene tubes in class II biohazard hoods using standard biosafety precautions (gloves and others) and storing samples at -20° C until batch analyses.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Analytical method development

The optimization of the LC-MS/MS assay aimed at improving sensitivity while minimizing runtime. First, standard solutions of each analyte at 5 μ g/mL in MeOH were directly infused into the MS detector in order to select optimal MS/MS, as reported in Table 1. LC-MS/MS transitions for bictegravir and rilpivirine differed from reported values.

TABLE 1 MS/MS parameters and typical retention times of the four ARV drugs and their respective stable isotope-labelled ISs

Compound	ESI polarity (+/–)	Precursor Ion (m/z)	Product Ion (m/z)	Collision Energy (V)	Typical Retention Time, min
Bictegravir	-	448.4	286.2	25	2.16
	-		301.0	25	
[¹³ C, ² H ₂ , ¹⁵ N]-Bictegravir	-	452.2	203.0	35	2.13
	-		287.1	25	
Cabotegravir	-	404.2	305.1	26	1.74
	-		374.1	22	
[¹³ C, ² H ₅]-Cabotegravir	-	410.2	311.1	27	1.72
	-		380.0	23	
Doravirine	+	426.1	111.9	24	2.35
	+		315.1	18	
[¹³ C ₆]-Doravirine	+	432.5	320.8	10	2.35
	+		416.4	11	
Rilpivirine	-	365.1	142.1	30	1.41
[¹³ C ₆]-Rilpivirine	-	371.2	148.1	31	1.41
	-		329.3	25	

Abbreviations: ARV, antiretroviral; IS, internal standard; MS/MS, tandem mass spectrometry.

In the only published bioassays for bictegravir, mass spectrometer operated in ESI positive mode, while in our study, bictegravir sensitivity was higher in the negative mode.^{21,22} In most of published methods for the quantification of rilpivirine, MS/MS transition was 367/195 in the positive mode.^{18,20,45} However, the infusion of a rilpivirine solution into the MS detector revealed a higher sensitivity in the negative mode. This was certainly due to the fact that one main

WILEY_MASS

6 of 13

fragment with high intensity was observed in ESI– whereas multiple fragments with shared intensities were present after fragmentation in ESI+. Nevertheless, transition 367/195 in the positive mode was tested during method development, and the lower sensitivity was confirmed. Therefore, transition 365/142 in the negative mode was finally retained for the quantification of rilpivirine in this bioanalytical assay. Since no LC-MS/MS method had been yet reported for the determination of



FIGURE 2 Ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) separation of a calibration sample containing the four antiretroviral drugs, at the concentration of 10 000 ng/mL for all the analytes except for rilpivirine (2000 ng/mL). Calibration sample was prepared as described in Section 2 [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

-WILEY-

cabotegravir and doravirine, no comparison between transitions could be made.

Concerning the chromatographic part of the method, analytical efforts have been made to achieve satisfactory separation and peak shape, in order to accurately quantify each analyte. For that purpose, conventional mobile (ie, H_2O + 0.1% FA and ACN + 0.1% FA) and stationary (Xselect HSS T3 column) phases were shown to

be suitable. Mobile-phase gradient program was optimized to adequately separate each analyte in a minimal runtime. Sample preparation was limited to a convenient and fast protein precipitation, which was considered sufficient to accurately quantify the range of concentrations commonly observed in clinical practice. Sensitivity was compared between different protein precipitation solvents, and a mixture of MeOH:ACN 1:1 was selected instead of MeOH or

ECTROMETRY



FIGURE 3 Qualitative assessment of matrix effect. Overlaid ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) profiles obtained from seven blank plasma extracts during postcolumn infusion of a solution containing the four analytes, as described in Section 2.7.2. Chromatographic peaks obtained during experiments were superimposed for interpretation [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

TABLE 2 Internal standard-normalized matrix effect (IS-nME), extraction recovery (IS-nER), and process efficiency (IS-nPE) in human plasma

		IS-nME	IS-nER	IS-nPE
Compound	QC Level ^a	% (RSD)	% (RSD)	% (RSD)
Bictegravir/[¹³ C, ² H ₂ , ¹⁵ N]-Bictegravir	Low	0 (6)	-6 (6)	-6 (7)
	Middle	3 (3)	-5 (3)	-2 (2)
	High	–5 (3)	-8 (4)	-12 (3)
Cabotegravir/[¹³ C, ² H ₅]-Cabotegravir	Low	5 (4)	-6 (6)	-1 (5)
	Middle	-1 (3)	-6 (4)	-6 (3)
	High	-6 (3)	-7 (3)	-12 (3)
Doravirine/[¹³ C ₆]-Doravirine	Low	3 (5)	-11 (5)	-8 (3)
	Middle	4 (3)	-8 (3)	-5 (2)
	High	-4 (2)	-10 (3)	-13 (3)
Rilpivirine/[¹³ C ₆]-Rilpivirine	Low	12 (4)	-15 (10)	-5 (8)
	Middle	9 (5)	-4 (8)	5 (3)
	High	-6 (3)	-11 (6)	-16 (4)

Abbreviation: RSD, relative standard deviation.

^aLow concentrations are defined as 60 ng/mL (12 ng/mL for rilpivirine), middle concentrations are defined as 600 ng/mL (120 ng/mL for rilpivirine), and high concentrations are defined as 6000 ng/mL (1200 ng/mL for rilpivirine).

^{8 of 13} WILEY MASS SPECTROMETRY

ACN. Different injection volumes of pretreated samples ranging from 3 to 10 μ L were tested, and a volume of 7 μ L was finally chosen as the best compromise between suitable sensitivity and satisfactory peak shape. As shown in Figure 2, an adequate separation of the four analytes was achieved in less than 3 minutes, with satisfactory peak shapes.

The MS part of the analytical assay was optimized (as reported in Section 2.6) by choosing the appropriate ESI source parameters to improve sensitivity while minimizing background noise. Finally, IS concentrations were selected to obtain satisfying ISnormalized response functions, by avoiding variability due to low IS concentrations and by circumventing a significant contribution of IS signal to analyte signal in case of excessive IS concentrations.

3.2 | Validation of the method

3.2.1 | Selectivity and carryover

The good selectivity of the chromatographic method was demonstrated with the absence of interference at the retention times of the four analytes when analyzing human blank plasma from 10 different sources.

The injections of a blank plasma processed with IS-WS or the highest calibration standard processed with MeOH:ACN (1:1) did not reveal any significant signal on the analytes or IS transitions, respectively, demonstrating the absence of cross talks.

The additional experiments regarding the selectivity with the glucurono-conjugated metabolites demonstrated that retention times

			Precision		
Compound	Concentration, ng/mL	Trueness, %	Repeatability, %	Intermediate Precision, %	Relative Uncertainty, %
Bictegravir	30	106.2	9.6	9.6	27.2
	60	107.5	6.2	6.2	17.6
	150	103.1	7.8	7.8	22.0
	300	97.8	3.4	3.8	11.3
	600	96.6	6.0	6.0	15.2
	1500	97.0	4.0	4.1	11.6
	4500	96.5	4.3	4.3	12.1
	9000	101.6	6.5	6.5	18.4
Cabotegravir	30	94.7	11.0	11.2	41.4
	60	101.3	6.7	11.1	41.4
	150	97.7	5.6	8.5	29.8
	300	101.5	4.0	6.6	24.1
	600	99.8	2.6	3.0	9.0
	1500	103.9	4.3	4.3	12.2
	4500	97.1	3.5	3.5	10.0
	9000	97.7	3.5	3.5	9.9
Doravirine	30	104.0	4.0	4.0	11.2
	60	102.2	2.8	3.7	12.3
	150	100.8	3.4	3.4	9.5
	300	100.7	3.2	3.5	10.3
	600	100.2	3.0	4.3	14.8
	1500	102.2	3.6	4.4	14.0
	4500	97.9	3.3	3.3	9.3
	9000	99.4	3.1	3.3	9.6
Rilpivirine	12	100.9	7.6	7.6	21.4
	30	107.5	5.4	6.2	18.8
	60	100.7	6.9	6.9	19.4
	120	101.5	4.3	4.3	12.1
	300	106.3	4.5	4.8	14.0
	900	101.1	3.7	3.9	11.3
	1800	100.1	3.7	3.9	11.1

TABLE 3	Trueness, repeatability	and intermediate	precision in huma	n plasma over tl	ne validated range
---------	-------------------------	------------------	-------------------	------------------	--------------------

for cabotegravir glucuronide and bictegravir glucuronide were 0.83 and 0.89 minutes, respectively. In consequence, they were adequately separated from their respective parent drug, cabotegravir and bictegravir, eluting at 1.74 and 2.16 minutes, respectively.

Carryover was considered satisfactory since the chromatogram of blank matrix samples or MeOH directly injected after the highest calibration standard was devoid of analytes' and IS traces.

3.2.2 | ME, ER, and PE

As shown in Figure 3, no major interferences (ie, ion suppression or enhancement) were observed at analytes' retention times. This result supports the suitability of the chromatographic method, preventing an impact of endogenous plasma components on the ionization process of the four analytes and ISs.

Quantitative results of the assessment of IS-nME, IS-nER, and is-nPE are summarized in Table 2. The IS-nME of the analytes was considered satisfactory and varied from -6% to 12%, while RSD values were lower than 6%. Regarding IS-nER and IS-nPE, acceptable results were observed with values ranging from -15% to 4% and -16% to 5%, respectively, with RSD lower than 10%. Overall, matrix-matched calibration along with the use of isotopically labelled IS was found to adequately limit MEs issues.

The lack of significant ME was corroborated by the standard line slopes approach, with RSD values of 2.0%, 1.7%, 2.3%, and 1.8% for bictegravir, cabotegravir, doravirine, and rilpivirine, respectively.

3.2.3 | Trueness, precision, and accuracy profile

Analyte/IS peak area ratios were plotted vs analyte concentrations to obtain response functions. The quadratic log-log regression model provided the best description of the response-concentration profile in terms of determination coefficient and back-calculated calibration samples (±15% and ±20% at expected LLOQ) and was finally retained for each compound. For each series, plasma levels of the validation standards were then calculated using the calibration curves. The validated calibration ranges varied from 25 to 10 000 ng/mL for bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine and from 10 to 2000 ng/mL for rilpivirine. Trueness (94.7% to 107.5%), repeatability (2.6% to 11.0%), and intermediate precision (3.0% to 11.2%) were appropriate for quantifying plasma levels of the four ARV drugs of interest (Table 3).

A β value of 80% was chosen for the establishment of β expectation tolerance intervals, representing the fraction of future results that would be expected to fall within the obtained tolerance intervals during routine application of the method.⁴⁶ As demonstrated in Figure 4, accuracy profiles obtained for each compound lie within the acceptance limits of ±30% for biological samples.²⁶

Since the β -expectation tolerance interval of bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine does not cross the acceptance limits of ±30%, the LLOQ was defined as the concentration of the lowest



FIGURE 4 Accuracy profiles over the validated domain in human plasma of the five comedications and the two metabolites. Trueness (red solid line), upper and lower β -expectation tolerance intervals (β = 80%) (black solid lines) and acceptance limits (λ = ±30%, green dotted lines) are shown [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary. com]

validation sample (ie, 30 ng/mL). Considering an accuracy of $\pm 30\%$ (total error), the lowest concentration measurable in human plasma (LLOQ) was 10 ng/mL for rilpivirine.

Linearity was considered satisfactory since slopes and intercepts ranged from 0.96 to 1.03 and -75.4 to 40.2, respectively. In addition, determination coefficient (R^2) were all higher than .99.

3.2.4 | Measurement uncertainty

The absolute uncertainty vs concentration profiles were best described by polynomial (bictegravir, cabotegravir, and doravirine) and power regression models (rilpivirine).

The relative uncertainty of each compound at each validation levels is shown in Table 3. With a confidence level of 95%, the unknown true value located at maximum $\pm 27.2\%$, $\pm 41.4\%$, $\pm 14.8\%$, and $\pm 21.4\%$ around the measured result for bictegravir, cabotegravir, doravirine, and rilpivirine, respectively. Table 3 also demonstrates that the relative uncertainty is higher at the lowest concentrations of the validation domain.

OMETRY

3.2.5 | Stability studies

IIFY

10 of 13

Stability of analytes in plasma is reported in Table 4. Results demonstrated that analytes did not significantly degrade after storage of plasma samples at room temperature and +4°C for up to 48 hours. In addition, no significant alteration of plasma concentrations was

TABLE 4 Stability studies

observed after three consecutive freeze-thaw cycles (variation < $\pm 15\%$). The thermal viro-inactivation process had no significant influence on analytes concentrations, with variations comprised between -6.5% and 10.6%. Finally, medium-term stability studies showed no significant influence of degradation after 6 weeks of freezing at -20° C and -80° C.

3.3 | Clinical applications

The proposed LC-MS/MS assay has been applied to patient's samples obtained for clinical purposes, within the framework of our TDM service. A typical chromatographic profile of a plasma from an HIVinfected patient receiving bictegravir 50 mg once daily is shown in Figure 5A. Plasma sample was collected 17.25 hours after the last

Compound	QC Concentration (ng/mL)	Room Temperature for 24 h	Room Temperature for 48 h	+4°C for 24 h	+4°C for 48 h	After 3 Consecutive Freeze-thaw Cycles	Thermal Viro-inactivation ^a	−2°C During 6 weeks	—80°C During 6 weeks
Bictegravir	60	-8.0	-10.4	-4.8	-9.3	-10.5	-6.3	-8.2	-11
	600	6.7	11.4	3.8	-4.3	-0.9	-2.6	8.3	11.9
	6000	5.1	9.6	4.9	0.7	-5.9	10.4	10.0	1.0
Cabotegravir	60	-5.4	-9.5	-10.3	-5.9	-12.9	-6.4	3.1	12.9
	600	2.8	5.0	10.1	5.0	8.2	9.8	14.4	13.6
	6000	6.2	6.8	6.3	7.3	6.4	7.1	12.5	13.4
Doravirine	60	-7.0	-6.2	-2.6	-6.4	-7.6	3.2	-8.9	-5.0
	600	-2.1	0.0	1.9	3.7	2.2	7.1	8.0	9.6
	6000	-3.0	3.9	4.0	0.0	0.5	2.7	-0.7	1.9
Rilpivirine	12	8.9	14.5	12.9	11.9	-2.1	10.5	-11.4	-5.3
	120	11.3	9.4	8.8	10.7	2.9	7.2	10.8	11.9
	1200	2.4	8.8	7.9	6.4	-0.3	1.9	5.4	2.1

Note. Data are reported as deviations (%) from concentration measured at t_0 . ^a60 min at 60°C in a water bath.



FIGURE 5 Chromatographic profile of a plasma from one HIV-infected individual receiving bictegravir 50 mg once daily (A) and from another patient receiving doravirine 100 mg once daily (B) [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

drug intake, and plasma concentration of bictegravir was 3351 \pm 340 ng/mL.

At present, 32 plasma samples from PLWH receiving bictegravir have been collected in our TDM service. The interpretation of these plasma concentrations was made possible thanks to the availability of a population pharmacokinetic model summarized in the European Public Assessment Report.^{47,48} Using the Tucuxi software^{49,50} developed by our service, the pharmacokinetic profile of bictegravir at steady state was simulated over the dosing interval, exploiting the reported intraindividual and interindividual variabilities. The 32 plasma concentrations determined using the proposed LC-MS/MS assay were compared with the simulated population pharmacokinetic profile to ascertain the expectedness of the result. As shown in Figure 6, 59% (n = 19) and 94% (n = 30) of the measured bictegravir plasma concentrations lied into the 50% and 95% prediction interval, respectively. This result demonstrates the ability of our LC-MS/MS methodology to quantify bictegravir and to replicate the manufacturer's findings regarding the rather large variability of plasma concentrations commonly observed in clinical practice.

In addition, the chromatographic profile of an HIV-infected individual receiving doravirine 100 mg once daily is shown in Figure 5B. Doravirine plasma concentration measured in this patient was 1139 \pm 124 ng/mL, 15 hours after the last drug intake.

Finally, the combination of LAI cabotegravir/rilpivirine, injected monthly, has been demonstrated as effective as the daily, oral, threedrug regimen in maintaining HIV virus suppression throughout a 48-week period.^{9,10,51} The LAI cabotegravir/rilpivirine formulation



FIGURE 6 Steady-state pharmacokinetic profile of bictegravir when administered at 50 mg once daily. Continuous green line represents the population median prediction. Dark green and light green shaded area represent the 50% and 90% prediction interval, respectively. Bictegravir plasma concentrations obtained from our therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) service in patients included in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study has been superimposed (black points) [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

(Cabenuva) is therefore currently being reviewed by the Food and Drug Administration. Once used in the clinical setting, it is anticipated that physicians will be asking for cabotegravir and rilpivirine levels measurement in patients on LAI cabotegravir/rilpivirine, for the monitoring of their plasma drug exposure in special clinical situations such as the initiation of treatments for inaugural diseases with definite risk of DDIs (tuberculosis, epilepsy, HCV infection, or cancer). Finally, although no clear correlation has been established between cabotegravir and rilpivirine plasma concentrations and the emergence of resistance during the phase 2 study LATTE-2,¹⁴ the management of failure of ARV drug remains crucial.⁵² This bioanalytical assay offers clinicians the possibility to closely monitor the plasma levels of cabotegravir and rilpivirine in the special instances where LAI-ARV drug needs to be stopped and switched to oral intake of ARV drugs.

4 | CONCLUSION

A sensitive and selective LC-MS/MS assay was developed and validated, enabling the simultaneous quantification in human plasma of four newly approved ARV agents, or ARV drugs at the latest phase of their development. Validation performances met international recommendations for bioanalytical assay and were achieved over a large validation domain that covers the plasma concentrations commonly observed in clinical practice. The method could be easily implemented for both clinical and research purposes. Our assay thus provides important information on the plasma levels of these latest generation ARV drugs in PLWH patients and constitutes a useful TDM tool for ascertaining that they are always exposed to suitable systemic drug exposure in the various clinical situations that do occur in the real-life conditions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (grant no. 324730-165956) for a comprehensive program on the clinical pharmacology of antiretroviral drugs within the frame of Swiss HIV Cohort Study.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No conflicts of interest to declare. M.C., outside of this study, has received through his institution research grant from ViiV, Gilead, and offered expert testimony for Abbvie, MSD, Gilead, and Sandoz. H.F.G., outside of this study, received unrestricted research grants from Gilead and Roche; fees for data and safety monitoring board membership from Merck; and consulting/advisory board membership fees from Merck, ViiV, and Gilead.

ORCID

Perrine Courlet b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9114-7793 Laurent Arthur Decosterd b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9840-1325

REFERENCES

1. Saag MS, Benson CA, Gandhi RT, et al. Antiretroviral drugs for treatment and prevention of HIV infection in adults: 2018 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society-USA Panel. JAMA. 2018;320(4):379-396.

- Byrd KK, Hou JG, Bush T, et al. Adherence and Viral Suppression Among Participants of the Patient-centered Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Care Model Project: A Collaboration Between Community-based Pharmacists and HIV Clinical Providers. *Infect Dis Soc Am.* 2020;70:789-797.
- Glass TR, Sterne JA, Schneider MP, et al. Self-reported nonadherence to antiretroviral therapy as a predictor of viral failure and mortality. *AIDS*. 2015;29(16):2195-2200.
- 4. Dolgin E. Long-acting HIV drugs advanced to overcome adherence challenge. *Nat Med.* 2014;20(4):323-324.
- 5. Mills A. The future of long-acting injectable ART: how will patients respond? 2020. Available from: https://www.clinicaloptions.com/hiv/clinicalthought?q&sortBy&sortOrder=asc&page=1.
- Ferretti F, Boffito M. Rilpivirine long-acting for the prevention and treatment of HIV infection. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*. 2018;13(4):300-307.
- Stellbrink HJ, Hoffmann C. Cabotegravir: its potential for antiretroviral therapy and preexposure prophylaxis. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*. 2018; 13(4):334-340.
- Cattaneo D, Gervasoni C. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cabotegravir, a long-acting HIV integrase strand transfer inhibitor. *Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*. 2019;44(3):319-327.
- Swindells S, Andrade-Villanueva JF, Richmond GJ, et al. Long-acting cabotegravir + rilpivirine as maintenance therapy: ATLAS week 48 results. CROI; 4-7 March; Seattle 2019.
- Orkin C, Arasteh K, Hernandez-Mora MG, et al. Long-acting cabotegravir + rilpivirine for HIV maintenance: FLAIR week 48 results. CROI; 4-7 March; Seattle 2019.
- The Janssen Pharmaceutical Companies of Johnson & Johnson. Janssen reports positive top-line phase 3 study results of investigational, long-acting injectable HIV treatment regimen administered every two months. 2019. Available from: https://www.drugs.com/ clinical_trials/janssen-reports-positive-top-line-phase-3-studyresults-investigational-long-acting-injectable-hiv-18243.html.
- Jackson AG, Else LJ, Mesquita PM, et al. A compartmental pharmacokinetic evaluation of long-acting rilpivirine in HIV-negative volunteers for pre-exposure prophylaxis. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2014;96(3): 314-323.
- 13. Landovitz RJ, Li S, Grinsztejn B, et al. Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of long-acting injectable cabotegravir in low-risk HIVuninfected individuals: HPTN 077, a phase 2a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS Med.* 2018;15(11):e1002690. [epub ahead of print]
- Margolis DA, Gonzalez-Garcia J, Stellbrink HJ, et al. Long-acting intramuscular cabotegravir and rilpivirine in adults with HIV-1 infection (LATTE-2): 96-week results of a randomised, open-label, phase 2b, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet*. 2017;390(10101):1499-1510.
- 15. Courlet P, Livio F, Guidi M, et al. Polypharmacy, drug-drug interactions, and inappropriate drugs: new challenges in the aging population with HIV. *Open Forum Infect Dis.* 2019;6(12):ofz531.
- 16. Stellbrink HJ, Arribas JR, Stephens JL, et al. Co-formulated bictegravir, emtricitabine, and tenofovir alafenamide versus dolutegravir with emtricitabine and tenofovir alafenamide for initial treatment of HIV-1 infection: week 96 results from a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet HIV*. 2019;6(6):e364e372.
- 17. Orkin C, Molina JM, Lombaard J, et al. Once-daily doravirine in HIV-1-infected, antiretroviral-naive adults: an integrated efficacy analysis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2019.
- Aouri M, Calmy A, Hirschel B, et al. A validated assay by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for the simultaneous quantification of elvitegravir and rilpivirine in HIV positive patients. *J Mass Spectrom.* 2013;48(5):616-625.
- 19. Burugula L, Pilli NR, Makula A, Lodagala DS, Kandhagatla R. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometric assay for the non-

nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor rilpivirine in human plasma. *Biomed Chromatogr: BMC.* 2013;27(2):172-178.

- 20. Parsons TL, Marzinke MA. Development and validation of a liquid chromatographic-tandem mass spectrometric method for the multiplexed quantification of etravirine, maraviroc, raltegravir, and rilpivirine in human plasma and tissue. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.* 2016; 131:333-344.
- Prathipati PK, Mandal S, Destache CJ. Development and validation of LC-MS/MS method for quantification of bictegravir in human plasma and its application to an intracellular uptake study. *Biomed Chromat*ogr: BMC. 2019;33(2):e4379.
- Gouget H, Noé G, Barrail-Tran A, Furlan V. UPLC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous quantification of bictegravir and 13 others antiretroviral drugs plus cobicistat and ritonavir boosters in human plasma. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2020;181:113057.
- Khalilieh S, Yee KL, Sanchez RI, et al. Evaluation of the pharmacokinetic interaction between doravirine and methadone. *Clin Pharmacol Drug Dev.* 2020;9(2):151-161.
- Ford SL, Gould E, Chen S, et al. Lack of pharmacokinetic interaction between rilpivirine and integrase inhibitors dolutegravir and GSK1265744. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013;57(11):5472-5477.
- European Medicines Agency. Guideline on bioanalytical method validation. 2011. Available from: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_ GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/2011/08/ WC500109686.pdf.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for industry: bioanalytical method validation. 2018. Available from: https://www. fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm368107.pdf.
- 27. Gallant JE, Thompson M, DeJesus E, et al. Antiviral activity, safety, and pharmacokinetics of bictegravir as 10-day monotherapy in HIV-1-infected adults. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;75(1): 61-66.
- Yee KL, Sanchez RI, Auger P, et al. Evaluation of doravirine pharmacokinetics when switching from efavirenz to doravirine in healthy subjects. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2017;61(2):e01757-16.
- Ter Heine R, Hillebrand MJ, Rosing H, et al. Quantification of the HIV-integrase inhibitor raltegravir and detection of its main metabolite in human plasma, dried blood spots and peripheral blood mononuclear cell lysate by means of high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.* 2009;49(2): 451-458.
- Jourdil JF, Bartoli M, Stanke-Labesque F. Lack of specificity for the analysis of raltegravir using online sample clean-up liquid chromatography-electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci.* 2009;877(29):3734-3738.
- Bonfiglio R, King RC, Olah TV, Merkle K. The effects of sample preparation methods on the variability of the electrospray ionization response for model drug compounds. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom*. 1999;13(12):1175-1185.
- Matuszewski BK, Constanzer ML, Chavez-Eng CM. Strategies for the assessment of matrix effect in quantitative bioanalytical methods based on HPLC-MS/MS. Anal Chem. 2003;75(13):3019-3030.
- Rozet E, Ceccato A, Hubert C, et al. Analysis of recent pharmaceutical regulatory documents on analytical method validation. *J Chromatogr* A. 2007;1158(1-2):111-125.
- Hubert P, Nguyen-Huu JJ, Boulanger B, et al. Harmonization of strategies for the validation of quantitative analytical procedures. A SFSTP proposal—part I. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2004;36(3):579-586.
- Chapuzet E, Mercier N, Bervoas-Martin S, et al. Méthodes chromatographiques de dosage dans les milieux biologiques: stratégie de validation - Rapport d'une commission SFSTP. STP Pharma Sci. 1997; 7:169-194.
- 36. Boulanger B, Chiap P, Dewe W, Crommen J, Hubert P. An analysis of the SFSTP guide on validation of chromatographic bioanalytical

methods: progress and limitations. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.* 2003; 32(4-5):753-765.

- Rozet E, Hubert C, Ceccato A, et al. Using tolerance intervals in prestudy validation of analytical methods to predict in-study results. The fit-for-future-purpose concept. *J Chromatogr A*. 2007;1158(1-2): 126-137.
- Hoffman D, Kringle R. A total error approach for the validation of quantitative analytical methods. *Pharm Res.* 2007;24(6):1157-1164.
- Feinberg M. Validation of analytical methods based on accuracy profiles. J Chromatogr A. 2007;1158(1-2):174-183.
- Viswanathan CT, Bansal S, Booth B, et al. Quantitative bioanalytical methods validation and implementation: best practices for chromatographic and ligand binding assays. *Pharm Res.* 2007;24(10):1962-1973.
- Feinberg M, Boulanger B, Dewe W, Hubert P. New advances in method validation and measurement uncertainty aimed at improving the quality of chemical data. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* 2004;380(3): 502-514.
- Gassner AL, Schappler J, Feinberg M, Rudaz S. Derivation of uncertainty functions from validation studies in biological fluids: application to the analysis of caffeine and its major metabolites in human plasma samples. J Chromatogr A. 2014;1353:121-130.
- McDougal JS, Martin LS, Cort SP, Mozen M, Heldebrant CM, Evatt BL. Thermal inactivation of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome virus, human T lymphotropic virus-III/lymphadenopathyassociated virus, with special reference to antihemophilic factor. *J Clin Invest*. 1985;76(2):875-877.
- Quinnan GV Jr, Wells MA, Wittek AE, et al. Inactivation of human Tcell lymphotropic virus, type III by heat, chemicals, and irradiation. *Transfusion*. 1986;26(5):481-483.
- Prathipati PK, Mandal S, Destache CJ. LC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous determination of tenofovir, emtricitabine, elvitegravir and rilpivirine in dried blood spots. *Biomed Chromatogr: BMC*. 2018; 32(9):e4270.

 Rudaz S, Feinberg M. From method validation to result assessment: established facts and pending questions. *Trends Anal Chem.* 2018; 105:68-74

S CTROMETRY-WILEY-

- Multi-discipline review. Biktarvy. 2017. Available from: https://www. accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/2018/ 210251Orig1s000MultidisciplineR.pdf.
- European Medicine Agency. Biktarvy assessment report. 2018. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/assessment-report/biktarvy-epar-public-assessment-report_en.pdf.
- 49. Tucuxi, your companion to make personalized drug treatments. Available from: http://www.tucuxi.ch/.
- Dubovitskaya A, Buclin T, Schumacher M, Aberer K, Thoma Y. TUCUXI–an intelligent system for personalized medicine: from individualization of treatments to research databases and back. ACM BMB; 20-23 August 2017.
- Fernandez C, van Halsema CL. Evaluating cabotegravir/rilpivirine long-acting, injectable in the treatment of HIV infection: emerging data and therapeutic potential. *HIV AIDS (Auckl)*. 2019;11:179-192.
- Gunthard HF, Calvez V, Paredes R, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus drug resistance: 2018 Recommendations of the International Antiviral Society-USA Panel. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2019;68(2):177-187.

How to cite this article: Courlet P, Alves Saldanha S, Cavassini M, et al. Development and validation of a multiplex UHPLC-MS/MS assay with stable isotopic internal standards for the monitoring of the plasma concentrations of the antiretroviral drugs bictegravir, cabotegravir, doravirine, and rilpivirine in people living with HIV. J Mass Spectrom. 2020; e4506. https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.4506

13 of 13

CHAPTER IV: POPULATION PHARMACOKINETIC ANALYSES

Chapter IV in the thesis context

The analytical method for the measurement of the most prescribed comedications in PLWH, or those with the highest risk of DDIs, once fully validated, was instrumental to conduct several clinical pharmacokinetics studies within the frame of the SHCS. The quantification of the magnitude of DDIs with ARVs drugs in the real-life situation (*i.e.* outside the stringent frame of controlled trials) has never been studied before and is therefore of definite interest for helping healthcare providers to manage appropriately DDIs that might result in drug toxicity or insufficient clinical response. The first section of this chapter focused on DDIs between ARV drugs and a central nervous system drug, since this therapeutic class is highly represented in both young and older PLWH. The following sections constitute direct applications of the developed methodology for the determination of cardiovascular drugs in plasma reported in chapter II.

In the first part of this chapter, pharmacokinetics of escitalopram was described for the first time in PLWH using population pharmacokinetic modelling. The influence of different covariates on drug concentrations in plasma were tested, with a focus on DDIs.

The second study describes the population pharmacokinetic profile of amlodipine in a real clinical setting. Since co-administration of amlodipine and boosted protease inhibitors have never been studied, the recommended half dosage when both drugs are coadministered is solely based on theoretical considerations and on DDI studies with other CYP3A4 inhibitors. In addition, no studies have reported the effect of coadministration of non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (which are known CYP3A4 inducers) on amlodipine disposition.

In the third study, population pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin (the major active metabolite) were described. The development of the model constituted a challenge because of the very high between-subject variability. Indeed, atorvastatin and its metabolite are substrates of CYP3A4 and of several drug transporters influenced by pharmacogenetic traits, and atorvastatin undergoes extensive first-pass and presystemic metabolism. We have therefore examined for the first time in the real life setting the influence of CYP3A4 and transporters inhibitors or inducers on atorvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin plasma exposures.

The fourth study describes a population pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) model that was developed for rosuvastatin plasma concentrations and non-HDL-cholesterol levels. Rosuvastatin PK/PD analyses have never been performed in a real clinical setting despite the fact that is highly prescribed in PLWH because of its lower potential for DDIs with ARV agents and its higher efficacy compared to other statins. PK/PD analyses of rosuvastatin are ongoing and still need to be refined. Finally, the last part of this chapter is a project performed in collaboration with another PhD student of our service, which aims at evaluating the impact of various clinical factors and DDIs on dolutegravir

disposition. Dolutegravir population pharmacokinetic profiles were derived based on data gathered from routine blood concentrations measurements within the frame of TDM in our hospital in nonselected patients, most of them taking part of SHCS.

For each of these models (*i.e.* escitalopram, amlodipine, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin and dolutegravir), model-based simulations were performed to compare drug disposition between ARV regimens or perpetrators of DDIs.

Own contribution: Clinical protocols writing and organisation. Samples collection, initial samples analyses by mass spectrometry, data management, population pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic modeling, analysis and interpretation of the data. Writing of the manuscript. Dolutegravir manuscript: help with pharmacokinetic analysis and interpretation of the data.

IV.1. Escitalopram population pharmacokinetics in people living with HIV and in the psychiatric population: drug-drug interactions and probability of target attainment.

Manuscript published in British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology

Revised: 15 May 2019

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Escitalopram population pharmacokinetics in people living with human immunodeficiency virus and in the psychiatric population: Drug-drug interactions and probability of target attainment

Perrine Courlet¹ I Monia Guidi^{1,2} | Anaïs Glatard^{1,3} | Susana Alves Saldanha¹ | Matthias Cavassini⁴ | Thierry Buclin¹ | Catia Marzolini⁵ | Chin B. Eap^{2,3} I Laurent A. Decosterd¹ I Chantal Csajka^{1,2} I the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

¹Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

² School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Geneva, University of Lausanne, Geneva, Switzerland

³ Unit of Pharmacogenetics and Clinical Psychopharmacology, Centre for Psychiatric Neuroscience, Department of Psychiatry, Hospital of Cery, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Prilly, Switzerland

⁴ Service of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

⁵Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel and University of Basel, Switzerland

Correspondence

Prof. Chantal Csajka, Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, CH-1011, Lausanne, Switzerland. Email: chantal.csajka@chuv.ch

Funding information

Schweizerischer Nationalfonds zur Förderung der Wissenschaftlichen Forschung, Grant/ Award Number: 324730-165956 **Aims:** The aims of this study were to characterize escitalopram pharmacokinetic profile, to identify factors influencing drug exposure, notably drug-drug interactions with antiretrovirals, and to simulate expected exposure under standard dosage regimen.

Methods: A population pharmacokinetic analysis was performed using NONMEM. A total of 159 plasma concentration measurements were obtained from 39 human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected and 71 uninfected psychiatric patients. The influence of age, weight, sex, HIV and psychiatric cohorts, racemic citalopram treatment, and comedications on oral clearance was examined. Simulations served to calculate the percentage of patients expected to be under- or over-exposed, considering established therapeutic targets (15–80 ng/mL).

Results: A 1-compartment model with first-order absorption and elimination described the data adequately. The average escitalopram clearance and volume of distribution were 23.1 L/h (interindividual variability 51%), and 920 L, respectively. Escitalopram disposition did not differ between HIV-infected and uninfected patients, and was not affected by antiretroviral treatments. Coadministration of at least 1 proton-pump inhibitor (CYP2C19 inhibitor) modestly influenced escitalopram elimination (clearance decreased by 19%), with limited clinical relevance. Model-based simulations showed that, under a standard regimen of 10 mg once daily, a significant proportion of patients (56%) might be under-exposed.

Conclusion: The variability in escitalopram disposition is large and poorly explained by demographic, clinical and environmental covariates, thus suggesting a role for dosage individualization based on therapeutic drug monitoring in case of poor clinical response. Escitalopram disposition is modestly impacted by comedications and therefore no a priori dosage adjustments are needed in patients receiving antiretroviral treatments, including boosted regimens.



KEYWORDS

pharmacokinetics, drug interactions < pharmacokinetics, HIV/AIDS < infectious diseases, NONMEM < pharmacodynamics

1 | INTRODUCTION

It is widely recognized that the rate of depression is higher in people living with human immunodeficiency virus (PLWH) than in the general population. The frequency of major depressive disorder is roughly 2 times higher in PLWH than in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)negative subjects, and up to 40–60% of HIV-individuals can report depressive symptoms.¹⁻³ As depression can play a key role in the treatment of HIV infection, affecting treatment adherence and thus efficacy, depressive symptoms deserve particular attention in this population.^{4,5} Among antidepressants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors are agents of choice in PLWH, like in other psychiatric patients, due to their good efficacy, safety, and tolerability.⁶

Escitalopram is the pharmacologically active S-enantiomer of the racemic selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor citalopram (*rac*-citalopram).⁷ The in vitro inhibition of serotonin uptake by escitalopram and its metabolite S-demethylcitalopram is 167 and 7 times more potent, respectively, than by the corresponding R-enantiomers.⁷ The disposition of escitalopram administered as 20 mg tablets was reported to be similar to 40 mg of *rac*-citalopram, confirming the bioequivalence of both forms.^{8,9} Although enantiospecificities related to their clearances were notified,^{10,11} both enantiomers are metabolized by the same cytochrome P450 isoenzymes (CYP): **CYP2C19** (37%), **CYP3A4** (35%), and **CYP2D6** (28%).¹² These metabolic pathways are at risk of drug-drug interactions (DDIs), especially with antiretroviral treatments (ARTs), which are among the therapeutic agents with the highest potential for DDIs.

Current consensus guidelines for therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) in neuropsychopharmacology recommend escitalopram trough plasma concentrations from 15 to 80 ng/mL as therapeutic reference range.¹³ The target of 15 ng/mL was defined as the minimal plasma concentration needed to reach a serotonin transporter occupancy of 80%, required to achieve therapeutic efficacy.^{14,15} The upper limit arises from the summary of product characteristics stating that escitalopram trough plasma concentrations expected under a dosage of 10 mg are 20-125 nmol/L (6.5-40 ng/mL). Considering linear pharmacokinetics, the expected concentration at the maximal dose of 20 mg once daily would be 40-250 nmol/L (13-80 ng/mL).¹¹ While data concerning the relationship between adverse events and escitalopram plasma concentrations are lacking, rac-citalopram and escitalopram demonstrate a dose-dependent QTc prolongation.¹⁶⁻¹⁹ They are among antidepressants with the highest risk of torsade de pointes.^{20,21} Overexposure could thus yield to an increased risk of QT prolongation and arrhythmias.²²

The aims of this observational study were: (i) to develop a population pharmacokinetic model for escitalopram in PLWH and uninfected psychiatric individuals; (ii) to identify sources of variability that could

What is already known about this subject

- Escitalopram pharmacokinetics has been previously investigated in several cohorts, reporting large interindividual variability, which could imply subtherapeutic exposure in some patients.
- Drug-drug interactions are likely to occur in human immunodeficiency virus- infected or psychiatric patients but, due to multiple elimination pathways of escitalopram, they have been reported to be of limited clinical relevance.

What this study adds

- Escitalopram disposition is modestly impacted by comedications and no a priori dosage adjustments are needed in patients treated with antiretroviral treatments including boosted regimens.
- Model-based simulations show that, under a standard dose of 10 mg once daily, 56% of patients might present escitalopram trough concentrations below the established therapeutic range of 15–80 ng/mL.

influence drug exposure, and notably to evaluate DDIs involving antiretroviral agents; and (iii) to simulate expected exposures under standard dosage regimen and compare them with the established therapeutic reference range.

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Study population

In the framework of a Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS) project (www. shcs.ch), we have launched a comprehensive analysis of relevant DDIs between ARTs and comedications frequently used. The study involves the systematic collection of samples along with the record of information for both HIV and non-HIV comedications during SHCS biannual follow-up visits in the HIV clinics at the University Hospitals of Lausanne and Basel. Escitalopram concentrations from 39 ART treated PLWH and receiving either *rac*-citalopram (n = 25 plasma concentrations), collected between January and December 2017, were included in the analysis. In addition, data from 71 uninfected psychiatric consenting patients were obtained from an ongoing pharmacogenetic study (PsyMetab, described elsewhere²³) or from patients included in the clinical

2023

follow-up (PsyClin) at the University Hospital of Lausanne. Psychiatric data were collected between June 2010 and December 2017 (PsyMetab) and between June 2010 and December 2015 (PsyClin). Due to the noninterventional posthoc analysis study design, no informed consent needed to be requested from the patients who had clinical follow-up (PsyClin). Both studies were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Canton of Vaud.

Exclusion criteria were undetectable escitalopram plasma concentrations, suggestive of nonadherence to treatment, and nonreliable time information about blood sampling or last dose intake (missing information or time after dose intake >30 h).

2.2 | Analytical method

Plasma level measurements were performed in the unit of pharmacogenetics and clinical psychopharmacology at the University Hospital Centre of Lausanne. Plasma samples obtained from PLWH were isolated by centrifugation and stored at -20° C until batch analysis. Plasma *rac*-citalopram levels were determined by a nonenantioselective LC– MS/MS methodology after protein precipitation with acetonitrile. The method showed acceptable repeatability (CV 1.6–4.3%) and intermediate precision (CV 3.7–8.2%). The lower limit of quantification of citalopram was 1 ng/mL.²⁴

2.3 | Model-based pharmacokinetics analysis

Escitalopram pharmacokinetics were analysed using the nonlinear mixed effect modelling (NONMEM) program (version 7.4.2, ICON Development Solutions, Ellicott City, MD, USA). According to manufacturer's specifications, the escitalopram dose of patients under rac-citalopram was set to half of the parent drug dose. Their plasma escitalopram concentrations were derived using the literature S/R enantiomer ratio of 0.45 of the total rac-citalopram concentrations,^{25,26} since the analytical method was not enantioselective. This ratio was confirmed by analysing escitalopram and rac-citalopram data simultaneously. Log-transformed escitalopram concentration-time data were eventually fitted using the first-order conditional estimation with interaction (FOCEI). PsN v4.2.0 was used for automation of various model development and evaluation methods, Pirana v2.9.2 to structure and document model development and R v3.3.1 (Rstudio v.1.1.423) for data management, statistical analysis and graphical output.27,28

2.3.1 | Basic model

To find the model that fitted the escitalopram data best, we tested different structural models including 1- or 2-compartments, with first- or zero-order absorption, and with or without absorption lag time. Escitalopram absorption parameters could not be properly estimated due to the paucity of data within a few hours after drug administration. We thus fixed the absorption rate constant value (k_a) to 0.8 h⁻¹, based on literature data reporting k_a values from 0.4 to 2 h⁻¹ and in accordance of T_{max} with the manufacturer's data.^{11,29-33}

COURLET ET AL.

The interindividual variability of pharmacokinetic parameters was estimated using the relationship $\theta j = \theta \times e^{\eta j}$, where θ_j is the individual parameter value of the jth individual, θ is the geometric average population value, and η_j is a between-subject random effect, assumed to follow a normal distribution with mean zero and variance ω^2 . Additive, proportional and mixed error models were tested to select the most appropriate residual error model.

The final base escitalopram model was applied on escitalopram and *rac*-citalopram raw data estimating a fixed effect for the S/R ratio, which was then compared to the literature value. Since the estimated value was similar to the published value, the model developed on escitalopram data was kept for further analyses.

2.3.2 | Covariate model

The impact of continuous (age, weight) and categorical covariates (HIV vs psychiatric cohort, difference in formulation (racemic vs isomer), sex and comedications) was first assessed graphically. All potential and physiologically plausible relationships were tested following a stepwise insertion/deletion approach. Since infectious diseases can affect drug pharmacokinetics, a dummy dichotomous covariate for HIV or psychiatric patients was used to test their influence on escitalopram apparent clearance (CL/F, F representing the bioavailability).^{34,35} Similarly, an indicator variable was assigned to patients receiving raccitalopram and tested on clearance to detect a potential difference in escitalopram clearance. Several studies demonstrated that the magnitude of DDIs with escitalopram was weak or moderate.^{36,37} As strong perpetrators influenced only moderately escitalopram exposure, the effect of weak perpetrators was supposed to be clinically nonsignificant and was therefore not included in the analysis. Since several studies have evaluated the effect of proton-pump inhibitors on escitalopram pharmacokinetics,^{38,39} they were included in the analysis as moderate CYP2C19 inhibitors.⁴⁰ Comedications including ARTs were classified as moderate CYP2C19 inhibitors (12% of the patients) or inducers (10%), strong CYP3A4 inhibitors (16%) or inducers (2%), strong CYP2D6 inhibitors (2%) as well as p-glycoprotein inhibitors (15%), according to the lists published by the Food and Drug Administration and the University Hospital of Geneva.41,42 The effect of receiving at least 1 perpetrator was first tested on clearance. Then, we evaluated the effect of the number of inhibitors of the same isoenzyme. Finally, the numbers of CYP inhibitors taken by each patient were added up to evaluate the effect of the inhibition of multiple metabolic pathways on escitalopram clearance. Covariates (continuous variables centred and normalized on their median value and categorical covariates being coded as indicator variables, as 0 or 1) were incorporated in the model, testing linear and nonlinear relationships. Missing values for weight (16% of the observations) were imputed to the population median value.

2.3.3 | Model selection

The criteria considered for model selection were log-likelihood ratio tests based on the reduction of the objective function value (Δ OFV

approximation of a χ^2 distribution for nested models), goodness-of-fit plots, precision of pharmacokinetic parameter estimates, and decrease in between-subject variability. In the base model building and in the forward inclusion of covariates, a decrease in OFV by more than 3.84 (*P* < .05) for 1 additional parameter was considered statistically significant. During the backward deletion step, a covariate was retained in the final multivariate model if its deletion from the full model led to a 7.88-point increase in the objective function (*P* < .005, 1 degree of freedom).

2.3.4 | Model evaluation

The stability and performance of the final population pharmacokinetic model were assessed by the bootstrap method using 2000 sampling with replacement. The final population pharmacokinetic model was fitted repeatedly to the bootstrapped samples and the median and 95% confidence intervals (Cl_{95%}) of each parameter were compared with the corresponding parameters obtained with the original dataset. The final model was also validated via prediction-corrected visual predictive check obtained from 1000 simulations of the database using the parameter values of the final population pharmacokinetic model.

2.3.5 | External validation

The established final model was externally validated using 149 additional samples collected from an independent group of 110 psychiatric individuals (among whom 2 were HIV-infected) followed routinely at the University Hospital of Lausanne between April 2008 and December 2015 (PsyClin). Escitalopram plasma concentrations were predicted by fixing the population parameters and the between- and within-subject variability to the final model estimates using post hoc Bayesian forecasting with the MAXEVAL = 0 option in NONMEM. The predictive performance of the model was assessed in terms of bias (mean prediction error MPE = $\exp\left(\frac{\sum Cpred - Cobs}{N}\right) - 1$ and precision (root mean square prediction error, RMSE = $\exp\left(\sqrt{\frac{\sum (Cpred - Cobs)^2}{N}}\right) - 1$ and the associated $Cl_{95\%}$, where C_{pred} are log-transformed population and individual predictions, C_{obs} the

observed concentrations of the validation group and N corresponds to the number of observations.⁴³

2.4 | Simulations of dosage regimens

Simulations were performed for 1000 individuals under several dosage regimens based on the final model estimates, including between- and within-subject variability. Predicted average escitalopram minimal concentration together with predicted 2.5 and 97.5 percentiles were calculated and compared across dosage regimens. The percentage of patients with trough concentrations within the recommended therapeutic interval served for dosage regimen comparisons.¹³

2.5 | Nomenclature of targets and ligands

Key protein targets and ligands in this article are hyperlinked to corresponding entries in http://www.guidetopharmacology.org, the common portal for data from the IUPHAR/BPS Guide to PHARMA-COLOGY,⁴⁴ and are permanently achieved in the Concise Guide to PHARMACOLOGY 2017/2018.⁴⁵

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Data

The median daily dose was 20 mg (range 5–20 mg) and 20 mg (10–40 mg) for escitalopram and *rac*-citalopram, respectively. Drugs were administered once (QD) or twice daily. A median of 1 sample per patient (range 1–2 for PLWH and 1–7 for uninfected psychiatric patients) of *rac*-citalopram or escitalopram was collected between 0.1 hours and 29 hours after the last dose intake (time after dose). As shown in Figure 1, data from PLWH were collected at unselected times after the last drug intake (38% of the concentrations were trough concentrations [time after dose >20 hours]) while data from psychiatric population were mostly trough concentrations (74%) to allow for TDM interpretation.

For the psychiatric cohort, dosage history was collected as part of the standard follow-up (PsyClin cohort) or within the PsyMetab study. Data about dosage modification or missing doses that occurred during the week before the blood sample of interest were included in the dataset, estimating that the steady state was not reached for these patients. Steady state was assumed for all PLWH due to the lack of dosage history in the HIV cohort.

3.2 | Basic and covariate models

A total of 159 plasma concentrations collected in 110 patients were available for the pharmacokinetic model development. Participant demographic and clinical characteristics of the model building and validation groups are summarized in Table 1. Eleven PLWH (28%) were treated with a protease inhibitor-based regimen and 15% with efavirenz or nevirapine, known to affect the activity of several CYP isoforms.

A 1-compartment model with first order absorption and elimination best described escitalopram pharmacokinetics. Models with zero-order absorption process or lag time absorption did not improve the model compared to first-order absorption, as well as the addition of a second compartment (Δ OFV > -3.4, P > .07). Average escitalopram CL/F and volume of distribution (V/F) were 22.5 L/h and 926 L respectively. Between-subject variability was assigned only on CL/F and was estimated to be 53%. The intersubject variability on V/F was very low and the addition of a variance-covariance matrix of the variability resulted in a decrease in the precision of the parameter estimates, so they were not included in the model. In log-scale, an

126



FIGURE 1 Observed escitalopram concentrations vs time after dose. Concentrations in people living with human immunodeficiency virus (full circles) and uninfected psychiatric patients (open circles) are shown. Dashed lines represent the therapeutic interval

TABLE 1	Demographic and clinic characteristics of the study
population	5

	n (%) or median [IQR]		
Characteristics	Model building group (n = 110)	Model validation group (n = 110)	Р
People living with HIV	39 (36)	2 (2)	<.001
Male sex	55 (50)	68 (62)	.103
Age (years)	48 [36-56]	46 [35-58]	.887
Body weight (kg)	77 [62-85]	69 [56-81]	.041
Missing data	19 (17)	15 (14)	
Comedications			
\geq 1 CYP3A4 strong inhibitor ^a	17 (16)	2 (2)	.001
\geq 1 CYP3A4 moderate inducer ^b	2 (2)	0	.477
\geq 1 CYP2C19 moderate inhibitor ^c	13 (12)	21 (19)	.192
\geq 1 CYP2C19 strong inducer ^d	11 (10)	1 (1)	.008
\geq 1 CYP2D6 strong inhibitor ^e	2 (2)	11 (10)	.022
\geq 1 P-glycoprotein strong inhibitor ^f	16 (15)	9 (8)	.202

^aatazanavir, cobicistat, darunavir, ritonavir.

^befavirenz.

^cesomeprazole, lansoprazole, omeprazole.

^dritonavir.

^ebupropion, haloperidol, levomepromazine.

^fcobicistat, haloperidol, lopinavir quetiapine, ritonavir.

Continuous variables were described by their medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) and compared between groups using the Mann-Whitney U or Wilcoxon tests. Categorical variables were described by proportions and compared with the χ^2 test.

additive model was selected to describe the residual error, and was estimated at 27%.

When simultaneously analysing escitalopram and *rac*-citalopram rough data, the S/R ratio was estimated at 0.47 (relative standard error 11%). This value was very close to the reported ratio of 0.45 shown by previous studies.^{25,26} The development and validation of the model was therefore pursued with the concentrations calculated using the S/R ratio of 0.45.

The coadministration of at least 1 CYP2C19 inhibitor, described by a proportional model, decreased escitalopram clearance by 19% and explained 4% of the original between-subject variability on CL/*F* (Δ OFV = -4.8, *P* = .03). Neither other CYP inhibitors or inducers, nor demographic covariates or the difference in formulation (racemic or isomer) showed any influence on escitalopram pharmacokinetics (Δ OFV > -3.049, *P* > .08). Extent of η -shrinkage was low (8% in the final model). The final model parameters and their precisions are presented in Table 2. Diagnostic plots of the final model showed good fit of the model to the observed data (Figure 2).

3.3 | Model validation

All the 2000 replicates analysed during the bootstrap analysis were included when calculating the bootstrap results. Model reliability was supported by all bootstrap median parameter estimates values contained within the $Cl_{95\%}$ (Table 2). All parameters differed by <6% from the population estimates. The prediction-corrected visual predictive check revealed an adequate description of the observed data: the observed concentrations were homogeneously distributed around the 50th percentile of simulated concentrations (Figure 3).

TABLE 2 Parameter estimates of the final escitalopram pharmaco-
kinetic model and bootstrap results.

	Final escitalopram pharmacokinetic model		Bootstrap (n = 2000) samples)
Parameters	Estimate	RSE (%)	Median	Cl _{95%}
CL/F (L/h)	23.1	6	23.0	20.1-26.2
V/F (L)	920	17	903	547-1294
k_a (h^{-1}) FIX	0.8			
$\theta_{CYP2C19 inh}$	-0.19	45	-0.20	-0.39 to -0.04
BSV _{CL/F} (%)	51	8	49	39-60
Additive residual error (%)	27	18	27	22-33

Cl_{95%}; 95% confidence interval; CL/F, apparent clearance; V/F, apparent volume of distribution; k_a, first-order absorption rate constant fixed to 0.8 h⁻¹; $\theta_{CYP2C19}$ inh, relative influence of CYP2C19 inhibitors on CL/F using a power function; BSV, between-subject variability defined as coefficient of variation (%); RSE, relative standard error defined as SE/estimate, with SE directly retrieved from NONMEM.



FIGURE 2 Goodness-of-fit plots of escitalopram final population pharmacokinetic model. Loess smooth curves of the ordinate values are printed in grey. (A) Log observed concentrations vs log individual predictions; line of identity is printed in black. (B) Log observed concentrations vs log population predictions; identity line is printed in black. (C) Conditional weighted residuals (CWRES) vs log population predictions; ordinate value zero is printed in black. (D) CWRES vs time postdose; ordinate value zero is printed in black.

3.4 | External validation

A total of 149 additional escitalopram concentrations from an independent group of psychiatric patients were included in the external model validation. Individual predicted concentrations agreed well with observed concentrations with a nonsignificant bias (MPE) of -1% (Cl_{95%} -4 to 2%). The precision (RMSE) was 21%, comparable to the model residual error.

3.5 | Simulations

We simulated escitalopram steady-state plasma concentrations for 1000 individuals with the recommended dosages from 10 to 20 mg QD, with and without coadministration of CYP2C19 inhibitors (Figure 4). Simulated median escitalopram minimal concentration (95% prediction interval) after 10 and 20 mg daily dose were 13.8 (3.2–43.6) and 27.6 (6.5–87.2) ng/mL, respectively, and 18.1 (4.7–55.1) and 36.2 (9.5–110.2) ng/mL when coadministered with CYP2C19 inhibitors. Accounting for the variability in escitalopram

clearance, 56% of patients receiving a standard regimen of 10 mg QD without CYP2C19 inhibitors had predicted trough concentrations below the suggested target of 15 ng/mL,¹³ whereas 18% are expected to be below target after 20 mg QD. These proportions would decrease to 38% and 9% in case of coadministration of a CYP2C19 inhibitor, following daily dosages of 10 and 20 mg, respectively. Following a daily dose of 10 mg, none of the patients would present trough concentrations above the upper limit of the therapeutic interval (80 ng/mL). Only a very limited proportion of patients (4 or 8% without or with coadministration of CYP2C19 inhibitors) would exceed it after the 20-mg QD dose.

4 | DISCUSSION

Our study provides a description of the population pharmacokinetic profile of escitalopram in a real patient setting in 2 cohorts of patients at risk of drug-drug interactions.

Our results are in good accordance with previously reported data. Escitalopram clearance and volume of distribution are close to

2027



FIGURE 3 Prediction-corrected visual predictive check of escitalopram final model. Open circles represent escitalopram plasma concentrations. The continuous line represents the population median prediction from the final model and the broken lines and shaded areas represent the 95% prediction intervals and corresponding 95% confidential intervals. PI, prediction interval

reported values of 25.5 and 22.1 L/h and of 1020, 947 and 1390 L, respectively.²⁹⁻³¹ Due to the paucity of data available within a few hours after drug administration, the escitalopram absorption phase could not be described. Previously published pharmacokinetic studies reported k_a values varying from 0.8 h⁻¹ to 3.6 h⁻¹, but most of them used values close to 0.8 h⁻¹.²⁹⁻³³ Moreover, this value is in line with the T_{max} of 4.5 hours reported in the summary of product characteristics.¹¹

None of the tested demographic covariates appeared to have a significant impact on escitalopram elimination. Escitalopram disposition did not differ between PLWH and uninfected psychiatric patients, indicating that HIV-infection does not affect escitalopram pharmacokinetics. Age was not significantly associated with a decrease in escitalopram elimination. Actually, our results suggested

128

a nonsignificant 14% decrease in escitalopram clearance every 20 years of age, which was less than previous estimations of a decrease by 30–42%.^{29,30} This might arise from our narrow age interquartile range (36–56 years) and the absence of extremes ages comparing to other studies, compromising our power to detect an effect of age. An influence of sex on the pharmacokinetics of *rac*-citalopram is controversial in the literature.^{29,46-49} A recent study showed that sex seems to affect only the disposition of the R-enantiomer, which could explain the absence of sex effect in our study.²⁹ Finally, several publications revealed an effect of CYP2C19 genotype on escitalopram exposure,^{29,30,50-52} but the lack of genotyping data in our study prevented the replication of these results.

Our results are consistent with earlier findings regarding the risk of DDIs between escitalopram and other treatments. Owing to the contribution of multiple CYPs in the metabolic pathways of escitalopram, impaired activity of any 1 of these isoforms due to DDIs or genetic polymorphism is unlikely to have a large effect on escitalopram clearance, as metabolism can still occur through unaffected routes.¹² The only variable causing a detectable, yet weak decrease in escitalopram clearance was the coadministration of CYP2C19 inhibitors. These comedications were all represented by proton-pump inhibitors. Although several publications already mentioned this interaction, its magnitude varies from weak to moderate.38,39,53 The decrease of 19% in escitalopram clearance when coadministered with at least 1 CYP2C19 inhibitor found in our study is in good agreement with a prediction based on theoretical considerations provided in the DDIpredictor tool.⁵⁴ Moreover, this value is close to the clearance increase reported in extensive or CYP2C19 rapid metabolizers,^{29,30} indicating that DDI with CYP2C19 inhibitors and CYP2C19 polymorphism could lead to similar pharmacokinetic consequences.

The risk of QT prolongation and torsade de pointes following escitalopram administration and the reported dose-response relationship with QT prolongation has raised concerns,⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ with escitalopram dosage limitations from the European medicines agency and the UK medicines and healthcare products regulatory agency, but not from the Food and Drug Administration.⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ Taking into account the large



FIGURE 4 Simulations of 2 dosage regimens, without and with CYP2C19 inhibitors. Dashed lines represent the therapeutic interval

between-subject variability in escitalopram exposure, the modest influence of CYP2C19 inhibitors is not expected to put patients at increased risk of QT prolongation. Still, the risk of QT prolongation could be potentiated in case of coadministration with medication presenting the same risk, and notably ARTs such as atazanavir, lopinavir or saquinavir.

A recently published study demonstrated that clinicians tend to overestimate the impact of the inhibitory effect of ritonavir/cobicistat, resulting in the use of too low doses of psychotropic drugs in PLWH due to fear of DDIs.⁶¹ While ARTs are indeed among therapeutic agents with the highest potential for DDIs,⁶² they did not appear to affect escitalopram exposure, confirming previous observations.^{36,37,63} The absence of effect of CYP3A4 inhibitors on escitalopram clearance is in good agreement with previous data showing a lack of effect of ketoconazole, a strong CYP3A4 inhibitor.⁶³ Furthermore, no influence of ritonavir, another strong inhibitor of CYP3A4, weak inhibitor of CYP2D6 and potent inducer of CYP2C19, was observed in healthy volunteers.36 The opposite strong inhibitory/inducing effects on CYP3A4 and CYP2C19 might compensate each other and thereby mitigate the magnitude of DDI. Our evaluation of the inhibition of multiple metabolic pathways did not reveal significant decrease in escitalopram clearance, probably due to the limited number of patients under such conditions. Only 1 PLWH received 2 CYP3A4 inhibitors in combination with 1 CYP2C19 inhibitor and 1 CYP2C19 inducer. His escitalopram clearance was decreased by 45% compared to patients without CYP2C19 inhibitors. This observation suggests that the inhibition of multiple elimination pathways might lead to a clinically relevant increase in escitalopram exposure. Lorenzini et al.⁶⁴ reported a serotonin syndrome following initiation of ritonavir-boosted darunavir and esomeprazole in a patient treated with escitalopram 10 mg twice daily. Investigations showed that this patient was a poor metabolizer of CYP2D6 and CYP2C19, resulting in a 13-fold increase in escitalopram concentrations. This case report indicates that clinically significant DDIs can occur when most metabolic pathways involved in escitalopram elimination are blocked, and that pharmacogenetics can impact the magnitude of DDIs.64

Escitalopram is also a substrate of P-gp in vitro.⁶⁵ No significant association was found between escitalopram clearance and coadministration of P-gp inhibitors, in agreement with a previously published study.⁶⁵ Although no effect is seen on systemic concentrations, P-gp modulators might still impact on the amount of escitalopram reaching the brain through the blood-brain barrier.

The median trough concentration simulated under 10 mg QD was in good agreement with the summary of product characteristics.¹¹ Our model predicted that about half of the patients receiving the recommended dose of 10 mg QD could be underexposed to escitalopram, considering the minimal therapeutic target of 15 ng/mL.¹³ This proportion decreased to 18% when increasing the dosage to 20 mg QD. This result is in agreement with a study demonstrating that escitalopram doses above 20 mg once daily could be clinically necessary in patients with major depressive disorders.⁶⁶ In addition, this may arise from the high proportion of individuals with the rapid metabolizer status in Europe and can not be generalized to the whole 2029

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL-

population.⁶⁷ By contrast, a small proportion of patients is expected to present trough concentrations above the upper limit of 80 ng/mL. However, the relationship between adverse events and escitalopram plasma concentrations is not clearly defined. Therefore, it should be noted that the decision to adjust the dose should be based not only on the attainment of therapeutic concentration targets, but also on the monitoring of clinical and psychiatric status, recognized as key criteria for antidepressant dosage adjustment.

This study suffers from some limitations that must be acknowledged. First, for patients receiving rac-citalopram, both enantiomers were administered simultaneously in 1 pill containing the racemic mixture (50/50) and plasma concentrations were analysed using a nonchiral methodology. Escitalopram plasma concentrations were therefore calculated using a S/R ratio of 0.45,²⁵ constituting a limitation of our study. Although discordances exist concerning the value of S/R ratio, several studies showed a S/R ratio <1, meaning that enantiomers of citalopram may be metabolized at different rates.^{10,29,68} The use of a fixed ratio supposes the absence of between-subject variability on rac-citalopram enantiospecific metabolism. Our findings supported an S/R ratio of 0.45 when simultaneously analyzing escitalopram and rac-citalopram data. Of note, we could not estimate between-subject variability because of few patients receiving rac-citalopram. However, in-house studies demonstrated that between-subject variability can affect S/R ratios, with a coefficient of variation of 33%. Proper enantiomers pharmacokinetics comparison would require separate measurement of both R- and S-citalopram. Another limitation is that only 1 sample for escitalopram concentration determination was available in most patients, thus limiting our capacity to well differentiate inter- from intrasubject variability, although n-shrinkage value appeared acceptable. Finally, the weak number of patients receiving several CYP inhibitors prevented the estimation of the effect of the inhibition of multiple pathways on escitalopram pharmacokinetics.

In conclusion, this pharmacokinetic model confirmed that escitalopram exhibits important between-subject variability. Simulations revealed that the standard 10 mg once-daily regimen may lead to trough concentrations below the established therapeutic target of 15 ng/mL, with a risk of suboptimal antidepressant efficacy. Dosage adjustment may benefit from both TDM and monitoring of clinical efficacy and tolerability, taking into account other risks factors for QT prolongation, especially in elderly patients. These results emphasize the importance of TDM under specific conditions, such as therapeutic failure or suspected DDIs, for a proper individualization of dosing regimens. This study finally brings reassuring data concerning the risk of DDIs between escitalopram and others medications, including ARTs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank the patients who have agreed to participate to the study, and the following persons for their invaluable help and implication in blood samples collection, as study physicians, study coordinator and study nurse: Alves Deolinda, Waelti Da Costa Vreneli, 2030 BICP BITISH PHARMACOLOGIC

Mitouassiwou-Samba Alexandra, Sormani Valérie, Jacques Herrgott, Daniel Ducraux, Didier Wrobel, Marco Di Camillo, Yoann Levet, Charlotte Leon, Sabrina Kormann, Hugo Correia Da Rocha Capela, Justine Brea, Olivier Lafoy, Valentin Monnier, Boris Pourre and Mélanie Lenzi. The author are grateful to the service of Valorisation des données et des échantillons and Levier Axel, who were involved in data extraction. We thank Sylvain Goutelle for his instructive and helpful comments. This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant N° 324730–165956) for a comprehensive program on the clinical pharmacology of antiretroviral drugs within the frame of Swiss HIV Cohort Study.

COMPETING INTERESTS

There are no competing interests to declare.

CONTRIBUTORS

P.C. performed the population pharmacokinetic analyses, interpreted the data and drafted the manuscript. M.G. supervised the pouplation pharmacokinetic analyses and reviewed the manuscript. C.C. supervised the population pharmacokinetic work. L.A.D. was the principal investigator of the study proposal and reviewed the manuscript. A.G. contributed to the mathematical evaluation. SA participated in data collection. C.B.E. supervised the bioanalytical data analysis. M.C., C.M., T.B. and C.B.E. brought their clinical expertise to interpret the results and reviewed the manuscript.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to privacy or ethical restrictions.

ORCID

Perrine Courlet ⁽¹⁾ https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9114-7793 Chin B. Eap ⁽¹⁾ https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5439-0230 Laurent A. Decosterd ⁽¹⁾ https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9840-1325 Chantal Csajka ⁽¹⁾ https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0660-082X

REFERENCES

- Ciesla JA, Roberts JE. Meta-analysis of the relationship between HIV infection and risk for depressive disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 2001;158(5):725–730.
- Eller LS, Bunch EH, Wantland DJ, et al. Prevalence, correlates, and selfmanagement of HIV-related depressive symptoms. *AIDS Care*. 2010;22(9):1159–1170.
- Bhatia MS, Munjal S. Prevalence of depression in people living with HIV/AIDS undergoing ART and factors associated with it. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014;8(10):WC01–WC04.
- Starace F, Ammassari A, Trotta MP, et al. Depression is a risk factor for suboptimal adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2002;31(Suppl 3):S136–S139.
- 5. Tucker JS, Burnam MA, Sherbourne CD, Kung FY, Gifford AL. Substance use and mental health correlates of nonadherence to

antiretroviral medications in a sample of patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Am J Med. 2003;114(7):573–580.

- Caballero J, Nahata MC. Use of selective serotonin-reuptake inhibitors in the treatment of depression in adults with HIV. Ann Pharmacother. 2005;39(1):141–145.
- Hyttel J, Bogeso KP, Perregaard J, Sanchez C. The pharmacological effect of citalopram residues in the (S)-(+)-enantiomer. J Neural Transm Gen Sect. 1992;88(2):157–160.
- Drewes P, Thijssen I, Mengel H. A single-dose, cross-over pharmacokinetic study comparing racemic citalopram (40 mg) with the S-enantiomer of citalopram (escitalopram, 20 mg) in healthy male volunteers. Annual Meeting of the New clinical Data Evaluation Unit; May 29–June 1; Phoenix, USA.2001.
- Lundbeck. Information de base, Cipralex 2006. Available from: http:// www.cipralex.ch/pdf/basis_f.pdf. Accessed December 11, 2018.
- Sidhu J, Priskorn M, Poulsen M, Segonzac A, Grollier G, Larsen F. Steady-state pharmacokinetics of the enantiomers of citalopram and its metabolites in humans. *Chirality*. 1997;9(7):686–692.
- Swissmedic. Information Sur le médicament. [Available from: http:// www.swissmedicinfo.ch/. Accessed December 6, 2017.
- von Moltke LL, Greenblatt DJ, Giancarlo GM, Granda BW, Harmatz JS, Shader RI. Escitalopram (S-citalopram) and its metabolites in vitro: cytochromes mediating biotransformation, inhibitory effects, and comparison to R-citalopram. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2001;29(8): 1102–1109.
- Hiemke C, Bergemann N, Clement HW, et al. Consensus guidelines for therapeutic drug monitoring in neuropsychopharmacology: update 2017. *Pharmacopsychiatry*. 2018;51(1–02):9–62.
- Lundberg J, Christophersen JS, Petersen KB, Loft H, Halldin C, Farde L. PET measurement of serotonin transporter occupancy: a comparison of escitalopram and citalopram. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2007;10(6):777–785.
- Meyer JH, Wilson AA, Sagrati S, et al. Serotonin transporter occupancy of five selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors at different doses: an [11C]DASB positron emission tomography study. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2004;161(5):826–835.
- Hasnain M, Howland RH, Vieweg WV. Escitalopram and QTc prolongation. J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2013;38(4):E11.
- Isbister GK, Page CB. Drug induced QT prolongation: the measurement and assessment of the QT interval in clinical practice. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;76(1):48–57.
- Friberg LE, Isbister GK, Duffull SB. Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modelling of QT interval prolongation following citalopram overdoses. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2006;61(2):177–190.
- van Gorp F, Duffull S, Hackett LP, Isbister GK. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of escitalopram in overdose and the effect of activated charcoal. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2012;73(3):402–410.
- 20. Food and Drug Administration. FDA drug safety communication: revised recommendations for Celexa (citalopram hydrobromide) related to a potential risk of abnormal heart rhythms with high doses. 2012.
- CredibleMeds. University of Arizona centres for Education & Research on therapeutics (AZCERT). [Available from: https://www.crediblemeds. org/. Accessed December 7, 2017.
- 22. Citalopram and escitalopram: QT interval prolongation. New maximum daily dose restrictions (including in elderly patients), contra-indications, and warnings. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/drug-safety-update/citalopram-and-escitalopram-qt-interval-prolongation, (2011). Accessed February 16, 2018.

- 23. Choong E, Quteineh L, Cardinaux JR, et al. Influence of CRTC1 polymorphisms on body mass index and fat mass in psychiatric patients and the general adult population. *JAMA Psychiat*. 2013;70(10): 1011–1019.
- 24. Ansermot N, Brawand-Amey M. Eap CB. Simultaneous quantification of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and metabolites in human plasma by liquid chromatography-electrospray mass spectrometry for therapeutic drug monitoring. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomedic Life Sci. 2012;885-886:117–130.
- Nikisch G, Eap CB, Baumann P. Citalopram enantiomers in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid of ABCB1 genotyped depressive patients and clinical response: a pilot study. *Pharmacol Res.* 2008;58(5–6):344–347.
- Tanum L, Strand LP, Refsum H. Serum concentrations of citalopramdose-dependent variation in R- and S-enantiomer ratios. *Pharmacopsychiatry*. 2010;43(5):190–193.
- Lindbom L, Pihlgren P, Jonsson EN. PsN-toolkit--a collection of computer intensive statistical methods for non-linear mixed effect modeling using NONMEM. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed*. 2005;79(3):241–257.
- Keizer RJ, van Benten M, Beijnen JH, Schellens JH, Huitema AD. Pirana and PCluster: a modeling environment and cluster infrastructure for NONMEM. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed.* 2011;101(1): 72–79.
- Akil A, Bies RR, Pollock BG, et al. A population pharmacokinetic model for R- and S-citalopram and desmethylcitalopram in Alzheimer's disease patients with agitation. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn. 2016;43(1):99–109.
- Jin Y, Pollock BG, Frank E, et al. Effect of age, weight, and CYP2C19 genotype on escitalopram exposure. J Clin Pharmacol. 2010;50(1): 62–72.
- Jin Y, Pollock BG, Frank E, et al. The effect of reporting methods for dosing times on the estimation of pharmacokinetic parameters of escitalopram. J Clin Pharmacol. 2009;49(2):176–184.
- Rao N. The clinical pharmacokinetics of escitalopram. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2007;46(4):281–290.
- 33. Shin K, Kim E, Kim S, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of escitalopram in healthy volunteers. Annual Meeting of the Population Approach Group in Europe; Venice2012.
- 34. Morgan ET. Impact of infectious and inflammatory disease on cytochrome P450-mediated drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2009;85(4):434–438.
- Morgan ET, Goralski KB, Piquette-Miller M, et al. Regulation of drugmetabolizing enzymes and transporters in infection, inflammation, and cancer. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2008;36(2):205–216.
- Gutierrez MM, Rosenberg J, Abramowitz W. An evaluation of the potential for pharmacokinetic interaction between escitalopram and the cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibitor ritonavir. *Clin Ther.* 2003;25(4): 1200–1210.
- 37. Siccardi M, Marzolini C, Seden K, et al. Prediction of drug-drug interactions between various antidepressants and efavirenz or boosted protease inhibitors using a physiologically based pharmacokinetic modelling approach. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2013;52(7):583–592.
- Gjestad C, Westin AA, Skogvoll E, Spigset O. Effect of proton pump inhibitors on the serum concentrations of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors citalopram, escitalopram, and sertraline. *Ther Drug Monit*. 2015;37(1):90–97.
- Malling D, Poulsen MN, Sogaard B. The effect of cimetidine or omeprazole on the pharmacokinetics of escitalopram in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2005;60(3):287–290.

- Shirasaka Y, Sager JE, Lutz JD, Davis C, Isoherranen N. Inhibition of CYP2C19 and CYP3A4 by omeprazole metabolites and their contribution to drug-drug interactions. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2013;41(7): 1414–1424.
- 41. Service de pharmacologie et toxicologie cliniques, Hôpitaux Universitaires de Genève. Interactions médicamenteuses, cytochromes P450 et P-glycoprotéine (Pgp). Available from: https://www.hug-ge. ch/sites/interhug/files/structures/pharmacologie_et_toxicologie_ cliniques/a5_cytochromes_6_2.pdf. Accessed August 7, 2017.
- 42. Food and Drug Administration. Drug development and drug interactions: table of substrates, inhibitors and inducers. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/developmentapprovalprocess/ developmentresources/druginteractionslabeling/ucm093664.htm. Accessed December 20, 2017.
- Sheiner LB, Beal SL. Some suggestions for measuring predictive performance. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm. 1981;9(4):503–512.
- 44. Harding SD, Sharman JL, Faccenda E, et al. The IUPHAR/BPS Guide to PHARMACOLOGY in 2018: updates and expansion to encompass the new guide to IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY. *Nucl Acids Res.* 2018;46(D1):D1091–D1106.
- Alexander SPH, Fabbro D, Kelly E, et al. The Concise Guide to PHAR-MACOLOGY 2017/18: Enzymes. Br J Pharmacol. 2017;174(Suppl 1): S272-S359.
- 46. de Mendonca Lima CA, Baumann P, Brawand-Amey M, et al. Effect of age and gender on citalopram and desmethylcitalopram steady-state plasma concentrations in adults and elderly depressed patients. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2005;29(6):952–956.
- Reis M, Lundmark J, Bengtsson F. Therapeutic drug monitoring of racemic citalopram: a 5-year experience in Sweden, 1992-1997. Ther Drug Monit. 2003;25(2):183–191.
- Bies RR, Feng Y, Lotrich FE, et al. Utility of sparse concentration sampling for citalopram in elderly clinical trial subjects. J Clin Pharmacol. 2004;44(12):1352–1359.
- Sogaard B, Mengel H, Rao N, Larsen F. The pharmacokinetics of escitalopram after oral and intravenous administration of single and multiple doses to healthy subjects. J Clin Pharmacol. 2005;45(12): 1400–1406.
- Rudberg I, Mohebi B, Hermann M, Refsum H, Molden E. Impact of the ultrarapid CYP2C19*17 allele on serum concentration of escitalopram in psychiatric patients. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2008;83(2):322–327.
- Chang M, Tybring G, Dahl ML, Lindh JD. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphisms on citalopram/escitalopram exposure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2014;53(9): 801–811.
- Ji Y, Schaid DJ, Desta Z, et al. Citalopram and escitalopram plasma drug and metabolite concentrations: genome-wide associations. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;78(2):373–383.
- Rocha A, Coelho EB, Sampaio SA, Lanchote VL. Omeprazole preferentially inhibits the metabolism of (+)-(S)-citalopram in healthy volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2010;70(1):43–51.
- Tod M, Goutelle S, Bourguignon L, Bleyzac N. DDI-predictor. Available from: https://www.ddi-predictor.org/. Accessed December 7, 2017.
- Castro VM, Clements CC, Murphy SN, et al. QT interval and antidepressant use: a cross sectional study of electronic health records. *BMJ*. 2013;346:f288.
- 56. Kim A, Lim KS, Lee H, et al. A thorough QT study to evaluate the QTc prolongation potential of two neuropsychiatric drugs, quetiapine and escitalopram, in healthy volunteers. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol.* 2016;31(4):210–217.

2031

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL

- Lozano R, Bibian C, Quilez RM, Gil J, Constante Y, Garcia-Arilla E. Clinical relevance of the (S)-citalopram-omeprazole interaction in geriatric patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;77(6):1086–1087.
- 58. European Medicine Agency. Pharmacovigilance working party (PhVWP). Escitalopram – risk of QT interval prolongation. 2011. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/documents/report/monthlyreport-pharmacovigilance-working-party-phvwp-november-2011-plenary-meeting_en.pdf. Accessed October 25, 2018.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Citalopram and escitalopram: QT interval prolongation. 2011. Available from: https:// www.gov.uk/drug-safety-update/citalopram-and-escitalopram-qt-interval-prolongation. Accessed October 25, 2018.
- 60. US Food and Drug Administration. FDA drug safety communication: revised recommendations for Celexa (citalopram hydrobromide) related to a potential risk of abnormal heart rhythms with high doses. 2012. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm297391. htm. Accessed October 25, 2018.
- Cattaneo D, Baldelli S, Resnati C, et al. Evaluation of the concentrations of psychotropic drugs in HIV-infected versus HIV-negative patients: potential implications for clinical practice. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2018;n/a:1–7.
- Barry M, Mulcahy F, Merry C, Gibbons S, Back D. Pharmacokinetics and potential interactions amongst antiretroviral agents used to treat patients with HIV infection. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 1999;36(4):289–304.
- Gutierrez M, Abramowitz W. Lack of effect of a single dose of ketoconazole on the pharmacokinetics of citalopram. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2001;21(2):163–168.

- 64. I Lorenzini K, Calmy A, Ambrosioni J, et al. Serotonin syndrome following drug-drug interactions and CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genetic polymorphisms in an HIV-infected patient. *AIDS*. 2012;26(18): 2417–2418.
- 65. O'Brien FE, O'Connor RM, Clarke G, Dinan TG, Griffin BT, Cryan JF. P-glycoprotein inhibition increases the brain distribution and antidepressant-like activity of escitalopram in rodents. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 2013;38(11):2209–2219.
- 66. Wade AG, Crawford GM, Yellowlees A. Efficacy, safety and tolerability of escitalopram in doses up to 50 mg in major depressive disorder (MDD): an open-label, pilot study. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2011;11(1):42.
- Zhou Y, Ingelman-Sundberg M, Lauschke VM. Worldwide distribution of cytochrome P450 alleles: a meta-analysis of population-scale sequencing projects. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2017;102(4):688–700.
- Herrlin K, Yasui-Furukori N, Tybring G, Widen J, Gustafsson LL, Bertilsson L. Metabolism of citalopram enantiomers in CYP2C19/CYP2D6 phenotyped panels of healthy swedes. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;56(4):415–421.

How to cite this article: Courlet P, Guidi M, Glatard A, et al. Escitalopram population pharmacokinetics in people living with human immunodeficiency virus and in the psychiatric population: Drug-drug interactions and probability of target attainment. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2019;85:2022-2032. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.13994</u>

COURLET ET AL.

IV.2. Population pharmacokinetic modelling to quantify the magnitude of drug-drug interactions between amlodipine and antiretroviral drugs.

Perrine Courlet¹, Monia Guidi^{1,2,3}, Susana Alves Saldanha¹, Matthias Cavassini⁴, Marcel Stoeckle⁵, Thierry Buclin¹, Catia Marzolini⁵, Laurent A. Decosterd¹, Chantal Csajka^{2,3,6} and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study.

¹Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

²Centre for Research and Innovation in Clinical Pharmaceutical Sciences, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

³Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Western Switzerland, University of Geneva, University of Lausanne, Geneva, Switzerland

⁴Service of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

⁵Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel and University of Basel, Switzerland

⁶School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

Manuscript in preparation

IV.2.1. Abstract

Background and objectives

Drug-drug interactions (DDIs) with antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) constitutes an important issue in elderly people living with HIV (PLWH). Amlodipine is a highly prescribed antihypertensive drug metabolized by CYP3A4, thus predisposed to the risk of DDIs. Guidance on the management of DDIs is mostly based on theoretical considerations or derived from coadministration with other CYP3A4 inhibitors. This study aimed at characterizing the magnitude of DDIs between amlodipine and ARV drugs in order to establish dosing recommendations.

Methods

A population pharmacokinetic analysis was developed using non-linear mixed effect modelling (NONMEM) and included 163 amlodipine concentrations from 55 PLWH. Various structural and error models were compared to characterize adequately the concentration-time profile of amlodipine. Demographic and clinical characteristics as well as comedications were tested as potential influential covariates. Model-based simulations were performed to compare amlodipine exposure (*i.e.* area under the curve) between coadministered ARV drugs.

<u>Results</u>

Amlodipine concentration-time profile was best described using a one-compartment model with firstorder absorption and a lag-time. Amlodipine apparent clearance was influenced by CYP3A4 inhibitors and efavirenz (CYP3A4 inducer). These covariates explained 48% of the variance on clearance. Modelbased simulations revealed that amlodipine area under the curve was increased by 96% when coadministered with CYP3A4 inhibitors while efavirenz decreased drug exposure by 59%.

Conclusion

Coadministered ARV drugs significantly contributed to the variability in amlodipine disposition in PLWH. Clinicians should adjust amlodipine dosage accordingly, by initiating a half-dosage in PLWH receiving ARV with inhibitory properties, whereas amlodipine dose should be doubled when coadministered with efavirenz, with monitoring of clinical response and adverse reactions.

IV.2.2. Introduction

The advent of antiretroviral therapy (ARVs) in the 1990's has revolutionized HIV care, now considered as a manageable chronic condition. Meanwhile, the management of HIV-infection is becoming more challenging, with an ageing HIV-infected population affected by physiological changes and age-related comorbidities. People living with HIV (PLWH) are predisposed to the risk of polypharmacy, thus increasing the burden of drug-drug interactions (DDIs). Indeed, ARV drugs are part of the therapeutic agents with the higher potential for DDIs due to the inhibition or induction of several cytochromes P450 (CYP) isoforms.

Despite its predisposition to be victim of DDIs with ARV drugs, amlodipine is a calcium channel blocker commonly prescribed in PLWH. It is predominantly metabolized by CYP3A4/5 [1, 2] leading to potential DDIs with strong CYP3A4 inhibitors such as darunavir/ritonavir, or with inducers such as efavirenz. However, the magnitude of DDIs with ARV drugs remained to be explored. Although the simple monitoring of blood pressure allow the evaluation of the clinical response to amlodipine, the knowledge of the magnitude of DDIs could help clinicians to adjust drug dosage regarding the associated ARV drugs. The product information label of amlodipine mentions an increase in amlodipine exposure (+60%) in presence of diltiazem, a CYP3A4 inhibitor [3]. The label also indicates that a more pronounced increase is expected with other strong inhibitors like ritonavir without neither further detail on the magnitude of the interaction nor guidance on how to adjust amlodipine dosage. Moreover, DDIs between amlodipine and several antiviral agents for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C infection or old ARV drug (e.g. ritonavir-boosted indinavir, which is no longer prescribed) have been evaluated using non-compartmental analyses [1, 4]. Authors demonstrated a 2-fold increase in amlodipine exposure when coadministered with these drugs, suggesting that a half dosage should be prescribed in individuals receiving such regimens. However, available data on DDIs are mostly collected in healthy young volunteers and therefore may not reflect the complex situation in a real-life clinical setting.

Published population pharmacokinetic (PK) models investigate amlodipine clearance in different populations (*i.e.* healthy volunteers, children, adolescents, patients living in nursing homes) and identified body weight, gender and age as the most important factors beyond pharmacokinetic heterogeneity [5-9]. However, to our knowledge, no population PK models have been developed in PLWH.

The objectives of this study were to develop a population PK model of amlodipine in aging PLWH and to perform model-based simulations to compare amlodipine exposure between concomitantly prescribed ARV regimens, thus allowing the establishment of dosage recommendations.

IV.2.3. Methods

IV.2.3.1. Study design and participants

Plasma samples collected in PLWH from Lausanne and Basel enrolled in our prospective Swiss HIV Cohort study project #815 designed to evaluate clinically significant DDIs between ARVs and frequently prescribed comedications were included in the analysis. In addition, PLWH participating in the pharmacokinetic study NCT03515772 (registered in clinicaltrials.gov) contributed with intensive sampling. Undetectable amlodipine plasma concentrations, suggestive of non-adherence to treatment, or missing information about drug administration or sampling times or unclear dose schedule were excluded from the analysis. For all PLWH, age, bodyweight, gender, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase (ASAT), alanine aminotransferase (ALAT), albumin), creatinine clearance (calculated with the Cockroft and Gault formula [10]), and comedications (HIV and non-HIV medications) were recorded.

IV.2.3.2. Plasma concentrations determination

All blood samples were collected and centrifuged in EDTA-containing tubes. Plasma samples were stored at -80 °C until batch analysis by an ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC–MS/MS) methodology [11]. Plasma samples were subjected to protein precipitation with methanol, followed by evaporation at room temperature under nitrogen of the supernatant. Lower limit of quantification was 0.3 ng/mL, well below trough concentrations commonly observed in clinical practice.

IV.2.3.3. Model-based pharmacokinetic analysis

Structural and error model

A population PK analysis was performed using non-linear mixed effect modelling (NONMEM version 7.3, ICON Development Solutions, Ellicott City, MD, USA) to characterize amlodipine concentrationtime profile in PLWH. PsN v4.2.0 was used for automation of various model development and evaluation methods, Pirana v2.9.2 to structure model development and R v3.3.1 (Rstudio v.1.1.423) for data management, statistical analysis and graphical output [12, 13]. One- and two-compartment models were compared while evaluating the absorption phase by several models: zero-, first-order or mixed model absorption, with or without lag-time, or transit compartments models. Between subject variability (BSV) was described by exponential errors following a log-normal distribution with mean zero and variance ω^2 . Several error model (*i.e.* proportional, additive and mixt) were tested to describe the residual variability.

Covariate model

First, visual inspection of the correlation between post hoc individual estimates of the PK parameters and the available biologically plausible covariates was carried out. Covariates considered as potentially influent were then sequentially included into the model using a stepwise insertion/deletion approach. ARV drugs were classified as moderate CYP3A4 inhibitors (*i.e.* ritonavir-boosted darunavir, cobicistatboosted darunavir, ritonavir-boosted atazanavir, cobicistat-boosted elvitegravir) or moderate inducers (*i.e.* efavirenz, etravirine), according to the lists published by the FDA [14] and the paper of Molto *et al.* [15]. The effect of the weaker CYP3A4 inducers nevirapine was also tested. Linear or nonlinear functions were used as appropriate (categorical variables coded as 0 and 1 and continuous variables centered on their median values). Missing values for continuous covariates were imputed to the population median value.

Model selection and parameter estimation

Amlodipine concentration-time profiles were fitted using the first-order conditional estimation (FOCE) method with interaction. Discrimination between hierarchical models was based on the variation on the objective function value (Δ OFV, (-2 log likelihood, approximate Chi-square distribution) using the log-likelihood ratio test. For one additional parameter, a decrease of the Δ OFV exceeding 3.84 (p<0.05) or 6.63 (p<0.01) was considered statistically significant during the model building and backward deletion steps, respectively. Reliability of the results was evaluated using diagnosis plots, along with precision of the estimation of pharmacokinetic parameters and eta-shrinkage.

Model evaluation and assessment

The bootstrap method implemented in PsN was employed to validate the stability and performance of the final population PK model, using 2000 bootstrap sampling with replacement [12]. Median parameter values with their 95% confidence interval (Cl_{95%}) generated with the bootstrap method were compared with the original model estimates. The predictive performance of the final pharmacokinetic model was evaluated with the normalized prediction distribution errors (NPDEs). In addition, prediction-corrected visual predictive check (pcVPC) was performed.

Model-based simulations

Amlodipine maximum (C_{max}) and trough concentrations (C_{trough}), along with area under the curve from time 0 to 24h (AUC₀₋₂₄) were computed in 1000 simulated PLWH per different ARV regimen (CYP3A4 inhibitors, efavirenz or ARVs devoid of interaction potential with amlodipine). Average C_{max} , C_{trough} and AUC₀₋₂₄ between ARV groups were compared using the Mann-Withney test.

IV.2.4. Results

IV.2.4.1. Data

A total of 163 amlodipine concentrations were available from 55 PLWH, eight of whom participated in the PK study with rich sampling and provided 84 concentrations. PLWH in the SHCS#815 project provided a median (range) of one sample (1 to 3) while the median was 11 (8 to 11) for individuals included in the rich PK study. Amlodipine was administered at a dose ranging from 2.5 to 10 mg once daily. Three PLWH had amlodipine at the dosage of 5 mg twice daily. The measured plasma concentrations varied from 0.4 to 70 ng/mL. Since dosage history was not recorded during the studies, steady state was assumed for all PLWH. Characteristics of the study population are presented in table

Patients' Characteristics (N=55) Median [IQR] or n (%) 61 [53-70] Age (years) Male sex 41 (75) Body weight (kg) 79 [71-91] Missing data 9 (16) Systolic blood pressure (mmHg) 140 [130-150] Missing data 9 (16) Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg) 83 [75-93] Missing data 9 (16) ALAT (IU/L) 27 [20-41] Missing data 11 (20) ASAT (IU/L) 26 [20-35] Missing data 11 (20) Albumin (g/L) 42 [41-44] Missing data 11 (20) 82 [50-101] Creatinine clearance (mL/min) Missing data 17 (31) Comedications (N=163) n (%) **CYP3A4** inhibitors Ritonavir-boosted darunavir 27 (17) Cobicistat-boosted darunavir 1(1) Ritonavir-boosted atazanavir 1(1) Cobicistat-boosted elvitegravir 7 (4) **CYP3A4** inducers Efavirenz 7 (4) Others Etravirine¹ 18 (11) Nevirapine¹ 8 (5) Rilpivirine 2 (1) Dolutegravir 103 (63) Raltegravir 8 (5) Anti-hypertensives agents 137 (84)

Table 1: Demographic and clinical characteristics of PLWH included in the model development dataset. ¹considered as moderate CYP3A4 inducers.

IV.2.4.2. Structural, statistical and covariate models

A one-compartment model provided the best fit for amlodipine pharmacokinetics. The addition of an absorption lag-time (ALAG) significantly improved the fit (Δ OFV=-7.39, p=0.007).

BSV was assigned only on CL as the addition of BSV on the other parameters did not improve data description (Δ OFV>-1.84, p>0.17). The population estimates and variability (CV%) of the PK parameters with the base model were as follow: an absorption rate constant (k_a) of 0.66 h^{-1} , an ALAG of 0.86 h, a volume of distribution of 980 L and a clearance of 15.7 L/h (61%).

An additive error model adequately described the intra-patient variability. Univariate analyses revealed an effect of CYP3A4 inhibitors (*i.e.* ritonavir-boosted darunavir, cobicistat-boosted darunavir, ritonavir-boosted atazanavir, cobicistat-boosted elvitegravir, $\Delta OFV=-20.9$, p<0.001) and efavirenz ($\Delta OFV=-10.8$, p=0.001) on CL/F. Our results showed that CL/F is decreased by 49% and increased by 40% in case of coadministration of CYP3A4 inhibitors or efavirenz, respectively. These two covariates explained 48% of the variance on CL/F [16]. In contrast, age, sex, weight, albumin, ASAT, ALAT and creatinine clearance were not associated with amlodipine PK ($\Delta OFV>-1.1$, p>0.29). Finally, coadministration of ritonavir-boosted darunavir in two patients (13 amlodipine concentrations) receiving etravirine prevented the estimation of the effect of etravirine on amlodipine disposition.

IV.2.4.3. Model evaluation

The final model parameter estimates are summarized in table 2, along with their bootstrap estimations. The parameter estimates of the final model lied within the bootstrap Cl_{95%} and differed less than 7% from the median bootstrap parameters except for ka (17%), supporting the reliability of the model. Goodness of fit plots are presented in supplementary material 1. NPDE distribution was not found to significantly differ from a normal distribution. As shown in figure 1, pcVPC confirmed the good predictive performance of the model.

Table 2: Final population parameter estimates of amlodipine with the bootstrap results. ka: first-order absorption rate constant, ALAG: absorption lag-time, CL: mean apparent amlodipine clearance, V: mean apparent volume of distribution, Cl_{95%} 95% confidence interval, CYP: cytochrome P450, CVs: coefficients of variation, RSEs, relative standard errors defined as SE/estimate and expressed as percentages. CYP3A4 inhibitors included ritonavir-boosted darunavir, cobicistat-boosted darunavir, ritonavir-boosted atazanavir, cobicistat-boosted elvitegravir.

	Fi	nal			
	pharmacokinetic		Bootstrap (n=2000 samples)		
	mo	odel			
Parameters	Estimate	RSE (%)	Median	CI 95%	
ka (h ⁻¹)	0.69	25	0.80	0.44-2.15	
ALAG (h)	0.87	28	0.90	0.24-2.41	
V/ <i>F</i> (L)	1000	16	985	777-1472	
CL/ <i>F</i> (L/h)	17.0	9	16.9	14.6-20.5	
BSV _{CLator} (CV%)	42	19	40	27-59	
$ heta_{ ext{CYP3A4}}$ inhibitors	-0.49	12	-0.49	-0.60 to -0.34	
$\theta_{efavirenz}$	1.40	37	1.46	0.55-3.35	
σ_{add} (ng/mL)	2.85	11	2.77	2.17-3.49	

Final model: CL/F=17.0 x (1-0.49 x CYP3A4inhibitors) x (1+1.40 x efavirenz)



Figure 1: pcVPC of amlodipine final model with amlodipine prediction-corrected concentrations (open circles), median of the observed concentrations (solid line) with 90% prediction interval (dashed lines). Grey fields represent the model-based 90% confidence interval of the simulated median and Pl₉₀%.

IV.2.4.4. Model-based simulations

Simulations revealed a 96% increase and a 59% decrease of amlodipine AUC₀₋₂₄ in patients taking the initial recommended dosage of 5 mg of amlodipine QD with CYP3A4 inhibitors and efavirenz, respectively, with respect to amlodipine at the standard dosage alone.

Figure 2 compares amlodipine concentration-time profiles under the standard posology with alternative amlodipine dosage regimens in presence of CYP3A4 inhibitors and efavirenz. The predicted concentration-time profile of 2.5 mg of amlodipine with CYP3A4 inhibitors almost entirely overlaps with the curve of 5 mg once daily alone (8% and 2% decrease in C_{max} and AUC₀₋₂₄, respectively, while C_{trough} was increased by 8% in the alternative *vs* standard regimen, table 3). On the other hand, the dosage of 10 mg QD in presence of efavirenz seems to provide lower exposure (C_{max} increased by 1%, C_{trough} and AUC₀₋₂₄ decreased by 38 and 17%, respectively, in the alternative *vs* standard regimen, Table 3). Increasing the dose to 15 mg QD in presence of efavirenz would result in a 50% and 25% increase in C_{max} and AUC, respectively, and a 7% decrease in C_{min}.

None of PLWH receiving CYP3A4 inhibitors were concomitantly treated with efavirenz. However, model-based simulations demonstrated that PLWH concomitantly receiving 5 mg of amlodipine with CYP3A4 inhibitors and efavirenz reached amlodipine exposure 18% lower than those receiving 5 mg of amlodipine alone.



Time after dose (h)

Figure 2: Simulated amlodipine plasma concentrations for dosage regimens of 2.5 mg QD with CYP3A4 inhibitors (*i.e.* ritonavir-boosted darunavir, cobicistat-boosted darunavir, ritonavir-boosted atazanavir, cobicistat-boosted elvitegravir) (left) or 10 mg with efavirenz (right), compared with standard dosage of 5 mg QD. Continuous line represent the population median prediction for standard (grey) and alternative regimens (orange) while shaded areas and dashed lines represent the 90% prediction interval based on 1000 simulated PLWH.

Table 3: Summary of amlodipine PK parameters following several dosage regimens, in presence or absence of CYP3A4 inhibitors or efavirenz, derived from model-based simulations. PK values are presented as median (95% prediction interval).

 C_{max} : maximal concentrations, C_{trough} : residual concentrations (24h after the last drug intake), AUC₀₋₂₄: area under the concentration-time curve from 0 to 24h calculated as dose/CL, GMR: geometric mean ratio compared with the standard regimen of 5 mg QD.

	Standard dosage of 5	2.5 mg QD with	10 mg QD with
	mg QD	CYP3A4 inhibitors	efavirenz
C _{max} (ng/mL)	13.6 (7.3-29.0)	12.7 (6.2-27.8)	13.7 (8.4-26.4)
GMR		0.92	1.01
C _{trough} (ng/mL)	10.2 (3.6-25.5)	10.9 (4.3-26.0)	6.5 (1.5-19.0)
GMR		1.08	0.62
AUC ₀₋₂₄ (ng.h/mL)	290.8 (129.3-658.4)	285.7 (127.0-646.8)	242.3 (107.8-548.7)
GMR		0.98	0.83

IV.2.5. Discussion

This study investigated the magnitude of DDIs between amlodipine and ARV drugs. For this purpose, the effect of the inhibitory or inducing potential of ARVs on amlodipine population pharmacokinetic profile was assessed in Swiss PLWH enrolled in two pharmacokinetic studies. The pharmacokinetic parameters of amlodipine are in good accordance with reported values, while lower apparent clearance in our analysis [5-8]. Several studies reported a 2-compartments model to describe amlodipine concentration-time profile [6, 9, 17]. However, the sampling design of our study with blood samples collected no more than 28h after the last drug intake prevented us to capture adequately the terminal elimination of this drug with such a long half-life [18]. Despite the important BSV, none of the tested demographic covariates showed an influence on the pharmacokinetics of amlodipine. Of note, age was not significantly associated with amlodipine clearance, indicating that dosage adjustment is not required in elderly PLWH. In the present study, we report a 49% decrease in amlodipine clearance in case of coadministration of CYP3A4 inhibitors. This result is in good agreement with a pharmacokinetic study conducted in healthy volonteers, where amlodipine exposure was increased by 90% when coadministered with ritonavir-boosted indinavir [1]. In addition, two physiologically-based pharmacokinetic models reported a 2-fold increase in amlodipine AUC when coadministered with ritonavir [19, 20]. Two studies showed a more pronounced increase in amlodipine exposure when coadministered with anti-HCV agents (2.6-fold increase in amlodipine AUC with ombitasvir/paritaprevir/ritonavir/dasabuvir and 2.8-fold increase with telaprevir). Finally, the DDI-predictor website reports an AUC ratio (AUC in presence of interactor/AUC in absence of interactor) of 2.66 based on several pharmacokinetic studies [21]. While magnitude of DDI between amlodipine and CYP3A4 inhibitors vary between studies, our results supports the proposed 50% reduction in amlodipine dosage in case of coadministration with CYP3A4 inhibitors [22].

Although no plasma concentrations upper threshold has been established for amlodipine, an increase in amlodipine exposure is not devoid of clinical consequences. Indeed, serious adverse events such as severe hypotension, oedema and bradycardia have been described in case reports of PLWH receiving both calcium-channel blockers and ARVs with inhibitory potential [23-26]. This suggests that caution is needed when prescribing in elderly PLWH receiving boosted ARV regimens, also considering pharmacodynamics alterations and presence of comorbidities.

To the best of our knowledge, coadministration of amlodipine and ARVs with inducing properties has not been studied until now. Our results demonstrated a 59% decrease in amlodipine exposure when coadministered with efavirenz. The lack of plasma concentrations from PLWH receiving etravirine prevented the estimation of the effect of etravirine on amlodipine PK. Visually, this effect appeared less pronounced with etravirine than with efavirenz. This is in line with a study demonstrating a
weaker magnitude of DDIs between etravirine and erlotinib or gefitinib (both CYP3A4 substrates) than with efavirenz [26]. However, the comparison of the inducing potential of etravirine and efavirenz is controversial in the literature [19, 26]. Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic relationship has been established, indicating an impact of amlodipine plasma concentrations on antihypertensive effect [6, 8]. Our results indicated that amlodipine dosage should be doubled when coadministered with efavirenz, to reach comparable plasma concentrations to individuals not receiving interacting drugs, and therefore to achieve similar antihypertensive effect. Nevertheless, amlodipine dosage adjustment should be firstly based on the clinical monitoring of blood pressure.

Finally, model-based simulations revealed a 18% decrease in amlodipine exposure when coadministered with both CYP3A4 inhibitors and efavirenz, compared to amlodipine alone. This effect was not considered clinically significant and indicates that the inhibitory effect of boosted ARV drugs is compensated by the inducing effect of efavirenz. Furthermore, one PLWH included in the PK study with rich sampling and receiving both ritonavir-boosted darunavir and etravirine had relatively high amlodipine plasma concentrations. This indicates a predominance of the CYP3A4 inhibitory effect compared to the lower inducing potential of etravirine. This observation is in line with a previously published study demonstrating a 3-fold increase in maraviroc exposure when coadministered with ritonavir-boosted darunavir and etravirine compared to that obtained when maraviroc was administered alone [27].

Limitations of the present work should be acknowledged. First, CYP3A4 inhibitors and efavirenz were the only significant covariates while an effect of age, gender and body weight has been demonstrated in other population pharmacokinetics studies [5, 7, 8]. The sparse sampling approach applied to the majority of data may have been insufficient to detect some covariate effects. In addition, the low number of PLWH receiving each ARV CYP3A4 inhibitor prevented us not only to establish an interaction model considering ARV drugs plasma concentrations but also to discriminate the effect of different CYP3A4 inhibitors. This could have been of interest as ritonavir and cobicistat may have different interaction potential [28].

Despite these limitations, these data provide robust information on the magnitude of DDI between amlodipine and ARV drugs to guide clinicians for drug dosage adjustment. Our results confirm the proposed half-dosage in case of coadministration of CYP3A4 inhibitors and suggest doubling the dose when coadministered with efavirenz. Finally, no dosage adjustment is recommended when amlodipine is coadministered with both CYP3A4 inhibitors and efavirenz.

In conclusion, we showed that DDIs between amlodipine and ARV regimens containing boosted agents or those with inducing potential may markedly alter amlodipine exposure. The clinical relevance of high or low amlodipine exposure is unclear but a particular attention must be paid to elderly PLWH in order to improve tolerability and clinical outcome.

IV.2.6. References

1. Glesby MJ, Aberg JA, Kendall MA, Fichtenbaum CJ, Hafner R, Hall S, et al. Pharmacokinetic interactions between indinavir plus ritonavir and calcium channel blockers. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2005;78(2):143-53.

2. Lee JE, van Heeswijk R, Alves K, Smith F, Garg V. Effect of the hepatitis C virus protease inhibitor telaprevir on the pharmacokinetics of amlodipine and atorvastatin. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2011;55(10):4569-74.

3. Food and Drug Administration. Norvasc, Summary of Product Characteristics. [Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2011/019787s047lbl.pdf.

4. Menon RM, Badri PS, Wang T, Polepally AR, Zha J, Khatri A, et al. Drug-drug interaction profile of the all-oral anti-hepatitis C virus regimen of paritaprevir/ritonavir, ombitasvir, and dasabuvir. Journal of hepatology. 2015;63(1):20-9.

5. Flynn JT, Nahata MC, Mahan JD, Jr., Portman RJ, Investigators P-. Population pharmacokinetics of amlodipine in hypertensive children and adolescents. Journal of clinical pharmacology. 2006;46(8):905-16.

6. Heo YA, Holford N, Kim Y, Son M, Park K. Quantitative model for the blood pressure-lowering interaction of valsartan and amlodipine. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2016;82(6):1557-67.

7. Kang D, Verotta D, Schwartz JB. Population analyses of amlodipine in patients living in the community and patients living in nursing homes. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2006;79(1):114-24.

8. Rohatagi S, Carrothers TJ, Kshirsagar S, Khariton T, Lee J, Salazar D. Evaluation of population pharmacokinetics and exposure-response relationship with coadministration of amlodipine besylate and olmesartan medoxomil. Journal of clinical pharmacology. 2008;48(7):823-36.

9. Son H, Lee D, Lim LA, Jang SB, Roh H, Park K. Development of a pharmacokinetic interaction model for co-administration of simvastatin and amlodipine. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet. 2014;29(2):120-8.

10. Cockcroft DW, Gault MH. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron. 1976;16(1):31-41.

11. Courlet P, Spaggiari D, Desfontaine V, Cavassini M, Alves Saldanha S, Buclin T, et al. UHPLC-MS/MS assay for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for population-scale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV. Journal of chromatography B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences. 2019;1125:121733.

12. Lindbom L, Pihlgren P, Jonsson EN. PsN-Toolkit--a collection of computer intensive statistical methods for non-linear mixed effect modeling using NONMEM. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2005;79(3):241-57.

13. Keizer RJ, van Benten M, Beijnen JH, Schellens JH, Huitema AD. Pirana and PCluster: a modeling environment and cluster infrastructure for NONMEM. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2011;101(1):72-9.

14.Food and drug administration. Drug Development and Drug Interactions: Table of Substrates,InhibitorsandInducers.[Availablefrom:https://www.fda.gov/drugs/developmentapprovalprocess/developmentresources/druginteractionslabeling/ucm093664.htm.

15. Molto J, Rajoli R, Back D, Valle M, Miranda C, Owen A, et al. Use of a physiologically based pharmacokinetic model to simulate drug-drug interactions between antineoplastic and antiretroviral drugs. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2017;72(3):805-11.

16. Duffull SB, Wright DF, Winter HR. Interpreting population pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic analyses - a clinical viewpoint. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2011;71(6):807-14.

17. Gab-jin P, Dooyeon J, Jong nyeong K, Sunil Y, Wan-Su P, Jongtae L, et al. Drug-Drug Interaction Analysis of a Drug with Long Elimination Half-life Using Population Pharmacokinetic Approach. Population Approach Group in Europe; Hersonissos2015.

18. Suein C, Seunghoon H, Dong-Seok Y. Contribution of trough concentration data for the evaluation of multiple-dose pharmacokinetics. Population approach group in Europe; 11-14.06.2019; Stockholm2019.

19. Mukherjee D, Zha J, Menon RM, Shebley M. Guiding dose adjustment of amlodipine after coadministration with ritonavir containing regimens using a physiologically-based pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic model. Journal of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. 2018;45(3):443-56.

20. Stader F, Kinvig H, Battegay M, Khoo S, Owen A, Siccardi M, et al. Analysis of Clinical Drug-Drug Interaction Data To Predict Magnitudes of Uncharacterized Interactions between Antiretroviral Drugs and Comedications. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2018;62(7).

21. Bleyzac N, Bourguignon L, Goutelle S, Tod M. DDI, Impact of drug-drug interactions of drug exposure [Available from: https://www.ddi-predictor.org/predictor/ddi.

22. Liverpool HIV drug interactions website. [Available from: http://www.hivdruginteractions.org/. Izzedine H, Launay-Vacher V, Deray G, Hulot JS. Nelfinavir and felodipine: a cytochrome P450
 3A4-mediated drug interaction. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2004;75(4):362-3.

24. Puech R, Gagnieu MC, Planus C, Charpiat B, Boibieux A, Ferry T, et al. Extreme bradycardia due to multiple drug-drug interactions in a patient with HIV post-exposure prophylaxis containing lopinavir-ritonavir. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2011;71(4):621-3.

25. Baeza MT, Merino E, Boix V, Climent E. Nifedipine-lopinavir/ritonavir severe interaction: a case report. Aids. 2007;21(1):119-20.

26. Kader C, Ede H, Erbay A, Erbay A. Drug interaction of boceprevir and amlodipine in a patient with hepatitis C: A cardiovascular follow-up. Journal of microbiology and infectious diseases. 2015;5(1):32-5.

27. Kakuda TN, Abel S, Davis J, Hamlin J, Scholler-Gyure M, Mack R, et al. Pharmacokinetic interactions of maraviroc with darunavir-ritonavir, etravirine, and etravirine-darunavir-ritonavir in healthy volunteers: results of two drug interaction trials. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2011;55(5):2290-6.

28. Tseng A, Hughes CA, Wu J, Seet J, Phillips EJ. Cobicistat Versus Ritonavir: Similar Pharmacokinetic Enhancers But Some Important Differences. The Annals of pharmacotherapy. 2017;51(11):1008-22.



IV.2.7. Supplementary material

Supplementary 1: Goodness-of-fits plots for amlodipine final population PK model. a) Observed concentrations vs. individual predictions. b) Observed concentrations vs. population predictions. c) Conditional weighted residuals (CWRES) vs. population predictions. d) CWRES vs. time after the last drug intake.

IV.3. Influence of drug-drug interactions on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and its major active metabolite *ortho*-OH-atorvastatin in aging people living with HIV.

ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE



Influence of Drug–Drug Interactions on the Pharmacokinetics of Atorvastatin and Its Major Active Metabolite *ortho*-OH-Atorvastatin in Aging People Living with HIV

Perrine Courlet¹ · Laurent A. Decosterd¹ · Susana Alves Saldanha¹ · Matthias Cavassini² · Felix Stader^{3,4} · Marcel Stoeckle³ · Thierry Buclin¹ · Catia Marzolini^{3,4} · Chantal Csajka^{5,6,7} · Monia Guidi^{1,5,6} · The Swiss HIV Cohort Study

© The Author(s) 2020

Abstract

Background People living with HIV (PLWH) are aging and experience age-related physiological changes and comorbidities. Atorvastatin is a widely prescribed lipid-lowering agent metabolized by cytochrome P450 (CYP) 3A4, whose hepatocyte uptake is facilitated by organic anion transporting polypeptide (OATP) 1B1/1B3. Inhibition or induction of this enzyme and hepatic transporter can increase or decrease atorvastatin exposure, respectively.

Objective This study aimed to describe the pharmacokinetic profile of atorvastatin and its major metabolite, and to evaluate drug–drug interactions (DDIs) with antiretrovirals (ARVs).

Methods The atorvastatin pharmacokinetic profile was best described by a two-compartment model with first-order absorption and elimination. Metabolite concentrations were described by considering both linear metabolism from atorvastatin and presystemic metabolism. The influence of demographic and clinical covariates on drug and metabolite pharmacokinetics was assessed using NONMEM[®]. Model-based simulations were performed to evaluate the magnitude of DDIs with ARVs. **Results** Full pharmacokinetic profiles (98 atorvastatin + 62 *o*-OH-atorvastatin concentrations) and sparse concentrations (78 and 53 for atorvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin, respectively) were collected in 59 PLWH. Interindividual variability was high. The coadministration of boosted ARVs decreased atorvastatin clearance by 58% and slowed down *o*-OH-atorvastatin formation by 88%. Atorvastatin clearance increased by 78% when coadministered with CYP3A4 inducers. Simulations revealed a 180% increase and 44% decrease in atorvastatin exposure (area under the curve) in the presence of ARVs with inhibiting and inducing properties, respectively.

Conclusion This study showed an important interindividual variability in atorvastatin pharmacokinetics that remains largely unexplained after the inclusion of covariates. Since boosted ARVs double atorvastatin exposure, the initial dosage might be reduced by half, and titrated based on individual clinical targets.

1 Introduction

People living with HIV (PLWH) live longer and experience age-related physiological changes and comorbidities, notably cardiovascular diseases. Polypharmacy is frequent in elderly PLWH, leading to an increased risk for drug–drug

Chantal Csajka chantal.csajka@chuv.ch

Extended author information available on the last page of the article

interactions (DDIs), which may harm this vulnerable population. Antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) are among the therapeutic agents with the highest potential for DDIs. Protease inhibitors (PIs) and non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) can indeed inhibit and/or induce cytochrome P450 (CYP) isoforms [1] as well as drug transporters [2].

Atorvastatin is a widely prescribed lipid-lowering agent that undergoes extensive first-pass metabolism [3]. It is predominantly metabolized by CYP3A4 into two active metabolites: the major *ortho*-hydroxy atorvastatin (*o*-OHatorvastatin) and the minor *para*-hydroxy atorvastatin (*p*-OH-atorvastatin). Both atorvastatin and its active metabolites can undergo lactonization and thus exist in equilibrium with their respective inactive lactone forms. A study has

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s40262-020-00876-0) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Key Points

Our findings highlight the high variability in atorvastatin pharmacokinetics, which is partially explained by drug– drug interactions with antiretroviral (ARV) treatments.

Simulations revealed a 180% increase and 44% decrease in atorvastatin exposure (area under the curve) in the presence of ARVs with inhibiting and inducing properties, respectively.

The present model provides a rationale for the selection of initial atorvastatin dosage, taking into account the associated ARV regimen.

suggested that most of the acid metabolites present in human plasma results from an interconversion of lactone metabolites [4]. It has been reported that about 70% of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibition is attributable to o-OH-atorvastatin and p-OH-atorvastatin, while the lactone forms are inactive [3]. Nevertheless, the latter may be incriminated for statin-induced myotoxicity [5, 6].

Importantly, the organic anion transporting polypeptide (OATP1B1/1B3) facilitates the entry of atorvastatin in the liver (i.e. the site of action) [7]. PIs inhibit OATP1B1 in addition to CYP3A4 and are therefore expected to substantially increase atorvastatin exposure, both by inhibiting the entry of the statin in the liver and by further inhibiting its biotransformation. According to the summary of product characteristics, atorvastatin exposure could increase by three- to fourfold in the presence of ritonavir-boosted darunavir [8]. This interaction can lead to serious adverse effects, such as rhabdomyolysis [9]. The current recommendations indicate to initiate atorvastatin at a low dosage in the presence of boosted darunavir and not to exceed a daily dose of 20 mg. However, formal DDI studies have not been performed, particularly in the elderly, leading to a lack of knowledge on the magnitude of DDIs.

To date, several studies have evaluated the factors influencing atorvastatin pharmacokinetics (PK). The effect of age is controversial, with some authors reporting an age-related increase in atorvastatin exposure [10–12], while others did not find any significant influence [13, 14]. One non-compartmental PK study showed an effect of sex (11% decrease in area under the curve [AUC] in women) on atorvastatin disposition [11]. Moreover, population PK studies indicate a body weight-related decrease in atorvastatin clearance [13], an influence of liver enzymes (aspartate aminotransferase [AST] and lactate dehydrogenase) on atorvastatin disposition [14, 15], and an effect of polymorphisms in the intestinal breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) on atorvastatin bioavailability [16]. However, to our knowledge, no study investigated the effect of ARVs on atorvastatin disposition in a real-life setting.

The aims of this observational study were to develop a population PK model for atorvastatin and its major active metabolite in aging PLWH, and to quantify the effect of ARVs and other covariates on their disposition.

2 Material and Methods

2.1 Data Collection

Full PK investigations were performed in the framework of a study evaluating DDIs in PLWH enrolled in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS), as described elsewhere [17]. All study participants gave written informed consent before entering the study. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Vaud and northwest/ central Switzerland (CER-VD 2018-00369) and registered in ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03515772). In addition, sparse plasma samples were collected at the patient's biannual cohort visits (SHCS project #815), at unselected times after the last drug intake. Undetectable atorvastatin plasma levels during the SHCS follow-up visits, suggestive of non-adherence to treatment, were excluded from the analysis. In addition, samples with non-reliable time information (i.e. time of blood sampling or last dose intake) were excluded from the analysis. Information on concurrent comedications (HIV and non-HIV medications), bodyweight, sex, age and liver function tests (AST and alanine aminotransferase [ALT]) were also available.

2.2 Analytical Method

Blood samples were collected in EDTA-containing tubes, immediately placed at +4 °C. Shortly afterwards, blood samples were centrifuged and the plasma was stored at - 80 °C until analysis. Atorvastatin, o-OH-atorvastatin and *p*-OH-atorvastatin concentrations were determined by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) using a multiplex method developed and validated purposely for this research project [18]. The assay showed appropriate repeatability and intermediate precision for the quantification of atorvastatin and its two active metabolites o-OHatorvastatin and p-OH-atorvastatin (coefficient of variation [CV] 2.1–13.4% and 4.2–13.4%, respectively) and trueness (98.4-110.8%). Lower limits of quantification (LLOQs) were 0.3 ng/mL for atorvastatin and p-OH-atorvastatin, and 0.5 ng/mL for o-OH-atorvastatin. In addition, darunavir and ritonavir plasma concentrations were measured using previously published LC-MS/MS methodology [19].

2.3 Model-Based Pharmacokinetic Analysis

Population PK analyses were performed using the nonlinear mixed-effect modeling (NONMEM[®]) program (version 7.4.2, ICON Development Solutions, Ellicott City, MD, USA). PsN v4.2.0 was used for automation of various model development and evaluation methods, Pirana v2.9.2 was used to structure and document model development, and R v3.6.1 (1.2.1335) was used for data management, statistical analysis and graphical output [20, 21].

2.3.1 Base Model

Since a substantial proportion (42%) of *p*-OH-atorvastatin concentrations were below the LLOO (BOL), population PK modeling was pursued for atorvastatin and its major measurable active metabolite o-OH-atorvastatin. o-OH-atorvastatin concentrations were mainly BOL over the full PK (i.e. 'rich') investigations and were distributed throughout the dosing interval. The population PK analysis was first performed using the samples collected during the full PK investigations for the parent atorvastatin, and subsequently using all available samples for the parent atorvastatin and the metabolite, assuming linear metabolism and integrating the first-pass effect of atorvastatin. Administered doses, atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin plasma concentrations were converted into nanomoles (nmol) and nanomoles per liter (nmol/L), respectively, for the analyses of drug and metabolite data. Pharmacodynamic properties of atorvastatin and its active metabolites are generally considered equivalent [22] and the sum of both substances was defined as the 'active moiety'. With the exception of PLWH who reported missing atorvastatin doses during the last week before their blood intake, steady state was assumed for all PLWH.

A stepwise procedure was used to find the model that adequately fitted the data. The two-compartment model for atorvastatin, with an additional compartment for o-OHatorvastatin, schematically depicted in Fig. 2, was finally retained for data description. Presystemic metabolism was modeled by estimating a proportional coefficient (FR_{ator-oOH}) between total atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin absorption rate constants (k_a) . This parameter allowed the description of atorvastatin presystemic metabolism by both considering the fraction of the dose directly converted into metabolite and by adjusting the *o*-OH-atorvastatin k_a . The total k_a was fixed to the value estimated during the analysis of rich parent PK data (2.59 h⁻¹), and (1 – FR_{ator-oOH})× k_a and FR_{ator-oOH}× k_a are the atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin $k_a - k_{12}$ and k_{13} , respectively. Owing to identifiability problems, both compounds were assumed to have the same apparent volume of distribution. Since atorvastatin was administered orally, apparent PK parameters were estimated. Exponential errors were used to describe between-subject variability for all PK parameters, with the exception of $FR_{ator-oOH}$. Individual $FR_{ator-oOH}$ were constrained to vary between 0 and 1 by using the logit of $FR_{ator-oOH}$, and its interindividual variability was calculated as previously reported [23, 24]. Finally, several error models (i.e. proportional, additive and mixed) were compared to describe the residual variability for both drug and metabolite. The correlation between atorvastatin and its metabolite concentration measurements was tested using the L2 function in NONMEM[®].

2.3.2 Covariate Model

The analysis of each covariate was sequentially examined using a stepwise insertion/deletion approach. First, correlation between post hoc individual estimates of the PK parameters and the covariates of interest were visually inspected. Potentially influential covariates were then incorporated sequentially into the model using linear or non-linear functions as appropriate. Categorical variables (sex and comedications, classified as the presence or absence of a boosted regimen or CYP3A4 inducers [25]) were coded as 0 and 1, and continuous covariates (age, weight, AST and ALT) were centered on their median value. Missing values for weight, AST and ALT were imputed to the population median value. Darunavir and ritonavir area under the concentration-time curves from zero to 24 h (AUC₂₄) were calculated using previously published population PK models [26]. Non-competitive interaction models including darunavir and ritonavir AUC_{24} on $\mathrm{CL}_{\mathrm{ator}}$ and $\mathrm{FR}_{\mathrm{ator-oOH}}$ were tested using linear, power or exponential functions.

2.3.3 Model Selection and Parameter Estimation

Atorvastatin and metabolite concentrations were fitted by using the first-order conditional method (FOCE) with interaction using the ADVAN5 subroutine. BQL plasma levels for sparse data were excluded from the analysis. BQL concentrations for rich PK data were treated using the M6 approach, replacing BQL by LLOQ/2 at the first BQL observation and ignoring the following ones [27, 28]. The model was selected based on the likelihood ratio test (based on the reduction of the objective function value $[\Delta OFV]$), visual inspection of diagnostic plots, and evaluation of estimates of population fixed and random parameters, along with their precision. Since an ΔOFV between two models approximates a Chi-square distribution, a decrease in the OFV > 3.84 (p < 0.05) for one additional parameter was considered statistically significant in the model building and the forward inclusion of covariates. During the backward deletion step, a covariate was retained in the final multivariate model if its deletion from the full model led to a 6.63point increase in the objective function (p < 0.01, 1 degree of freedom).

2.4 Model Evaluation

A sensitivity analysis was carried out to assess the possible leverage effect on significant covariates due to potential outlier concentrations. Population parameters obtained when excluding data were compared with those obtained using the full dataset. In addition, 2000 datasets were generated by resampling from the original dataset for the evaluation of the final model by the bootstrap method implemented in PsN [20]. Stratification was based on the presence of boosted ARVs, CYP3A4 inducers and on rich PK sampling. Mean parameter values with their 95% confidence intervals ($CI_{05\%}$) were compared with the original model estimates. Finally, prediction- and variability-corrected visual predictive checks (pvcVPCs) were also performed on the final PK model with variability using the PsN-Toolkit and the R package Xpose4, to visually compare observed concentrations with 5th, 50th and 95th prediction percentiles [20, 29, 30].

2.5 Model-Based Simulations

Simulations of 1000 individuals with different ARV regimens based on the final model with between-subject variability were conducted to derive the average AUC₂₄ with 95% prediction intervals (PI_{95%}) for atorvastatin, *o*-OHatorvastatin and the active moiety (AUC_{ator}, AUC_{o-OH}, AUC_{active moiety} = AUC_{ator} + AUC_{o-OH}).

3 Results

3.1 Data

Nine PLWH contributed to 98 atorvastatin and 62 o-OHatorvastatin plasma concentrations collected in a rich sampling design. In addition, 78 sparse atorvastatin and 53 sparse o-OH-atorvastatin concentrations from 55 PLWH were included in the analysis. Overall, 176 atorvastatin and 115 o-OH-atorvastatin plasma concentrations were available from 59 PLWH who were receiving atorvastatin at a dose ranging from 5 to 40 mg once daily. Characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1. The median (range) of samples available per study individual was 11 (10-11) for PLWH included in the full PK study, and 1 (1–2) for PLWH whose samples were collected during the SHCS follow-up visits. Plasma concentration measurements varied from 0.3 to 106 ng/mL (0.5-190 nmol/L), and from 0.5 to 24 ng/mL (0.9-42 nmol/L), for atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin, respectively. None of the atorvastatin concentrations and 38% (*n* = 69) of *o*-OH-atorvastatin levels were below their respective LLOQs. Figure 1 represents concentration-time profiles for atorvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin according to concurrent ARV drugs.

In addition, darunavir and ritonavir plasma concentrations were available for PLWH receiving such ARV regimens concomitantly to atorvastatin.

3.2 Base and Covariate Model

Atorvastatin full PK profiles were best described by a twocompartment model with first-order absorption and elimination. The addition of a second compartment to describe atorvastatin disposition significantly improved the fit (variation in OFV, $\Delta OFV = -113$; p < 0.001) and the individual plots of rich PK data. The k_a was estimated at 2.59 h⁻¹ and was fixed to this value for subsequent model development to allow precise estimation of the other model parameters during the analysis of the full dataset. The model presented in Fig. 2 adequately described atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin data. The inclusion of the factor FR_{ator-oOH} describing presytemic metabolism of atorvastatin improved the description of the data. Residual variabilities on atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin were satisfactorily described using proportional and mixed-error models, respectively. The additive part of the metabolite error model was estimated at 0.44 nmol/L. Parameter estimates and betweensubject variability (CV%) of the base PK model were a k_a fixed to 2.59 h⁻¹ (239%), an FR_{ator-oOH} of 11% (131%), an atorvastatin clearance (CL_{ator}) of 204 L/h (94%), a central volume of distribution of atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin $(Vc_{ator}=Vc_{met})$ of 3170 L (137%), a peripheral volume of distribution (Vp_{ator}) of 591 L, an intercompartmental clearance (Q) of 104 L/h, a metabolic rate constant (k_{23}) of 0.0096 h⁻¹, and a metabolite clearance (CL_{o-OH-ator}) of 118 L/h. Drug and metabolite concentrations were found to be correlated (59%).

Due to substantial eta shrinkage on $FR_{ator-oOH}$ (46%) in the base model, the graphic exploration was interpreted cautiously between the parameter estimate and covariates. Since visual inspection of exploratory plots did not reveal an effect of sex, weight, AST and ALT on atorvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin PK, these covariates were not tested in the model.

The coadministration of boosted ARVs decreased atorvastatin clearance by 58% and logit(FR_{ator-oOH}) by 225% (Δ OFV < -26; p < 0.001). Consequently, o-OH-atorvastatin was formed 88% slower in the presence of boosted ARVs than in the absence of such a regimen. Atorvastatin clearance increased by 78% in PLWH receiving CYP3A4 inducers (Δ OFV = -21; p < 0.001). The inclusion of covariates decreased original between-subject variability on CL_{ator} and FR_{ator-oOH}, by 34 and 46%, respectively. Aging did not significantly influence FR_{ator-oOH} or CL_{ator} and was not retained

 Table 1
 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population

Patient characteristics $[n = 59]$	Median [IQR] or n (%)
Age, years	64 [58–71]
Male sex	46 (78)
Body weight, kg	73 [65–84]
Missing data	3 (5)
ALT, IU/L	27 [21–37]
Missing data	6 (10)
AST, IU/L	27 [22–32]
Missing data	6 (10)
HDL-cholesterol, mmol/L	1 [1–2]
Missing data	6 (10)
LDL-cholesterol, mmol/L	3 [3-4]
Missing data	5 (8)
Triglycerides, mmol/L	2 [1–3]
Missing data	7 (12)
Comedications $(n = 176)^{a}$	n (%)
Ritonavir-boosted darunavir ^b	50 (28)
Cobicistat-boosted darunavirb	24 (14)
Ritonavir-boosted atazanavir ^b	2(1)
Cobicistat-boosted elvitegravir ^b	2(1)
Efavirenz ^c	12 (7)
Etravirine ^c	29 (17)
Nevirapine ^d	4 (2)
Rilpivirine	2(1)
Dolutegravir	80 (46)
Raltegravir	26 (15)
Verapamil ^b	2(1)

ALT aspartate aminotransferase, AST alanine aminotransferase, HDL high-density lipoprotein, *IQR* interquartile range, *LDL* low-density lipoprotein, *CYP* cytochrome P450, *OATP* organic anion transporting polypeptide

^aValues are reported according to the number of atorvastatin plasma concentrations

^bStrong CYP3A4 and OATP1B1 inhibitors

^cStrong CYP3A4 inducers

^dModerate CYP3A4 inducers [25]

in the final model ($\Delta OFV > -0.4$; p > 0.1). The parameter estimates of the final model and their precisions are presented in Table 2. Interaction models integrating darunavir or ritonavir AUC₂₄ on atorvastatin clearance or FR_{ator-oOH} did not improve the description of the data. Diagnostic plots for the final model are shown in electronic supplementary Fig. S1. While the model seemed to adequately describe the absorption phase, a bias remained for very high atorvastatin concentrations, as shown on the observed concentrations versus population predictions plot. This bias was entirely due to a single individual, who was the only one treated with ritonavir-boosted darunavir concomitantly with atorvastatin at a dose of 40 mg once daily. Reassuringly, this extremely high atorvastatin dose is not recommended by the US product label of darunavir in patients treated with ritonavir-boosted darunavir and is therefore not expected to be usually encountered in clinical practice.

3.3 Model Evaluation

The sensitivity analysis performed while removing one individual with extremely high atorvastatin concentrations (11 blood samplings) did not reveal any significant influence on the estimated PK parameters, but the effect of boosted regimens on the logit($FR_{ator-oOH}$) parameter decreased by 15%. *o*-OH-atorvastatin was formed 83% slower in the presence of boosted ARVs than in the absence of such a regimen when removing this individual. This effect was not considered significantly different compared with the results obtained with the full dataset (the *o*-OH-atorvastatin formation rate was reduced by 88% in the presence of boosted ARVs) and this individual was therefore maintained in the dataset.

The final model parameters, together with their bootstrap estimations, are displayed in Table 2. The model was considered reliable since the parameters were within the bootstrap $CI_{95\%}$ and differed less than 9% from the bootstrap estimations, with the exception of between-subject variability on k_a and FR_{ator-oOH}, which were 13% and 25%, respectively. $CI_{95\%}$ of the peripheral volume was very large, despite good precision of its estimate (27%). In addition, while the bootstrap was stratified by rich sampling data, including several drug concentrations in the absorption phase, $CI_{95\%}$ of the between-subject variability on the k_a remains very wide. This reflects the difficulty of the model in accurately describing the highly variable absorption phase.

Finally, predictive performance of the model was supported by the results of the pvcVPCs (Fig. 3).

3.4 Simulations

Model-based simulations were performed to estimate and compare AUC_{ator}, AUC_{o-OH} and the sum of both, the AUC_{active moiety}, for individuals receiving atorvastatin 10 mg with different ARV regimens (Fig. 4). The simulated average AUC_{ator} indicated a 180% increase in atorvastatin exposure in PLWH receiving boosted ARVs compared with those receiving ARVs devoid of interaction potential with atorvastatin. Conversely, AUC_{o-OH} decreased by 12% in PLWH treated with boosted regimens. In total, AUC_{active moiety} increased by 110% in PLWH receiving boosted ARVs compared with PLHW receiving ARVs without interaction potential. Following coadministration of CYPA4 inducers, AUC_{ator} and AUC_{active moiety} decreased by 44 and 31%, respectively, compared with PLWH receiving non-interacting ARV treatments.





Fig. 1 Observed atorvastatin (left) and *o*-OH-atorvastatin concentrations (right) [log-scale] versus time after dose. Concentrations were standardized for a daily dose of 10 mg. Concentrations for PLWH receiving neither CYP3A4 inhibitors nor CYP3A4 inducers (grey circles), or receiving boosted ARVs (yellow squares) or strong CYP3A4

inducers (blue triangles) are shown. Plasma drug concentrations of PLWH who participated in the pharmacokinetic study with rich sampling are joined by black lines. *PLWH* people living with HIV, *CYP* cytochrome P450, *ARVs* antiretrovirals



Fig. 2 Compartmental model used to describe atorvastatin and *o*-OHatorvastatin plasma concentration-time profiles. k_{12} absorption rate constant from depot to the atorvastatin compartment, k_{13} absorption rate constant from depot to the *o*-OH-atorvastatin compartment, k_a total absorption rate constant, $FR_{ator-oOH}$ proportional coefficient between total atorvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin absorption rate con-

In PLWH receiving both boosted regimens and CYP3A4 inducers, AUC_{ator} and $AUC_{active moiety}$ increased by 61 and 21%, respectively.

4 Discussion

Our study provides a description of the population PK profile of atorvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin, and quantifies the magnitude of DDIs with ARVs in real-life situations.

stants, k_{20} atorvastatin elimination rate constant, k_{30} o-OH-atorvastatin elimination rate constant, CL_{ator} apparent atorvastatin clearance, $CL_{o-OH-ator}$ apparent o-OH-atorvastatin clearance, Vc_{ator} apparent atorvastatin volume of distribution, Vc_{met} apparent o-OH-atorvastatin volume of distribution, Q intercompartmental clearance

Although parameter estimates widely differ between published population PK analyses, the reported PK parameters estimated in the present study were generally in fair concordance with overall reported values [13, 14].

The present model revealed large interindividual variability in atorvastatin PK, notably during the absorption phase, known to be affected by multiple factors. First, food has been reported to decrease atorvastatin peak concentration (C_{max}) and increase time to C_{max} (T_{max}) [3]. Although all full PK samples were obtained under standardized conditions, this

 Table 2
 Parameter estimates of the final atorvastatin and o-OHatorvastatin pharmacokinetic model and bootstrap results

Parameters	Final model		Bootstrap (n	Bootstrap ($n = 2000$ samples)	
	Estimate	RSE (%) ^a	Median	CI _{95%}	
$k_{\rm a} ({\rm h}^{-1})^{\rm b}$	2.59 FIX				
$\omega_{\rm ka}$ (CV%)	246	29	214	25 to 2103	
Logit FR _{ator-oOH}	-1.56	10	-1.52	-2.2 to -1.0	
$w_{\text{logitFR}_{\text{store}},OW}$ (CV%)	70	16	62	25 to 92	
$\theta_{\text{boosted ARVs}}$	-2.25	28	-2.27	-7.9 to -0.9	
CL _{ator} (L/h)	230	12	233	162 to 312	
ω_{CLator} (CV%)	63	17	61	37 to 84	
$\theta_{ m boosted \ ARVs}$	-0.58	9	-0.58	-0.7 to -0.4	
$\theta_{\rm CYP3A4\ inducers}$	0.78	39	0.76	0.05 to 1.30	
$Vc_{ator} = Vc_{met} (L)$	2910	33	2902	1215 to 6023	
ω_{Vcator} (CV%)	131	10	127	87 to 173	
Vp _{ator} (L)	617	27	676	322 to 11,687	
<i>Q</i> (L/h)	98	14	92	40 to 428	
$k_{23} (h^{-1})$	0.0072	14	0.0075	0.0035 to 0.019	
CL _{o-OH-ator} (L/h)	116	10	117	62 to 196	
σ _{ator, prop} (CV%)	38	22	37	30 to 46	
$\sigma_{o-\text{OH-ator, prop}}$ (CV%)	28	16	28	22 to 34	
$\sigma_{o-OH-ator, add}$ (nmol/L)	41	51	41	4 to 60	
Correlation ator/o-OH-ator	66	18	69	47 to 77	

Final model: TVCL_{ator} = $230 \times (1 - 0.58 \times \text{boosted ARVs}) \times (1 + 0.78 \times \text{CYP3A4 inducers})$

 $TVLogit(FR_{ator-oOH}) = -1.56 - 2.25 \times boosted ARVs$

 k_a first-order absorption rate constant, ω between-subject variability reported as CV (%), $LogitFR_{ator-oOH}$ logit transformation of proportional coefficient between total atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin absorption rate constants, CL_{ator} mean apparent atorvastatin clearance, $Vc_{ator} = Vc_{met}$ mean apparent atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin volume of distribution, Vp_{ator} mean peripheral atorvastatin volume of distribution, Q intercompartmental clearance, k_{23} metabolic rate constant, $CL_{o-OH-ator}$ mean apparent o-OH-atorvastatin clearance, $CI_{95\%}$ 95% confidence interval, *CYP* cytochrome P450, *CV* coefficient of variation, *RSE* relative standard error, *SE* standard error

^aDefined as SE/estimate, and expressed as percentages

^bBased on preliminary analysis of atorvastatin rich pharmacokinetic data

parameter was not controlled for samples collected during the follow-up visits. Since, atorvastatin is exposed to intestinal CYP3A4 during the absorption phase, CYP3A4 inhibitors and inducers may further contribute to the observed important variability in this parameter. In our PK model, this has been captured by integrating the effect of boosted regimens (all CYP3A4 inhibitors) on the absorption parameter FR_{ator-oOH}. Finally, several transporters are involved in the disposition of atorvastatin and its metabolites. Genetic polymorphisms can affect the intrinsic activity and/or expression of transporters and the observed variability in atorvastatin absorption could therefore be explained by the genetic background [10, 31]. Shitara et al. showed that OATP could play a significant role in atorvastatin absorption [32]. In addition, ABCG2 and SLCOB polymorphisms have been shown to affect atorvastatin C_{max} , with no effect on elimination halflife [33–35], supporting an effect of transporter genotypes on atorvastatin mainly during the absorption phase. However, the lack of genotyping data in our study prevented the

estimation of such an effect. In our model, due to the complexity of the absorption phase, k_a was fixed to the value obtained during the analysis, using atorvastatin rich PK data to obtain a reasonable value of $T_{\rm max}$. Predicted $T_{\rm max}$ values ranged from 0.5 to 3.7 h, with a median of 1.3 h, in accordance with the manufacturer's data [36]. Studies also reported $T_{\rm max}$ values varying from 0.5 to 2 h [37–41]. In addition, the k_a value of 2.59 h⁻¹ is in the range of values reported in published population PK models, varying from 0.2 to 3.5 h⁻¹.

The present study also identified large between-subject variability in atorvastatin clearance and central volume of distribution. Although non-compartmental analyses showed an effect of age on atorvastatin disposition [10, 11], the majority of previously published population PK analyses did not report any significant influence [13, 14, 16], while one of the studies found an effect in men only [12]. In our study, this association did not reach statistical significance, although visual inspection of the plots evaluating the effect of age on atorvastatin clearance suggested a slight decrease



Fig. 3 Prediction- and variability-corrected visual predictive check of the final model of atorvastatin (left) and *o*-OH-atorvastatin (right). Open circles represent prediction- and variability-corrected observed plasma concentration; black solid and dashed lines represent the median and $PI_{90\%}$ of the observed data; shaded surfaces represent the model-predicted 90% confidence interval of the simulated

median and PI_{90%}; horizontal black lines are the LLOQ of atorvastatin (0.54 nmol/L) and *o*-OH-atorvastatin (0.87 nmol/L). In the lower panel, shaded areas represent the PI_{90%} of the simulated (shaded surface). BQL data and close circles show the fraction of observed BQL data. *LLOQ* lower limit of quantification, *BQL* below the LLOQ, *PI_{90%}* 90% prediction interval



Fig. 4 Simulated estimates of AUC_{24} for atorvastatin, *o*-OH-atorvastatin and the active moiety in PLWH receiving ARVs not interacting with atorvastatin (grey boxes), receiving boosted ARVs (yellow

in clearance for PLWH older than 60 years of age. This absence of age effect could result from the narrow interquartile range of age (58–71 years) in our population.

boxes), or CYP3A4 inducers (blue boxes). *AUC* area under the concentration–time curve, *PLWH* people living with HIV, *ARVs* antiretrovirals, *CYP* cytochrome P450

This model allowed for the evaluation of the impact of DDIs that are encountered in clinical practice. The dual inhibition of cytochromes and transporters is expected to substantially increase atorvastatin exposure [42]. Inhibition of the hepatic uptake transporter OATP1B1 is expected to reduce the entry of atorvastatin in the liver, whereas inhibition of hepatic BCRP and P-gp decreases the hepatobiliary excretion of atorvastatin. A previously published study demonstrated that inhibition of hepatic transporters of atorvastatin might yield to DDIs with the same magnitude as enzyme inhibition [38], with potential occurrence of atorvastatin toxicity. Indeed, adverse effects such as rhabdomyolysis appeared to be at least partially related to atorvastatin plasma concentrations [43, 44], and several cases of rhabdomyolysis have been reported with the simultaneous administration of moderate or strong CYP3A4 inhibitors [45-48]. Studies suggested that myotoxicity may be related to either atorvastatin lactone or hydroxylated metabolites, or both [6, 39]. However, regardless of the actual incriminated species, its formation critically depends on the disposition and the circulating concentrations of the parent statin, which keeps a determinant interest. No atorvastatin target plasma trough concentrations have been clearly established to avoid toxicity, but caution is needed when co-prescribing enzyme and transporter inhibitors with atorvastatin.

The magnitude of DDIs with atorvastatin differs between boosted regimens. Atorvastatin AUC was shown to be increased by 822% when coadministered with ritonavirboosted atazanavir, while atorvastatin AUC increased by 200-300% and 700-800% when coadministered with ritonavir-boosted darunavir or ritonavir-boosted tipranavir, respectively [37]. Differences in the magnitude of DDIs have been attributed to differences in the ability of PIs to inhibit OATP1B1 [49]. In our study, the lack of data prevented us from differentiating the effect of different boosted regimens on atorvastatin and o-OH-atorvastatin exposure. Model-based simulations revealed a 2.8-fold increase in AUC_{ator} when coadministered with boosted regimens that were mostly boosted darunavir. This result is in good agreement with the manufacturer's data reporting a three- to fourfold increase in atorvastatin AUC when coadministered with ritonavir-boosted darunavir. In addition, another study showed that atorvastatin AUC increased by 290% in cases of coadministration of cobicistat-boosted darunavir [50]. To our knowledge, no study has reported the effect of boosted regimens on the active moiety, which is modulated by the decrease in o-OH-atorvastatin exposure. Our results demonstrated that PLWH receiving concomitantly boosted regimens and atorvastatin at a daily dose of 10 mg obtained an atorvastatin exposure 29% lower than PLWH receiving atorvastatin alone at a daily dose of 40 mg. This result is slightly different, with manufacturer's data reporting a difference of 15% [8]. Conversely, AUC_{ator} and $AUC_{active moiety}$ were 44 and 31% lower, respectively, in PLWH receiving CYP3A4 inducers compared with PLWH receiving ARVs not involved in DDIs with atorvastatin. This is in perfect agreement with studies reporting a moderate magnitude of DDIs between atorvastatin and NNRTIs [51, 52]. Finally, the inducing effect of NNRTIs on CYP3A4 partly compensates for the magnitude of DDIs with boosted ARVs. Of interest, when coadministered together, the inhibitory effect of boosted regimens was shown to be stronger than the concurrent inducing effect of NNRTIs, as evidenced by the fact that AUC_{ator} and AUC_{active moiety} increased by 61 and 21%, respectively.

This study has some limitations. First, the small sample size prevented us from differentiating the effect of different boosted regimens. However, atorvastatin PK data in PLWH are limited in the literature and this work aims to expand the current knowledge on DDIs in a real-life setting. In addition, the effect of boosted ARVs on the magnitude of DDIs could have been slightly attenuated as among the 80 concentrations obtained in PLWH treated with boosted regimens, 12 (15%) were also influenced by CYP3A4 inducers.

Despite these limitations, our study is the first to describe atorvastatin and *o*-OH-atorvastatin disposition by considering the first-pass and presystemic metabolism. The availability of rich PK data with concentrations collected in the absorption phase allowed for a satisfactory description of the entire concentration-time profile of atorvastatin and its metabolite. In addition, data collected in a real-life setting evidenced the high between-subject variability, which is partly explained by DDIs.

5 Conclusions

The present study showed an important between-subject variability in atorvastatin PK that remained largely unexplained after the inclusion of covariates. Since atorvastatin exposure doubles in the presence of boosted ARV drugs, the initial dosage might be reduced by half, and titrated based on clinical risk factors and targets.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank all patients who agreed to participate in the studies, as well as the following persons for their invaluable help and implication in blood sample collection, as study physicians, study coordinators and study nurses: Anne-Sophie Brunel, Benjamin Viala, Chiara Saracci, Dan Lebowitz, Katharine Darling, Deolinda Alves, Vreneli Waelti Da Costa, Alexandra Mitouassiwou-Samba, Valérie Sormani (Lausanne Center), and Manuel Battegay, Marcel Stoeckle, Irena Ferati, Kerstin Asal, Rebekka Plattner, Reinhild Harant, Silke Purschke, Vanessa Grassedonio, Vreni Werder (Basel Center).

Compliance with Ethical Standards

Funding This work was supported by two Swiss National Science Foundation grants (Grant SNF No. 324730-165956 to LAD (Lausanne) and Grant No. 324730-166204 to CM (Basel), as well as Grants from the OPO and Isaac Dreyfus Foundations to CM (Basel). The SHCS #815 study received the 2017 SHCS Abbvie Award (awarded to LAD and CM). **Conflict of interest** Perrine Courlet, Laurent A. Decosterd, Susana Alves Saldanha, Felix Stader, Thierry Buclin, Catia Marzolini, Chantal Csajka, and MoniaGuidi have no conflicts of interest to declare. Matthias Cavassini has, through his institution, received research grants from ViiV and Gilead, and offered expert testimony for Abbvie, MSD, Gilead, and Sandoz. Marcel Stoeckle received advisory board fees from Gilead, ViiV, MSD, Sandoz and Mepha, as well as grants for conferences from Gilead and MSD, however these were unrelated to the present study.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License, which permits any non-commercial use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/.

References

- Barry M, Mulcahy F, Merry C, Gibbons S, Back D. Pharmacokinetics and potential interactions amongst antiretroviral agents used to treat patients with HIV infection. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1999;36(4):289–304.
- Moss D, Siccardi M, Marzolini C. Mechanisms of drug interactions II: transport proteins. In: Pai M, Kiser J, Gubbins P, Rodvold K, editors. Drug interactions in infectious diseases: mechanisms and models of drug interactions. Infectious Disease. Cham: Humana Press; 2018. p. 49–85.
- Lennernas H. Clinical pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2003;42(13):1141–60.
- 4. Jacobsen W, Kuhn B, Soldner A, Kirchner G, Sewing KF, Kollman PA, et al. Lactonization is the critical first step in the disposition of the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase inhibitor atorvastatin. Drug Metab Dispos. 2000;28(11):1369–78.
- Skottheim IB, Gedde-Dahl A, Hejazifar S, Hoel K, Asberg A. Statin induced myotoxicity: the lactone forms are more potent than the acid forms in human skeletal muscle cells in vitro. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2008;33(4–5):317–25.
- Hermann M, Bogsrud MP, Molden E, Asberg A, Mohebi BU, Ose L, et al. Exposure of atorvastatin is unchanged but lactone and acid metabolites are increased several-fold in patients with atorvastatin-induced myopathy. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2006;79(6):532–9.
- 7. Wu X, Whitfield LR, Stewart BH. Atorvastatin transport in the Caco-2 cell model: contributions of P-glycoprotein and the proton-monocarboxylic acid co-transporter. Pharm Res. 2000;17(2):209–15.
- Janssen-Cilag. Prezista Summary of Product Characteristics. Janssen-Cilag; 2012. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/ product-information/prezista-epar-product-information_en.pdf
- Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M, Backman JT. Drug interactions with lipidlowering drugs: mechanisms and clinical relevance. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2006;80(6):565–81.
- DeGorter MK, Tirona RG, Schwarz UI, Choi YH, Dresser GK, Suskin N, et al. Clinical and pharmacogenetic predictors of circulating atorvastatin and rosuvastatin concentrations in routine clinical care. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2013;6(4):400–8.

- Gibson DM, Bron NJ, Richens A, Hounslow NJ, Sedman AJ, Whitfield LR. Effect of age and gender on pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin in humans. J Clin Pharmacol. 1996;36(3):242–6.
- Schwartz JB, Verotta D. Population analyses of atorvastatin clearance in patients living in the community and in nursing homes. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2009;86(5):497–502.
- 13. Knebel W, Gastonguay MR, Malhotra B, El-Tahtawy A, Jen F, Gandelman K. Population pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and its active metabolites in children and adolescents with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia: selective use of informative prior distributions from adults. J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;53(5):505–16.
- Narwal R, Akhlaghi F, Asberg A, Hermann M, Rosenbaum SE. Development of a population pharmacokinetic model for atorvastatin acid and its lactone metabolite. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2010;49(10):693–702.
- Macwan JS, Sam WJ, Gohh R, Akhlaghi F. Development of a complex combined parent-metabolite population pharmacokinetic model for atorvastatin acid and its lactone metabolite: implication of renal transplantation. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn. 2013;40:S73–4.
- Tsamandouras N, Guo Y, Wendling T, Hall S, Galetin A, Aarons L. Modelling of atorvastatin pharmacokinetics and the identification of the effect of a BCRP polymorphism in the Japanese population. Pharmacogenet Genomics. 2017;27(1):27–38.
- Courlet P, Stader F, Guidi M, Saldanha SA, Stoeckle M, Cavassini M, et al. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging patients enrolled in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Aids. 2020;34(1):103–8.
- Courlet P, Spaggiari D, Desfontaine V, Cavassini M, Alves Saldanha S, Buclin T, et al. UHPLC-MS/MS assay for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for population-scale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2019;1125:121733.
- Fayet A, Beguin A, Zanolari B, Cruchon S, Guignard N, Telenti A, et al. A LC-tandem MS assay for the simultaneous measurement of new antiretroviral agents: raltegravir, maraviroc, darunavir, and etravirine. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2009;877(11–12):1057–69.
- Lindbom L, Pihlgren P, Jonsson EN. PsN-Toolkit—a collection of computer intensive statistical methods for non-linear mixed effect modeling using NONMEM. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2005;79(3):241–57.
- Keizer RJ, van Benten M, Beijnen JH, Schellens JH, Huitema AD. Pirana and PCluster: a modeling environment and cluster infrastructure for NONMEM. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2011;101(1):72–9.
- 22. European Medicine Agency. Atorvastatin, summary of product characteristics. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/ documents/referral/lipitor-article-30-referral-annex-iii_en.pdf.
- 23. Vandenberghe F, Guidi M, Choong E, von Gunten A, Conus P, Csajka C, et al. Genetics-based population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of risperidone in a psychiatric cohort. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2015;54(12):1259–72.
- 24. Bouzom F, Laveille C, Merdjan H, Jochemsen R. Use of nonlinear mixed effect modeling for the meta-analysis of preclinical pharmacokinetic data: application to S 20342 in the rat. J Pharm Sci. 2000;89(5):603–13.
- 25. US FDA. Drug Development and Drug Interactions: Table of Substrates, Inhibitors and Inducers. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ drugs/developmentapprovalprocess/developmentresources/drugi nteractionslabeling/ucm093664.htm.
- 26. Arab-Alameddine M, Lubomirov R, Fayet-Mello A, Aouri M, Rotger M, Buclin T, et al. Population pharmacokinetic modelling and evaluation of different dosage regimens for darunavir and

ritonavir in HIV-infected individuals. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014;69(9):2489–98.

- 27. Bergstrand M, Karlsson MO. Handling data below the limit of quantification in mixed effect models. AAPS J. 2009;11(2):371-80.
- Beal SL. Ways to fit a PK model with some data below the quantification limit. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn. 2001;28(5):481–504.
- Bergstrand M, Hooker AC, Wallin JE, Karlsson MO. Prediction-corrected visual predictive checks for diagnosing nonlinear mixed-effects models. AAPS J. 2011;13(2):143–51.
- Jonsson EN, Karlsson MO. Xpose: an S-PLUS based population pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic model building aid for NON-MEM. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 1999;58(1):51–64.
- Niemi M. Transporter pharmacogenetics and statin toxicity. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2010;87(1):130–3.
- 32. Shitara Y, Maeda K, Ikejiri K, Yoshida K, Horie T, Sugiyama Y. Clinical significance of organic anion transporting polypeptides (OATPs) in drug disposition: their roles in hepatic clearance and intestinal absorption. Biopharm Drug Dispos. 2013;34(1):45–78.
- Woo HI, Kim SR, Huh W, Ko JW, Lee SY. Association of genetic variations with pharmacokinetics and lipid-lowering response to atorvastatin in healthy Korean subjects. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2017;11:1135–46.
- Keskitalo JE, Zolk O, Fromm MF, Kurkinen KJ, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. ABCG2 polymorphism markedly affects the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2009;86(2):197–203.
- 35. Li R, Barton HA. Explaining ethnic variability of transporter substrate pharmacokinetics in healthy asian and caucasian subjects with allele frequencies of OATP1B1 and BCRP: a mechanistic modeling analysis. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2018;57(4):491–503.
- Swiss Medic. Information sur le médicament. Available at: http:// www.swissmedicinfo.ch.
- 37. Pham PA, la Porte CJ, Lee LS, van Heeswijk R, Sabo JP, Elgadi MM, et al. Differential effects of tipranavir plus ritonavir on atorvastatin or rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2009;53(10):4385–92.
- Lau YY, Huang Y, Frassetto L, Benet LZ. effect of OATP1B transporter inhibition on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin in healthy volunteers. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2007;81(2):194–204.
- Kantola T, Kivisto KT, Neuvonen PJ. Effect of itraconazole on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1998;64(1):58–65.
- Bullman J, Nicholls A, Van Landingham K, Fleck R, Vuong A, Miller J, et al. Effects of lamotrigine and phenytoin on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin in healthy volunteers. Epilepsia. 2011;52(7):1351–8.

- Backman JT, Luurila H, Neuvonen M, Neuvonen PJ. Rifampin markedly decreases and gemfibrozil increases the plasma concentrations of atorvastatin and its metabolites. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2005;78(2):154–67.
- Chauvin B, Drouot S, Barrail-Tran A, Taburet AM. Drugdrug interactions between HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors (statins) and antiviral protease inhibitors. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2013;52(10):815–31.
- Ucar M, Mjorndal T, Dahlqvist R. HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors and myotoxicity. Drug Saf. 2000;22(6):441–57.
- 44. Heerey A, Barry M, Ryan M, Kelly A. The potential for drug interactions with statin therapy in Ireland. Ir J Med Sci. 2000;169(3):176–9.
- 45. Hsiao SH, Chang HJ, Hsieh TH, Kao SM, Yeh PY, Wu TJ. Rhabdomyolysis caused by the moderate CYP3A4 inhibitor fluconazole in a patient on stable atorvastatin therapy: a case report and literature review. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2016;41(5):575–8.
- 46. Nandy A, Gaini S. Severe rhabdomyolysis as complication of interaction between atorvastatin and fusidic acid in a patient in lifelong antibiotic prophylaxis: a dangerous combination. Case Rep Med. 2016;2016:4705492.
- Kahri J, Valkonen M, Backlund T, Vuoristo M, Kivisto KT. Rhabdomyolysis in a patient receiving atorvastatin and fluconazole. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2005;60(12):905–7.
- Mah Ming JB, Gill MJ. Drug-induced rhabdomyolysis after concomitant use of clarithromycin, atorvastatin, and lopinavir/ritonavir in a patient with HIV. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2003;17(5):207–10.
- Annaert P, Ye ZW, Stieger B, Augustijns P. Interaction of HIV protease inhibitors with OATP1B1, 1B3, and 2B1. Xenobiotica. 2010;40(3):163–76.
- 50. Custodio JM, West S, SenGupta D, Zari A, Humeniuk R, Ling KH, et al. Evaluation of the drug-drug interaction potential between cobicistat-boosted protease inhibitors and statins [abstract no. O_04]. In: 18th international workshop on clinical pharmacology of antiviral therapy; 14–16 June 2017; Chicago.
- 51. Schöller-Gyüre M, Kakuda TN, De Smedt G, Woodfall B, Bollen S, Peeters M, Vandermeulen K, Hoetelmans RM, et al. Pharmacokinetic interaction between the non-nucleoside reverse transcriptaseinhibitors (NNRTI) TMC125 and atorvastatin in HIVnegative volunteers. In: IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis, Treatment and Prevention. Sydney:NSW;2007.
- 52. Gerber JG, Rosenkranz SL, Fichtenbaum CJ, Vega JM, Yang A, Alston BL, et al. Effect of efavirenz on the pharmacokinetics of simvastatin, atorvastatin, and pravastatin: results of AIDS Clinical Trials Group 5108 Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2005;39(3):307–12.

Affiliations

Perrine Courlet¹ · Laurent A. Decosterd¹ · Susana Alves Saldanha¹ · Matthias Cavassini² · Felix Stader^{3,4} · Marcel Stoeckle³ · Thierry Buclin¹ · Catia Marzolini^{3,4} · Chantal Csajka^{5,6,7} · Monia Guidi^{1,5,6} · The Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Laurent A. Decosterd http://tribu.intranet.chuv/profile.htm?user=334805

- ¹ Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland
- ² Service of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland
- ³ Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital of Basel, Basel, Switzerland
- ⁴ University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

- ⁵ Centre for Research and Innovation in Clinical Pharmaceutical Sciences, University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland
- ⁶ Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Western Switzerland, University of Geneva, University of Lausanne, Geneva, Switzerland
- ⁷ School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

IV.4. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modelling to

describe non-HDL cholesterol lowering effect of rosuvastatin

in people living with HIV.

Perrine Courlet¹, Monia Guidi^{1,2,3}, Susana Alves Saldanha¹, Felix Stader^{4,5}, Anna-Katrin Traytel⁶, Matthias Cavassini⁷, Marcel Stoeckle⁴, Thierry Buclin¹, Catia Marzolini^{4,5}, Laurent A. Decosterd¹, Chantal Csajka^{2,3,8} and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study.

¹Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland
 ² Centre for Research and Innovation in Clinical Pharmaceutical Sciences, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland
 ³Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Western Switzerland, University of Geneva, University of Lausanne, Geneva, Switzerland
 ⁴Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital of Basel, Switzerland
 ⁵University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland.

⁷Service of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

⁸School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

Manuscript in preparation

IV.4.1. Abstract

Background

Rosuvastatin is a widely prescribed lipid-lowering agent in people living with HIV (PLWH) actively transported in the liver, and a potential victim of drug-drug interactions (DDIs) with antiretroviral agents.

Objectives

The aims of this study were to characterize the pharmacokinetic (PK) profile of rosuvastatin and to describe the relationship between rosuvastatin PK and non-HDL-cholesterol levels.

Methods

A population PK model (NONMEM) was developed to quantify the influence of demographic, clinical characteristics and comedications on rosuvastatin PK. This model was combined with an indirect effect model to describe non-HDL-cholesterol profiles.

Results

A two-compartment model with sequential zero- and first-order absorption best fitted the 154 rosuvastatin concentrations provided by 65 PLWH. None of the tested covariate was significantly associated with rosuvastatin PK. A total of 403 non-HDL cholesterol were available for the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) modelling. Baseline non-HDL cholesterol was decreased by 14% and increased by 12% with etravirine or ARV drugs with a known impact on lipid profile (*i.e.* Pls, efavirenz, cobicistat), respectively. Baseline value was surprisingly decreased by 43% between PLWH aged 40 to 80 years-old. Model-based simulations revealed that, under standard rosuvastatin doses of 5 mg and 20 mg once daily, 31% and 64% of PLWH might achieve non-HDL-cholesterol targets, respectively.

Conclusion

A high between-subject variability has been observed in both rosuvastatin pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profiles that remains unexplained after the inclusion of covariates. Considering its limited potency for DDIs with ARV agents and its effective lipid-lowering effect, rosuvastatin treatment should be favoured in PLWH.

IV.4.2. Introduction

The aging of people living with HIV (PLWH) and the higher risk for cardiovascular disease in this population resulted in an increased use of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG CoA) reductase inhibitors (*i.e.* statins) [1, 2]

. The management of dyslipidemia in PLWH is complicated by the high potential of antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) for drug-drug interactions (DDIs), which may increase statin plasma concentrations, thus

potentially leading to clinically significant adverse events such as rhabdomyolysis [3, 4]. In addition, the decline in organs functions with age may affect statin pharmacokinetics (PK) and thereby the magnitude of DDIs.

Rosuvastatin is a widely prescribed lipid lowering agent, which undergoes minor metabolism. Nevertheless, rosuvastatin is actively transported in the liver by the organic-anion-transporting polypeptide OATP1B1/3. It is also a substrate of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP), a transporter present in the intestine and in the liver where it limits the absorption and the biliary elimination of drug substrates [5]. By inhibiting both OATP1B1/3 and BCRP, protease inhibitors (PIs) are then expected to increase rosuvastatin exposure, although to a minor to moderate extent. Coadministration of ritonavir-boosted darunavir has been shown to increase rosuvastatin area under the curve (AUC) and maximal concentration (C_{max}) by 48% and 144% [6], respectively, while coadministration of cobicistat-boosted darunavir increased rosuvastatin AUC by 93% and C_{max} by 277% [7]. Current recommendations indicate to initiate rosuvastatin at the lowest possible dose in presence of boosted darunavir and not to exceed 20 mg once daily. Studies have been conducted mainly in young HIV-negative individuals (median age of about 25-30 years-old), and no guidance is available on how to adjust rosuvastatin dosage in elderly people.

In addition to their potential for DDIs, ARV treatments and notably PIs may cause metabolic complications such as lipid disorders, thus complicating the management of dyslipidemia in PLWH [8]. A study reported a 10% and 56% increase in total cholesterol and triglycerides in individuals receiving rosuvastatin with ritonavir-boosted darunavir *vs.* rosuvastatin alone, while HDL-cholesterol levels decreased by 13%, highlighting the potential of PIs to trigger lipid disorders [6].

The purposes of the present study were to characterize the PK profile of rosuvastatin in PLWH in reallife settings, and to quantify the effect of demographic and clinical covariates on its disposition. Secondly, this work aimed at describing the relationship between rosuvastatin plasma concentrations and non-HDL-cholesterol levels.

IV.4.3. Methods

IV.4.3.1. Study population and design

Rosuvastatin PK data were collected in PLWH from the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS) enrolled in two studies conducted in Lausanne and Basel. First, PK investigations with rich sampling were conducted in aging PLWH, as described elsewhere [9] (clinicaltrials.gov, NCT03515772). The second study involved the collection of sparse plasma samples during patient's biannual cohort visits, at unselected times after the last drug intake. Exclusion criteria from the analysis included undetectable rosuvastatin plasma concentrations and non-reliable time information (*i.e.* date and hour about last drug intake or

blood sampling). The following data were also recorded at the same time as blood intake for PK measurements: age, gender, body weight, total cholesterol (TC), HDL-cholesterol, triglycerides (TG), aspartate amino transferase (AST), amino alanine transferase (ALT), serum creatinine concentration, presence of diabetes and concomitant medications. Recorded comedications included antiretroviral treatment as well as medications for comorbidities. Although rosuvastatin is primarily excreted in the feces, creatinine clearance was estimated by the Cockcroft-Gault formula [10] since severe renal insufficiency has been reported to impact rosuvastatin disposition, while mild to moderate renal impairment did not affect affect rosuvastatin PK [11].

Total and HDL-cholesterol levels before initiation of rosuvastatin treatment were retrieved from the SHCS database. Since time of blood intake was not recorded, it was arbitrarily fixed at 8 am, considering the low circadian variation of cholesterol [12] compared to the expected statin lipid-lowering effect. At the same date, the following data were also reported for the pharmacodynamic (PD) analysis: weight, AST, ALT, presence of diabetes, antiretroviral treatment and comedications.

IV.4.3.2. Rosuvastatin and non-HDL cholesterol quantifications

Blood samples for determination of rosuvastatin plasma levels were collected on EDTA-containing tubes. Plasma were aliquoted, shipped frozen (Basel samples) and stored at -80°C until analysis. All rosuvastatin plasma level measurements were performed at the laboratory of clinical pharmacology at Lausanne University Hospital by ultra-high performance liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry [13].

For the PK study with rich sampling, total cholesterol and HDL-cholesterol levels were analysed using enzymatic reactions catalysed by cholesterol oxidase as routinely performed at the laboratory of clinical chemistry of the Lausanne University Hospital. For plasma samples collected during the sparse sampling study and plasma samples collected before rosuvastatin initiation, cholesterol levels were measured by each centre according to the method used routinely (*i.e.* enzymatic test for both centres). Since PLWH have often higher than normal TG values, LDL values cannot be reliably derived using the Friedewald formula [14]. Non-HDL-cholesterol levels were thus calculated by subtracting HDL-cholesterol to total cholesterol levels.

IV.4.3.3. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic analysis

Population PK/PD analyses were conducted using non-linear mixed-effect modelling (NONMEM) (version 7.4.2, ICON Development Solutions, Ellicott City, MD, USA), supplemented by the PsN-Toolkit (version 4.2.0) and Pirana version 2.9.2 [15, 16]. Data management, statistical and graphical analyses and graphical were performed using R (version 3.6.1) (http://www.r-project.org).

PK structural model

Log-transformed rosuvastatin plasma concentrations were fitted using the first-order conditional estimation with interaction (FOCEI), with the subroutine ADVAN4 TRANS4. Analyses were first performed using full PK profiles, and subsequently adding sparse data. The model that best fitted the data was identified using a stepwise procedure, comparing one- and two-compartment models, with first-, zero-order or mixed (sequential or simultaneous) absorption process, potentially including a lag time. Between-subject variability was assumed to follow a log-normal distribution and was described by exponential errors. An additive error model on the log scale was used to describe the residual variability.

<u>PK/PD model</u>

The final PK model was combined with an indirect effect model to describe non-HDL-cholesterol data (figure 1). Considering that the decrease in non-HDL-cholesterol plasma levels following rosuvastatin treatment is mediated trough HMG-CoA reductase inhibition, the variation of non-HDL-cholesterol over time was described as follows:

$$\frac{dnonHDLchol}{dt} = K_{in} \times \left(1 - \frac{C_t}{IC_{50} + C_t}\right) - K_{out} \times nonHDLchol$$

where k_{in} and k_{out} denote the production and elimination rate of non-HDL-cholesterol, respectively; C_t the PK model predicted rosuvastatin plasma concentration at time t and IC_{50} the rosuvastatin concentration that leads to a 50% inhibition of non-HDL-cholesterol production.

Non-HDL-cholesterol compartment was initialized with a baseline level, and K_{out} was defined as K_{in}/baseline. Exponential errors following log-normal distributions were assumed for the description of between-subject variability of PD parameters. Additive, proportional and mixed error models were compared to capture at best the residual unexplained variability.



Figure 1: Compartmental model used to describe rosuvastatin PK and PD data. Ka: absorption rate constant, D1: duration of zero-order absorption, V_c: apparent central volume of distribution, CI: apparent rosuvastatin clearance, Q: inter-compartmental clearance, V_p: apparent peripheral volume of distribution, K_{in}: production rate of non-HDL-cholesterol, K_{out}: elimination rate of non-HDL-cholesterol, C_t: rosuvastatin plasma concentration predicted by the model; IC₅₀: rosuvastatin concentration that produced a 50% inhibition of non-HDL-cholesterol production.

Covariate analysis

All potential and physiologically plausible associations were first graphically explored and then tested in univariate analyses in both PK and PD models. Patient's characteristics investigated for their impact on the PK parameters in the PK analyses were: gender, age, body weight, creatinine clearance, ALT, AST and presence of boosted PI. The effect of boosted PIs was tested on the absorption phase as studies reported a more pronounced effect of boosted PIs on rosuvastatin C_{max} than AUC [6, 7, 17]. Since the absorption rate constant (ka) and duration of zero-order absorption (D1) were fixed in the model, the effect of boosted PIs was tested on the volume of distribution (V_c), which also reflects the absorption phase.

In the PD model, covariates have been tested only on the baseline, unique parameter with quantifiable between-subject variability that can be explained with covariate inclusions [18]. The association between individual baseline levels and age, gender, body weight, AST, ALT, diabetes, antiretroviral treatment and presence of additional lipid-lowering agents was explored. Statistically significant covariates were then included in a stepwise forward inclusion and backward deletion approach. Continuous variables were centred on their median value and tested using linear and allometric relationships, as appropriate. For the PD part of the model, age was also tested as a time-varying covariate to account for differences in the within- and between-subject covariate effect, either by estimating a baseline covariate effect and a difference from baseline covariate effect, or by including between-subject variability on the covariate effect [19].

Further exploration of the effect of age on baseline was carried out by testing the effect of age at rosuvastatin treatment start, and of the follow-up period (*i.e.* time between the first and the last non-HDL-cholesterol value). Categorical covariates were coded as indicator variables, as 0 or 1. Missing values for weight, AST, ALT and creatinine clearance were imputed to the population median value. The effect of ARV drugs on PK/PD parameters was evaluated either by independently testing each ARV agent or grouping them considering their potential for DDIs with rosuvastatin (PK part of the model) or their impact on lipids according to the European AIDS Clinical Society (EACS) (20).

Parameter estimation and model selection

Hierarchical models were discriminated using the log likelihood ratio test, based on changes in the objective function value (Δ OFV). Goodness-of-fit plots, precision and plausibility of model parameters were also considered to evaluate the reliability of the model. In univariate analyses and forward inclusion of covariates, a decrease in OFV greater than 3.84 (p<0.05) was considered statistically significant. During backward deletion step, a covariate was retained in the final model if its deletion from the full model led to a 7.88-point increase in the OFV (p<0.005).

Model evaluation

A sensitivity analysis was performed to evaluate the potential leverage effect of outliers' concentrations on significant covariates. The comparison between parameter estimates obtained with the complete *vs.* reduced (*i.e.* after exclusion of these concentrations) dataset allowed deciding on the inclusion/removal of the data into/from the dataset.

The stability of the final PK and PK/PD models was assessed by the non-parametric bootstrap method using 2000 sampling with replacement to generate median parameters along with their 95% confidence intervals (Cl_{95%}), and to compare them with the final model estimates. In addition, prediction-corrected visual predictive checks (pcVPC) of final PK and PK/PD models were built using 1000 simulations [21].

Model-based simulations

Model-based simulations were performed to compare rosuvastatin maximal concentrations (C_{max}), minimal concentrations (C_{min}), and area under the concentration-time profile from 0 to 24h (AUC₀₋₂₄) under different ARV drugs. Non-HDL-cholesterol levels were also simulated and compared to a target value of 2.8 mmol/L, calculated by adding 0.8 mmol/L to the LDL target recommended by the EACS (2.0 mmol/L) [14, 20].

IV.4.4. Results

IV.4.4.1. Study population and data

The six PLWH enrolled in the PK study with rich sampling provided 65 rosuvastatin plasma concentrations. Additionally, 89 rosuvastatin plasma concentrations were collected in 62 PLWH in a sparse sampling design (figure 2). A median of 11 (range 10-11) and 1 (range 1-3) samples par patient was collected during the rich and sparse sampling studies, respectively, from 0.2 to 38.5 hours after the last drug intake. Rosuvastatin daily dose varied between 5 and 20 mg, with a median of 10 mg.



Figure 2: Standardized observed rosuvastatin plasma concentration-time profiles. Rosuvastatin plasma concentrations were standardized for a daily dose of 10 mg once daily and are presented in log-scale. Concentrations in PLWH receiving boosted PIs are presented in pink triangles while concentrations observed in PLWH receiving ARV drugs devoid of interaction potential in white circles. Rosuvastatin plasma concentrations observed in PLWH enrolled in the PK study with rich sampling are joined with black lines.

Characteristics of the study population are presented in table 1. Median age of participants was 61 years-old and ritonavir-boosted darunavir was the most frequent coadministered antiretroviral agent.

Patient's characteristics at baseline	Median [IQR] or n (%)	
(N=65)		
Age (years)	55 [49-64]	
Women	8 (12)	
Body weight (kg)	75 [66-85]	
Missing data	2 (3)	
ALT (UI/L)	29 [23-45]	
Missing data	4 (6)	
AST (UI/L)	28 [23-36]	
Missing data	4 (6)	
Creatinine clearance (mL.min ⁻¹ .1.73m ⁻²)	87 [79-119]	
Missing data	4 (6)	
Comedications (N=154)	n (%)	
Ritonavir-boosted darunavir*	70 (46)	
Cobicistat-boosted darunavir*	4 (3)	
Ritonavir-boosted atazanavir*	1 (1)	
Cobicistat-boosted atazanavir*	2 (1)	
Cobicistat-boosted elvitegravir	14 (9)	
Etravirine	38 (25)	
Efavirenz	21 (14)	
Nevirapine	9 (6)	
Rilpivirine	2 (1)	
Dolutegravir	47 (31)	
0		

Table 1: Demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population.

*Considered as boosted PIs

A total of 403 non-HDL cholesterol values were available for the PK/PD modelling (253 and 150 values before and after rosuvastatin beginning, respectively). Fifty-five PLWH had at least one baseline non-HDL-cholesterol level, collected in a median of 1.1 years (range 0-3.7) before rosuvastatin treatment start. The number of baseline non-HDL-cholesterol values per individual varied between 0 and 5, with a median of 5. After rosuvastatin initiation, data were collected for a median of 3.7 years (range 0-20.4). Characteristics of the study population before and after rosuvastatin initiation are presented in supplementary material 1.

IV.4.4.2. PK/PD analysis

<u>PK analysis</u>

A two-compartment model with sequential zero- and first-order absorption adequately described rosuvastatin full PK profiles (figure 1). Ka and D1 were estimated at 0.306 h⁻¹ and 0.461 h. Fixing these parameters to these values during subsequent model development allowed a precise and plausible estimation of the other PK parameters when analysing the full dataset. Between-subject variability was estimated on clearance (Cl) and central volume of distribution (V_c). An additive error model in the log-scale adequately described the residual variability.

In univariate analyses, no covariate showed any influence on Cl, and coadministration of boosted PIs decreased V_c by 65% when coadministered with boosted PIs (Δ OFV=-3.88), and increased by 3-fold in women (Δ OFV= -6.12). None of the other tested covariates showed any significant influence on Cl or V_c (Δ OFV ≥-2.63; p>0.10). Overall, no covariate was retained in the final model due to a lack of statistical significance during the multivariate analysis. Of note, the sensitivity analysis performed excluding one individual (11 plasma samples) with high rosuvastatin plasma concentrations justified the maintenance of this individual in the dataset, *i.e.* no clinically significant changes in the parameter estimates or in the covariate impacts were observed.

Parameter estimates of the final rosuvastatin PK model along with bootstrap results are presented in Supplementary material 2. Model reliability was supported by the bootstrap results showing that median values differed less than 15% compared to the population estimates. In addition, pcVPC (supplementary material 3) demonstrated an adequate description of the data by the model.

<u>PK/PD analysis</u>

In the PK/PD model, between-subject variability was estimated with good precision on baseline and IC_{50} . A proportional error model adequately captured the residual variability. Univariate analyses revealed that etravirine, ARV drugs with a known negative impact on lipids (*i.e.* PIs, efavirenz and cobicistat) and age had a significant effect on baseline non-HDL-cholesterol ($\Delta OFV < -11.9$; p<5.10⁻⁴). The effect of age was modelled using a linear function and the addition of a time-varying covariate effect did not improve the fit ($\Delta OFV = -2.69$; p=0.10). The decrease in the OFV was more pronounced when including the effect of age compared to the inclusion of both the age at start of rosuvastatin treatment and of the follow-up period ($\Delta OFV = 3.4$; p=0.07).

All the covariates were retained after multivariate analyses. Coadministration of etravirine was associated with a 14% decrease in baseline non-HDL-cholesterol value. Conversely, coadministration of PIs, efavirenz or cobicistat increased baseline level by 12%. Finally, baseline value was surprisingly decreased by 43% between PLWH aged 40 to 80 years-old.

Parameter estimates from the final PK/PD model are presented in table 2. All parameters were estimated with good precision (RSE≤39%), except for the effect of ARV with negative impact on lipids on baseline value (RSE=65%). The latter was however retained in the final model because of its known impact on non-HDL-cholesterol values. Bootstrap analyses are ongoing for model validation.

	Final model				
Parameter	Estimate	RSE (%)			
Pharmacokinetics					
Ka (h ⁻¹)	0.306 FIX				
D1 (h)	0.461 FIX				
CL (L.h ⁻¹)	122	9			
ω _{CL} (CV%)	51	13			
V _c (L)	144	47			
ω _{Vc} (CV%)	94	30			
V _p (L)	1610	33			
Q (L.h ⁻¹)	69	19			
Additive residual error ¹	0.30	14			
Pharmacodynamics					
K_{in} (mmol.L ⁻¹ .h ⁻¹)	0.02	20			
Baseline (mmol.L ⁻¹)	3.6	7			
ω_{baseline} (CV%)	20	9			
θ_{ARV}	0.12	65			
θ_{ETV}	-0.14	39			
θ_{age}	-0.81	24			
IC ₅₀ (ng/mL)	15.8	30			
ω _{IC50} (CV%)	101	17			
Proportional residual error (%)	42	5			

Table 2: Parameter estimates of the final PK/PD model.

RSE: relative standard error, defined as SE/estimate, CI: confidence interval, Ka: absorption rate constant, D1: duration of zero-order absorption, CL: rosuvastatin clearance, V_c: rosuvastatin central volume of distribution, V_p: rosuvastatin peripheral volume of distribution, Q: inter-compartmental clearance, K_{in}: production rate of non-HDL-cholesterol, θ_{ARV} : effect of ARV with negative impact on lipids (*i.e.* boosted PIs, cobicistat and efavirenz) on baseline, θ_{ETV} : effect of etravirine on baseline, θ_{age} :

effect of age on baseline, IC₅₀: rosuvastatin concentration that led to a 50% inhibition of non-HDLcholesterol production, ω : between-subject variability ¹Additive residual error in log scale, reported as standard deviation

Goodness of fit plots for the final PK/PD model are shown in supplementary material 4. Finally, the pcVPC indicated an adequate description of the observed data by the final model (figure 3).



Figure 3: Prediction-corrected visual predictive check of the final PK/PD model. Open circles represent log rosuvastatin plasma concentrations (left) and non-HDL cholesterol values (right). The continuous line represents the median observed concentration and the dashed lines represent the observed 2.5% and 97.5% percentiles. Shaded areas represent the model-based 95% confidence interval for the median, the 2.5% and 97.5% percentiles.

Model-based simulations

Even though coadministration of boosted PIs was not retained as a covariate in the final PK model, model-based simulations were performed to compare rosuvastatin disposition when coadministered with boosted PIs or ARV drugs devoid of interaction potential. As demonstrated in figure 4, while rosuvastatin AUC₀₋₂₄ did not differ between ARV regimens, rosuvastatin C_{max} and C_{min} were increased by 29% and decreased by 6%, respectively when coadministered with boosted PIs.



Figure 4: Rosuvastatin simulated plasma concentrations (n=1000) after administration of a standard dose of 10 mg once daily, alone (pink) or with boosted PIs (grey). Continuous lines represent the population median prediction and shaded areas represent 95% prediction interval for rosuvastatin alone (grey) or with boosted PIs (pink).

Simulations based on the structural PK/PD model (covariate-free model) showed that non-HDLcholesterol targets were achieved in 31% of PLWH receiving a rosuvastatin dose of 5 mg once daily while this proportion reached 64% after the administration of a rosuvastatin daily dose of 20 mg (figure 5). The coadministration of inhibitors or inducers are not expected to have a clinical impact on the achievement of therapeutic targets.



Figure 5: Distribution of non-HDL-cholesterol values, 24h after administration of rosuvastatin dose at steady state, simulated in 1000 individuals using the base PK/PD model. Dashed line represents the non-HDL-cholesterol target according to EACS guidelines [20].

IV.4.5. Discussion

Our study presents rosuvastatin exposure in a real-life setting of PLWH. To date, rosuvastatin population PK studies have been performed in healthy volunteers or pediatric patients [11, 22], but not in an HIV-infected population. PK parameters are in good accordance with previously published studies, while large fluctuations have been observed in the literature with values of volume of distribution varying from 1255 to 4870 L [11, 23, 24]. Our study reports a high between-subject variability on rosuvastatin Cl and V_c. This can be attributed to OATP1B1 and BCRP genetic polymorphism which have been shown to strongly affect rosuvastatin PK, mainly during the absorption phase [25, 26]. Despite this high variability, none of the tested covariates was retained in the final PK model. Although creatinine clearance and ethnicity have been shown to significantly influence rosuvastatin disposition in a previously published paper [11], the narrow interquartile range of creatinine clearance and the low percentage of non-white PLWH in our population prevented us to replicate these results.

The effect of ARV agents on rosuvastatin PK has already been described. PK studies reported a 243% and 148% increase in rosuvastatin C_{max} and AUC_{0-24} when coadministered with ritonavir-boosted darunavir (6) and a 277% and 93% increase in rosuvastatin C_{max} and AUC_{0-24} when coadministered with

cobicistat-boosted darunavir [7]. In addition, coadministration of ritonavir-boosted atazanavir and ritonavir-boosted lopinavir have been shown to increase rosuvastatin Cmax by 600% and 370% respectively, while AUC₀₋₂₄ was increased by 213% and 110%, respectively [17, 27]. The reported differences in the magnitude of DDIs between rosuvastatin and several boosted PIs have been attributed to their different potency to inhibit OATP1B1 [28]. In our study, the small sample size when individually considering each boosted PI prevented us to differentiate each of their effect on rosuvastatin PK. Our results demonstrated that coadministration of boosted PIs increased rosuvastatin C_{max} by 29%, without any influence on rosuvastatin exposure. The difference in the magnitude of DDIs compared to the above results may be related to the lack of data and to the high between-subject variability, notably during the absorption phase. Indeed, previously published studies were conducted in healthy volunteers [6, 7, 17, 27], who do not reflect the complex situation in a real-life clinical setting. In our non-selected population of PLWH, the 29% increase in rosuvastatin C_{max} when coadministered with boosted PIs was considered non-clinically significant. Our results are in line with the EACS guidelines, in which the maximum recommended daily dose of rosuvastatin when coadministered with boosted PIs does not differ from the maximal recommended dose in the general population. However, since some cases of rhabdomyolysis have been reported in PLWH concomitantly rosuvastatin and boosted PIs, clinical signs of adverse reactions should be cautiously monitored [3, 4].

To our knowledge, no PK/PD analysis describing rosuvastatin lipid-lowering effect has been published. The PD analysis revealed a large between-subject variability on the IC₅₀ parameter, which could be related to the genetic polymorphism in transporters involved in the entry of rosuvastatin in the liver, thus regulating its concentration in the hepatocyte, the site of action. Between-subject variability on the baseline was smaller and remained unexplained after the inclusion of covariates. The absence of significant effect of gender and body weight on the PD parameters is in good agreement with a population PK/PD model developed for atorvastatin, simvastatin and fluvastatin [29]. Our study showed a negative impact of PIs, efavirenz and cobicistat on lipid profile, increasing baseline value by 12%. Although estimated with poor precision, this parameter was maintained in the model since this adverse effect is largely described in the literature for each of these drugs [8]. The magnitude of this effect was similar to the improvement of non-HDL-cholesterol when switching from a PI-containing to a dolutegravir-based regimen (neutral effect on lipids) [30]. On the other hand, coadministration of etravirine was significantly associated with a decrease in non-HDL-cholesterol baseline values. This effect may result either from a positive impact of etravirine per se on lipid profile, or from an improvement of lipid parameters after switching from ARV drugs with negative impact on lipid to etravirine treatment. Indeed, a previous study demonstrated that switching to an etravirinecontaining regimen in PLWH on stable ARV treatment (mainly efavirenz and PIs) was associated with a significant improvement on lipid parameters [31]. Although etravirine treatment was not necessarily preceded by an efavirenz- or PI-containing ARV regimen in the present study, this may have occurred before the inclusion in the study. Finally, our study showed a significant decrease in non-HDLcholesterol levels when aging, whereas older age was associated with higher total cholesterol levels in previously published studies [32, 33]. This effect could result from a close and frequent monitoring of PLWH included in the SHCS, and therefore from a better management of cardiovascular risk factors throughout their follow-up. HIV clinicians insist on lifestyle and dietary measures by promoting physical activity and balanced diet which could improve the lipid profile of PLWH. Similar conclusions were drawn when observing a higher life expectancy of PLWH compared to the general population. Such results were attributed to the better management of chronic disease risk factors and earlier diagnosis of other diseases compared to the general population [34]. In addition, lifestyle and dietary measures to reduce cholesterol could be followed more closely by elderly patients, who have already experienced a cardiovascular event and in whom statin is introduced as a secondary prevention, compared to the youngest who receive statin as primary prevention.

Given the PK/PD model parameters, non-HDL-cholesterol values after different doses of rosuvastatin could be simulated. Simulations based on the base PK/PD model revealed that the majority (64%) of PLWH receiving a rosuvastatin dose of 20 mg once daily would achieve non-HDL-cholesterol targets [20]. This result highlights the effective lipid-lowering effect of rosuvastatin in PLWH and is in line with previously published studies reporting a better efficacy of rosuvastatin in lowering LDL cholesterol and raising HDL cholesterol levels in PLWH compared to other statins [35, 36].

In conclusion, the weak magnitude of DDI between rosuvastatin and ARV agents and the efficient lipidlowering effect of rosuvastatin support the safe and effective prescription of rosuvastatin in PLWH.

IV.4.6. References

1. de Gaetano Donati K, Cauda R, Iacoviello L. HIV Infection, Antiretroviral Therapy and Cardiovascular Risk. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2010;2(3):e2010034.

2. Uthman OA, Nduka C, Watson SI, Mills EJ, Kengne AP, Jaffar SS, et al. Statin use and all-cause mortality in people living with HIV: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18(1):258.

3. Moreno A, Fortun J, Graus J, Rodriguez-Gandia MA, Quereda C, Perez-Elias MJ, et al. Severe rhabdomyolysis due to rosuvastatin in a liver transplant subject with human immunodeficiency virus and immunosuppressive therapy-related dyslipidemia. Liver Transpl. 2011;17(3):331-3.

4. de Kanter CT, Keuter M, van der Lee MJ, Koopmans PP, Burger DM. Rhabdomyolysis in an HIVinfected patient with impaired renal function concomitantly treated with rosuvastatin and lopinavir/ritonavir. Antiviral therapy. 2011;16(3):435-7.

5. Kitamura S, Maeda K, Wang Y, Sugiyama Y. Involvement of multiple transporters in the hepatobiliary transport of rosuvastatin. Drug Metab Dispos. 2008;36(10):2014-23.

 Samineni D, Desai PB, Sallans L, Fichtenbaum CJ. Steady-state pharmacokinetic interactions of darunavir/ritonavir with lipid-lowering agent rosuvastatin. Journal of clinical pharmacology. 2012;52(6):922-31.

7. Custodio JM, West S, SenGupta D, Zari A, Humeniuk R, Ling KH, et al. Evaluation of the drugdrug interaction potential between cobicistat-boosted protease inhibitors and statins. Abstract O_04.

. 18th International Workshop on Clinical Pharmacology of Antiviral Therapy; 14-16 June 2017; Chicago2017.

8. da Cunha J, Maselli LM, Stern AC, Spada C, Bydlowski SP. Impact of antiretroviral therapy on lipid metabolism of human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients: Old and new drugs. World J Virol. 2015;4(2):56-77.

9. Courlet P, Stader F, Guidi M, Alves Saldanha S, Stoeckle M, Cavassini M, et al. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people living with HIV. Aids. 2020;34(1):103-8.

10. Cockcroft DW, Gault MH. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron. 1976;16(1):31-41.

11. Tzeng TB, Schneck DW, Birmingham BK, Mitchell PD, Zhang H, Martin PD, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin: implications of renal impairment, race, and dyslipidaemia. Current medical research and opinion. 2008;24(9):2575-85.

12. van den Berg R, Noordam R, Kooijman S, Jansen SWM, Akintola AA, Slagboom PE, et al. Familial longevity is characterized by high circadian rhythmicity of serum cholesterol in healthy elderly individuals. Aging Cell. 2017;16(2):237-43.

13. Courlet P, Spaggiari D, Desfontaine V, Cavassini M, Alves Saldanha S, Buclin T, et al. UHPLC-MS/MS assay for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for population-scale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV. Journal of chromatography B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences. 2019;1125:121733.

14. Mach F, Baigent C, Catapano AL, Koskinas KC, Casula M, Badimon L, et al. 2019 ESC/EAS Guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias: lipid modification to reduce cardiovascular risk. Eur Heart J. 2019.
15. Keizer RJ, van Benten M, Beijnen JH, Schellens JH, Huitema AD. Pirana and PCluster: a modeling environment and cluster infrastructure for NONMEM. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2011;101(1):72-9.

16. Lindbom L, Pihlgren P, Jonsson EN. PsN-Toolkit--a collection of computer intensive statistical methods for non-linear mixed effect modeling using NONMEM. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2005;79(3):241-57.

17. Busti AJ, Bain AM, Hall RG, 2nd, Bedimo RG, Leff RD, Meek C, et al. Effects of atazanavir/ritonavir or fosamprenavir/ritonavir on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2008;51(6):605-10.

 Overgaard RV, Ingwersen SH, Tornoe CW. Establishing Good Practices for Exposure-Response Analysis of Clinical Endpoints in Drug Development. CPT: pharmacometrics & systems pharmacology. 2015;4(10):565-75.

19. Wahlby U, Thomson AH, Milligan PA, Karlsson MO. Models for time-varying covariates in population pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic analysis. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2004;58(4):367-77.

20. European AIDS Clinical Society. Guidelines version 10.0. 2019 [Available from: https://www.eacsociety.org/files/2019_guidelines-10.0_final.pdf.

21. Bergstrand M, Hooker AC, Wallin JE, Karlsson MO. Prediction-corrected visual predictive checks for diagnosing nonlinear mixed-effects models. AAPS J. 2011;13(2):143-51.

22. Macpherson M, Hamren B, Braamskamp MJ, Kastelein JJ, Lundstrom T, Martin PD. Population pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in pediatric patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. European journal of clinical pharmacology. 2016;72(1):19-27.

23. Park W, Jang D, Han S, Yim D. Mixed-effects analysis of increased rosuvastatin absorption by coadministrered telmisartan. Transl Clin Pharmacol. 2016;24(1):55-62.

24. Aoyama T, Omori T, Watabe S, Shioya A, Ueno T, Fukuda N, et al. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modeling and simulation of rosuvastatin using an extension of the indirect response model by incorporating a circadian rhythm. Biol Pharm Bull. 2010;33(6):1082-7. 25. Pasanen MK, Fredrikson H, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. Different effects of SLCO1B1 polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2007;82(6):726-33.

26. Keskitalo JE, Zolk O, Fromm MF, Kurkinen KJ, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. ABCG2 polymorphism markedly affects the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2009;86(2):197-203.

27. Kiser JJ, Gerber JG, Predhomme JA, Wolfe P, Flynn DM, Hoody DW. Drug/Drug interaction between lopinavir/ritonavir and rosuvastatin in healthy volunteers. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes. 2008;47(5):570-8.

Annaert P, Ye ZW, Stieger B, Augustijns P. Interaction of HIV protease inhibitors with OATP1B1,
1B3, and 2B1. Xenobiotica. 2010;40(3):163-76.

29. Faltaos DW, Urien S, Carreau V, Chauvenet M, Hulot JS, Giral P, et al. Use of an indirect effect model to describe the LDL cholesterol-lowering effect by statins in hypercholesterolaemic patients. Fundamental & clinical pharmacology. 2006;20(3):321-30.

30. Gatell JM, Assoumou L, Moyle G, Waters L, Johnson M, Domingo P, et al. Switching from a ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitor to a dolutegravir-based regimen for maintenance of HIV viral suppression in patients with high cardiovascular risk. Aids. 2017;31(18):2503-14.

31. Casado JL, de Los Santos I, Del Palacio M, Garcia-Fraile L, Perez-Elias MJ, Sanz J, et al. Lipidlowering effect and efficacy after switching to etravirine in HIV-infected patients with intolerance to suppressive HAART. HIV Clin Trials. 2013;14(1):1-9.

32. Glass TR, Weber R, Vernazza PL, Rickenbach M, Furrer H, Bernasconi E, et al. Ecological study of the predictors of successful management of dyslipidemia in HIV-infected patients on ART: the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. HIV Clin Trials. 2007;8(2):77-85.

33. El-Sadr WM, Mullin CM, Carr A, Gibert C, Rappoport C, Visnegarwala F, et al. Effects of HIV disease on lipid, glucose and insulin levels: results from a large antiretroviral-naive cohort. HIV medicine. 2005;6(2):114-21.

34. May MT, Gompels M, Delpech V, Porter K, Orkin C, Kegg S, et al. Impact on life expectancy of HIV-1 positive individuals of CD4+ cell count and viral load response to antiretroviral therapy. Aids. 2014;28(8):1193-202.

35. Aslangul E, Assoumou L, Bittar R, Valantin MA, Kalmykova O, Peytavin G, et al. Rosuvastatin versus pravastatin in dyslipidemic HIV-1-infected patients receiving protease inhibitors: a randomized trial. Aids. 2010;24(1):77-83.

36. Calza L, Manfredi R, Colangeli V, Pocaterra D, Pavoni M, Chiodo F. Rosuvastatin, pravastatin, and atorvastatin for the treatment of hypercholesterolaemia in HIV-infected patients receiving protease inhibitors. Curr HIV Res. 2008;6(6):572-8.

IV.4.7. Supplementary material

Supplementary material 1: Comparison of demographic and clinical characteristics, before and after rosuvastatin initiation.

Characteristics	Median [IQR] or n (%)				
	Before rosuvastatin	After rosuvastatin			
	(N=253)	(N=150)			
Age (years)	55 [50-64]	64 [60-70]			
Body weight (kg)	74 [66-82]	76 [71-95]			
Missing data	3 (1)	33 (22)			
Non-HDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.0 [3.2-4.8]	2.6 [2.1-3.2]			
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.3 [1.0-1.6]	1.2 [1.1-1.4]			
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	2.0 [1.4-2.9]	1.9 [1.4-3.0]			
Missing data	31 (12)	1 (0.7)			
AST (UI/L)	28 [23-34]	25 [22-33]			
Missing data	1 (0.4)	67 (45)			
ALT (UI/L)	27 [21-44]	24 [21-39]			
Missing data	1 (0.4)	67 (45)			
Associated lipid-lowering agent	4 ¹ (2)	23 (15) ²			
Antiretroviral treatment					
Ritonavir-boosted darunavir ³	66 (26)	70 (47)			
Cobicistat-boosted darunavir ³	0	3 (2)			
Ritonavir-boosted atazanavir ³	16 (6)	1 (1)			
Cobicistat-boosted atazanavir ³	0	2 (1)			
Lopinavir ³	15 (6)	0			
Saquinavir ³	5 (2)	0			
Cobicistat-boosted elvitegravir ³	2 (1)	13 (9)			
Etravirine	44 (17)	37 (25)			
Efavirenz ³	120 (47)	19 (13)			
Nevirapine	23 (9)	9 (6)			
Rilpivirine	5 (2)	2 (1)			
Dolutegravir	9 (4)	46 (31)			
Raltegravir	54 (21)	37 (25)			

¹3 ezetimibe, 1 fenofibrate

²16 ezetimibe, 8 fenofibrate

³Considered with negative impact on lipids

	Final	Final model		2000 samples)
Parameter	Estimate	RSE ¹ (%)	Median	Cl _{95%}
Ka (h ⁻¹)	0.306 FIX			
D1 (h)	0.461 FIX			
CL (L.h ⁻¹)	122	8	122	103-144
ω ² _{CL} (CV%)	50	13	49	34-64
V _c (L)	153	23	144	46-266
ω^2_{Vc} (CV%)	97	42	87	24-526
V _p (L)	1660	22	1595	940-3868
Q (L.h ⁻¹)	67	17	69	46-95
Additive residual	0.20	72	0.20	0.20.0.20
error ²	0.29	27	0.29	0.20-0.36

Supplementary material 2: Parameter estimates of the final rosuvastatin PK model with bootstrap results

¹Relative standard error, defined as SE/estimate.

²Additive residual error in log scale, reported as standard deviation

 $\omega^2 \, between\text{-subject variability}$

Supplementary material 3: pcVPC of the final PK model (n=154 rosuvastatin concentrations). Open circles show rosuvastatin plasma concentrations. The continuous and dashed line represents the median of the observed plasma concentrations, and the observed 2.5% and 97.5% percentiles respectively. Shaded areas show the model predicted 95% confidence interval for the median, 2.5% and 97.5% percentiles.



Supplementary material 4: Goodness-of-fit plots of the final PK (1) and PD (2) model. Loess smooth curves are printed in dashed lines. a) Observed concentrations vs. individual predictions; line of identity is printed in black. b) Observed concentrations vs. population predictions; identity line is printed in black. c) Conditional weighted residuals (CWRES) vs. population predictions; ordinate value zero line is printed in black. d) CWRES vs. time post-dose; ordinate value zero line is printed in black.

1





IV.5. Population pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir: influence

of drug-drug interactions in a real-life setting.

Manuscript published in Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy

Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy

Population pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir: influence of drug–drug interactions in a real-life setting

Catalina Barcelo¹†, Manel Aouri²†, Perrine Courlet ¹, Monia Guidi^{1,3}, Dominique L. Braun^{4,5}, Huldrych F. Günthard^{4,5}, Rein J. Piso⁶, Matthias Cavassini⁷, Thierry Buclin¹, Laurent A. Decosterd¹ and Chantal Csajka ^{1,3}* on behalf of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study‡

¹Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital Centre and University of Lausanne, Bugnon 17, Lausanne 1011, Switzerland;
²Service of Clinical Chemistry, University Hospital Centre and University of Lausanne, Bugnon 46, Lausanne 1011, Switzerland;
³School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Geneva, University of Lausanne, Michel-Servet 1, Geneva 1211, Switzerland;
⁴Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital Zurich, Rämistrasse 100, Zurich 8091, Switzerland;
⁵Institute of Medical Virology, University of Zurich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, Zurich 8057, Switzerland;
⁶Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Cantonal Hospital of Olten, Baslerstrasse 150, Olten 4600, Switzerland;
⁷Service of Infectious Diseases, University Hospital Centre and University of Lausanne, Bugnon 46, Lausanne 1011, Switzerland;

*Corresponding author. Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital Centre (CHUV), Bugnon 17, Lausanne 1011, Switzerland. Tel: +41 21 314 42 60; Fax: +41 21 314 42 66; E-mail: chantal.csajka@chuv.ch; o orcid.org/0000-0002-0660-082X †Equal contribution to the work. ‡Members are listed in the Acknowledgements section.

Received 15 November 2018; returned 7 February 2019; revised 4 April 2019; accepted 23 April 2019

Objectives: Dolutegravir is widely prescribed owing to its potent antiviral activity, high genetic barrier and good tolerability. The aim of this study was to characterize dolutegravir's pharmacokinetic profile and variability in a real-life setting and to identify individual factors and co-medications affecting dolutegravir disposition.

Methods: A population pharmacokinetic model was developed using NONMEM[®]. Relevant demographic factors, clinical factors and co-medications were tested as potential covariates. Simulations based on the final model served to compare expected dolutegravir concentrations under standard and alternative dosage regimens in the case of drug-drug interactions.

Results: A total of 620 dolutegravir plasma concentrations were collected from 521 HIV-infected individuals under steady-state conditions. A one-compartment model with first-order absorption and elimination best characterized dolutegravir pharmacokinetics. Typical dolutegravir apparent clearance (CL/F) was 0.93 L/h with 32% between-subject variability, the apparent volume of distribution was 20.2 L and the absorption rate constant was fixed to 2.24 h⁻¹. Older age, higher body weight and current smoking were associated with higher CL/F. Atazanavir co-administration decreased dolutegravir CL/F by 38%, while darunavir modestly increased CL/F by 14%. Rifampicin co-administration showed the largest impact on CL/F. Simulations suggest that average dolutegravir trough concentrations are 63% lower after 50 mg/12h with rifampicin compared with a standard dosage of 50 mg/24h without rifampicin. Average trough concentrations after 100 mg/24h and 100 mg/12h with rifampicin are 92% and 25% lower than the standard dosage without rifampicin, respectively.

Conclusions: Patients co-treated with dolutegravir and rifampicin might benefit from therapeutic drug monitoring and individualized dosage increase, up to 100 mg/12 h in some cases.

Introduction

Dolutegravir is an integrase strand-transfer inhibitor (INSTI) recommended as a first-line treatment in treatment-naive and experienced HIV-infected individuals. The combination of dolute-gravir with abacavir/lamivudine or tenofovir disoproxil fumarate/ emtricitabine has proven to be an efficacious and convenient

once-daily regimen with a favourable safety profile and a high barrier to resistance. $^{\rm 1-5}$

Dolutegravir is readily absorbed after oral administration, with a median maximum concentration achieved between 0.5 and 2.5 h post-dose. According to the manufacturer's prescribing information, dolutegravir may be taken with or without food. However,

© The Author(s) 2019. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. All rights reserved. For permissions, please email: journals.permissions@oup.com. 2690 dolutegravir exposure is increased when administered with a meal, particularly with high fat content (AUC increase ranged from 33% to 66% depending on the fat components of the meal).^{1,6} Once absorbed, 99% of the circulating dolutegravir is bound to plasma proteins.⁷ While many antiretroviral drugs are metabolized by the cytochrome P450 3A (CYP3A) pathway, dolutegravir is extensively metabolized via glucuronidation by the phase II enzyme uridine glucuronosyltransferase 1A1 (UGT1A1; nearly 80%), with a minor contribution of CYP3A, UGT1A3 and UGT1A9.⁸ Then, dolutegravir is excreted mainly via faeces, while metabolites are principally eliminated in urine.^{1,9} Dolutegravir is also a substrate of the transporter proteins P-glycoprotein and breast cancer resist-ance protein.¹

A recent population pharmacokinetic analysis, using pooled data from three clinical trials in treatment-naive patients, reported a low to moderate between-subject variability [BSV; expressed as the coefficient of variation (CV)] on dolutegravir clearance (24%), volume of distribution (14%) and absorption rate (50%).¹⁰ In routine clinical practice. dolutearavir is often combined with additional antiretroviral drugs or co-medications, and its dosage empirically adjusted to treat complex HIV infections. Dolutegravir potential drug-drug interactions have been analysed in relatively small pharmacokinetic studies including healthy volunteers and, recently, in a population pharmacokinetic study using real-life cohort data.¹¹⁻¹⁸ The objective of this study was to develop a population pharmacokinetic model to characterize dolutegravir pharmacokinetic variability in a real-life setting and to assess the impact of potential drug-drug interactions and other factors influencing dolutegravir disposition.

Methods

Ethics

This study was conducted within the frame of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS; http://www.shcs.ch) in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and national and institutional standards. Written informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

Study population

Dolutegravir plasma concentration data were obtained as part of therapeutic drug monitoring performed in several Swiss centres between October 2014 and February 2015. At treatment initiation and during usual follow-up visits, a blood sample (4.9 mL) was collected from patients receiving dolutegravir-based therapy. Exclusion criteria were undetectable dolutegravir plasma concentrations, suggestive of non-adherence to treatment, and non-reliable time information about blood sampling or last dose intake.

Analytical method

Plasma level measurements were performed at the Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology of the University Hospital Centre of Lausanne. Plasma samples obtained from HIV-infected individuals were centrifuged and stored at -20° C until batch analysis. On the day of the analysis, samples were inactivated for virus at 60°C for 60 min. Dolutegravir plasma levels were determined by LC-MS/MS after protein precipitation with acetonitrile according to our previously reported analytical method, which was adapted to include dolutegravir.¹⁹ The method showed acceptable inter-day and intra-day precision (2.4%–5.7% CV and 0.3%–1.3% CV, respectively) and trueness (-7.4% to 7.1% bias). The calibration standard curve was fitted with a

quadratic log-log regression, and the lower limit of quantification was 40 ng/mL. The laboratory participates in an international external quality assurance programme for analysis of antiretroviral drugs [Kwaliteitsbewaking Klinische Geneesmiddelanalyse en Toxicologie (KKGT) ('Association for Quality Assessment in Therapeutic Drug Monitoring and Clinical Toxicology'), The Hague, the Netherlands; http://www.kkgt.nl/], showing suitable performances (i.e. trueness – 3.5% and precision 4.4% at KKGT External Quality Control Proficiency Program).

Population pharmacokinetic analysis

Pharmacokinetic data were analysed using a non-linear mixed-effect modelling approach with NONMEM[®] (v7.4.0, ICON Development Solutions, Ellicott City, MD, USA), together with PsN v4.2.0 for automation of various model development and evaluation methods, Pirana v2.9.2 to structure and document model development and R v3.3.1 (Rstudio v.1.1.423) for data management, statistical analysis and graphical output.^{20,21}

Structural model

One- and two-compartment models with first- and/or zero-order absorption with and without absorption lag time were tested. Exponential errors following a log-normal distribution were assumed for the description of BSV of the pharmacokinetic parameters, described by the equation $\theta_j{=}\theta{\times}e^{nj}$, where θ_j is the individual pharmacokinetic parameter of the jth individual, θ is the geometric average population value and η_j is a between-subject random effect, which follows an independent, normal distribution with mean zero and variance $\omega^2.$

Covariate model

The association between demographic characteristics, clinical characteristics and dolutegravir individual pharmacokinetic estimates was first explored graphically. All potential and physiologically plausible relationships were tested with a univariate analysis followed by a stepwise forward-inclusion and backward-deletion approach, and using linear or non-linear functions as appropriate (categorical covariates were coded as 0 and 1; continuous covariates were centred and normalized on their median value). Missing data in continuous covariates were imputed to the population median value, and missing data in categorical covariates were first coded as an additional category and then regrouped according to their parameter estimates. Typical bioavailability, *F*, was fixed to 1 and the impact of gastric bypass was estimated using a logit transformation.

Parameter estimation and model selection

The first-order conditional estimation method with interaction (FOCEI) was used for model fitting. The criteria considered for model selection were the log-likelihood ratio test, based on the reduction of the objective function value (Δ OFV), goodness-of-fit plots, pharmacokinetic parameter precision and BSV decrease. In the univariate analysis of covariates, a decrease in OFV >3.84 (*P*<0.05) for one additional parameter was considered statistically significant (Δ OFV between any two nested models approximates a χ^2 distribution), while a decrease/increase in OFV >7.88 (*P*<0.005) was considered statistically significant in the multivariate forward-inclusion and backward-deletion approach.

Model evaluation

The final model was evaluated using non-parametric bootstrapping (2000 replicates) to generate 95% CIs for parameter estimates. Additionally, a prediction- and variability-corrected visual predictive check (pvcVPC) was used to visually compare observed concentrations with 5th, 50th and 95th prediction percentiles.²² An external validation was also performed with data collected as part of therapeutic drug monitoring performed in several

Swiss centres between March 2015 and December 2017.²³ Dolutegravir individual concentrations were predicted based on the final models using the MAXEVAL=0 option in NONMEM[®]. The predictive performance of the model was assessed in terms of bias [mean prediction error (MPE)], MPE = $\frac{\sum C_{pred} - C_{obs}}{N}$, and precision [root mean square prediction error (RMSE)], RMSE = $\sqrt{-\frac{\sum (C_{pred} - C_{obs})^2}{N}}$, with the associated 95% CIs, where C_{pred} are population and individual predictions, C_{obs} are the observed concentrations of the validation group and N corresponds to the number of observations.²⁴

Simulations of dosage regimens

Dolutegravir steady-state plasma concentrations were simulated with NONMEM[®] based on the final model estimates, including BSV for 1000 individuals under dolutegravir at 50 mg once daily, 50 mg twice daily, 100 mg once daily and 100 mg twice daily co-administered with rifampicin. Predicted average dolutegravir minimal concentration (C_{min}), maximal concentration (C_{max}) and AUC from 0 to 24 h (AUC₀₋₂₄), calculated as dose/CL/*F* at steady-state, together with 2.5th and 97.5th predicted percentiles were calculated and compared across dosage regimens. Simulated C_{min} values were compared with the *in vitro* protein-adjusted IC₉₀ of 64 ng/mL and the suggested alternative target of 300 ng/mL, corresponding to trough concentrations observed with 10 mg of dolutegravir once daily that attained similar virological responses at week 24 to 50 mg of dolutegravir once daily in Phase 2 efficacy studies.^{5,25}

Results

A total of 620 dolutegravir plasma concentrations from 521 HIVinfected individuals were obtained for the population pharmacokinetic model building, 17 of which were from 4 patients undergoing bypass surgery. A median of one sample per individual (range=1-7) was collected between 0.25 and 45.8 h after the last dose intake under steady-state conditions. Most patients received 50 mg of dolutegravir once daily, except for 15 participants whose dosage was adapted to increase dolutegravir exposure (Table 1). Two of the four individuals with gastric bypass presented an adjusted dosage of 50 mg of dolutegravir twice daily at some point and subsequently switched back to 50 mg once daily.²⁶ Participant demographic and clinical characteristics of the model building and validation groups are summarized in Table 1. Concerning potential drug-drug interactions, darunavir was the most frequent antiretroviral co-medication.

Dolutegravir structural and covariate model

Dolutegravir pharmacokinetics were best described by a onecompartment model with apparent clearance (CL/F), apparent volume of distribution (V/F), first-order absorption rate (k_a) fixed to 2.24 h⁻¹ and typical bioavailability (F) fixed to 1. The value of k_a was fixed to the value of a previous pharmacokinetic study owing to the difficulty in estimating this parameter with acceptable precision (relative standard error \geq 67%).¹⁰ The addition of a second compartment resulted in poor precision estimates. BSV was only estimated with acceptable precision on CL/F. A combined proportional and additive error model adequately captured the residual variability.

Models with alternative absorption processes, including zeroorder, combined first- and zero-order or lag time absorption, did not successfully fit the data (Δ OFV greater than -3.6). The presence of a gastric bypass significantly reduced dolutegravir

 Table 1. Demographic and clinic characteristics of the study populations

Characteristic	Model building (N=521)	Model validation (N=155)
Male, n (%)	403 (77)	123 (79)
Age (years), median (range)	47 (17–79)	49 (24–76)
Body weight (kg), median (range)	73 (37–131)	74 (39–131)
missing data, n (%)	3 (0.6)	0
Current smoking, n (%)	190 (36)	64 (41)
missing data, n (%)	11 (2)	0
ALT (IU/L), median (range)	29 (6–792)	27 (10–96)
missing data, n (%)	15 (3)	0
AST (IU/L), median (range)	28 (5-343)	27 (14-387)
missing data, n (%)	17 (3)	0
Total bilirubin (µmol/L),	7 (0.2–55)	14 (3-122)
median (range)		
missing data, n (%)	461 (88)	119 (77)
Gastric bypass, n (%)	4 (0.8)	0
Co-medication ^a , <i>n</i> (%)		
darunavir/ritonavir	94 (18)	22 (14)
atazanavir/ritonavir	10 (2)	3 (2)
atazanavir	4 (0.8)	4 (3)
lopinavir/ritonavir	2 (0.4)	1 (0.6)
tipranavir	1 (0.2)	0
efavirenz	15 (3)	1 (0.6)
etravirine	14 (3)	5 (3)
nevirapine	10 (2)	1 (0.6)
rilpivirine	4 (0.8)	0
maraviroc	5 (1)	2 (1)
rifampicin	9 (2)	1 (0.6)
Dolutegravir dosage ^a , n (%)		
50 mg/24 h	515 (99)	151 (93)
50 mg/12 h	13 (2)	9 (6)
100 mg/24 h	3 (0.6)	1 (0.6)
100 mg/12 h	4 (0.8)	1 (0.6)

^aValues reported as number of participants with at least one observation (% regarding total participant count) with a certain co-medication or dolutegravir dosage. Some individuals in the model building population received rescue antiretroviral regimens such as abacavir/lamivudine or tenofovir disoproxil fumarate/emtricitabine combined with dolutegravir/darunavir/ritonavir/etravirine (n=8), with dolutegravir/darunavir/ritonavir/etravirine/maraviroc (n=2), with dolutegravir/tipranavir/ritonavir/etravirine/maraviroc (n=2).

bioavailability by 33%, but with poor estimate precision (95% CI=17% to 53%, P=0.049). Due to lack of power to adequately estimate the impact of gastric bypass on *F*, this condition was not retained in the final model.

Age, actual body weight, current smoking and coadministration of darunavir/ritonavir, atazanavir with or without ritonavir, and rifampicin showed a significant influence on dolutegravir CL/F and together explained 17% of the original BSV on CL/F (Table 2). Co-administration of nevirapine increased dolutegravir CL/F by 36%, but did not reach statistical significance in the multivariate forward covariate inclusion (95% CI=13% to 59%,

	Final dolutegravir pho	armacokinetic model	Bootstrap ($n=2000$ samples)	
Parameter	estimate	RSE (%)	median	95% CI
CL/F (L h^{-1})	0.93	3	0.93	0.88 to 0.98
V/F (L)	20.2	9	20.2	17.2 to 23.4
$k_{a}(h^{-1})$	2.24		2.24	
Age~CL/F	0.22	31	0.22	0.08 to 0.35
Body weight~CL/F	0.31	31	0.31	0.12 to 0.49
Current smoking~CL/F	0.19	23	0.18	0.10 to 0.27
ATV~CL/F	-0.38	26	-0.38	-0.54 to -0.16
DRV/r~CL/F	0.14	36	0.14	0.04 to 0.24
RIF~CL/F	2.61	31	2.69	1.29 to 4.68
BSV _{CL/F} (%)	32	31	31	25 to 36
Proportional residual error (%)	28	8	28	23 to 33
Additive residual error (ng/mL)	220	23	215	90 to 345

Table 2. Parameter estimates of the final dolutegravir pharmacokinetic model and bootstrap results

Final dolutegravir model: $CL/F = 0.93 \times \frac{age0.22}{47} \times (1 + 0.31 \times \frac{body \ weight - 73}{73}) \times (1 + 0.19^{smoking}) \times (1 - 0.38^{ATV}) \times (1 + 0.14^{DRV}) \times (1 + 2.61^{RIF})$. CL/F, apparent clearance; *V/F*, apparent volume of distribution; $k_{a,}$ first-order absorption rate constant fixed to 2.24 h⁻¹ according to published data; Age~CL/F, relative influence of age, normalized by the median age in the population (47 years old), on CL/F using a power function; Body weight~CL/F, relative influence of body weight, centred and normalized by the median body weight in the population (73 kg), on CL/F using a linear function; Current smoking~CL/F, relative influence of current smoking on CL/F; ATV~CL/F, relative influence of atazanavir with or without ritonavir co-administration on CL/F; DRV/r~CL/F, relative influence of darunavir/ritonavir co-administration on CL/F; RIF~CL/F, relative influence of rifampicin co-administration on CL/F; BSV, between-subject variability defined as CV (%); RSE, relative standard error defined as standard error/estimate, with standard error directly retrieved from NONMEM[®].

P=0.02). Co-administration of etravirine modestly increased dolutegravir CL/F by 28%, but was not retained in the final model because of poor estimate precision and insufficient statistical significance in the multivariate forward covariate inclusion (95% CI=-12% to 45%, P=0.13). The parameter estimates of the final dolutegravir pharmacokinetic model are reported in Table 2. Covariate forward-inclusion and backward-deletion results are shown in Table S1, Table S2 and Table S3 (available as Supplementary data at JAC Online). Diagnostic plots for dolutegravir structural and final models are shown in Figures S1 and S2.

Model evaluation

Model reliability was supported by all bootstrap median values contained within the 95% CI and differing by <10% from the population estimates. The pvcVPC revealed an adequate description of the observed data, with <10% of points outside the 90% prediction interval (Figure 1). A total of 162 dolutegravir plasma concentrations from 155 HIV-infected individuals were obtained for the population pharmacokinetic model validation (Table 1). The external validation analysis showed a non-significant bias of -2% (95% CI= -6% to 2%) with a precision of 31% for dolutegravir individual predictions, similar to the proportional part of the model residual error, as expected.

Model simulations

Compared with the standard dosage of 50 mg once daily without rifampicin, simulations of 50 mg of dolutegravir twice daily co-administered with rifampicin showed an average predicted C_{\min} , C_{\max} and AUC₀₋₂₄ that decreased by 63%, 28% and 40%, respectively. With dolutegravir at 100 mg once daily with rifampicin,

average predicted C_{min} and AUC₀₋₂₄ decreased by 92% and 40%, while C_{max} increased by 24%. When doubling the dosage to 100 mg of dolutegravir twice daily with rifampicin, average predicted dolutegravir C_{min} decreased by 25%, while C_{max} and AUC₀₋₂₄ increased by 44% and 20%, respectively (Table 3). None of the simulated individuals with 50 mg of dolutegravir once daily without rifampicin presented a Cmin below the protein-adjusted IC90 of 64 ng/mL.²⁵ Simulations with 50 mg twice daily, 100 mg once daily and 100 mg twice daily, all three co-administered with rifampicin, predicted 3%, 40% and 0.7% of individuals, respectively, with C_{\min} below 64 ng/mL. Considering the alternative target C_{min} of 300 ng/mL, these percentages would increase to 32%, 81% and 12%, respectively. As shown in Figure 2, the predicted concentration-time course of 100 mg of dolutegravir twice daily co-administered with rifampicin overlaps with the curve of the 50 mg once daily without rifampicin regimen, whereas the recommended dosage of 50 mg twice daily and 100 mg once daily co-administered with rifampicin seems to provide lower exposure.

Discussion

Our study provides a description of the population pharmacokinetic profile of dolutegravir in a non-selected clinical setting, with dosage adjustment hypothesis testing, which could help the choice of dosage regimen under certain clinically relevant drug-drug interactions. The CL/F and V/F estimates are in good agreement with recently published population pharmacokinetic analyses.^{10,18} The dolutegravir absorption phase could not be as exhaustively described, due to scarce measurements available within a few hours after drug administration. However, the time of maximal concentration derived from the final pharmacokinetic parameters (T_{max} =1.8 h) is in accordance with reported values.¹⁰



Figure 1. pvcVPC of the dolutegravir final model (*n*=521). Open circles represent dolutegravir plasma concentrations. The continuous line represents the population median prediction from the final model, and the broken lines and shaded areas represent the 90% prediction intervals and corresponding 95% CIs. PI, prediction interval.

Table 3. Summary of dolutegravir pharmacokinetic parameters at different dosage regimens with or without rifampicin co-administration, derived from model simulations

	50 mg/24 h	50 mg/12 h+RIF	100 mg/24 h+RIF	100 mg/12 h+RIF
C _{max} (ng/mL)	3249 (2367–5393)	2348 (1803–3448)	4064 (3563–5212)	4685 (3698–6863)
GMR _{50 mg/24 h}		0.72	1.24	1.44
C _{min} (ng/mL)	1077 (269–3186)	424 (54–1448)	94 (3–949)	840 (146-2864)
GMR ₅₀ mg/24 h		0.37	0.08	0.75
AUC_{0-24} (ng h/mL)	49016 (25057–102381)	29794 (14746–58059)	29138 (15381–63819)	59322 (32032-115309)
GMR _{50 mg/24 h}		0.60	0.60	1.20

RIF, rifampicin; C_{max} , maximal concentration; C_{min} , minimal concentration; AUC₀₋₂₄, calculated with the equation AUC₀₋₂₄=dose/CL/F; GMR_{50 mg/24 h}, geometric mean ratio (compared with the standard regimen of 50 mg/24 h). Pharmacokinetic values are reported as median (95% prediction interval).

Probably due to the non-selected population included in the present study, the estimated BSV on CL/F was moderate and slightly higher than in previous studies where dolutegravir pharmacokinetic variability was reported to be lower than for other INSTIS. 10,25,27

In good accordance with other dolutegravir population analyses, older age, higher body weight and current smoking were associated with significantly higher dolutegravir elimination.^{10,18} Yet, the magnitude of the effects of these covariates on dolutegravir exposure remains relatively small and does not require dose Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/jac/article-abstract/74/9/2690/5497436 by Universite and EPFL Lausanne user on 04 December 2019

193



(a)

Dolutegravir (ng/mL)

7000

6000

0

0



Time post-dose (h)

Figure 2. Dolutegravir simulated plasma concentrations for dosage regimens of 50 mg twice daily (a), 100 mg once daily (b) and 100 mg twice daily (c) using rifampicin co-administration as covariate on dolutegravir clearance, compared with the standard dosage of 50 mg once daily. Continuous lines represent the population median prediction for standard (black) and adjusted (turquoise) regimens based on 1000 simulated individuals. Shaded areas and dashed lines represent the 95% prediction intervals for standard (black) and adjusted (turquoise) regimens based on 1000 simulated individuals. Dashed and dotted orange lines represent the protein-adjusted IC_{90} of 64 ng/mL and the suggested target C_{min} of 300 ng/mL, respectively. DTG, dolutegravir; RIF, rifampicin. This figure appears in colour in the online version of JAC and in black and white in the print version of JAC.

adjustment. Similarly, the lower degree of bioavailability under gastric bypass should not affect dosing: firstly, because the magnitude of this effect is similar to the BSV; and, secondly, because drug concentrations in these patients were much higher than the protein-adjusted IC_{90} of 64 ng/mL, thus limiting the risk of under-exposure. Although these results are reassuring, further data with more gastric bypass patients are needed to confirm this finding.²⁶

Time post-dose (h)

The present study also evaluated the impact of a variety of drug-drug interactions that might be encountered in routine clinical practice. Both nevirapine and etravirine co-administration showed a modest increase in dolutearavir clearance in the univariate analysis, probably due to UGT1A1 induction.²⁸ The number of individuals with concomitant etravirine and darunavir/ritonavir (n=8;Table 1) could explain the lesser effect on dolutegravir exposure compared with the reported effect of etravirine alone (71% decrease in dolutegravir AUC_{0-24}).¹⁵ The influence of atazanavir on dolutegravir CL/F is explained by the known atazanavir-mediated inhibition of UGT1A1, the primary metabolic pathway of dolutegravir. Even if co-administration with atazanavir/ritonavir has been reported to increase dolutegravir AUC₀₋₂₄ between 62% and 121%, no dose adjustment is currently recommended.^{13,25} While several authors did not find any significant correlation between dolutegravir exposure and adverse events, others reported a higher prevalence of neuropsychiatric events in dolutegravir-treated patients, sometimes leading to treatment discontinuation.²⁹⁻³⁴ A recent study showed that UGT1A1 poor metabolizers presented significantly higher dolutegravir trough concentrations, and trough concentrations were also significantly higher in patients presenting neuropsychiatric adverse events (P<0.01).35 Genetic data on UGT1A1 polymorphisms and adverse events data were not available in the current analysis. Close monitoring should be advised for patients treated with atazanavir owing to the potential risk of

concentrations higher than the required levels without any substantial benefit, but potential undesirable consequences.

Time post-dose (h)

An increase in dolutegravir elimination induced by darunavir boosted with ritonavir has also been described previously.^{25,36} Although the mechanism is unclear, a possible explanation might be the induction of UGT1A1 by ritonavir.^{15,16} The decrease in dolutegravir exposure is not considered clinically relevant, to the extent that the combination of once-daily dolutegravir/darunavir/ritonavir is being studied as a rescue NRTI-free regimen.³⁷

In the current study, rifampicin co-administration showed the largest impact on dolutegravir CL/F in accordance with a recent study.¹⁸ The recommended dosage when dolutegravir is coadministered with potent enzyme inducers, such as rifampicin, carbamazepine and efavirenz, is 50 mg twice daily.^{11,12,17} Simulations based on the present model predicted comparable dolutegravir exposure to a previous study on 50 mg of dolutegravir twice daily with rifampicin.¹¹ Even though dolutegravir trough concentrations were strongly correlated with antiviral activity, a clinical target value has yet to be validated.²⁵ Our simulations predicted a relatively low proportion of subjects with C_{\min} below the protein-adjusted IC₉₀ and below the alternative target of 300 ng/mL, with either 50 or 100 mg twice daily, suggesting a low risk of suboptimal drug coverage at the end of the dosing interval in patients co-treated with rifampicin. A dose of 100 mg once daily with rifampicin could represent an improvement in terms of adherence to treatment, while attaining acceptable coverage in individuals located in the upper percentiles of expected concentrations. Dolutegravir at 100 mg twice daily provided greater coverage along the entire dosing interval and C_{\min} concentrations more similar to 50 mg once daily without rifampicin. Nevertheless, due to the considerable increase in AUC_{0-24} and C_{max} with this empirical dose adjustment, precaution and close monitoring are advised until the relationship between dolutegravir exposure and neurological toxicity is clarified. These findings support the benefits of therapeutic drug monitoring and dose individualization in the case of dolutegravir and rifampicin co-administration.

In conclusion, the variability in dolutegravir pharmacokinetics remains moderate after accounting for the influence of different individual characteristics and drug-drug interactions. Coadministration of UGT1A1 inhibitors or inducers, such as atazanavir or rifampicin, might lead to inadequate dolutegravir levels, and concentration measurement and adjustment by therapeutic drug monitoring should be envisaged in such situations. This population pharmacokinetic model will be implemented in a Bayesian tool to facilitate therapeutic drug monitoring and dose adjustment, if necessary.

Acknowledgements

We thank the individuals who participate in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study, the physicians and study nurses for excellent patient care and the technicians of the Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology, Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital Centre of Lausanne for performing plasma level measurements.

Members of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Anagnostopoulos A, Battegay M, Bernasconi E, Böni J, Braun DL, Bucher HC, Calmy A, Cavassini M, Ciuffi A, Dollenmaier G, Egger M, Elzi L, Fehr J, Fellay J, Furrer H, Fux CA, Günthard HF (President of the SHCS), Haerry D (deputy of 'Positive Council'), Hasse B, Hirsch HH, Hoffmann M, Hösli I, Huber M, Kahlert CR (Chairman of the Mother & Child Substudy), Kaiser L, Keiser O, Klimkait T, Kouyos RD, Kovari H, Ledergerber B, Martinetti G, Martinez de Tejada B, Marzolini C, Metzner KJ, Müller N, Nicca D, Paioni P, Pantaleo G, Perreau M, Rauch A (Chairman of the Scientific Board), Rudin C, Scherrer AU (Head of Data Centre), Schmid P, Speck R, Stöckle M (Chairman of the Clinical and Laboratory Committee), Tarr P, Trkola A, Vernazza P, Wandeler G, Weber R, Yerly S.

Funding

This work was supported by Swiss National Science Foundation grants (SNF 324730-141234 and SNF 324730-165956 to L. A. D. and SNF 33CS30_177499 and SNF 324730B_179571 to H. F. G.), and by the Swiss HIV Cohort Study research foundation.

Transparency declarations

D. L. B. has received consulting/advisory board membership fees from Gilead Sciences, ViiV and MSD. H. F. G. has received unrestricted research grants from Gilead Sciences and Roche, fees for data and safety monitoring board membership from Merck and consulting/advisory board membership fees from Gilead Sciences, Sandoz, Teva and Mepha. M. C. has received fees for expert testimony from AbbVie, Gilead Sciences, MSD and ViiV, and travel grants from AbbVie and Gilead Sciences. All other authors: none to declare.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data, including Tables S1 to S3 and Figures S1 to S2, are available at JAC Online.

References

1 EMA. *EMA/CHMP/772068/2013 Tivicay Assessment Report.* http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/EPAR_-_Public_assessment_re port/human/002753/WC500160683.pdf.

2 *Tivicay* (*Package Insert*). https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2013/204790lbl.pdf.

3 Raffi F, Jaeger H, Quiros-Roldan E *et al.* Once-daily dolutegravir versus twice-daily raltegravir in antiretroviral-naive adults with HIV-1 infection (SPRING-2 study): 96 week results from a randomised, double-blind, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2013; **13**: 927–35.

4 Molina JM, Clotet B, van Lunzen J *et al.* Once-daily dolutegravir is superior to once-daily darunavir/ritonavir in treatment-naive HIV-1-positive individuals: 96 week results from FLAMINGO. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2014; **17**: 19490.

5 van Lunzen J, Maggiolo F, Arribas JR *et al*. Once daily dolutegravir (S/GSK1349572) in combination therapy in antiretroviral-naive adults with HIV: planned interim 48 week results from SPRING-1, a dose-ranging, randomised, phase 2b trial. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2012; **12**: 111–8.

6 Song I, Borland J, Chen S *et al.* Effect of food on the pharmacokinetics of the integrase inhibitor dolutegravir. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2012; **56**: 1627–9.

7 Kobayashi M, Yoshinaga T, Seki T *et al*. In vitro antiretroviral properties of S/GSK1349572, a next-generation HIV integrase inhibitor. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011; **55**:813–21.

8 Reese MJ, Savina PM, Generaux GT *et al.* In vitro investigations into the roles of drug transporters and metabolizing enzymes in the disposition and drug interactions of dolutegravir, a HIV integrase inhibitor. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2013; **41**: 353–61.

9 Castellino S, Moss L, Wagner D *et al.* Metabolism, excretion, and mass balance of the HIV-1 integrase inhibitor dolutegravir in humans. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2013; **57**: 3536–46.

10 Zhang J, Hayes S, Sadler BM *et al.* Population pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir in HIV-infected treatment-naive patients. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2015; **80**: 502–14.

11 Dooley KE, Sayre P, Borland J *et al.* Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of the HIV integrase inhibitor dolutegravir given twice daily with rifampin or once daily with rifabutin: results of a phase 1 study among healthy subjects. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2013; **62**: 21–7.

12 Song I, Borland J, Chen S *et al*. Effects of enzyme inducers efavirenz and tipranavir/ritonavir on the pharmacokinetics of the HIV integrase inhibitor dolutegravir. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2014; **70**: 1173–9.

13 Song I, Borland J, Chen S *et al.* Effect of atazanavir and atazanavir/ritonavir on the pharmacokinetics of the next-generation HIV integrase inhibitor, S/GSK1349572. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2011; **72**: 103–8.

14 Song I, Borland J, Chen S *et al.* Effect of fosamprenavir–ritonavir on the pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir in healthy subjects. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2014; **58**: 6696–700.

15 Song I, Borland J, Min S *et al.* Effects of etravirine alone and with ritonavirboosted protease inhibitors on the pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011; **55**: 3517–21.

16 Song I, Min SS, Borland J *et al*. The effect of lopinavir/ritonavir and darunavir/ritonavir on the HIV integrase inhibitor S/GSK1349572 in healthy participants. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2011; **51**: 237–42.

17 Song I, Weller S, Patel J *et al*. Effect of carbamazepine on dolutegravir pharmacokinetics and dosing recommendation. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2016; **72**: 665–70.

18 Parant F, Patrick M, Florence B *et al.* Dolutegravir population pharmacokinetics in a real-life cohort of people living with HIV infection: a covariate analysis. *Ther Drug Monit* 2019; doi: 10.1097/FTD.00000000000618.

194

2696

19 Aouri M, Calmy A, Hirschel B *et al.* A validated assay by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for the simultaneous quantification of elvitegravir and rilpivirine in HIV positive patients. *J Mass Spectrom* 2013; **48**: 616–25.

20 Lindbom L, Pihlgren P, Jonsson EN. PsN-Toolkit—a collection of computer intensive statistical methods for non-linear mixed effect modeling using NONMEM. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed* 2005; **79**: 241–57.

21 Keizer RJ, van Benten M, Beijnen JH *et al.* Pirana and PCluster: a modeling environment and cluster infrastructure for NONMEM. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed* 2011; **101**: 72–9.

22 Bergstrand M, Hooker AC, Wallin JE *et al.* Prediction-corrected visual predictive checks for diagnosing nonlinear mixed-effects models. *AAPS J* 2011; **13**: 143–51.

23 Collins GS, Reitsma JB, Altman DG *et al.* Transparent Reporting of a multivariable prediction model for Individual Prognosis Or Diagnosis (TRIPOD): the TRIPOD Statement. *Br J Surg* 2015; **102**: 148–58.

24 Sheiner LB, Beal SL. Some suggestions for measuring predictive performance. *J Pharmacokinet Biopharm* 1981; **9**: 503–12.

25 Cottrell ML, Hadzic T, Kashuba AD. Clinical pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic and drug-interaction profile of the integrase inhibitor dolutegravir. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2013; **52**: 981–94.

26 Piso RJ, Battegay M, Marzolini C. Dolutegravir plasma levels after gastric bypass surgery. *AIDS* 2017; **31**: 1052–4.

27 Podany AT, Scarsi KK, Fletcher CV. Comparative clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of HIV-1 integrase strand transfer inhibitors. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2017; **56**: 25–40.

28 Dailly E, Allavena C, Gregoire M *et al*. Influence of nevirapine administration on the pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir in patients infected with HIV-1. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2015; **70**: 3307–10. **29** Molina JM, Clotet B, van Lunzen J *et al.* Once-daily dolutegravir versus darunavir plus ritonavir for treatment-naive adults with HIV-1 infection (FLAMINGO): 96 week results from a randomised, open-label, phase 3b study. *Lancet HIV* 2015; **2**: e127–36.

30 de Boer MG, van den Berk GE, van Holten N *et al.* Intolerance of dolutegravir-containing combination antiretroviral therapy regimens in reallife clinical practice. *AIDS* 2016; **30**: 2831–4.

31 Cid-Silva P, Llibre JM, Fernandez-Bargiela N *et al*. Clinical experience with the integrase inhibitors dolutegravir and elvitegravir in HIV-infected patients: efficacy, safety and tolerance. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* 2017; **121**: 442–6.

32 Penafiel J, de Lazzari E, Padilla M *et al.* Tolerability of integrase inhibitors in a real-life setting. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2017; **72**: 1752–9.

33 Hoffmann C, Welz T, Sabranski M *et al*. Higher rates of neuropsychiatric adverse events leading to dolutegravir discontinuation in women and older patients. *HIV Med* 2017; **18**: 56–63.

34 Menard A, Montagnac C, Solas C *et al*. Neuropsychiatric adverse effects on dolutegravir: an emerging concern in Europe. *AIDS* 2017; **31**: 1201–3.

35 Yagura H, Watanabe D, Kushida H *et al.* Impact of UGT1A1 gene polymorphisms on plasma dolutegravir trough concentrations and neuro-psychiatric adverse events in Japanese individuals infected with HIV-1. *BMC Infect Dis* 2017; **17**: 622.

36 Elliot ER, Cerrone M, Else L *et al.* Pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir with and without darunavir/cobicistat in healthy volunteers. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2019; **74**: 149–56.

37 Capetti AF, Cossu MV, Orofino G *et al*. A dual regimen of ritonavir/darunavir plus dolutegravir for rescue or simplification of rescue therapy: 48 weeks' observational data. *BMC Infect Dis* 2017; **17**: 658.

Supplementary data

Univariate analyses (<i>P</i> value=0.05)									
Parameter - covariate	Model	Estimate (RSE%)	OFV	ΔOFV	IIV CL (RSE%)	Prop. Residual error (RSE%)	Add. Residual error (RSE%)		
Structural model	-	-	9110.68	-	38.0% (9.3)	0.300 (9.0)	198 (22.1)		
CL – rifampicin	$CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + RIF \cdot \Theta_b)$	Θ _b : 2.40 (30.6)	9044.61	-66.07	35.7% (6.9)	0.283 (7.8)	212 (26.6)		
CL – smoke	$CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + Smoke \cdot \Theta_b)$ $\cdot (1 + NA-Smoke \cdot \Theta_c)^{\dagger}$	Θ _b : 0.16 (27.4) Θ _c : 1.73 (39.7)	9047.86	-62.81	36.0% (6.6)	0.284 (7.1)	207 (23.3)		
CL – atazanavir and ritonavir	CL⊤∨ · (1 + ATV&RTV · Θ₅) · (1 + ATV · Θ₅)	Θ _b : -0.19 (66.8 [§]) Θ _c : -0.67 (4.9)	9077.97	-32.70	31.9% (9.9)	0.335 (8.5)	182 (20.4)		
CL – atazanavir	$CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + ATV \cdot \Theta_b)$	Θ _b : -0.40 (27.3)	9092.31	-18.37	32.9% (10.6)	0.334 (9.6)	182 (23.6)		
CL – age allometric	CL⊤v · (age/47) ^{Θb}	Θ _b : 0.23 (31.8)	9099.94	-10.74	34.7% (10.7)	0.324 (10.3)	180 (23.0)		
CL – darunavir/r	$CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + DRV \cdot \Theta_b)$	Θ _b : 0.153 (35.8)	9101.86	-8.81	37.6% (10.7)	0.302 (10.7)	192 (21.7)		
CL – age linear	CL _{TV} · (1 + Θ _b · (age-47)/47)	Θ _b : 0.21 (42.6)	9103.65	-7.02	37.4% (15.2)	0.302 (16.0)	198 (24.4)		
CL – body weight linear	CL _{TV} · (1 + Θ _b · (BW-73)/73)	Θ _b : 0.25 (40.5)	9104.24	-6.44	37.7% (9.5)	0.298 (9.5)	207 (19.9)		
CL – body weight allometric	$CL_{TV} \cdot (BW/73)^{\Theta b}$	Θ _b : 0.25 (41.3)	9104.40	-6.28	37.7% (9.5)	0.298 (9.4)	207 (21.2)		
CL – nevirapine	$CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + NVP \cdot \Theta_b)$	Θ _b : 0.42 (29.8)	9104.57	-6.11	37.7% (10.9)	0.304 (10.4)	196 (21.5)		
CL – etravirine	$CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + ETV \cdot \Theta_b)$	Θ _b : 0.28 (63.4)	9106.52	-4.16	38.0% (9.2)	0.298 (9.1)	200 (21.3)		
CL – bypass	$CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + BYP \cdot \Theta_b)$	Θ _b : 0.19 (96.9)	9109.86	-0.82	37.9% (9.6)	0.3 (9.2)	200 (21.2)		
CL – lopinavir/r	$CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + LPV \cdot \Theta_b)$	Θ₀: -0.12 (275.7)	9110.52	-0.15	38.0% (9.3)	0.299 (9.0)	199 (22,2)		

Table S1. Covariate univariate forward-inclusion results

Iopinavir/r $CL_{TV} \cdot (1 + LPV \cdot \Theta_b)$ 9110.52-0.15000700120010070*All NA-smokers (not available) had rifampicin co-administration. Therefore, in the full model NA-smokers were
grouped with non-smokers; \$Not enough power to estimate ATV+RTV different from ATV alone
 CL_{TV} : dolutegravir apparent clearance typical value; darunavir/r: ritonavir-boosted darunavir; lopinavir/r: ritonavir-boosted lopinavir0.120010070

Multivariate analyses – forward (<i>P</i> value=0.005)								
Parameter - covariate	OFV	ΔOFV	CL (RSE%)	IIV CL (RSE%)	V (RSE%)	Prop. Residual error (RSE%)	Add. Residual error (RSE%)	
CL – rifampicin	9044.61	-	1.0 (2.7)	35.7% (6.9)	20.3 (8.9)	0.283 (7.8)	212 (26.6)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke	9029.05	-15.557	0.946 (2.9)	34.9% (6.9)	20.3 (8.8)	0.283 (7.6)	210 (25.6)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir	9010.05	-19.001	0.953 (2.9)	32.9% (7.1)	19.8 (8.5)	0.29 (7.4)	212 (23.2)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir – age	8994.31	-15.743	0.955 (2.9)	32.2% (7.3)	19.8 (8.5)	0.288 (7.5)	214 (22.4)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir – age – darunavir/r	8987.28	-7.028	0.938 (2.9)	32.1% (7.4)	20 (8.6)	0.288 (7.8)	208 (24.2)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir – age – darunavir/r – body weight	8975.58	-11.705	0.928 (2.8)	31.6% (7.4)	20.2 (8.5)	0.284 (8.1)	220 (23.8)	
Smoke – atazanavir – age – darunavir/r – body weight – nevirapine	8970.01	-5.56	0.922 (2.8)	31.1% (7.6)	20.0 (8.5)	0.286 (8.0)	219 (23.6)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir – age – darunavir/r – body weight – etravirine	8973.30	-2.273	0.928 (2.8)	31.6% (7.3)	20.3 (8.4)	0.282 (7.9)	224 (21.8)	

darunavir/r: ritonavir-boosted darunavir

Multivariate analyses – backward (<i>P</i> value=0.005)								
Parameter - covariate	OFV	ΔOFV	CL (RSE%)	IIV CL (RSE%)	V (RSE%)	Prop. Residual error (RSE%)	Add. Residual error (RSE%)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir – age – darunavir/r – body weight	8975.58	-	0.928 (2.8)	31.6% (7.4)	20.2 (8.5)	0.284 (8.0)	220 (23.4)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir – age – darunavir/r	8987.28	11.705	0.938 (2.9)	32.1% (7.4)	20 (8.8)	0.288 (8.1)	208 (27.3)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir – age – body weight	8984.24	8.667	0.947 (2.9)	31.8% (7.3)	20 (8.5)	0.284 (7.7)	226 (23)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – atazanavir – darunavir/r – body weight	8987.08	11.508	0.923 (2.8)	32.1% (7.1)	20.3 (8.4)	0.286 (7.9)	219 (23.1)	
CL – rifampicin – smoke – age – darunavir/r – body weight	8994.95	19.376	0.919 (2.9)	33.4% (7.1)	20.7 (8.7)	0.278 (7.8)	217 (23.6)	
CL – rifampicin – atazanavir – age – darunavir/r – body weight	8997.72	22.147	0.985 (2.7)	32.4% (7.4)	20.1 (8.8)	0.288 (8.4)	217 (26.3)	
CL – smoke – atazanavir – age – darunavir/r – body weight	9048.69	73.117	0.958 (3.3)	30.1% (9.2)	19.5 (8.2)	0.337 (8.0)	180 (19.1)	

darunavir/r: ritonavir-boosted darunavir

Figure S1. Goodness-of-fit plots of dolutegravir structural population pharmacokinetic model. Loess smooth curves of the ordinate values are printed in grey. a) Observations vs. individual predictions; line of identity is printed in black. b) Observed concentrations vs. population predictions; identity line is printed in black. c) Conditional weighted residuals (CWRES) vs. population predictions; ordinate value zero is printed in black. d) CWRES vs. time post-dose; ordinate value zero is printed in black.



Figure S2. Goodness-of-fit plots of dolutegravir final population pharmacokinetic model. Loess smooth curves of the ordinate values are printed in grey. a) Observations vs. individual predictions; line of identity is printed in black. b) Observed concentrations vs. population predictions; identity line is printed in black. c) Conditional weighted residuals (CWRES) vs. population predictions; ordinate value zero is printed in black. d) CWRES vs. time post-dose; ordinate value zero is printed in black.



NONMEM 7.4 code for the final dolutegravir pharmacokinetic model

```
$PROBLEM DTG PK
$INPUT ID TUBE DAT1=DROP TIME AMT CMT SS II INTER DV SEX AGE BW ATV DRV CIG RIF
$DATA dataset.csv IGNORE=@
$SUBROUTINES ADVAN2 TRANS2
$PK
Q=0
IF(DRV.EQ.1) Q=1
Q1=0
IF(ATV.EQ.1) Q1=1
Q6=0
IF(RIF.EQ.1) Q6=1
Q7=0
IF(CIG.GT.0) Q7=1
MBW=73
BW1=BW
IF (BW.EQ.-99) BW1=MBW
FBW=(BW1-MBW)/MBW
RAGE=AGE/47
TVCL=THETA(1)*(1+Q6*THETA(6))*(1+Q1*THETA(7))*(1+Q7*THETA(8))*RAGE**THETA(9)
              *(1+Q*THETA(10))*(1+ THETA(11)*FBW)
CL= TVCL* EXP(ETA(1))
TVV = THETA(2)
V=TVV* EXP(ETA(2))
TVKA = THETA(3)
KA=TVKA* EXP(ETA(3))
S2 = V/1000
$ERROR
IPRED = F
W = SQRT(THETA(4)^{**}2^{*}IPRED^{**}2 + THETA(5)^{**}2)
Y = IPRED + W*EPS(1)
IRES = DV-IPRED
IWRES = IRES/W
```

\$THETA

(0, 0.928); CL

(0, 20.2) ; V

(2.24) FIX ; KA

(0, 0.284) ; Proportional residual error

(0, 220) ; Additive residual error

(-10, 2.61); Rifampicin

(-10, -0.375) ; Atazanavir

(-10, 0.185); Smoker

(-10, 0.219); Age allometric

(-10, 0.138) ; Darunavir

(-10, 0.31); Body weight linear

\$OMEGA

0.0951 ; IIV CL

0 FIX ; IIV V

0 FIX ; IIV KA

\$SIGMA

1 FIX ; Proportional error PK

\$EST METHOD=1 INTER MAXEVAL=9000 NOABORT SIG=3 PRINT=1 POSTHOC

\$COV

CHAPTER V: IMPACT OF AGING ON DRUG PHARMACOKINETICS

Chapter V in the thesis context

While most of our studies on the DDI between ARVs and comedications have been based on population PK modelling approaches, non-compartmental analyses (NCA) have been also carried-out for comparison. Although recognised to be less robust that modelling approaches, these analyses generally allow to provide to clinicians directly accessible, real-life clinical data that can be more easily understandable in clinically-oriented publications.

The first part of this chapter aims therefore at quantifying using the alternate NCA approach, the magnitude of DDIs between the three cardiovascular medications of interest (*i.e.* amlodipine, atorvastatin and rosuvastatin) and ARV agents in aging PLWH. Results demonstrated a marginal impact of aging on DDI magnitudes.

The second paper of this chapter fill the knowledge gap about the influence of aging on ARVs PK. Rich (NCT03515772) and sparse data (SHCS #815 study described in the first part of this thesis) were used to compare ARV disposition between younger and aging PLWH and also revealed a limited impact of age on ARV pharmacokinetics.

Own contribution: generation of PK data, data management, PK analyses, drafting of the manuscript

V.1. Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes

with antiretrovirals: a Swiss HIV Cohort Study.

Manuscript published in AIDS

208

Acknowledgements

M.J.G. and E.L.S. receive research funding from Gilead. S.K.G. has received consultancy fees from GSK/ViiVand Gilead Sciences, travel support from Gilead Sciences, and holds an investigator-initiated grant proposal supported by GSK/ViiV. The spouse of M.E.C. is a cofounder and shareholder, and serves on the Scientific Advisory Board of Proterris, Inc. For the remaining authors none were declared.

National Institutes of Health grants NIH/NIAID T32 AI007613, NIH/NIA T32AG049666, National Center For Advancing Translational Sciences UL1TR000457. Gilead Sciences.

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

^aInfectious Diseases Division, Department of Medicine, Weill Cornell Medical College, New York; ^bCornell University, College of Agriculture and Life Sciences. Ithaca, New York; ^cGeriatrics Division, Department of Medicine; ^dNephrology Division, Department of Medicine, Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, New York; and ^eDivision of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, Indiana, USA.

Correspondence to Carrie D. Johnston, MD, Division of Infectious Diseases, Weill Cornell Medical College, 1305 York Ave, A-4, New York, NY 10065, USA. Tel: +1 212 746 7864; fax: +1 212 746 8852; e-mail: cmd9008@med.cornell.edu.

Received: 10 December 2019; revised: 3 January 2020; accepted: 7 January 2020.

References

- Autenrieth CS, Beck EJ, Stelzle D, Mallouris C, Mahy M, Ghys P. Global and regional trends of people living with HIV aged 50 and over: estimates and projections for 2000–2020. *PLoS One* 2018; 13:e0207005.
- 2. Guaraldi G, Orlando G, Zona S, Menozzi M, Carli F, Garlassi E, et al. Premature age-related comorbidities among HIV-infected persons compared with the general population. *Clin Infect Dis* 2011; **53**:1120–1126.
- Freiberg MS, Chang CH, Kuller LH, Skanderson M, Lowy E, Kraemer KL, et al. HIV infection and the risk of acute myocardial infarction. JAMA Intern Med 2013; 173: 614–622.
- Muiru AN, Shlipak MG, Scherzer R, Zhang WR, Ascher SB, Jotwani V, et al. Kidney disease risk factors associate with urine biomarkers concentrations in HIV-positive persons: a crosssectional study. BMC Nephrol 2019; 20:4.
- Ascher SB, Scherzer R, Estrella MM, Shlipak MG, Ng DK, Palella FJ, et al. Associations of urine biomarkers with kidney function decline in HIV-infected and uninfected men. Am J Nephrol 2019; 50:1–10.
- Manjunath G, Tighiouart H, Coresh J, Macleod B, Salem DN, Griffith JL, et al. Level of kidney function as a risk factor for cardiovascular outcomes in the elderly. *Kidney Int* 2003; 63:1121–1129.

- Ishigami J, Grams ME, Naik RP, Caughey MC, Loehr LR, Uchida S, et al. Hemoglobin, albuminuria, and kidney function in cardiovascular risk: the ARIC (Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities) study. J Am Heart Assoc 2018; 7:e007209.
- Choi AI, Li Y, Deeks SG, Grunfeld C, Volberding PA, Shlipak MG. The association between kidney function and albuminuria with cardiovascular events in HIV-infected persons. *Circulation* 2010; **121**:651.
- 9. Grundy SM, Stone NJ. 2018 American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology/Multisociety Guideline on the Management of Blood Cholesterol-Secondary Prevention. *JAMA Cardiol* 2019; 4:589–591.
- 10. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF 3rd, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Inter Med 2009; **150**:604–612.
- 11. Schiffrin EL, Lipman ML, Mann JF. Chronic kidney disease: effects on the cardiovascular system. *Circulation* 2007; 116:85–97.
- Aberg JA, Gallant JE, Ghanem KG, Emmanuel P, Zingman BS, Horberg MA. Primary care guidelines for the management of persons infected with HIV: 2013 update by the HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 2013; 58:e1–e34.
- European AIDS Clinical Society (EACS). EACS guidelines. 2018. Panel Chairs: José Arribas, Catia Marzolini, Patrick Mallon, Andri Rauch and Ole Kirk. Available at: https://www.eacsociety.org/guidelines/eacs-guidelines/eacs-guidelines.html. [Accessed 4 November 2019].
- Lucas GM, Ross MJ, Stock PG, Shlipak MG, Wyatt CM, Gupta SK, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the management of chronic kidney disease in patients infected with HIV: 2014 update by the HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 59: e96–e138.

DOI:10.1097/QAD.00000000002492

Aging does not impact drug-drug interaction magnitudes with antiretrovirals

Felix Stader^{a,b}, Laurent Decosterd^c, Marcel Stoeckle^{a,b}, Matthias Cavassini^d, Manuel Battegay^{a,b}, Susana Alves Saldanha^c, Catia Marzolini^{a,b}, Perrine Courlet^c, the Swiss HIV Cohort Study^{*}

The risk of drug-drug interactions (DDIs) is elevated in aging people living with HIV (PLWH) because of highly prevalent age-related comorbidities leading to more comedications. To investigate the impact of aging on DDI magnitudes between comedications (amlodipine, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin) and boosted darunavir, we conducted a clinical trial in aging PLWH aged at least 55 years. DDI magnitudes were comparable with those reported in young individuals supporting that the clinical management of DDIs in aging PLWH can be similar.

Combined antiretroviral treatments (ARVs) have increased the life expectancy of people living with HIV (PLWH) close to the general population [1]. Consequently, PLWH have an identical high prevalence for age-related comorbidities, such as cardiovascular conditions, leading to complex drug associations with a higher risk for drug–drug interactions (DDIs) [2]. One current issue is the lack of knowledge concerning the magnitude and clinical management of DDIs in aging PLWH. However, despite the high DDI potential of ARVs, it is neither feasible nor ethically possible to conduct clinical studies for every single drug combination. Additionally, elderly PLWH are underrepresented in clinical studies. The decline in hepatic and renal blood flow and in the glomerular filtration rate drives age-related pharmacokinetic changes of non-HIV drugs and likely impacts ARV pharmacokinetics [3]. The impact of aging on metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters activity is either controversially discussed or lacking in the literature [4], which in addition to pharmacokinetic alterations could both affect the magnitude of DDIs in the elderly.

The aim of this study was to quantify the DDI magnitudes between cardiovascular drugs (i.e. amlodipine, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin) and ARVs in aging PLWH to provide guidance on DDI management in this fragile population.

This was a prospective clinical study including PLWH aged at least 55 years in Lausanne and Basel that are enrolled in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study [5]. Included PLWH received amlodipine, atorvastatin and/or rosuvastatin with a dolutegravir or a boosted darunavircontaining regimen. PLWH were excluded if they had severe comorbidities, such as advanced renal impairment (KDOQI 4-5); heart failure (NYHA 3-4); cirrhosis (Child-Pugh score C) or if they were receiving comedications with inhibitory or inducing properties. Consenting PLWH came to the HIV clinic in the morning for the collection of serial blood samples over 24 h. The Ethics Committee of Vaud and Northwest/ Central Switzerland approved the study protocol (CER-VD 2018-00369), which is registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03515772). Written informed consent was collected for each participant.

Plasma samples were isolated by centrifugation and stored at -80 °C until batch analysis. Plasma levels determination was performed in the Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology in Lausanne, using liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry [6].

All doses were normalized as amlodipine, atorvastatin, and rosuvastatin exhibit dose-proportional pharmacokinetics.

Pharmacokinetic parameters were calculated noncompartmentally from the measured concentration-time profiles in Matlab 2017a. The mean and standard deviation (SD) of the area under the curve (AUC) were calculated for the comedication received with either dolutegravir or boosted darunavir. The DDI magnitudes were calculated as the AUC of the comedication in the presence of boosted darunavir [inhibitory effects on cytochrome P450 3A4 (CYP3A4) and/or hepatic/ intestinal transporters] divided by the AUC of the comedication in the presence of dolutegravir (no inhibitory effects).

A structured literature search was performed using the MEDLINE database to screen for studies investigating the same DDI magnitudes in young adults to evaluate the impact of aging.

A total of 21 white PLWH (four women) aged 56–80 years were included in the study. Amlodipine was taken by eight PLWH (dolutegravir: n=6; boosted darunavir: n=2) aged 64.8 ± 7.0 years. The AUC of amlodipine (dose-normalized to 5 mg) was 1155 ± 414 and 2425 ± 739 ng h/ml in combination with dolute-gravir and boosted darunavir, resulting in an AUC-ratio of 2.10 ± 0.99 (Table 1). In young adults aged 20-50 years, the increase in amlodipine exposure in the presence of boosted indinavir was 1.89 [7] and in the presence of ritonavir was 2.11 [8].

Atorvastatin was investigated in nine aging PLWH (dolutegravir: n=4; boosted darunavir: n=5) aged 64.1 ± 8.0 years at a dose of 10 mg. The AUC of atorvastatin in the presence of dolutegravir was $31.4\pm4.7 \text{ ng h/ml}$ and increased to $193\pm133 \text{ ng h/ml}$ in PLWH receiving boosted darunavir. The resulting AUC ratio was 6.16 ± 4.35 . No study could be identified in young individuals for atorvastatin in the presence of boosted darunavir, but for boosted saquinavir (AUC ratio: 3.93) [9] and boosted tipranavir (AUC ratio: 9.36) [10].

Rosuvastatin was administered to six PLWH (dolutegravir: n=2 boosted darunavir: n=4) aged 67.7 ± 5.3 years and concentrations were dose-normalized to 10 mg. The rosuvastatin AUC in the presence of dolutegravir and

Table 1. Comparison of drug-drug interaction magnitudes of amlodipine, atorvastatin, and rosuvastatin combined with boosted darunavir in young (20-50 years) and aging individuals (55-80 years).

	n	Age (years)	AUC-ratio of aging individuals (55–80 years)	AUC-ratio of young individuals (20–50 years)	Ratio aging/ young
Amlodipine + boosted darunavir	8	64.8 ± 7.0	2.10 ± 0.99	2.11 (ritonavir alone) [8]	1.00
Atorvastatin + boosted darunavir	9	64.1 ± 8.0	6.16 ± 4.35	1.89 (boosted indinavir) [7] 3.93 (boosted saquinavir) [9] 9.36 (boosted tiprapavir) [10]	1.11
Rosuvastatin + boosted darunavir	6	67.7 ± 5.3	1.60 ± 0.88	1.57 ± 0.54 [11]	1.02

AUC, area under the curve.

Copyright © 2020 Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. All rights reserved.

boosted darunavir was 104.2 ± 32.6 and 166.9 ± 75.5 ng h/ml. The resulting AUC ratio was 1.60 ± 0.88 . One clinical study investigated rosuvastatin exposure in the presence of boosted darunavir in young adults aged 20-50 years and reported an AUC ratio of 1.57 ± 0.54 [11].

Clinical studies concerning the impact of aging on DDI magnitudes involving ARVs do not exist, leading to uncertainty concerning the clinical management of DDIs in aging PLWH. To our knowledge, our study is the first to investigate DDIs of commonly used comedications (amlodipine, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin) and boosted darunavir in PLWH aged at least 55 years. The obtained AUC ratios in aging PLWH were in the same range as DDI magnitudes reported in young individuals aged 20–50 years, thus, demonstrating that aging has a marginal impact on DDI magnitudes.

Two clinical studies with midazolam and clarithromycin (inhibition) or rifampicin (induction) elucidated no agerelated changes of the DDI magnitudes, which support our study results [12–14].

Several limitations should be acknowledged. Firstly, the small number of patients led to an observational study design. Nevertheless, the obtained clinical data show the real-life scenario of amlodipine, atorvastatin, and rosuvastatin in aging PLWH receiving boosted darunavir. Secondly, concentration-time profiles for the comedications in the presence of dolutegravir and boosted darunavir came from two different groups of patients because of medical and ethical reasons. Thirdly, clinical data for our investigated DDIs in young individuals were not obtained in the same study but gathered from published clinical trials that did not administer the same protease inhibitors as in our study. In the case of amlodipine, ritonavir itself is enough to inhibit CYP3A4 completely and thus, the second protease inhibitor can be neglected [15]. In the case of atorvastatin, the inhibition of OATP1B1 (organic anion transporting polypeptide) and P-gp (P-glycoprotein) adds to the CYP3A4 inhibition. Saquinavir and ritonavir show the least impact on OATP1B1 followed by darunavir and tipranavir with the latter one being a strong P-gp inhibitor [16,17]. Therefore, our results for atorvastatin and boosted darunavir are in line with published studies using either saquinavir or tipranavir.

In conclusion, our clinically observed data demonstrate that DDI magnitudes between ARVs and comedications appear to be similar in aging PLWH compared with young individuals and thus, the clinical management of DDIs can be similar. Further research is warranted in the future to investigate more DDI scenarios with a larger study population including more women to further support the clinical management of DDIs in aging PLWH.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by two Swiss National Science Foundation grants (Grant No: 166204 for Basel and 165956 for Lausanne), the OPO Foundation, and the Isaac Dreyfus Foundation (Basel).

The authors would like to thank the patients for supporting the clinical studies. We also like to thank the study nurses (Ms Deolinda Alves and Valérie Sormani, and Ms Silke Purschke and Vanessa Grassedonio) from the Service of Infectious Diseases at the University Hospital of Lausanne, and the Clinical Trial Unit at the University Hospital Basel for conducting the full pharmacokinetic clinical investigations. The support of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study is highly acknowledged. Members of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study are:

Aebi-Popp K, Anagnostopoulos A, Battegay M, Bernasconi E, Böni J, Braun DL, Bucher HC, Calmy A, Cavassini M, Ciuffi A, Dollenmaier G, Egger M, Elzi L, Fehr J, Fellay J, Furrer H, Fux CA, Günthard HF (President of the SHCS), Haerry D (deputy of 'Positive Council'), Hasse B, Hirsch HH, Hoffmann M, Hösli I, Huber M, Kahlert CR (Chairman of the Mother & Child Substudy), Kaiser L, Keiser O, Klimkait T, Kouyos RD, Kovari H, Ledergerber B, Martinetti G, Martinez de Tejada B, Marzolini C, Metzner KJ, Müller N, Nicca D, Paioni P, Pantaleo G, Perreau M, Rauch A (Chairman of the Scientific Board), Rudin C, Scherrer AU (Head of Data Centre), Schmid P, Speck R, Stöckle M (Chairman of the Clinical and Laboratory Committee), Tarr P, Trkola A, Vernazza P, Wandeler G, Weber R, Yerly S.

Source of funding: Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant No: 166204, 165956), the OPO Foundation, and the Isaac Dreyfus Foundation.

Authors contributions: study design and documentation to support the clinical study: ES., C.M., P.C.; recruitment of participants: M.S., M.C., M.B., C.M., P.C; laboratory work: L.A.D., S.A.S., P.C.; analysis and interpretation of data: F.S., C.M., P.C.; manuscript draft: F.S., P.C. Critical review and approval of manuscript: all authors.

Conflicts of interest

ES., L.A.D., M.B., P.C. declare no conflict of interest. M.S.'s institution received honoraria for advisory boards from Gilead, Mepha, MSD, Sandoz and ViiV Healthcare. M.S. received travel grants from Gilead and MSD. M.C.'s institution received research grants from Gilead and Viiv and gave expert opinion to Abbvie, Gilead, MSD, Viiv, and Sandoz. M.C. received travel grants from Gilead. C.M. received a research grant from Gilead and speaker honoraria for her institution from MSD.

^aDivision of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel; ^bUniversity of Basel, Basel; ^cService of Clinical Pharmacology; and ^dService of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland.

Correspondence to Felix Stader, Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel, Basel, Switzerland. Tel: +41 61 284 8738; e-mail: felix.stader@unibas.ch

*A list of all contributors can be found in the Acknowledgment section.

Received: 3 October 2019; revised: 31 December 2019; accepted: 4 January 2020.

References

- 1. Antiretroviral therapy cohort collaboration. Life expectancy of individuals on combination antiretroviral therapy in high-income countries: a collaborative analysis of 14 cohort studies. *Lancet* 2008; **372**:293–299.
- Guaraldi G, Malagoli A, Calcagno A, Mussi C, Celesia B, Carli F, et al. The increasing burden and complexity of multimorbidity and polypharmacy in geriatric HIV patients: a cross sectional study of people aged 65-74 years and more than 75 years. BMC Geriatr 2018; 18:99–109.
- Stader F, Kinvig H, Penny MA, Battegay M, Siccardi M, Marzolini C. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modelling to identify pharmackokinetic parameters driving drug exposure changes in the elderly. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2019 [Epub ahead of print]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40262-019-00822-9.
- Stader F, Siccardi M, Battegay M, Kinvig H, Penny MA, Marzolini C. Repository describing an aging population to inform physiologically based pharmacokinetic models considering anatomical, physiological, and biological age-dependent changes. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2019; 58:483–501.
 Courlet P, Stader F, Guidi M, Saldanha SA, Stoeckle M, Cavas-
- Courlet P, Stader F, Guidi M, Saldanha SA, Stoeckle M, Cavassini M, et al. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging patients enrolled in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. *AIDS* 2019; 34:103–108.

- Courlet P, Spaggiari D, Desfontaine V, Cavassini M, Alves Saldanha S, Buclin T, et al. UHPLC-MS/MS assay for simultaneous determination of amlodipine, metoprolol, pravastatin, rosuvastatin, atorvastatin with its active metabolites in human plasma, for population-scale drug-drug interactions studies in people living with HIV. J Chromatogr B 2019; 1125:121733.
- Glesby MJ, Aberg JA, Kendall MA, Fichtenbaum CJ, Hafner R, Hall S, et al., Adult AIDS Clinical Trials Group A5159 Protocol Team. Pharmacokinetic interactions between indinavir plus ritonavir and calcium channel blockers. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2005; 78:143–153.
- Mukherjee D, Zha J, Menon RM, Shebley M. Guiding dose adjustment of amlodipine after co-administration with ritonavir containing regimens using a physiologically-based pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic model. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn 2018; 45:443–456.
- Fichtenbaum CJ, Gerber JG, Rosenkranz SL, Segal Y, Aberg JA, Blaschke T, et al., NIAID AIDS Clinical Trials Group. Pharmacokinetic interactions between protease inhibitors and statins in HIV seronegative volunteers: ACTG Study A5047. AIDS 2002; 16:569–577.
- Pham P, La Porte C, Lee L, Van Heeswijk R, Sabo J, Elgadi M, et al. Differential effects of tipranavir plus ritonavir on atorvastatin or rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009; 53:4385–4392.
 Samineni D, Desai PB, Sallans L, Fichtenbaum CJ. Steady-state
- Samineni D, Desai PB, Sallans L, Fichtenbaum CJ. Steady-state pharmacokinetic interactions of darunavir/ritonavir with lipid-lowering agent rosuvastatin. J Clin Pharmacol 2012; 52: 922–931.
- Gorski JC, Jones DR, Haehner-Daniels BD, Hamman MA, O'Mara EM, Hall SD. The contribution of intestinal and hepatic CYP3A to the interaction between midazolam and clarithromycin. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1998; 64:133–143.
- Quinney SK, Haehner BD, Rhoades MB, Lin Z, Gorski JC, Hall SD. Interaction between midazolam and clarithromycin in the elderly. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2008; 65:98–109.
- 14. Gorski JC, Vannaprasaht S, Hamman MA, Ambrosius WT, Bruce MA, Haehner-Daniels B, et al. The effect of age, sex, and rifampin administration on intestinal and hepatic cytochrome P450 3A activity. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2003; 74:275–287.
- Mathias A, West S, Hui J, Kearney B. Dose-response of ritonavir on hepatic CYP3A activity and elvitegravir oral exposure. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2009; 85:64–70.
- Annaert P, Ye Z, Stieger B, Augustijns P. Interaction of HIV protease inhibitors with OATP1B1, 1B3, and 2B1. Xenobiotica 2010; 40:163–176.
- Kis O, Robillard K, Chan GN, Bendayan R. The complexities of antiretroviral drug-drug interactions: role of ABC and SLC transporters. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 2010; 31:22–35.

DOI:10.1097/QAD.00000000002489

V.2. Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir,

dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people living with HIV.

Manuscript published in AIDS

Pharmacokinetic profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine in aging people living with HIV

Perrine Courlet^a, Felix Stader^{b,c}, Monia Guidi^{a,d}, Susana Alves Saldanha^a, Marcel Stoeckle^b, Matthias Cavassini^e, Manuel Battegay^{b,c}, Thierry Buclin^a, Laurent Arthur Decosterd^{a,*}, Catia Marzolini^{b,c,*}, the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Objectives: The pharmacokinetics of antiretroviral drugs may differ in elderly people living with HIV (PLWH) because of age-related physiological changes. We aimed to assess the pharmacokinetics of several antiretroviral drugs in aging PLWH enrolled in the Swiss HIV Cohort (SHCS).

Design: Full pharmacokinetic profiling nested in a multicenter, observational, prospective cohort study. Additional collection of single point pharmacokinetic data during SHCS follow-up visits (unselected PLWH).

Methods: PLWH were eligible for the full pharmacokinetics investigation if they were over the age of 55 years, on a stable boosted darunavir-containing or dolutegravir-containing regimen. Single point measurements were prospectively collected during SHCS follow-up visits to compare antiretroviral drug exposure in aging (\geq 65 years) and younger (<65 years) PLWH.

Results: Nineteen PLWH with a median age of 64 years participated in the full pharmacokinetic investigations. Single point pharmacokinetic data were collected for 804 PLWH with a median age of 52 years. Boosted darunavir clearance was 40% lower in aging (\geq 65 years) compared with younger (<65 years) PLWH, consistent with other drugs predominantly metabolized by CYP3A. Dolutegravir exposure was similar between age groups whereas lamivudine exposure increased by 11% in aging PLWH. Median boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine $t_{1/2}$ were 148%, 45% and 32% higher in aging compared with younger PLWH.

Conclusion: Advanced age did not affect boosted darunavir exposure to a clinically significant extent despite the observed high variability in exposure. Age minimally

^{*} Laurent Arthur Decosterd Catia Marzolini are equal contributors to the work.

DOI:10.1097/QAD.00000000002372

^aService of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital of Lausanne and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, ^bDivision of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel, ^cUniversity of Basel, Basel, ^dInstitute of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Western Switzerland, Geneva, and ^eService of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland.

Correspondence to Laurent Arthur Decosterd, PhD, Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital of Lausanne and University of Lausanne, Rue du Bugnon 19, CH-1011 Lausanne, Switzerland. Tel: +41 21 314 42 72; fax: +41 21 314 80 98; e-mail: laurentarthur.decosterd@chuv.ch; or Catia Marzolini, Division of Infectious Diseases & Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital Basel, Petersgraben 4, 4031 Basel, Switzerland.

Tel: +061 265 21 14; fax: +061 265 31 98; e-mail: catia.marzolini@usb.ch

Received: 19 July 2019; revised: 23 August 2019; accepted: 27 August 2019.

affected dolutegravir and lamivudine exposure. Thus, dose adjustment based on age is a priori not warranted. Copyright © 2019 Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. All rights reserved.

AIDS 2020, 34:103-108

Keywords: aging, antiretroviral drug, HIV, pharmacokinetics

Introduction

Effective antiretroviral therapy has reduced mortality significantly; thus, increasing life expectancy of people living with HIV (PLWH) closer to the general population [1]. At the end of 2016, more than 40% of active patients in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS) were over the age of 50 years [2]. Mathematical models informed by data from United States, Italian, and Dutch HIV cohorts have projected that 40% of the HIV population will be greater than 60 years in 2030 [3,4]. As older PLWH are usually underrepresented in clinical trials [5], the impact of aging on the pharmacokinetics of antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) and related need for a dose adjustment are unclear.

Advanced age is characterized by anatomical, physiological and biological changes that have the potential to alter drug pharmacokinetics [6,7]. A major characteristic is the decreased hepatic and renal clearance and hence declined drug elimination with advanced age [7]. Available, studies suggest that the concentrations of raltegravir and efavirenz are not significantly altered in PLWH 45–79 years and more than 60 years whereas protease inhibitors were shown to be mostly increased [8–10]. Finally, dolutegravir maximal concentrations were increased by 25% in PLWH at least 60 years [11].

A major limitation for most of these studies is the inclusion of individuals below 65 years. Although age of 50 years has been commonly accepted in the HIV field to define an 'elderly' [12,13], the WHO recommends 65 years as an age-cut-off [14]. A pharmacological or clinical definition of an 'elderly' remains challenging because the aging process is not uniform across the population [15].

Therefore, a knowledge gap currently exists about the impact of older age on ARV pharmacokinetics and there is a lack of real-life data on aging PLWH. Polymorbidity and polymedication are poorly accounted for intreatment guidelines, which are largely elaborated for single diseases [16]. However, the elderly might be more susceptible to drug toxicity including ARVs than younger people. Additionally, data from other therapeutic areas suggest that age should be considered when prescribing in the elderly as they may require lower doses to achieve therapeutic efficacy and to avoid adverse events [17–19].

This work aims to compare boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine plasma exposures between aging $(\geq 65 \text{ years})$ and younger (<65 years) PLWH involved in two observational studies to better document pharmacokinetics of ARVs in this growing vulnerable population.

Methods

Study design and participants

Full pharmacokinetic investigations

These investigations were performed using a prospective and observational design and included PLWH enrolled in the SHCS and followed up in the centers of Lausanne and Basel. Male and female PLWH were eligible if they were aged 55 years or older and treated with a boosted darunavir or dolutegravir-containing regimen. Exclusion criteria were the coadministration of inhibiting or inducing comedications as well as the presence of severe comorbidities [i.e. cirrhosis (Child-Pugh score C), heart failure (NYHA 3-4), advanced kidney impairment (KDOQI (4-5)]. Participants arrived in the clinic in the morning of the full pharmacokinetic investigation and took their ARV treatment in front of the study nurse. Serial blood samples were collected at steady state, at the following time-points: t=0 (just before the drug intake) and 30 min, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12 and 24 h after the drug intake.

All study participants gave written informed consent before entering the study. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Vaud and northwest/central Switzerland (CER-VD 2018–00369) and registered in ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03515772).

Single point measurements

Single point measurements for therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) of boosted darunavir and dolutegravir were collected in the framework of SHCS follow-up visits for PLWH attending the HIV clinics in Lausanne and Basel. One week before their biannual cohort visit, PLWH received a reminding letter with a form to fill out all their current medications and date/time of the last drug intake. Clinical nurses collected the forms, performed and documented blood sampling. TDM concentrations were measured at unselected times after the last drug intake.

Plasma concentration determination

All plasma level measurements were performed at the Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology of the University Hospital of Lausanne. Blood samples were collected and

Copyright © 2019 Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. All rights reserved.
centrifuged in EDTA-containing tubes. Plasma were aliquoted and shipped frozen (Basel samples) and were stored at -80 °C until analysis by several liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/ MS) methodologies, reported in refs. [20-22]. LC-MS/ MS assay for plasma determination of elvitegravir and rilpivirine was adapted to include dolutegravir [20]. Lamivudine plasma concentrations were only measured

Pharmacokinetic analysis

Concentration-time profiles of boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine, the most prescribed ARV drugs in the full pharmacokinetic study were plotted to visually compare drug disposition between aging and younger PLWH. Single point concentrations of boosted darunavir and dolutegravir, obtained during TDM and representing mostly younger PLWH, were overlaid to show the effect of aging on pharmacokinetics and to visualize interpatient variability more adequately.

in PLWH participating in the full pharmacokinetic study.

Plasma pharmacokinetic parameters were calculated noncompartmentally using data from the pharmacokinetic study with rich sampling and the PKNCA package in R [23]. The area under the concentration-time curve over a dosing interval (from 0 to τ , AUC_{0- τ}) was calculated using the linear-up log-down method. Peak concentration (C_{max}) and time to peak plasma concentration (t_{max}) were directly retrieved from the R output. Half-life ($t_{1/2}$) was calculated as $\ln(2)/\lambda_z$ with λ_z being the elimination rate constant; apparent clearance (CL/*F*) as dose/AUC_{0- τ}; and apparent volume (V/F) as (CL/*F*)/ λ_z . Pharmacokinetic parameters were reported as median and range.

Results

Nineteen PLWH (17 men) with a median age of 64 years (range 56-80 years) participated in the full pharmacokinetic investigations and contributed to 97, 107 and 127 boosted darunavir (n = 9 PLWH), dolutegravir (n = 10PLWH), and lamivudine (n = 12 PLWH) plasma concentrations, respectively. Darunavir was boosted either with 100 mg of ritonavir (n = 7 PLWH) or with 150 mg of cobicistat (n=2 PLWH). Boosted darunavir dose varied between participants: 600 mg once daily (one PLWH), 800 mg once daily (two PLWH), 1200 mg once daily (four PLWH) and 600 mg twice daily (two PLWH). Dolutegravir dosage was always 50 mg once daily. Lamivudine dosage was 300 mg once daily except one individual receiving 150 mg once daily. Overall, boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine plasma concentrations ranged from 12 to 10652, 623-6445 and 51-3546 ng/ml, respectively.

216

In addition, 804 PLWH with a median age of 52 (range 20– 86) contributed to the single point TDM measurements, thus adding 244 boosted darunavir and 560 dolutegravir plasma concentrations for visual inspection of data.

No distinct separation was observed between boosted darunavir, dolutegravir and lamivudine plasma concentrations of aging (\geq 65 years) and younger (<65 years) PLWH (Fig. 1). Although a high variability in boosted darunavir pharmacokinetic parameters was noticed in both age groups, boosted darunavir clearance was 40% lower in elderly compared with younger PLWH. Dolutegravir and lamivudine CL/*F* were similar between age groups (differences of 13% and 11% for dolutegravir and lamivudine, respectively). Thus, dolutegravir and



Fig. 1. Concentration-time profiles of antiretroviral drugs. Black lines/points: full concentration-time profiles and single point concentrations, respectively of aging PLWH (\geq 65 years old); grey lines/points: full concentration-time profiles and single point concentrations of PLWH younger than 65 years old; white points: single point concentrations of PLWH younger than 55 years old. Boosted darunavir plasma concentrations of PLWH participating in the full pharmacokinetics study and receiving ritonavirboosted darunavir at the dosage of 600/100 mg twice daily are joined with dotted lines.

Copyright © 2019 Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. All rights reserved.

	Boosted darunavir		Dolutegravir		Lamivudine	
	Younger $(n = 4)$	Aging $(n=5)$	Younger $(n = 7)$	Aging $(n=3)$	Younger $(n=6)$	Aging $(n=6)$
Age	63 (62-64)	73 (67-76)	60 (56-64)	74 (70-80)	61 (56-64)	72 (67-80)
C_{\max} (ng/ml)	^a 7963 (7139–8787) ^b 4651 (4558–4743)	7809 (5695–10652)	4933 (3812–6445)	4831 (3564–5116)	2498 (1928–2840)	2092 (634–3546)
$T_{\rm max}$ (h)	1.6 (0.9-4)	3 (1-4)	1(0.5-2)	1(0.5-2)	1.6 (1-3)	2 (1-3)
$AUC_{0-\tau}$ (ng.h/ml)	^c 68 197	77 500	65 994	69270	14290	15910
	(57790-78605) $^{d}34658$	(55 541 - 121 893)	(40132-81548)	(45 406 - 80 442)	(11 570-22 378)	(6678–24978)
	(33 431-35 885)					
$t_{1/2}$ (h)	7.1 (4.9–9.7)	17.6 (4.4-44.4)	12.4 (8.3-22.0)	18.0 (16.2-34.5)	6.4(4.2 - 8.5)	8.5 (6.5-11.6)
CL/F (l/h)	17.3 (15.3-20.8)	10.3 (6.6-21.6)	0.8(0.6-1.2)	0.7(0.6-1.1)	21.3 (13.4-25.9)	18.9 (12.0-23.6)
V/F (l)	170.3 (145.6–235.1)	371.5 (109.0-441.3)	15.7 (9.1–22.8)	28.6 (16.9–30.9)	167.1 (121.3-300.3)	247.9 (111.9–374.4)

Table 1. Pharmacokinetic parameters in younger (<65 years old) and aging (\geq 65 years old) people living with HIV calculated from the full pharmacokinetic profiles using noncompartmental analyses.

Pharmacokinetic values are reported as median (range).

^aBoosted darunavir 1200 mg daily.

^bBoosted darunavir 600 mg twice daily.

^cBoosted darunavir 1200 mg daily: AUC₀₋₂₄.

^dBoosted darunavir 600 mg twice daily: AUC_{0-12} .

lamivudine exposures were respectively only 5% and 11% higher in aging PLWH compared with younger individuals. Overall, median boosted darunavir, dolute-gravir and lamivudine $t_{1/2}$ were 148%, 45% and 32% higher in elderly than in younger PLWH (Table 1).

Discussion

Advanced age does not affect boosted darunavir, dolutegravir, and lamivudine pharmacokinetics to a clinically significant extent.

For the first time, our clinical study evaluated boosted darunavir concentration-time profiles in PLWH at least 65 years. Boosted darunavir exposure tend to be higher in aging PLWH based on visual inspection, as clearance was decreased by 40%. This observation is in line with other drugs being predominantly metabolized by CYP3A in the liver, such as simvastatin [24], midazolam [25] and triazolam [26]. In contrast to our results, two population pharmacokinetic analyses of sparse sampling data did not show any significant influence of age on darunavir/ ritonavir disposition, but the studied population was skewed towards younger PLWH in both studies [27,28]. Nevertheless, in our study, median clearance values of both investigated age groups were in the range of values reported from compartmental analysis varying from 11 to 201/h [27,28]. Between-individual variability of boosted darunavir pharmacokinetics was generally high for all analysed parameters, especially for $t_{1/2}$, which varied from 4.4 to 44.4 h in aging PLWH. In the individual with the highest observed $t_{1/2}$, darunavir elimination appeared to be altered with plasma concentrations being relatively stable between 12 and 24 h, but no explanation was found. Median $t_{1/2}$ in the younger group was similar to that reported in population pharmacokinetic analyses [27]

whereas median $t_{1/2}$ in aging PLWH is close to the value reported by the manufacturer [29]. Finally, boosted darunavir *V/F* differed between the two age groups, but variability was also noticed in the literature with values varying from 120 to 12001 [27,28]. Despite the large observed variability of boosted darunavir pharmacokinetics, aging did not alter pharmacokinetics to a clinically significant extent.

Dolutegravir pharmacokinetic parameters were similar to those reported by the manufacturer [30] and to a clinical study investigating dolutegravir exposure in PLWH aged 60-79 years [11]. There was no difference in pharmacokinetic parameters except for $t_{1/2}$, which was 18 h in aging compared with 12.4 h in younger PLWH. Nevertheless, this difference should lead to minor clinical consequences as dolutegravir is usually administered once daily. Between-subject variability was also comparable to population pharmacokinetic analysis of sparse sampling data ranging from 23 to 32% [31–33]. Those models demonstrated a counterintuitive 10% increase in dolutegravir clearance between the age of 40 and 65 years [31,32], which does not result in clinically significant changes considering dolutegravir overall variability.

Our lamivudine pharmacokinetic values are in good accordance with previously published population pharmacokinetic models [34,35]. Clearance distribution is close to that reported by Moore *et al.* [35] and $t_{1/2}$ (median: 7.2 h, range: 4.2–9.2 h) is similar to the value of 5–7 h reported in the summary of product characteristics [36]. Lamivudine is mainly cleared by renal elimination and reduced glomerular filtration rate with advanced age could guide clinicians to adjust lamivudine dosage in the elderly. However, our study suggests only a marginal impact of age on lamivudine pharmacokinetics (median clearance of 21.3 and 18.91/h in younger and aging PLWH, respectively).

The main limitation of this study is the relatively small number of full pharmacokinetic investigations. However, the comparison with a cohort of younger PLWH allows to demonstrate a lack of significant effect of aging on the pharmacokinetics of ARVs when considering elderly PLWH without severe comorbidities. Furthermore, this study fills the knowledge gap in real-life clinical pharmacokinetic data of ARVs in aging PLWH, which are essential for safe prescribing in this population.

In conclusion, boosted darunavir exposure was highly variable but modestly increased in aging PLWH. Dolutegravir and lamivudine exposure was minimally affected by age. Nevertheless, there is still a need for studies to allow a better understanding of ARV pharmacokinetics in this vulnerable growing population.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by two Swiss National grants (Grant number 324730–165956 (Lausanne) and 324730–166204 (Basel), the OPO Foundation and the Isaac Dreyfus Foundation (Basel).

The authors would like to thank the study nurses (Ms Silke Purschke and Vanessa Grassedonio) from the Clinical Trial Unit at the University Hospital Basel for conducting the full PK clinical investigations. In addition, the authors would like to thank the study nurses from the HIV clinics in Lausanne (Alexandra Mitouassiwou-Samba, Deolinda Alves, Rachel Ribeiro, Valerie Sormani, Vreneli Waelti Da Costa) and Basel (Kerstin Asal, Rebekka Plattner, Vreni Werder, Reinhild Harant, Irena Ferati) for collecting blood samples and providing information on drug intake and blood sampling for the interpretation of single point measurements.

Author contributions: Study design and documentation to support the clinical study: P.C., F.S., T.B., C.M. Recruitment of participants: P.C., M.S., M.C., M.B., C.M. Laboratory work: P.C., S.A.S; L.A.D. Analysis and interpretation of data: P.C. and M.G. Manuscript draft: P.C. Critical review and approval of manuscript: all authors.

Members of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study: Anagnostopoulos A, Battegay M, Bernasconi E, Böni J, Braun DL, Bucher HC, Calmy A, Cavassini M, Ciuffi A, Dollenmaier G, Egger M, Elzi L, Fehr J, Fellay J, Furrer H, Fux CA, Günthard HF (President of the SHCS), Haerry D (deputy of 'Positive Council'), Hasse B, Hirsch HH, Hoffmann M, Hösli I, Huber M, Kahlert CR (Chairman of the Mother & Child Substudy), Kaiser L, Keiser O, Klimkait T, Kouyos RD, Kovari H, Ledergerber B, Martinetti G, Martinez de Tejada B, Marzolini C, Metzner KJ, Müller N, Nicca D, Paioni P, Pantaleo G, Perreau M, Rauch A (Chairman of the Scientific Board), Rudin C, Scherrer AU (Head of Data Centre), Schmid P, Speck R, Stöckle M (Chairman of the Clinical and Laboratory Committee), Tarr P, Trkola A, Vernazza P, Wandeler G, Weber R, Yerly S.

218

Conflicts of interest

P.C., F.S., M.G., S.A.S., M.B., T.B., L.A.D. declare no conflicts of interest.

M.S. received honoraria for his institution from Janssen-Cilag, ViiV Healthcare for advisory board. M.C.'s institution received research grants from Gilead and Viiv and gave expert opinion to Abbvie, Gilead, MSD, Viiv and Sandoz. M.C. received travel grants from Gilead. C.M. received a research grant from Gilead and speaker honoraria for her institution from MSD.

References

- 1. Antiretroviral Therapy Cohort Collaboration. Survival of HIVpositive patients starting antiretroviral therapy between 1996 and 2013: a collaborative analysis of cohort studies. *Lancet HIV* 2017; 4:e349–e356.
- 2. Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Available at: http://www.shcs.ch/. [Accessed 7 August 2017]
- Smit M, Brinkman K, Geerlings S, Smit C, Thyagarajan K, Sighem A, et al. Future challenges for clinical care of an ageing population infected with HIV: a modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis 2015; 15:810–818.
- Smit M, Cassidy R, Cozzi-Lepri A, Quiros-Roldan E, Girardi E, Mammone A, et al. Projections of noncommunicable disease and healthcare costs among HIV-positive persons in Italy and the U.S.A.: a modelling study. *PloS One* 2017; 12:e0186638.
- 5. Watts G. Why the exclusion of older people from clinical research must stop. *BMJ* 2012; **344**:e3445.
- 6. Mangoni AA, Jackson SH. Age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: basic principles and practical applications. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2004; **57**:6–14.
- Stader F, Siccardi M, Battegay M, Kinvig H, Penny MA, Marzolini C. Repository describing an aging population to inform physiologically based pharmacokinetic models considering anatomical, physiological, and biological age-dependent changes. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2019; 58:483–501.
- 8. Calza L, Colangeli V, Magistrelli E, Bussini L, Conti M, Ramazzotti E, et al. Plasma trough concentrations of darunavir/ ritonavir and raltegravir in older patients with HIV-1 infection. HIV Med 2017; 18:474–481.
- Crawford KW, Spritzler J, Kalayjian RC, Parsons T, Landay A, Pollard R, et al., AIDS Clinical Trials Protocol 5015 Team. Age-related changes in plasma concentrations of the HIV protease inhibitor lopinavir. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 2010; 26:635–643.
- Winston A, Jose S, Gibbons S, Back D, Stohr W, Post F, et al., UK Collaborative HIV Cohort Study. Effects of age on antiretroviral plasma drug concentration in HIV-infected subjects undergoing routine therapeutic drug monitoring. J Antimicrob Chemother 2013; 68:1354–1359.
- 11. Elliot ER, Wang X, Singh S, Simmons B, Vera JH, Miller RF, et al. Increased dolutegravir peak concentrations in people living with human immunodeficiency virus aged 60 and over, and analysis of sleep quality and cognition. *Clin Infect Dis* 2019; 68:87–95.
- Cuzin L, Katlama C, Cotte L, Pugliese P, Cheret A, Bernaud C, et al., Dat'AIDS Study Group. Ageing with HIV: do comorbidities and polymedication drive treatment optimization? *HIV Med* 2017; 18:395–401.

- McNicholl IR, Gandhi M, Hare CB, Greene M, Pierluissi E. A pharmacist-led program to evaluate and reduce polypharmacy and potentially inappropriate prescribing in Older HIVpositive patients. *Pharmacotherapy* 2017; 37:1498–1506.
- World Health Organization. Definition of an older or elderly person. 2010. Available at: https://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/. [Accessed 27 June 2018]
- Singh S, Bajorek B. Defining 'elderly' in clinical practice guidelines for pharmacotherapy. *Pharm Pract (Granada)* 2014; 12:489.
- Vigouroux C, Bastard JP, Capeau J. Emerging clinical issues related to management of multiorgan comorbidities and polypharmacy. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2014; 9:371–378.
- 17. Lee HC, TI Huang K, Shen WK. Use of antiarrhythmic drugs in elderly patients. J Geriatr Cardiol 2011; 8:184–194.
- Marzolini C, Livio F. Prescribing issues in elderly individuals living with HIV. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol 2019; 12:643–659.
- Vass M, Hendriksen C. Medication for older people-aspects of rational therapy from the general practitioner's point of view. Z Gerontol Geriatr 2005; 38:190–195.
- Aouri M, Calmy A, Hirschel B, Telenti A, Buclin T, Cavassini M, et al. A validated assay by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for the simultaneous quantification of elvitegravir and rilpivirine in HIV positive patients. J Mass Spectrom 2013; 48:616–625.
- Courlet P, Spaggiari D, Cavassini M, Du Pasquier RA, Alves Saldanha S, Buclin T, et al. Determination of nucleosidic/tidic reverse transcriptase inhibitors in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid by ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. *Clin Mass Spec* 2018; 8:8–20.
 Fayet A, Beguin A, Zanolari B, Cruchon S, Guignard N, Telenti
- Fayet A, Beguin A, Zanolari B, Cruchon S, Guignard N, Telenti A, et al. A LC-tandem MS assay for the simultaneous measurement of new antiretroviral agents: raltegravir, maraviroc, darunavir, and etravirine. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2009; 877:1057–1069.
- 23. Denney WS, Duvvuri S, Buckeridge C. Simple, automatic noncompartmental analysis: the PKNCA R Package. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodynamics 2015; 42:S65–S70.
- Cheng H, Rogers JD, Sweany AE, Dobrinska MR, Stein EA, Tate AC, et al. Influence of age and gender on the plasma profiles of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitory activity following multiple doses of lovastatin and simvastatin. Pharm Res 1992; 9:1629–1633.
- Greenblatt DJ, Abernethy DR, Locniskar A, Harmatz JS, Limjuco RA, Shader RI. Effect of age, gender, and obesity on midazolam kinetics. Anesthesiology 1984; 61:27–35.

- Greenblatt DJ, Divoll M, Abernethy DR, Moschitto LJ, Smith RB, Shader RI. Reduced clearance of triazolam in old age: relation to antipyrine oxidizing capacity. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1983; 15:303–309.
- Arab-Alameddine M, Lubomirov R, Fayet-Mello A, Aouri M, Rotger M, Buclin T, et al., Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Population pharmacokinetic modelling and evaluation of different dosage regimens for darunavir and ritonavir in HIV-infected individuals. J Antimicrob Chemother 2014; 69:2489–2498.
- Molto J, Xinarianos G, Miranda C, Pushpakom S, Cedeno S, Clotet B, et al. Simultaneous pharmacogenetics-based population pharmacokinetic analysis of darunavir and ritonavir in HIV-infected patients. Clin Pharmacokinet 2013; 52:543–553.
- European Medicine Agency. Prezista, summary of product characteristics. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/ documents/product-information/prezista-epar-product-information_en.pdf. [Accessed 15 July 2019]
- European Medicine Agency. Tivicay, summary of product characteristics. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/tivicay-epar-product-information_ en.pdf. [Accessed 15 July 2019]
- Barcelo C, Aouri M, Courlet P, Guidi M, Braun DL, Gunthard HF, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir: influence of drug-drug interactions in a real-life setting. J Antimicrob Chemother 2019; 74:2690–2697.
- Zhang J, Hayes S, Sadler BM, Minto I, Brandt J, Piscitelli S, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir in HIV-infected treatment-naive patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2015; 80: 502–514.
- Francois P, Patrick M, Florence B, Marie-Claude G. Dolutegravir population pharmacokinetics in a real-life cohort of people living with HIV infection: a covariate analysis. Ther Drug Monit 2019; 41:444–451.
- Bouazza N, Treluyer JM, Ghosn J, Hirt D, Benaboud S, Foissac F, et al. Evaluation of effect of impaired renal function on lamivudine pharmacokinetics. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2014; 78:847–854.
- Moore KH, Yuen GJ, Hussey EK, Pakes GE, Eron JJ Jr, Bartlett JA. Population pharmacokinetics of lamivudine in adult human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients enrolled in two phase III clinical trials. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1999; 43:3025–3029.
- European Medicine Agency. Epivir, summary of product characteristics. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/ documents/product-information/epivir-epar-product-information_ en.pdf. [Accessed 15 July 2019]

CHAPTER VI: VARIOUS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS

Chapter VI in the thesis context

The numerous LC-MS/MS methodologies developed within the framework of this thesis have been either integrated in our routine TDM service and have also been applied for several research projects in collaboration with Swiss Hospitals. They all benefited from our expertise in clinical pharmacokinetics analyses.

The first part of this chapter describes the ARV PK profiles after post gastric bypass surgery period in an HIV-infected women from the University Hospital of Basel. The impact of such surgery on drug PK especially in the absorption phase is poorly documented, thus leading to uncertainty about the management of treatment in such conditions. This case report highlights the importance of TDM in such particular clinical situations.

The second study evaluates the suitability of saliva as a non-invasive surrogate marker to identify nonadherent patients to ART. This pilot study is part of a broader project initiated by the University Hospital of Geneva about optimization of HIV care in low-income countries.

The last part of this chapter emphasises the role of TDM in complex clinical situations involving both multi-organ failure and suspicion of DDIs. Although first developed for research purposes, the LC-MS/MS methodology for the determination of cardiovascular drugs presented in chapter III of this thesis was applied to plasma samples collected in a 85-old patient hospitalized in Bellinzona and helped clinicians to identify the cause of rhabdomyolysis.

Own contribution: generation of PK data, pharmacological interpretation, writing (saliva paper) or revision (gastric bypass, rosuvastatin accumulation and dolutegravir monotherapy papers) of the articles.

VI.1. Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late post gastric bypass surgery period.

Manuscript published in AIDS

Correspondence

AIDS 2018, 32:1903-1907

Boosted darunavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir pharmacokinetics in the early and late postgastric bypass surgery periods

The impact of bariatric surgery on antiretroviral pharmacokinetics is poorly documented. Common surgical interventions for morbid obesity include diversionary procedures such as Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) and restrictive procedures such as sleeve gastrectomy. Both procedures consist of creating a small portion of the stomach resulting in decreased gastric volume and increased gastric pH, which may impair the absorption of drugs whose solubility relies on low gastric pH (e.g. rilpivirine, atazanavir). In the case of RYGB, the gastric pouch is attached to the small intestine, thereby partially bypassing the duodenum and jejunum. Consequently, RYGB may further impact drug absorption due to a reduced exposure to the intestinal mucosa. Maintenance of sufficient antiretroviral drug exposure is critical given the risk of viral relapse. Thus, the characterization of antiretroviral drugs pharmacokinetics after bariatric surgery is of clinical interest to provide dosage recommendations both in the early and late postoperative periods.

We report a 43-year-old HIV-infected woman undergoing RYGB (BMI: 47.5 kg/m^2). At the time of surgery, the patient was virologically suppressed with a CD4⁺ cell count of 1040 cells/µl under once-daily treatment with darunavir/ritonavir (800/100 mg),emtricitabine (200 mg) and tenofovir disoproxil (245 mg). Routine therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) performed 3 months before surgery showed plasma levels of darunavir/ritonavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir more than 75th percentile (5314/450; 428 and 121 ng/ml, 14 h after drug intake). We anticipated that RYGB might alter antiretroviral drug exposure; therefore, darunavir/ritonavir was increased immediately postsurgery to 600/100 mg twice daily, whereas emtricitabine and tenofovir dosages were unchanged. This dosing recommendation followed published data reporting adequate single-point measurement of these antiretrovirals, although 1-year post-RYGB [1]. Thus, the reported levels might not reflect the early postoperative period as the intestine could have adapted to compensate for the altered physiology. Due to the paucity of data, we decided to document the pharmacokinetic profiles of darunavir/ritonavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir in the early and late post-RYGB periods. During the morning of the pharmacokinetic investigations, the patient took darunavir/ritonavir with a small breakfast then blood samples were drawn at defined time points over 12 h. Given the once-daily administration of emtricitabine and tenofovir, their pharmacokinetics was measured from 12 to 24-h post-intake. Drug levels were quantified using validated liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry methods [2,3]. The drug profiles drawn from compartmental analyses and the pharmacokinetic parameters calculated using noncompartmental analysis are presented in Fig. 1.

Compared with reference pharmacokinetic profiles and parameters [4,5], darunavir area under the curve $(AUC)_{0-}$ _{12h}, C_{max} and C_{min} 3 days postsurgery were decreased by 50, 14 and 67%, whereas darunavir exposure 10 weeks postsurgery was comparable with reference (Fig. 1a). Ritonavir AUC_{0-12h}, C_{max} and C_{min} 3 days postsurgery were decreased by 67, 67 and 75% compared with reference [4,6], whereas ritonavir pharmacokinetic parameters were increased by 104, 119 and 135% 10 weeks postsurgery (Fig. 1b). Compared with references [7,8], emtricitabine exposure was at percentile 10th and close to 50th 3 days and 10 weeks postsurgery (Fig. 1c), whereas tenofovir exposure was at percentile 50th and above 75th, respectively (Fig. 1d). Given the normal drug exposures on the second pharmacokinetic investigation, the patient was changed back to a once-daily darunavir/ ritonavir (800/100 mg) schedule. One-year postsurgery TDM showed good levels of darunavir/ritonavir, emtricitabine and tenofovir (changed to tenofovir alafenamide) (3140/298; 147 and 11 ng/ml, 14 h after drug intake).

This report describes for the first time the full pharmacokinetic profiles of darunavir/ritonavir in the early and late postsurgery periods. Darunavir exposure underwent a marked transient reduction as explained by the impaired absorption in the early postsurgery period of darunavir and notably of ritonavir, thus altering in turn its boosting effect on darunavir pharmacokinetics. Despite this decrease, darunavir levels remained well above the protein-adjusted concentration inhibiting viral replication by 90% for the wild-type virus (55 ng/ml) [4] and the patient remained virologically suppressed throughout. The administration of once-daily darunavir/ritonavir could likely have been possible in this patient given the good presurgery drug exposure. The extrapolated C_{\min} , _{24h} is \approx 410 ng/ml, thus still within the observed darunavir C_{\min} range for once-daily administration [median (95% prediction interval): 981 (110-4449) ng/ml] [4]. However, the observed 67% decrease in darunavir Cmin early postsurgery could be problematic in patients with resistant viruses, particularly if the presurgery level is below percentile 50th. The transient decrease in tenofovir exposure with maintenance of viral suppression is in line with published data [9]. This case



Fig. 1. Drug plasma profiles measured in the patient with the corresponding reference profiles issued from published population pharmacokinetic analyses. Darunavir [600 mg twice a day (BID)] (a), Ritonavir (100 mg BID) (b), emtricitabine [200 mg once a day (QD)] (c) and tenofovir (245 mg QD) (d) pharmacokinetic profiles 3 days (filled squares) and 10 weeks (open squares) post gastric bypass surgery. Grey dashed lines represent the 2.5 or 10, 97.5 or 90th percentile and grey continuous lines 50th percentile concentration curves derived from published population-based pharmacokinetic models of darunavir/ritonavir [4], emtricitabine [7] and tenofovir [8]. The area under the curve (AUC)_{0-12h}, C_{max} , C_{min} , half-life of darunavir 3 days and 10 weeks after surgery were 30 996 and 60 031 ng h/ml, 5574 and 6967 ng/ml, 1166 and 3350 ng/ml, 7.4 and 11.6 h, respectively. For ritonavir, the AUC_{0-12h}, C_{max} , C_{min} , half-live were 1717 and 10 620 ng h/ml, 277 and 1819 ng/ml, 40 and 384 ng/ml, 3.4 and 5.2 h, respectively.

highlights the utility of TDM to guide dosage recommendations in patients undergoing bariatric surgery [10].

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Ms Susana Alves Saldanha for her excellent analytical support, as well as the patient.

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

Veronika Baettig^{a,b}, Perrine Courlet^c, Tarik Delko^{b,d}, Manuel Battegay^{a,b} and Catia Marzolini^{a,b}, ^aDivision of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Department of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel, ^bUniversity of Basel, Basel, ^cService and Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital of Lausanne, Lausanne, and ^dDivision of Visceral Surgery, Department of Surgery, University Hospital of Basel, Basel, Switzerland.

Correspondence to Catia Marzolini, PharmD, PhD, Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Department of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel, Petersgraben 4, 4031 Basel, Switzerland.

Tel: +41 61 265 21 14; fax: +41 61 265 31 98; e-mail: catia.marzolini@usb.ch

Received: 15 May 2018; accepted: 22 May 2018.

228

References

- MacBrayne CE, Blum JD, Kiser JJ. Tenofovir, emtricitabine, and darunavir/ritonavir pharmacokinetics in an HIV-infected patient after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Ann Pharmacother 2014; 48:816–819.
- Fayet A, Beguin A, Zanolari B, Cruchon S, Guignard N, Telenti A, et al. A LC-tandem MS assay for the simultaneous measurement of new antiretroviral agents: raltegravir, maraviroc, darunavir, and etravirine. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2009; 877:1057–1069.
- Courlet P, Spaggiari D, Cavassini M, Du Pasquier R, Alves Saldanha S, Buclin T, et al. Determination of nucleosidic/tidic reverse transcriptase inhibitors in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid by ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. Clin Mass Spectrom 2018; 8:8–20.
- Arab-Alameddine M, Lubomirov R, Fayet-Mello A, Aouri M, Rotger M, Buclin T, et al. Population pharmacokinetic modelling and evaluation of different dosage regimens for darunavir and ritonavir in HIV-infected individuals. J Antimicrob Chemother 2014; 69:2489–2498.

- Rittweger M, Arasteh K. Clinical pharmacokinetics of darunavir. Clin Pharmacokinet 2007; 46:739–756.
 Schöller-Gyüre M, Kakuda TN, Sekar V, Woodfall B, De Smedt
- Schöller-Gyüre M, Kakuda TN, Sekar V, Woodfall B, De Smedt G, Lefebvre E, et al. Pharmacokinetics of darunavir/ritonavir and TMC125 alone and coadministered in HIV-negative volunteers. Antivir Ther 2007; 12:789–796.
- Valade E, Treluyer JM, Bouazza N, Ghosn J, Foissac F, Benaboud S, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of emtricitabine in HIV-1-infected adult patients. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2014; 58:2256–2261.
- Jullien V, Treluyer JM, Rey E, Jaffray P, Krivine A, Moachon L, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of tenofovir in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients taking highly active antiretroviral therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005; 49:3361–3366.
- Muzard L, Alvarez JC, Gbedo C, Czernichow S, Carette C. Tenofovir pharmacokinetic after sleeve-gastrectomy in four severely obese patients living with HIV. Obes Res Clin Pract 2017; 11:108–113.
- 10. Piso RJ, Battegay M, Marzolini C. Dolutegravir plasma levels after gastric bypass surgery. *AIDS* 2017; **31**:1052–1054.

DOI:10.1097/QAD.000000000001913

First reported case of integrase (R263K, G163R) and reverse transcriptase (M184V)-transmitted drug resistance from a drug-naive patient failing Triumeq

We report a case of confirmed transmission of R263K integrase mutation, which has not previously been described. R263K is a rare nonpolymorphic mutation, selected by raltegravir/dolutegravir *in vivo* and elvite-gravir/dolutegravir *in vitro*. It confers low-level phenotypic reductions in elvitegravir susceptibility (~5-fold) and minimal reductions in raltegravir and dolutegravir susceptibility. The Stanford database classes raltegravir and dolutegravir susceptibility as low-level, which increases to intermediate-level and low-level resistance when G163K is also present [1].

Patient Y, a 40-year-old woman, presented to our clinic for testing as a heterosexual sexual contact of HIV. A fourth generation test was completed 6 weeks following exposure. She was found to be HIV-positive, subtype C. Baseline bloods showed CD4⁺ 925 cells/ μ l (42%) and viral load 1723 copies/ml. Her avidity index of 0.628 indicated recent infection. She was treatment-naive and last tested HIV-negative 3 months prior.

Her contact (male patient Z) was known to have developed R263K, M184V and G163K/R as a result of poor adherence to Triumeq with subsequent virological failure. This was identified on genotypic testing using Sanger. Patient Z had fully susceptible subtype C virus at baseline (viral load 26 366 copies/ml), although integrase resistance testing was not performed at this point in accordance with national British HIV Association (BHIVA) guidelines [2]. He denied previous antiretroviral (ARV) therapy prior to starting Triumeq in spite of the low baseline viral load. He achieved an undetectable viral load after just 2 months of therapy. However, 8 months later, his viral load rebounded (909 267 copies/ml) because of poor adherence, and he disengaged from regular follow-up. Interestingly, the rebound viral load was much higher than his baseline and it could be argued that the patient may not have disclosed previous ARV therapy at baseline.

Baseline resistance on female patient Y confirmed all three drug resistance mutations (G163K/R, R263K and M184V) had been transmitted. She was commenced on Truvada and Rezolsta and her viral load became undetectable after 2 months on treatment.

R263K has been described in the SAILING trial in two patients who failed dolutegravir therapy who were integrase-naive but treatment-experienced [3]. Studies have identified that R263K reduces strand-transfer activity by decreasing the affinity of integrase for target DNA. In tissue culture, both viral infectivity and replication were also reduced. These effects have been found to be more pronounced in subtype C HIV-1 compared with subtype B [4]. Furthermore, R263K in combination with M184V has been shown to substantially reduce infectivity compared with a single substitution [5,6].

We believe this is the first case to describe sexual transmission of R263K and M184V mutations. Our case is also unique as we describe a drug-naive patient failing Triumeq with three resistance mutations. Patient Z had a high viral load prior to transmission, most probably because of poor adherence, which is likely to have increased the risk of transmission. However, it is interesting that the resistant virus transmitted out of his mixed population (Table 1) raising the question whether these mutations do indeed reduce viral fitness. Patient Y who had resistant virus population as her wild-type virus

VI.2. Emtricitabine and lamivudine concentrations in saliva:

a simple suitable test for treatment adherence.

Manuscript published in Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy

J Antimicrob Chemother 2019; **74**: 2468–2470 doi:10.1093/jac/dkz181 Advance Access publication 7 May 2019

Emtricitabine and lamivudine concentrations in saliva: a simple suitable test for treatment adherence

Perrine Courlet ¹, Laurent Arthur Decosterd^{1*}, Jennifer Anne Brown², Susana Alves Saldanha¹, Catia Marzolini³, Matthias Cavassini⁴, Marcel Stoeckle³, Chantal Csajka ^{1,5}, Niklaus Daniel Labhardt^{3,6} and Alexandra Calmy⁷ on behalf of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study[†]

¹Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland; ²Molecular Virology, Department Biomedicine Haus Petersplatz, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland; ³Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Departments of Medicine and Clinical Research, University Hospital of Basel and University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland; ⁴Service of Infectious Diseases, Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland; ⁵School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Geneva and University of Lausanne, Geneva, Switzerland; ⁶Clinical Research Unit, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland; ⁷Division of Infectious Diseases, Geneva University Hospital, Geneva, Switzerland

*Corresponding author. Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology BU19-04, Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, 1011 Lausanne CHUV, Switzerland. Tel: +41 21 314 42 72; Fax: +41 21 314 80 98; E-mail: LaurentArthur.Decosterd@chuv.ch

†Members of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study are listed in the Acknowledgements.

Sir,

ART constitutes the cornerstone of HIV treatment and prevention. Successful ART results in suppressed viral load (VL) levels. Unsuppressed VL is either a result of acquisition of drug resistance mutations or insufficient drug concentrations due to poor adherence. Since clinical and immunological parameters are poor predictors of successful viral suppression, the WHO recommends regular VL monitoring for all individuals on ART.¹ However, due to cost and infrastructure issues, the implementation of routine and frequent VL monitoring remains slow in the countries with the highest numbers of individuals on ART. Although measures such as pill count and self-reporting have been reported in several studies to be a good guide to viral suppression, they remain error prone.²

In this context, therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is frequently requested. Indeed, low plasma drug concentrations have been shown to predict unsuppressed VL.³ In addition, plasma drug concentration constitutes the definitive marker of short-term drug exposure. Emtricitabine and lamivudine are part of virtually all currently used fixed-dose regimens, thus undetectable emtricitabine/lamivudine levels would be a good proxy for recent poor adherence. Non-invasive saliva sampling could therefore represent an alternative or clinically useful addition to VL measurements and genotype determination among patients suspected of non-adherence. If available as a point-of-care test, it would provide the clinicians with an objective assessment of recent adherence during the clinical visit.

To date, very few publications have evaluated saliva in the context of ART TDM.^{4–7} Nevirapine was found to reach high saliva concentrations, indicating that saliva could be suitable for TDM. In Tanzania, nevirapine saliva concentrations have shown good agreement with selfreported adherence, demonstrating the value of such a TDM approach.⁸ Concerning the other studied drugs (i.e. lamivudine and zidovudine), the excessive variability in saliva concentrations may preclude any reliable plasma level predictions from saliva drug measurements. Two studies reported a good penetration of emtricitabine into saliva in the context of pre-exposure prophylaxis.^{9,10}

We aimed to evaluate whether saliva would constitute a suitable matrix for ART adherence monitoring, by examining the correlation between emtricitabine and lamivudine levels simultaneously measured in plasma and saliva. A total of 73 patients participating in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS) #815 study agreed to donate a non-stimulated saliva sample simultaneously to the blood sample collected as part of the biannual SHCS follow-up visit. Emtricitabine and lamivudine levels were quantified by an LC/MS-MS assay, using stable isotopically labelled internal standards also adapted for saliva concentration determination.¹¹

Overall, 47 and 26 paired plasma and saliva concentrations were collected for emtricitabine and lamivudine determination, respectively. In addition, six saliva samples were collected from three SHCS patients not receiving emtricitabine or lamivudine, and from three HIV-negative individuals, to evaluate the selectivity of the method.

Emtricitabine plasma and saliva concentrations ranged from 8 to 2471 ng/mL and 23 to 1017 ng/mL, respectively. The time between sampling and last drug intake (time after dose; TAD) ranged from 0.8 to 37.3 h. For lamivudine, plasma and saliva concentration varied between 45 and 3183 ng/mL and between 15 and 718 ng/mL, respectively, with a TAD of 1.3–27 h. Our results show that emtricitabine and lamivudine saliva concentrations are moderately correlated with plasma concentrations (correlation coefficient 0.63 and 0.58 for emtricitabine and lamivudine, respectively) (Figure 1).

Median saliva/plasma ratios were 0.61 for emtricitabine and 0.35 for lamivudine, with high variability (coefficient of variation 89% and 101% for emtricitabine and lamivudine, respectively). This variability can be explained by multiple factors involving drug

230

[©] The Author(s) 2019. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. All rights reserved. For permissions, please email: journals.permissions@oup.com.



Figure 1. Correlation between saliva and plasma concentrations (n = 47 and n = 26 for emtricitabine and lamivudine, respectively). Points represent paired plasma and saliva concentrations. The solid line represents the correlation between these concentrations, with its 95% CI shown in grey.

properties (i.e. protein binding, saliva pH, salivary flow rates and degree of ionization) or patient characteristics (i.e. renal clearance or adherence issues).

Importantly, saliva concentrations from individuals not receiving emtricitabine or lamivudine were below the limit of quantification (LOQ) in saliva (<10 ng/mL), confirming the specificity of the method. Assuming that emtricitabine in saliva follows the same kinetics as in plasma, the $t_{1/2}$ of emtricitabine in saliva calculated for each patient using a population pharmacokinetics model of emtricitabine¹² gave a mean $t_{1/2}$ of 9.4 ± 0.88 h (minimum = 8.4 h, maximum = 12.1 h). It can be extrapolated that after 31 h (i.e. $3.3 \times t_{1/2}$) emtricitabine levels in saliva would lie above the assay LOQ of 10 na/mL in all patients, whereas after 60 h and 72 h (2.5 days and 3 days TAD, respectively) the saliva emtricitabine concentration would fall below the LOQ cut-off of the assay in 91% and 100% of patients, respectively. Thus, knowing the emtricitabine or lamivudine concentrations determined in saliva allows the identification of non-adherent patients who have missed their ART for at least the last 3 days.

In conclusion, despite a limited correlation between plasma and saliva concentrations, saliva constitutes a suitable noninvasive surrogate to identify patients who are non-adherent to ART. These first results have been obtained using an MS assay. However, if developed as a qualitative, immunoassay-based, easyto-use and non-invasive point-of-care test, this assay would be of invaluable clinical usefulness to reduce the number of unnecessary VL measurements and genotype determinations in cases of proven non-adherence, and may thus prevent unnecessary switches to second-line ART.

Acknowledgements

Members of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Anagnostopoulos A., Battegay M., Bernasconi E., Böni J., Braun D. L., Bucher H. C., Calmy A., Cavassini M., Ciuffi A., Dollenmaier G., Egger M., Elzi L., Fehr J., Fellay J., Furrer H., Fux C. A., Günthard H. F. (President of the SHCS), Haerry D. (deputy of 'Positive Council'), Hasse B., Hirsch H. H., Hoffmann M., Hösli I., Huber M., Kahlert C. R. (Chairman of the Mother & Child Substudy), Kaiser L., Keiser O., Klimkait T., Kouyos R. D., Kovari H., Ledergerber B., Martinetti G., Martinez de Tejada B., Marzolini C., Metzner K. J., Müller N., Nicca D., Paioni P., Pantaleo G., Perreau M., Rauch A. (Chairman of the Scientific Board), Rudin C., Scherrer A. U. (Head of Data Centre), Schmid P., Speck R., Stöckle M. (Chairman of the Clinical and Laboratory Committee), Tarr P., Trkola A., Vernazza P., Wandeler G., Weber R., Yerly S.

Funding

This work is supported by the Swiss National Research Foundation (SNF) (SNF grant no. 324730-165956 to L. A. D., and SNF no. PCEFP3 181355 to N. D. L.).

Transparency declarations

M. S. declares relations with Abbvie, Gilead, MSD, Janssen, Mepha, Sandoz, ViiV. A. C. has received sponsorship and travel grant from Gilead, and unrestricted educational grants from ViiV, MSD, Janssen-Cilag, and BMS. All other authors: none to declare.

References

1 WHO. Consolidated Guidelines on the Use of Antiretroviral Drugs for Treating and Preventing HIV Infection: Recommendations for a Public Health Approach. Geneva: WHO, 2013.

2 Simoni JM, Kurth AE, Pearson CR *et al.* Self-report measures of antiretroviral therapy adherence: a review with recommendations for HIV research and clinical management. *AIDS Behav* 2006; **10**: 227–45.

3 Gonzalez-Serna A, Swenson LC, Watson B *et al.* A single untimed plasma drug concentration measurement during low-level HIV viremia predicts virologic failure. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2016; **22**: e9–16.

4 Gras A, Schneider S, Karasi JC *et al.* Evaluation of saliva as an alternative matrix for monitoring plasma zidovudine, lamivudine and nevirapine concentrations in Rwanda. *Curr HIV Res* 2011; **9**: 223–8.

5 Rakhmanina NY, Capparelli EV, van den Anker JN *et al*. Nevirapine concentration in nonstimulated saliva: an alternative to plasma sampling in children with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Ther Drug Monit* 2007; **29**: 110–7.

6 van Heeswijk RP, Veldkamp AI, Mulder JW *et al.* Saliva as an alternative body fluid for therapeutic drug monitoring of the nonnucleoside reverse transcription inhibitor nevirapine. *Ther Drug Monit* 2001; **23**: 255–8.

7 Rolinski B, Wintergerst U, Matuschke A *et al*. Evaluation of saliva as a specimen for monitoring zidovudine therapy in HIV-infected patients. *AIDS* 1991; **5**: 885–8.

8 George L, Muro EP, Ndaro A *et al.* Nevirapine concentrations in saliva measured by thin layer chromatography and self-reported adherence in patients on antiretroviral therapy at Kilimanjaro Christian Medical Centre, Tanzania. *Ther Drug Monit* 2014; **36**: 366–70.

9 de Lastours V, Fonsart J, Burlacu R *et al*. Concentrations of tenofovir and emtricitabine in saliva: implications for preexposure prophylaxis of oral HIV acquisition. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011; **55**: 4905–7.

10 Fonsart J, Saragosti S, Taouk M *et al.* Single-dose pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of oral tenofovir and emtricitabine in blood, saliva and rectal tissue: a sub-study of the ANRS IPERGAY trial. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2017; **72**: 478–85.

11 Courlet P, Spaggiari D, Cavassini M *et al.* Determination of nucleosidic/ tidic reverse transcriptase inhibitors in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid by ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. *Clin Mass Spectrom* 2018; **8**: 8–20.

12 Valade E, Treluyer JM, Bouazza N *et al*. Population pharmacokinetics of emtricitabine in HIV-1-infected adult patients. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2014; **58**: 2256–61.

J Antimicrob Chemother 2019; **74**: 2470–2472 doi:10.1093/jac/dkz205 Advance Access publication 12 May 2019

Efficacy and safety of raltegravir in switch strategies in virologically suppressed patients: long-term data from clinical practice

Arianna Emiliozzi¹, Arturo Ciccullo (b) ¹*, Gianmaria Baldin (b) ¹, Davide Moschese¹, Alex Dusina¹, Alberto Borghetti² and Simona Di Giambenedetto^{1,2}

¹Institute of Infectious Diseases, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Rome, Italy; ²Fondazione Policlinico Universitario Agostino Gemelli IRCCS, UOC Malattie Infettive, Rome, Italy

*Corresponding author. E-mail: arturo.ciccullo@gmail.com () orcid.org/ 0000-0001-5941-883X

Sir,

We appreciated the recently published work by d'Arminio Monforte *et al.*¹ on the durability of integrase strand transfer inhibitors (INSTIs) in a large cohort of treatment-naive HIV-positive patients. Indeed, INSTI-based regimens have become the first choice for initial HIV therapy, but they are also very popular as part of three-drug or two-drug switching strategies. Eleven years have passed since the first-generation INSTI, raltegravir, was introduced. Despite the availability of the new INSTIs, such as dolutegravir (with higher genetic barrier) and elvitegravir (available as a single tablet regimen), raltegravir still plays an important role in combination ART (cART).² The major advantages of using raltegravir are the virtual absence of potential interactions with concomitant drugs and its high bio-availability irrespective of food intake.

To investigate the safety and efficacy of raltegravir in the setting of cART optimization, we performed a retrospective study enrolling HIV-1-infected, virologically suppressed (defined as HIV-RNA <50 copies/mL) patients switching to a raltegravir-containing dual or triple therapy. The study period ranged from September 2008 to May 2017. We evaluated the percentage of patients free from treatment discontinuation (TD; discontinuation of raltegravir for any reason regardless of whether the remaining antiretroviral drugs used in the combination had been stopped or not) and from virological failure (VF; defined as two consecutive counts of HIV-RNA > 50 copies/mL or one of >1000 copies/mL) at weeks 48, 96 and 144. Kaplan-Meier curves and Cox regression models were performed to estimate the time to event and the predictors of TD and VF. Data analysed in the present study were selected from an internal observational database, which collects the main clinical and demographic characteristics of every patient who gave informed consent to personal data record since the time of HIV diagnosis.

© The Author(s) 2019. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. All rights reserved. For permissions, please email: journals.permissions@oup.com.

VI.3. Severe rosuvastatin accumulation with rhabdomyolysis

due to drug interactions and low cardiac output syndrome.

Manuscript published in British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology

LETTER TO THE EDITOR



Severe rosuvastatin accumulation with rhabdomyolysis due to drug interactions and low cardiac output syndrome

An 85-year-old patient presented to the emergency department because of orthopnoea and peripheral oedema. He was known for diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease with severe chronic heart failure. Eighteen months earlier, he already showed biventricular dilatation and systolic dysfunction (20-25% left ventricular ejection fraction) with moderate mitral valve regurgitation at transthoracic echocardiography. On current physical examination, he showed moderate oedema of the legs. On chest X-ray, there was upper lobe pulmonary venous congestion and small bilateral pleural effusion. Laboratory testing revealed moderate creatinine elevation (150 μ mol L⁻¹; normal <107). Liver enzymes and creatine kinase levels were normal. The patient's daily therapy consisted of acetylsalicylic acid 100 mg, metoprolol 50 mg, sacubitril/valsartan 200 mg (97/103 mg), torasemide 10 mg, spironolactone 12.5 mg, rosuvastatin 10 mg, and sitagliptin 100 mg.

He was admitted to the general internal medicine ward with a diagnosis of subacute biventricular decompensation, but his condition progressively deteriorated with oliguria, worsening dyspnoea, and increasing peripheral oedema despite the administration of loop diuretics. Amiodarone was introduced because of non-sustained ventricular tachycardia at 24-hour continuous ECG monitoring. Five days later, the patient began to feel muscular weakness and to walk unstable. After another week, he showed peripheral vasoconstriction with large pitting oedema, a slight scleral jaundice, and complained of widespread muscular pain. Laboratory tests revealed that creatinine had risen to 513 μ mol L⁻¹, GPT (ALT) to 1103 U L⁻¹ (normal <51), bilirubin to 41.7 μ mol L⁻¹ (normal <21.0), and lactate to 4.1 mmol L⁻¹ (normal <2.2). Moreover, creatine kinase levels were 6794 U L⁻¹ (normal <190), hs troponin T was 204 ng L^{-1} (normal <14), and urine analysis revealed myoglobinuria. He was admitted to the intensive care unit, where severe cardiac dysfunction was confirmed by transthoracic echocardiography and trans-pulmonary thermodilution. A diagnosis of low-cardiac output syndrome with multi-organ dysfunction was made. The origin of the rhabdomyolysis was thoroughly investigated: Infections (bacterial, viral, or parasitic), trauma, thermal injury, or toxins were ruled out or were deemed unlikely. Thyroid function was normal; blood sugar and electrolytes (phosphates, potassium) were within the normal range or only slightly elevated. We hypothesized that rhabdomyolysis was caused by the accumulation of the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase-inhibitor rosuvastatin, as statins are known to be one of the top three prescription drugs responsible for elevations of creatine kinase levels.¹

Sacubitril/valsartan and rosuvastatin were discontinued, and a dobutamine infusion was initiated which led to improvement of the haemodynamic parameters, normalization of lactate levels, rapid decrease of liver enzymes, and recovery of a valid diuresis. Crystalloid and sodium bicarbonate infusions were started, aiming at volume repletion and urine alkalinisation, to limit the renal toxicity of the haem pigments. A water balance adequate to the cardiac condition was maintained by loop diuretics. Five days later, creatine kinase reached a peak value of 18478 U L⁻¹ and then began to decrease daily by 30-50%. Creatinine stabilized at around 380 μ mol L⁻¹ without the need for renal replacement treatment.

Four sequential plasma concentrations of rosuvastatin 38, 61, 72, and 85 hours after the last rosuvastatin intake were analysed by liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (Figure 1). Concentrations measured more than 36 hours after the last dose were well above the levels usually seen in patients receiving rosuvastatin 10 mg once daily. These concentrations were even remarkably higher than those expected at peak² and may be explained by the co-existence of several factors: acute liver injury combined with acute renal failure, and drug-drug interactions. Actually, rosuvastatin plasma concentrations are known to increase about 3-fold in patients with severe renal impairment (CrCl <30 mL minute⁻¹).³ Furthermore, C_{max} and AUC may be increased in patients with Child-Pugh class B hepatic impairment.⁴

Rosuvastatin is a substrate of OATP1B1, and interactions have been described with OATP inhibitors. Notably, the interaction with faldaprevir, an OATP-inhibiting anti-HCV medication, can lead to increases in AUC and Cmax of rosuvastatin of 15- and 33-fold, respectively.⁵

Sacubitril is an OATP inhibitor, and a physiologically based pharmacokinetic model predicted a moderate interaction between sacubitril and atorvastatin, with a 1.7-fold increase of Cmax and a 1.3-fold increased AUC.⁶ In fact, one case of severe rhabdomyolysis was reported after 3 weeks of coadministration of sacubitril/valsartan and atorvastatin.⁷ However, atorvastatin is largely eliminated by CYP3A4, with little contribution from OATP. Since only approximately 10% of an orally administered rosuvastatin dose is metabolized,⁸ its elimination is much more dependent on OATP. Furthermore, rosuvastatin has a slightly higher affinity for OATP1B1 compared to atorvastatin.⁹ It seems therefore reasonable to assume that the magnitude of the interaction would be greater with coadministration of sacubitril and rosuvastatin. Actually, in a recent animal study,



FIGURE 1 Comparison between measured rosuvastatin plasma concentrations in the index patient and mean plasma values found in 10 healthy subjects after a single oral dose of 10 mg. Adapted from J. Gao et al.²

rosuvastatin AUC was increased 11-fold by coadministration of sacubitril/valsartan to rats. $^{10}\,$

Valsartan itself is also an OATP1B1 inhibitor, with IC50 values comparable to sacubitril.^{11,12} LBQ657, sacubitril's active metabolite, is only a weak inhibitor of OATP1B1.¹² However, its longer half-life and higher plasma concentrations compared to sacubitril, especially in the presence of renal failure, potentially reinforced this interaction and resulted in a clinically significant effect.^{13,14}

Finally, amiodarone could have slightly contributed to increasing rosuvastatin concentrations due to the inhibition of enzymes partially responsible for the metabolism of rosuvastatin, such as CYP2C9. The Naranjo Adverse Drug Reaction Probability Scale score was 6, making it probable that the adverse drug reaction was precipitated by amiodarone, as the last factor added to those already existing.¹⁵

In conclusion, this case suggests that the interaction between rosuvastatin, sacubitril/valsartan, and amiodarone can significantly increase rosuvastatin plasma concentrations, with subsequent rhabdomyolysis, especially in patients who develop renal and liver failure due to severe heart dysfunction. Sacubitril/valsartan has already been included in the guidelines for the treatment of chronic heart failure; therefore, particular attention must be paid when treating patients who are increasingly receiving this combination of drugs.

COMPETING INTERESTS

There are no competing interests to declare.

ORCID

Marco Previsdomini D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6361-3187 Laurent Decosterd D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-9840-1325 Perrine Courlet D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9114-7793 Andreas Perren D http://orcid.org/0000-0001-8834-5385

> Marco Previsdomini¹ D Elisa Graziano¹

Laurent Decosterd² Perrine Courlet² Andreas Perren¹

Alessandro Ceschi^{3,4}

¹ICU, Ospedale Regionale Bellinzona e Valli, Ente Ospedaliero Cantonale, Bellinzona, Switzerland

²Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital Center and

University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

³Division of Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology, Institute of

Pharmacological Sciences of Southern Switzerland, Ente Ospedaliero

Cantonale, Lugano, Switzerland

⁴Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Correspondence

Dr Marco Previsdomini, Intensive Care Unit, Ospedale Regionale Bellinzona e Valli, Bellinzona, via Ospedale 12, 6500 Bellinzona, Switzerland. Email: marco.previsdomini@eoc.ch

REFERENCES

- Melli G, Chaudhry V, Cornblath DR. Rhabdomyolysis: an evaluation of 475 hospitalized patients. *Medicine*. 2005;84(6):377-385.
- Gao J, Zhong D, Duan X, Chen X. Liquid chromatography/negative ion electrospray tandem mass spectrometry method for the quantification of rosuvastatin in human plasma: application to a pharmacokinetic study. J of Chromatog B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2007;856(1–2):35-40.
- Scott LJ, Curran MP, Figgitt DP. Rosuvastatin: a review of its use in the management of dyslipidemia. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs. 2004;4(2): 117-138.
- Simonson SG, Martin PD, Mitchell P, Schneck DW, Lasseter KC, Warwick MJ. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of rosuvastatin in subjects with hepatic impairment. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2003;58(10): 669-675.
- Huang F, Marzin K, Koenen R, et al. Effect of steady-state faldaprevir on pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin or rosuvastatin in healthy volunteers: a prospective open-label, fixed-sequence crossover study. *Clin Pharmacol.* 2017;57(10):1305-1314.

- Lin W, Ji T, Einolf H, et al. Evaluation of drug-drug interaction potential between sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) and statins using a physiologically based pharmacokinetic model. J Pharm Sci. 2017; 106(5):1439-1451.
- 7. Faber ES, Gavini M, Ramirez R, Sadovsky R. Rhabdomyolysis after coadministration of atorvastatin and sacubitril/valsartan (Entresto[™]) in a 63-year-old woman. *Drug Saf Case Rep.* 2016;3(1):14.
- Martin PD, Dane AL, Schneck DW, Warwick MJ. Disposition of new HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor ZD4522 following dosing in healthy subjects. J Clin Pharmacol. 2000;40:1056. [Abstr. 48]
- Shitara Y, Sugiyama Y. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors: drug-drug interactions and interindividual differences in transporter and metabolic enzyme functions. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2006;112(1):71-105.
- Moussa BA, Hashem HMA, Mahrouse MA, Mahmoud ST. A validated RP-HPLC method for the determination of rosuvastatin in presence of sacubitril/valsartan in rat plasma: application to in vivo evaluation

of OATP-mediated drug interaction potential between rosuvastatin and sacubitril/valsartan. *Microchem J.* 2018;143:31-38.

- Kallioski A, Niemi M. Impact of OATP transporters on pharmacokinetics. Br J Pharmacol. 2009;158(3):693-705.
- Hanna I, Alexander N, Crouthamel MH, et al. Transport properties of valsartan, sacubitril and its active metabolite (LBQ657) as determinants of disposition. *Xenobiotica*. 2018;48(3):300-313.
- Kobalava Z, Kotovskaya Y, Averkov O, et al. Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic profiles of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) in patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction. *Cardiovasc Ther.* 2016;34(4):191-198.
- 14. Ayalasomayajula SP, Langenickel TH, Jordaan P, et al. Effect of renal function on the pharmacokinetics of LCZ696 (sacubitril/valsartan), an angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;72(9):1065-1073.
- Naranjo CA, Busto U, Sellers EM, et al. A method for estimating the probability of adverse drug reactions. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 1981;30(2):239-245.

VI.4. Noninferiority of Simplified Dolutegravir Monotherapy Compared to Continued Combination Antiretroviral Therapy That Was Initiated During Primary Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection: A Randomized, Controlled, Multisite, Openlabel, Noninferiority Trial.



Noninferiority of Simplified Dolutegravir Monotherapy Compared to Continued Combination Antiretroviral Therapy That Was Initiated During Primary Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection: A Randomized, Controlled, Multisite, Open-label, Noninferiority Trial

Dominique L. Braun,^{1,2} Teja Turk,^{1,2} Fabian Tschumi,^{1,2} Christina Grube,¹ Benjamin Hampel,^{1,2} Carsten Depmeier,¹ Peter W. Schreiber,¹ Silvio D. Brugger,¹ Michael Greiner,¹ Daniela Steffens,¹ Cornelia de Torrenté-Bayard,¹ Perrine Courlet,³ Kathrin Neumann,¹ Herbert Kuster,¹ Markus Flepp,⁴ Barbara Bertisch,^{5,6} Laurent Decosterd,³ Jürg Böni,² Karin J. Metzner,^{1,2} Roger D. Kouyos,^{1,2} and Huldrych F. Günthard^{1,2}

¹Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital Zurich, University of Zurich; ²Institute of Medical Virology, University of Zurich; ³Service of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital Center, University of Lausanne; ⁴Center of Infectious Diseases Zurich; ⁵Checkpoint Zurich; and ⁶Institute of Global Health, University of Geneva, Switzerland

(See the Major article by Hocqueloux et al on pages 1498-505 and Editorial Commentary by Rijnders and Rokx on pages 1506-8.)

Background. Patients who start combination antiretroviral therapy (cART) during primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) infection show a smaller HIV-1 latent reservoir, less immune activation, and less viral diversity compared to patients who start cART during chronic infection. We conducted a pilot study to determine whether these properties would allow sustained virological suppression after simplification of cART to dolutegravir monotherapy.

Methods. EARLY-SIMPLIFIED is a randomized, open-label, noninferiority trial. Patients who started cART <180 days after a documented primary HIV-1 infection and had an HIV-1 RNA <50 copies/mL plasma for at least 48 weeks were randomized (2:1) to monotherapy with dolutegravir 50 mg once daily or to continuation of cART. The primary efficacy endpoint was the proportion of patients with <50 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL on or before week 48; noninferiority margin 10%.

Results. Of the 101 patients randomized, 68 were assigned to simplification to dolutegravir monotherapy and 33 to continuation of cART. At week 48 in the per-protocol population, 67/67 (100%) had virological response in the dolutegravir monotherapy group vs 32/32 (100%) in the cART group (difference, 0.00%; 95% confidence interval, –100%, 4.76%). This showed noninferiority of the dolutegravir monotherapy at the prespecified level.

Conclusion. In this pilot study consisting of patients who initiated cART during primary HIV-1 infection and had <50 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL for at least 48 weeks, monotherapy with once-daily dolutegravir was noninferior to cART. Our results suggest that future simplification studies should use a stratification according to time of HIV infection and start of first cART.

Clinical Trials Registration. NCT02551523.

Keywords. primary HIV infection; dolutegravir; monotherapy; simplification; randomized controlled trial.

Long-term toxicity of combination antiretroviral therapy (cART) is a substantial contributor to morbidity in chronically infected human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)–positive individuals [1]. Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) are the main reason for ART-related toxicity. Trying to avoid NRTIs, initial randomized studies explored protease inhibitor–based monotherapy strategies. From a virological point of view, protease inhibitor–based monotherapy was clearly

Received 1 October 2018; editorial decision 25 November 2018; accepted 28 December 2018; published online January 2, 2019.

Clinical Infectious Diseases[®] 2019;69(9):1489–97

inferior to cART and was therefore not introduced into clinical practice [2]. However, at least in the context of more frequent viral load monitoring in a clinical trial, it did not lead to the loss of more treatment options compared to cART [3].

Dolutegravir is a second-generation integrase strand transfer inhibitor (INSTI) used as a component of preferred cART [4]. Several simplification studies were recently performed with dolutegravir as a main active drug [5, 6]. A dolutegravir-based dual-therapy regimen in combination with lamivudine or rilpivirine shows promising results [5, 7]. In contrast, 3 randomized, controlled trials that explored the efficacy of dolutegravir-based monotherapy revealed inferiority compared to cART [6, 8, 9]. Notably, all protease inhibitor and dolutegravir simplification studies were conducted in patients initiating cART during chronic HIV-1 infection. Importantly, patients who initiated cART during the early phase of

238

Correspondence: D. L. Braun, University Hospital Zurich, Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, Rämistrasse 100, 8091 Zurich, Switzerland (dominique.braun@usz.ch).

[©] The Author(s) 2019. Published by Oxford University Press for the Infectious Diseases Society of America. All rights reserved. For permissions, e-mail: journals.permissions@oup.com. DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciy1131

The Zurich Primary HIV Infection Study (ZPHI) is an ongoing observational study enrolling individuals with documented primary HIV infection, that is, individuals identified within 180 days after estimated date of infection [14]. Since 2002, immediate start of cART is offered to the ZPHI participants. We hypothesized that individuals who start cART early have a smaller HIV-1 reservoir and, therefore, are the best candidates to maintain viral suppression after switching to dolutegravir monotherapy comparable to that seen under continued cART.

We tested our hypothesis in a pilot study consisting of individuals who had been successfully treated with cART for at least 48 weeks since primary HIV-1 infection before being randomized to dolutegravir monotherapy.

METHODS

Study Design and Patients

All patients enrolled in this trial have a documented primary HIV-1 infection, and the majority of them (85%) are enrolled in the ZPHI, an open-label, nonrandomized, observational, multisite study (NCT02551523) [14]. All patients were participating in the Swiss HIV cohort study, a long-term observational study [15]. Primary HIV-1 infection was defined as published elsewhere [16].

In this randomized, open-label, noninferiority trial, we recruited patients aged ≥ 18 years with a primary HIV-1 infection and no previous antiretroviral treatment failure, no prior treatment interruption, no major resistance mutations to INSTIs according to the Stanford algorithm [17], an HIV-1 RNA of less than 50 copies/mL plasma for 48 weeks or longer, and a negative hepatitis B virus surface antigen. Patients with documented resistance to any NRTI, non-NRTI, or protease inhibitors were allowed to be included. Exclusion criteria were pregnancy or breastfeeding, use of contraindicated drugs to dolutegravir, and previous intolerance to dolutegravir.

We obtained ethics committee approval at all participating centers in accordance with the principles of the 2008 Declaration of Helsinki. All participants gave their written informed consent before undergoing any study procedure.

Study Procedures

Patients in the monotherapy group were simplified to oral dolutegravir 50 mg once daily, and those in the cART group continued their current regimen consisting of an INSTI, a boosted protease inhibitor, or non-NRTI, in combination with 2 NRTIs. We assessed HIV-1 RNA in plasma using the COBAS AmpliPrep/TaqMan HIV-1 Test Vs 2.0 with a limit of detection ≤20 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL plasma. We measured total HIV-1 DNA in peripheral blood mononuclear blood cells (PBMCs) using an in-house digital droplet polymerase chain reaction assay at baseline and week 48. We assessed markers for proximal

renal tubulopathy and lipid levels at baseline and at week 48. All patients were asked for a lumbar puncture at baseline and at week 48. ART drug levels were measured in plasma and in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) at week 0 and week 48. The study procedures are described in detail in the Supplementary Materials.

Outcomes

The primary endpoint was noninferiority of the virological response between treatment groups, defined as the proportion of patients without a virological failure on or before week 48. Virological failure was defined as 2 consecutive viral loads (14 days or longer but not more than 30 days apart) above 50 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL plasma. The window of visit was \pm 4 weeks, thus an HIV-RNA value obtained between week 44 and week 52 was included in the primary efficacy analysis. If the HIV-1 RNA measurement was missing at week 48, we included the last documented HIV-1 RNA measurement prior to week 48 in the primary efficacy analysis (last observation carried forward principle).

Secondary endpoints were quantification of total HIV-1 DNA in PBMCs, central nervous system (CNS) virological escape (defined as less than 40 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL CSF), frequency of blips (defined as 1 viral load between 50 and 400 followed by a viral load below 50 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL plasma within 30 days), number of adverse events and serious adverse events, changes in CD4 cell count, new onset of proximal tubular renal dysfunction (defined as pathological tubulopathy markers according to Fux et al [18]), changes in lipid profiles, withdrawing consent and lost to follow-up and switching assigned treatment for any cause before and after simplification.

Statistical Analyses

The study was powered to detect noninferiority at 48 weeks, assuming a response of 95% in both groups. Thus, to show noninferiority at a margin of 10% at week 48, with a significance value of 5% and a power of 80%, we estimated the sample size at 138 assessable patients. The final study population consisted of 101 patients because of the lower rate of recruitment as anticipated during the last few months of the study. The decision to stop recruitment was taken by the sponsor (H.F.G.) and was independent of any efficacy analysis. The static unstratified multiblock randomization with multiplier 3 integrated in SecuTrial was used to allocate patients in a 2:1 ratio to monotherapy with dolutegravir or continuation of cART including 3 patients per block with computer-generated random number sequences. More details are provided in the Supplementary Materials.

RESULTS

Of 430 patients assessed for study enrollment, 101 (23.4%) were eligible for the study and agreed to participate (Figure 1). Between 30 November 2015 and 10 March 2017, we randomized 101 patients in a 2:1 ratio, allocating 68 (67%) to dolutegravir



Figure 1. Trial profile. Abbreviation: cART, combination antiretroviral therapy.

monotherapy and 33 (33%) to cART (Figure 1). Baseline characteristics are depicted in Table 1.

Efficacy

In the per-protocol population, all 67 patients in the monotherapy group and all 32 patients in the cART group had a virological response on or before week 48 (Figure 2). One patient in the monotherapy group was excluded during the study due to a major protocol violation. This patient did not fulfill the definition of a primary HIV-1 infection; however, this information was missed at screening, and the patient was therefore incorrectly enrolled into the study. Detailed information on this patient is provided in the Supplementary Materials. In the cART group, 1 patient moved abroad at week 26 (Figure 1). Noninferiority was shown at the prespecified level of 10%, as the difference in efficacy between monotherapy and cART was similar. We also noted noninferiority in the intention-totreat population (67/68, 98.5% dolutegravir versus 33/33, 100% cART; difference 1.47%, 95% CI [-100%, 6.85%]). The patient in the cART group who moved abroad was counted as success in the intention-to-treat analysis, assuming that this patient maintained viral suppression after study discontinuation. This assumption led to a more conservative approach in interpreting the data.

HIV-1 Reservoir

We measured total HIV-1 DNA in PBMCs at baseline and at week 48. The median \log_{10} total HIV-1 DNA change from

baseline to week 48 in the dolutegravir monotherapy arm was -0.16 compared to -0.10 in the cART arm (P = .312; Figure 3). There was a significant decay of the total HIV DNA in the monotherapy arm at week 48 compared to baseline (P = .0004). The HIV DNA decay among the cART group did not reach statistical significance (P = .0982). The total HIV-1 DNA levels for single patients are shown in Supplementary Figure 1. We recorded viral load blips that did not lead to treatment interruption in 1 (1.5%) of 68 patients in the monotherapy group (607 visits) and 1 (3.0%) of 33 patients (124 visits) in the cART group (P < .001 from the Poisson regression for rate of blips; Figure 4). The median change in CD4 cell count from baseline was 74 cells/µL blood (interquartile range [IQR], -32 to 198) for monotherapy and 24 cells/µL blood (IQR, -144 to 116) for cART (P = .124) (Supplementary Figure 2). All patients in both study groups were adherent to study drugs for the 48 weeks of study.

Plasma and CSF Dolutegravir Levels Assessment

At baseline, 23 (33.8%) patients in the monotherapy group and 14 (42.4%) in the cART group agreed to have a lumbar puncture. At week 48, 10 (14.9%) patients in the monotherapy group and 2 (6.2%) in the cART group agreed to have a second lumbar puncture. The CSF viral load was undetectable in all sampled patients at all times tested (Figure 5). Plasma and CNS concentration of dolutegravir measurements at weeks 0, 4, and 48 are depicted in Figure 6. According to the percentile curves of Aouri et al [19], 3.7% (n = 6) of dolutegravir concentrations in

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of Study Participants

	Overall	Monotherapy	Combination ART	
Characteristic	(N = 101)	(n = 68)	(n = 33)	
Age (y)	42 (33–47)	42 (33–47)	43 (35–46)	
Male (%)	97 (96.0)	65 (95.6)	32 (97.0)	
Ethnicity (%)				
White	93 (92.1)	62 (91.2)	31 (93.9)	
Black	5 (5.0)	4 (5.9)	1 (3.0)	
Asian	2 (2.0)	2 (2.9)	0 (0.0)	
Hispanic	1 (1.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (3.0)	
HIV transmission risk (%)				
Men who have sex with men	84 (83.2)	56 (82.4)	28 (84.8)	
Heterosexual	15 (14.9)	10 (14.7)	5 (15.2)	
Other	2 (2.0)	2 (2.9)	0 (0.0)	
HIV-1 subtype (%)				
В	63 (62.4)	44 (64.7)	19 (57.6)	
CRF01_AE	8 (7.9)	5 (7.4)	3 (9.1)	
CRF02_AG	5 (5.0)	1 (1.5)	4 (12.1)	
Other	17 (17.0)	11 (10.0)	6 (18.0)	
NA	8 (7.9)	7 (10.3)	1 (3.0)	
Body mass index (kg/m²)	23.8 (22.4–26.6)	23.7 (22.1–26.2)	24.2 (22.5–27.4)]	
Fiebig stage (%)				
I–II	2 (2.0)	1 (1.5)	1 (3.0)	
11–111	21 (20.8)	16 (23.5)	5 (15.2)	
IV-VI	58 (57.4)	36 (52.9)	22 (66.7)	
NA	20 (20.0)	15 (22.0)	5 (15.0)	
Days from infection until ART start	38 (28–77)	39 (27–73)	36 (29–113)	
Years on ART before study entry	3.6 (2.0-6.0)	3.8 (1.9-6.1)	3.3 (2.0-5.5)	
Nadir CD4 cell count (cells/µL)	358 (265–486)	376 (263–496)	329 (269–442)	
CD4 cell count (cells/µL)	716 (584–918)	730 (610–920)	669 (545-881)	
Integrase strand transfer inhibitor-based regimen (%)	55 (54.5)	40 (58.8)	15 (45.5)	
Dolutegravir-based regimen (%)	46 (45.5)	33 (48.5)	13 (39.4)	
Backbone regimen (%)				
Abacavir based	28 (27.7)	22 (32.4)	6 (18.2)	
Tenofovir based	69 (68.3)	46 (67.6)	23 (69.7)	
Other	4 (4.0)	0 (0.0)	4 (12.1)	
Number of VL measurements during 48 weeks before study	3 (3–4)	3 (3–4)	4 (3–4)	
Rate of VL monitoring under ART before study (values/48 weeks)	4.1 (3.6-4.8)	4.1 (3.5-4.7)	4.2 (3.8–5.0)	

Data are median (interquartile range) or n (%) and assessed at baseline (day of randomization). Characteristics with significant difference (P value from Mann-Whitney or Fisher exact test < 0.05) between the study groups: HIV subtype (P = .033) and backbone regimen (P = .009). The remaining characteristics were balanced between the groups.

Abbreviations: ART, antiretroviral therapy; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; NA, not available; VL, viral load.

the plasma were below the 10th percentile. All dolutegravir concentrations in CSF exceeded the in vitro 50% inhibitory concentrations (IC 50) for wild-type HIV (0.2 ng/mL) [20].

Safety

Eight (7.9%) of 101 patients in the safety population developed serious adverse events (monotherapy 6 [8.8%] of 68; cART 2 [6.1%] of 33), none of which were deemed related to the study drug (Table 2). Adverse events related to the study drug occurred in 15 (14.9%) participants (monotherapy 9 [13.2%]; cART 6 [18.2%]). ART switch due to adverse events was less frequent in the monotherapy group (0%) than in the cART group (3 patients, 9.1%; P = .033). We noted no significant differences in change from baseline in renal function, proximal renal tubulopathy markers, total cholesterol, triglycerides, and low-density lipoprotein between groups at week 48 (Supplementary Figure 3, panels A and B; Supplementary Figure 4, panels A–D; Supplementary Figure 5, panels A–D).

DISCUSSION

Our early simplified randomized clinical trial shows noninferiority of dolutegravir monotherapy compared to cART in patients who initiated cART during primary HIV-1 infection and showed viral suppression for at least 48 weeks prior to switching to dolutegravir monotherapy. No virological failure occurred in the per-protocol population. This is in sharp contrast to previous randomized trials that revealed inferiority of



Figure 2. Virological response at week 48 defined as absence of virological failure in first 48 weeks for the per-protocol and intention-to-treat populations among the dolutegravir (DTG) monotherapy group (orange bars) and the standard-of-care combination antiretroviral therapy (cART) group (light blue bars). Virological failure is defined as 2 consecutive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA >50 copies/mL in plasma. The proportion of patients with virological response in each group is depicted in the lower plot, while the upper plot summarizes the difference in proportions of patients with virological response between the study arms. The black symbols depict the proportions and the respective differences, and the error bars indicate the 95% exact confidence intervals (CIs). The light green shading represents the area of 95% CI upper bound for which the noninferiority is concluded. The CIs for the single proportions are the Clopper-Pearson (exact) CIs.

dolutegravir monotherapy compared to cART [6, 8, 9]; the virological failure rate was so high, that all studies were prematurely discontinued. Furthermore, emergence of drug resistance to currently licensed INSTIs occurred among patients failing on dolutegravir monotherapy [6, 8, 9]. Data from nonrandomized, partly retrospective clinical studies are less clear [21, 22]. Some studies show maintained viral suppression after switch from cART to dolutegravir monotherapy, others do not.

Notably, all prior dolutegravir monotherapy studies were conducted in patients who started their first cART during chronic HIV-1 infection. In contrast, we conducted our simplification study in patients who initiated cART during primary HIV-1 infection and were virologically suppressed for at least 48 weeks prior to entering the study. We chose this strategy because patients with early ART initiation have an approximately 10-fold lower latent HIV-1 reservoir [10, 11], less immune activation [23], and less viral diversity [12, 13] compared to patients who initiated cART during chronic infection. Our a priori hypothesis was that these properties would enable sustained virological suppression after simplification to dolutegravir monotherapy. With our novel approach to stratify patients for dolutegravir monotherapy according to their time of HIV-1 infection at the start of first cART, all patients maintained viral suppression. A potential explanation is that among patients with a small HIV-1 latent reservoir, the stochastic chance of activation of latently HIV-1-infected cells is less likely compared



Figure 3. Total human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) DNA quantification from baseline compared to week 48 stratified by DTG monotherapy (orange) vs cART (blue). The shaded areas depict the distribution of the HIV-1 DNA values in both groups at baseline and at week 48. The dashed lines connect the medians of log_{10} HIV-1 DNA values at baseline and week 48. Abbreviations: cART, combination antiretroviral therapy; DTG, dolutegravir.

to patients with a large reservoir. Supporting this, the HIV-1 latent reservoir size predicted virological failures in the randomized controlled dolutegravir monotherapy trial conducted by Wijting el al [6, 24]. Moreover, the large variation in time to virological failure in this study suggests that stochastic reactivation could be the mechanism for failure [25]. In addition, a low nadir CD4 cell count and thus a surrogate for length of untreated HIV infection and a big reservoir size were predictive for virological failure in the MONCAY trial [9]. In addition, it has been shown that patients treated early with cART have less immune activation compared to those treated during chronic HIV-1 infection [23]. This may translate to a lower extent of activation of latently HIV-1-infected cells. Finally, patients who are treated early maintain a low level of viral diversity in blood as well as sanctuary sites, such as gut-associated tissue and the CNS [12, 26]; therefore, viral escape is less likely to occur.

To assess potential changes in the HIV-1 latent reservoir while on dolutegravir monotherapy, we measured total HIV-1 DNA levels in PBMCs from patients at baseline and at week 48 and found that there was a comparable slight decay in the total HIV DNA load in both groups. Our finding that the total HIV DNA load in the monotherapy group did not increase over time suggests that the HIV-1 latent reservoir was not replenished on dolutegravir monotherapy. Supporting this, the frequency of viral blips was very low in both treatment groups but even lower in the dolutegravir monotherapy group despite a much higher sampling frequency.

To investigate whether patients on dolutegravir monotherapy are at increased risk for CNS escape, that is, ongoing viral replication in the CNS in the presence of suppressed viremia in the plasma, we performed longitudinal lumbar punctures and



Figure 4. Viral blips stratified by dolutegravir (DTG) monotherapy vs standard-of-care combination antiretroviral therapy (cART). One patient in the DTG monotherapy group experienced a single blip at week 20, and 1 patient in the standard-of-care cART group had 2 blips. The light colors show the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) RNA levels above the limit of detection (20 copies/mL; dotted light gray line), which were not classified as viral blips (>50 copies/mL; depicted by dashed gray line). Among the 13 patients with at least 1 HIV-1 RNA measurement above 20 copies/mL, four patients were from the cART group (3 participants with a single level >20 copies/mL and 1 with 3 HIV-1 RNA levels >20 copies/mL). In the DTG monotherapy group, one patient had 3 HIV-1 RNA levels >20 copies/mL, no patient had 2 HIV-1 RNA levels >20 copies/mL, and seven patients had a single HIV-1 RNA level above 20 copies/mL. The failing patient was excluded from this analysis.

measured the HIV-1 RNA in the CSF in a subset of patients at baseline and at week 48. In all CSF samples, HIV-1 RNA was not detected above the limit of quantification of 40 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL CSF at baseline (n = 37) and at week 48 (n = 12). We also measured dolutegravir drug levels in the CSF as a proxy for CNS penetration. In line with previous work [20], we found that in all patients on dolutegravir monotherapy or on dolutegravir-containing cART, the concentrations in CSF exceeded the in vitro IC 50 for wild-type HIV-1. This finding suggests that in our specific patient population, dolutegravir monotherapy is



Figure 5. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) RNA measurements in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). Patients were asked to have a lumbar puncture performed at baseline and at week 48. The patient with virological failure at week 36 was the only patient who received an additional lumbar puncture at week 41. Orange and blue circles depict the single HIV-1 RNA measurements in CSF for the dolutegravir (DTG) monotherapy and standard-of-care combination antiretroviral therapy (cART) groups, respectively. The dotted gray line represents the detection limit.

able to achieve therapeutic concentrations in the CNS and to prevent CNS escape at this sanctuary site.

The main goal of ART simplification is to reduce long-term toxicity associated with ART and to reduce costs. Indeed, almost all currently licensed antiretroviral drugs showed significant toxicity in post-marketing surveillance studies [27]. Thus, simplifying a patient to dolutegravir monotherapy could be a reasonable strategy to reduce long-term toxicity and daily pill counts in some patients. Although we did not find significant changes from baseline in lipid levels and proximal tubulopathy markers, it is possible that the follow-up time of 48 weeks was too short to detect clinically meaningful changes.

The strength of our study is that we tested a new and clear hypothesis for the first time: Do viral and immunological properties that result from early cART initiation translate into successful viral suppression after switch to dolutegravir monotherapy? We selected our patients based on a distinct clinical phenotype, and we combined our treatment intervention with several laboratory measurements to investigate the potential positive and negative impact of a dolutegravir monotherapy on toxicity markers, the HIV-1 reservoir, and potential CNS compartmentalization. A limitation of our study is that we were not able to recruit the targeted number (n = 138) of patients that was calculated for the targeted 80% power. Therefore, the study results rely on a small number of patients. The major reason for the low recruitment was the high frequency of patient visits we requested for safety reasons. Close HIV-1 RNA monitoring was performed in the dolutegravir monotherapy arm during the first 6 months to detect a potential virological failure as early as possible. Even though we enrolled fewer patients than



Figure 6. Dolutegravir (DTG) drug level measurements in plasma (*A*) and in CSF (*B*). *A*, Plasma DTG concentrations (yellow circles, week 0; red circles, week 4; green circles, week 48), with the median population predicted concentration (dark gray line) and the 10% and 90% prediction interval (light gray lines). The dashed black line represents the protein-adjusted 90% inhibitory concentration at 64 ng/mL. *B*, Cerebrospinal fluid DTG concentrations (blue circles, DTG monotherapy; purple circles, DTG combined with other antiretrovirals). The in vitro 50% inhibitory concentration of 0.2 ng/mL is represented by the dashed black line. Abbreviations: CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; PA IC90, protein-adjusted 90% inhibitory concentration.

Table 2. Adverse Events Among Study Participants

AE Among Study Participants	Overall	Monotherapy	Combination Antiretroviral Therapy	<i>P</i> Value
Number of patients ^a	87 (86.1)	61 (89.7)	26 (78.8)	.217
Study drug related	15 (14.9)	9 (13.2)	6 (18.2)	.557
Serious adverse event	8 (7.9)	6 (8.8)	2 (6.1)	1.000
Antiretroviral therapy switch due to AE	3 (3.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (9.1)	.033
Intensity				
Mild	86 (85.1)	60 (88.2)	26 (78.8)	.240
Moderate	18 (17.8)	10 (14.7)	8 (24.2)	.274
Severe	4 (4.0)	3 (4.4)	1 (3.0)	1.000
Laboratory AE	14 (13.9)	10 (14.7)	4 (12.1)	1.000
Laboratory AE, intensity				
Mild	13 (12.9)	10 (14.7)	3 (9.1)	.538
Moderate	1 (1.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (3.0)	.327
Sexually transmitted infection	30 (29.7)	23 (33.8)	7 (21.2)	.248
Common cold	21 (20.8)	16 (23.5)	5 (15.2)	.436
Other infection	14 (13.9)	13 (19.1)	1 (3.0)	.032
Headache	7 (6.9)	3 (4.4)	4 (12.1)	.212
Liver enzyme elevation	7 (6.9)	6 (8.8)	1 (3.0)	.422
Skin rash	7 (6.9)	4 (5.9)	3 (9.1)	.680
Arthralgia	6 (5.9)	4 (5.9)	2 (6.1)	1.000
Headache after lumbar puncture	7 (6.9)	4 (5.9)	3 (9.1)	.680
Creatinine elevation	5 (5.0)	2 (2.9)	3 (9.1)	.327
Sleeping disorder	5 (5.0)	4 (5.9)	1 (3.0)	1.000
Diarrhea	5 (5.0)	3 (4.4)	2 (6.1)	.661
Fatigue	4 (4.0)	2 (2.9)	2 (6.1)	.595
Back pain	4 (4.0)	4 (5.9)	0 (0.0)	.300
Commotio cerebri	4 (4.0)	3 (4.4)	1 (3.0)	1.000
Depression	3 (3.0)	2 (2.9)	1 (3.0)	1.000
Microhematuria	3 (3.0)	3 (4.4)	0 (0.0)	.549
Viremia	2 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (6.1)	.105

Data are n (%).

Abbreviation: AE, adverse event.

^aNumber represents patients with at least 1 AE.

originally anticipated, noninferiority could be demonstrated. Since the power in noninferiority studies guarantees that the probability of showing noninferiority when the new treatment is indeed noninferior to the control is sufficiently high, the post study power is meaningless in case of significant results. Another possible limitation is the short follow-up period of 48 weeks. To address this limitation, we prolonged the study duration to 4 years at the time when the first studies reported a large number of patients failing on dolutegravir monotherapy. Finally, one potential limitation is that the frequent HIV-1 RNA measurements during the first 24 weeks might have increased adherence in the monotherapy group. However, these patients only came for short additional blood draw visits with the study nurse without counseling, and adherence, as measured by pill counts upon visits, did not differ between groups.

Our pilot study has potential implications for the management of HIV-1-infected patients. Our results suggest that success of simplification strategies using dolutegravir monotherapy is likely governed by early start of treatment with subsequent low latent HIV-1 reservoir size, low level of viral diversity, and low immune activation. It suggests that trials to evaluate simplification strategies should stratify between patients first treated during primary and chronic infection. This is of particular relevance because today all HIV-1-infected patients should be treated immediately regardless of their CD4 count [28]; thus, the fraction of patients treated early after infection most likely will increase. As our data show, these patients may be potentially overtreated for decades if patient population stratification is not performed in future simplification trials. Recent studies show that simplification with boosted protease inhibitors or dolutegravir each combined with lamivudine seem to work [29, 30], supporting the possibility that future ART could be personalized much more than it is today. One can even imagine that in the future, HIV-1 maintenance therapies will be started by measuring the size of the latent reservoir, for example, by proviral HIV-1 DNA or other future assays, and might be predictive of who can receive monotherapy. Therefore, more prospective controlled future simplification studies are needed that use stratification strategies according to the time of HIV infection and start of first cART guided by measurements of the latent reservoir. In addition, longer follow-up is important as for all prospective clinical cART trials because failure was observed after week 48 in several studies [6, 9].

Supplementary Data

Supplementary materials are available at *Clinical Infectious Diseases* online. Consisting of data provided by the authors to benefit the reader, the posted materials are not copyedited and are the sole responsibility of the authors, so questions or comments should be addressed to the corresponding author.

Notes

Author contributions. The study was designed by D. L. B. and H. F. G. Data acquisition was done by D. L. B., F. T., C. G., B. H., C. D., P. W. S., M. G., C. B., D. S., S. B., K. N., C. P., H. K., M. F., B. B., K. J. M., L. D.,

J. B., and H. F.G. Statistical analysis was performed by T. T. and R. D. K. H. F. G. supervised the study. D. L. B. wrote the first draft. All investigators contributed to data collection and interpretation of the data, reviewed drafts of the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgments. The authors thank Melissa Robbiani for the careful edit of the manuscript. They also thank all patients who participated in the Zurich Primary HIV Infection (ZPHI) Study; Barbara Hasse, Urs Karrer, Rolf Oberholzer, Elisabeth Presterl, Reto Laffer, Ulrich von Both, Milo Huber, Clara Thierfelder, Yvonne Flammer, Johannes Nemeth, Amrei von Braun, Aline Wolfensberger, Thomas Frey, Markus Stratmann and Denise Borso for their dedicated patient care; Christine Leemann and Dominique Klimpel for excellent laboratory assistance; and Ingrid Nievergelt for administrative support. They thank the Institute for Medical Virology of the University of Zurich for the excellent laboratory work and Maja Müller from the Clinical Trials Center for the study monitoring. They thank Roche Switzerland Ltd. for partially funding the study.

Disclaimer. Roche had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Financial support. This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF) grant 179571 to H. F. G. and the University of Zurich's Clinical Research Priority Program's (ZPHI) to H. F. G., D. L. B., C. D. T. B., and F.T. R. D. K. was supported by the SNF (grant PZ00P3-142411 and BSSGI0_155851). L. D. is supported by the National Science Foundation (grant 324730-165956). Roche Diagnostics (Switzerland) Ltd. provided free of charge 480 tests of the Cobas AmpliPrep (CAP)/Cobas TaqMan (CTM) human immunodeficiency virus version 2.

Potential conflicts of interest. H. F. G. has received grants from the SNF, Swiss HIV Cohort Study, Yvonne Jacob Foundation, Zurich Primary HIV Infection, Systems.X, National Institutes of Health, Gilead Sciences, and Roche and personal fees from Merck, Gilead Sciences, Teva, and Sandoz for consultancy. D. L. B. was advisor and/or consultant for Gilead, ViiV, and Merck. B. B. received travel grants from AbbVie, ViiV, and Gilead and research grants outside the submitted work from Gilead. K. J. M. has received travel grants and advisory board honoraria from Gilead Sciences and ViiV; the University of Zurich received a research grant from Gilead Science for a study for which K. J. M. serves as principal investigator. R. K. reports grants and personal fees from Gilead Sciences and grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation outside the submitted work. All other authors reported no potential conflicts. All authors have submitted the ICMJE Form for Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest. Conflicts that the editors consider relevant to the content of the manuscript have been disclosed.

Data sharing agreement. The study protocol and individual participant data that underlie the results reported in this article will be available after deidentification following article publication to investigators whose proposed use of the data has been approved by an independent review committee to achieve aims in the approved proposal. Proposals should be directed to huldrych.guenthard@usz.ch to gain access. Data requestors will need to sign a data access agreement.

References

- Keiser O, Fellay J, Opravil M, et al; Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Adverse events to antiretrovirals in the Swiss HIV cohort study: effect on mortality and treatment modification. Antivir Ther 2007; 12:1157–64.
- Mathis S, Khanlari B, Pulido F, et al. Effectiveness of protease inhibitor monotherapy versus combination antiretroviral maintenance therapy: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2011; 6:e22003.
- Paton NI, Stöhr W, Oddershede L, et al. The Protease Inhibitor Monotherapy Versus Ongoing Triple Therapy (PIVOT) trial: a randomised controlled trial of a protease inhibitor monotherapy strategy for long-term management of human immunodeficiency virus infection. Health Technol Assess 2016; 20:1–158.
- Günthard HF, Saag MS, Benson CA, et al. Antiretroviral drugs for treatment and prevention of HIV infection in adults: 2016 Recommendations of the International Antiviral Society-USA Panel. JAMA 2016; 316:191–210.
- Llibre JM, Hung CC, Brinson C, et al. Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of dolutegravir-rilpivirine for the maintenance of virological suppression in adults with HIV-1: phase 3, randomised, non-inferiority SWORD-1 and SWORD-2 studies. Lancet 2018; 391:839–49.

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/cid/article-abstract/69/9/1489/5269466 by Universite and EPFL Lausanne user on 04 December 2019

- Wijting I, Rokx C, Boucher C, et al. Dolutegravir as maintenance monotherapy for HIV (DOMONO): a phase 2, randomised non-inferiority trial. Lancet HIV 2017; 4:e547–54.
- 7. Cahn P, Sierra Madero J, Arribas JJ, et al. Non-inferior efficacy of dolutegravir (DTG) plus lamivudine (3TC) versus DTG plus tenofovir/emtricitabine (TDF/ FTC) fixed-dose combination in antiretroviral treatment-naïve adults with HIV-1 infection—48-week results from the GEMINI studies. In: AIDS 2018 22nd International Aids Conference; 23–27 July 2018, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Abstract TUAB0106LB.
- Blanco JL, Rojas J, Paredes R, et al; DOLAM Study Team. Dolutegravir-based maintenance monotherapy versus dual therapy with lamivudine: a planned 24 week analysis of the DOLAM randomized clinical trial. J Antimicrob Chemother 2018; 73:1965–71.
- Hocqueloux L, Allavena C, Prazuck T; the MONCAY Study Group. Dolutegravir monotherapy versus dolutegravir/abacavir/lamivudine for HIV-1-infected virologically suppressed patients: results from the randomized non-inferiority MONCAY trial. In: AIDS 2018 22nd International Aids Conference; 23–27 July 2018, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Abstract TUAB0103.
- Schmid A, Gianella S, von Wyl V, et al. Profound depletion of HIV-1 transcription in patients initiating antiretroviral therapy during acute infection. PLoS One 2010; 5:e13310.
- Strain MC, Little SJ, Daar ES, et al. Effect of treatment, during primary infection, on establishment and clearance of cellular reservoirs of HIV-1. J Infect Dis 2005; 191:1410–8.
- 12. Oliveira MF, Chaillon A, Nakazawa M, et al. Early antiretroviral therapy is associated with lower HIV DNA molecular diversity and lower inflammation in cerebrospinal fluid but does not prevent the establishment of compartmentalized HIV DNA populations. PLoS Pathog **2017**; 13:e1006112.
- Rieder P, Joos B, Scherrer AU, et al. Characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) diversity and tropism in 145 patients with primary HIV-1 infection. Clin Infect Dis 2011; 53:1271–9.
- Braun DL, Marzel A, Steffens D, et al. High rates of subsequent asymptomatic STIs and risky sexual behavior in patients initially presenting with primary HIV-1 infection. Clin Infect Dis 2018; 66: 735–742.
- Schoeni-Affolter F, Ledergerber B, Rickenbach M, et al. Cohort profile: the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Int J Epidemiol 2010; 39:1179–89.
- Gianella S, von Wyl V, Fischer M, et al; Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Effect of early antiretroviral therapy during primary HIV-1 infection on cell-associated HIV-1 DNA and plasma HIV-1 RNA. Antivir Ther 2011; 16:535–45.
- Wensing AM, Calvez V, Günthard HF, et al. 2017 update of the drug resistance mutations in HIV-1. Top Antivir Med 2017; 24:132–3.
- 18. Fux CH, Opravil M, Cavassini M; Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Tenofovir and protease inhibitor use are associated with an increased prevalence of proximal renal

tubular dysfunction in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study: boosted protease inhibitor +TDF associated with renal function. In: 16th CROI Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections Montreal, Canada 8–11 February 2009.

- Aouri M, Guidi M, Barcelo C, Cavassini M, Buclin T, Decosterd L.A, Csajka C, and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Population pharmacokinetics analysis of dolutegravir in HIV-1 infected individuals. Population Approach Group Europe (PAGE) 25, 7-10 June 2016. Lisboa, Portugal. Abstract 5998.
- Letendre SL, Mills AM, Tashima KT, et al; extended ING116070 Study Team. ING116070: a study of the pharmacokinetics and antiviral activity of dolutegravir in cerebrospinal fluid in HIV-1-infected, antiretroviral therapy-naive subjects. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 59:1032–7.
- Oldenbuettel C, Wolf E, Ritter A, et al. Dolutegravir monotherapy as treatment de-escalation in HIV-infected adults with virological control: DoluMono cohort results. Antivir Ther 2017; 22:169–72.
- Rokx C, Schurink CA, Boucher CA, Rijnders BJ. Dolutegravir as maintenance monotherapy: first experiences in HIV-1 patients. J Antimicrob Chemother 2016; 71:1632–6.
- Sereti I, Krebs SJ, Phanuphak N, et al; RV254/SEARCH 010, RV304/SEARCH 013 and SEARCH 011 Protocol Teams. Persistent, albeit reduced, chronic inflammation in persons starting antiretroviral therapy in acute HIV infection. Clin Infect Dis 2017; 64:124–31.
- 24. Wijting I, Rutsaert SL, Rokx C, et al. Predictors of virological failure in HIV-1infected patients switching to dolutegravir maintenance monotherapy. HIV Med **2019**; 20:63–8.
- Wijting IEA, Lungu C, Rijnders BJA, et al. HIV-1 resistance dynamics in patients with virologic failure to dolutegravir maintenance monotherapy. J Infect Dis 2018; 218:688–97.
- Josefsson L, von Stockenstrom S, Faria NR, et al. The HIV-1 reservoir in eight patients on long-term suppressive antiretroviral therapy is stable with few genetic changes over time. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013; 110:E4987–96.
- Sabin CA, Reiss P, Ryom L, et al; D:A:D Study Group. Is there continued evidence for an association between abacavir usage and myocardial infarction risk in individuals with HIV? A cohort collaboration. BMC Med 2016; 14:61.
- Saag MS, Benson CA, Gandhi RT, et al. Antiretroviral drugs for treatment and prevention of HIV infection in adults: 2018 recommendations of the International Antiviral Society-USA Panel. JAMA 2018; 320:379–96.
- Taiwo BO, Zheng L, Stefanescu A, et al. ACTG A5353: a pilot study of dolutegravir plus lamivudine for initial treatment of human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1)-infected participants with HIV-1 RNA <500000 copies/mL. Clin Infect Dis 2018; 66:1689–97.
- Figueroa M, Sued O, Gun A, et al. DRV/r/3TC FDC for HIV-1 treatment naive patients: week 48 results of the ANDES study. In: 25th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI); 4–7 March 2018; Boston, MA.

CHAPTER VII: DISCUSSION AND PERSPECTIVES

The widespread use of ARV has dramatically changed the prognostic and care of PLWH. PLWH live longer, develop therefore age-related comorbidities, and consequently receive significant polymedication in addition to their ARV regimens. Pharmacokinetic data of ARVs and comedications in aging PLWH were limited leading to uncertainty on the actual dose adjustment, if any, necessitated when aging. The objective of this work was therefore not only focused solely on DDIs, but also aimed at providing new insights about the importance of such DDIs in an aging PLWH population.

Our first study showed that cardiovascular drugs were highly prescribed in PLWH despite their high risk for DDIs. 73% of elderly PLWH received at least one cardiovascular drug and 11% of these drugs were involved in potential DDIs with ARV drugs. The assessment of the magnitude of DDIs between cardiovascular drugs and ARVs requires the development and validation of accurate LC-MS/MS bioassays. One of the developed bioanalytical method aimed at quantifying plasma levels of commonly prescribed cardiovascular comedications in PLWH. This bioassay was developed mostly for research purposes and was successfully applied to the two observational studies conducted during this work, and was also found useful for clarifying a case report a deleterious DDIs occurring outside the present clinical study. For the first time overall, the magnitude of DDIs between cardiovascular drugs and ARV drugs has been evaluated in a real clinical setting, outside the stringent context of clinical studies.

Multiple approaches have been used to quantify the magnitude of DDIs between ARV and comedications, and to evaluate the impact of aging on drug PK. Apart from the presented popPK models and NCA, real-life clinical data collected during our observational studies have been integrated into PBPK models developed by Prof Catia Marzolini at the University of Basel for the definitive validation of their *in silico* approaches. Results from these comparative studies -not part of the present thesis- will be published shortly.

First, the impact of aging on the magnitude of DDIs was evaluated using these three (*i.e.* popPK, NCA and PBPK) approaches. We have formally demonstrated that overall, age has a limited impact on the importance of DDI. Indeed, age was not retained as a significant covariate in any of the developed popPK models for amlodipine, atorvastatin and rosuvastatin, suggesting that age does not impact drug PK, and thereby does not influence the magnitude of DDIs. NCA conducted in elderly PLWH demonstrated that DDI magnitudes between amlodipine, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin and ARV drugs were comparable to those reported in young individuals. In the same way, clinical data combined with PBPK modelling for amlodipine, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin and other comedications demonstrated that aging does not influence DDI magnitude regardless of the DDI mechanism, the DDI mediators (enzymes, transporters) or the involved drugs. Combined together, these results support that the clinical management of DDIs can be similar in aging and younger PLWH.

Secondly, different PK approaches allowed the evaluation of the impact of aging on ARVs PK. For example, older age was unexpectedly associated with higher dolutegravir elimination in the popPK analysis. In addition, dolutegravir exposure was shown to be 5% and 35% higher in elderly PLWH compared to the younger group, using NCA and PBPK modelling, respectively. Taken together, these studies elucidated a limited effect of age on dolutegravir pharmacokinetics suggesting no dose adjustment in elderly PLWH. More generally, the PBPK model predicted a 1.75-fold decrease in ARV clearance across adulthood, while C_{max}, T_{max} and V_d remained unaltered by aging. These results demonstrated a marginal impact of aging on ARV PK and thus, dose adjustment based on age is a priori not necessary in the absence of severe comorbidities.

In addition to the evaluation of DDIs, the popPK models developed for amlodipine, atorvastatin and rosuvastatin allowed to identify factors influencing he concentration-time profiles of the drugs. This might help clinicians to identify patients at risk of either being overexposed or presenting suboptimal exposure of the evaluated comedication, and who may benefit from individualised clinical interventions.

Considering the high inter-individual variability for each evaluated drug, the potential for DDIs and the associated clinical consequences, the popPK models could be implemented in a Bayesian tool for dosage adjustment developed by the Service of clinical Pharmacology at CHUV and the School of Management and Engineering Vaud, in collaboration with EPFL. This software, Tucuxi[®], is a user-friendly solution for the optimization of drug treatments following concentration monitoring. Based on one or several plasma concentration measurements observed in a patient, the software applies Bayesian calculations to find the most likely concentration-time profile for this patient. Afterwards, the software suggests dosage adjustment to ensure optimal drug exposure. Nevertheless, the strength of such an approach relies in the availability of therapeutic targets, which are unfortunately either lacking or remain so far undefined for the evaluated cardiovascular drugs. Dosage adjustment should be firstly based on the monitoring of clinical response such as blood pressure (for amlodipine) or lipids profile (for statins). Tolerability should also be considered to avoid adverse events such as muscular or hepatic side effects associated with statin treatments.

In conclusion, this work aimed at expanding our knowledge on treatment optimization in PLWH. The analytical bioassays and popPK models presented in this thesis may guide the individualization of both ARV treatments and comedications, in the purpose of maximizing efficacy and safety. The developed pharmacokinetic models support findings from previously published DDI studies when available, and

strengthen the dosage recommendations based either on theoretical considerations or on DDI studies with other interacting drugs.

Although efficacy and tolerability of ARV drugs improved significantly, long-term adherence remains the most important determinant for sustained viral suppression. Medication adherence to ARVs is affected by multiple factors such as treatment-related adverse events or complexity and social stigma associated with the daily ARV drug intake. A promising approach to overcome the adherence issue is the development of long-acting injectable formulations allowing once-monthly or every two months intramuscular administrations. Although this approach has been successfully applied to antipsychotics and hormonal contraceptives for more than 30 years, the PK of such long acting ARV drugs and the associated inter-individual variability in real life patients outside the strict frame of clinical studies remains to be explored. Such PK studies to come will therefore benefit from the availability of the third LC-MS/MS methodology described in the present manuscript, to secure the prescription of longacting injectable ARVs and newer oral ARV drugs, with regard not only to efficacy but also tolerability and long-term safety.
CHAPTER VIII: APPENDICES

VIII.1. Proposal of our project to the SHCS scientific board

Model-Based Simulation and Clinical Validation of Drug-Drug Interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study

Authors: Laurent Decosterd, Perrine Courlet, Chantal Csajka, Mathias Cavassini, Catia Marzolini and Thierry Buclin

1. Administrative Information

Principal investigator: Laurent Decosterd Responsible investigator: Catia Marzolini Coordinating centre: Lausanne Study sites: Lausanne, Basel Beginning of the study: 01.01.2017 Study duration: 3 years Budget requested from the SHCS: Date of first submission: 01.11.2016

0 CHF

If the current version is a revision of a previously submitted proposal:

Date of resubmission:

Give a point-by-point reply to the comments received from the Scientific Board and highlight the resulting relevant changes in this proposal with yellow.

Point-by-point reply to the comments from the Scientific Board:

_LD___I confirm, that I have read the Guidelines for Project Submission and that the project fulfils all criteria (<u>http://www.shcs.ch/40-project-submission-guidelines</u>) (Any issue that might interfere with the guidelines should be discussed in a cover letter)

_LD____I confirm that all co-authors have seen the current version of the project and agreed with the submission of the current version of the protocol

2. Summary

Background:

Thanks to highly active antiretroviral therapies (ARTs), HIV-infected patients live longer and older, with common age-related health issues requiring numerous co-medications. HIV-HCV co-infected patients (30% of SHCS) are also likely to receive new anti-HCV drugs. At present, drug-drug interactions (DDIs) between antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) and co-medications are mostly predicted based on current knowledge of metabolic pathways.

Study Aims:

- quantification of magnitude of DDIs between ARVs, anti-HCV drugs and common co-medications.
- analysis using population pharmacokinetics (POP PK)
- comparison of DDIs simulations using POP PK versus physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling.

Study Design:

Prospective observational study implying systematic PK records at each SHCS visit and determination of plasma levels of ARVs, anti-HCV drugs, AND relevant co-medications measured by multiplex mass spectrometry.

POP PK models of co-medications will allow: i) comparison with available PK data from reference individuals, ii) dissecting the influence of covariates (age, etc...).

3. Background

Highly active antiretroviral therapies (ARTs) have definitively transformed HIV infection from a deadly disease into a manageable chronic condition. Consequently, HIV-infected patients live older, with common age-related health issues, and are likely to receive numerous additional co-medications. The high potential of reciprocal drug-drug interactions (DDIs) between antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) and the various co-medications, not to mention the influence of chronic exposure of these drugs associations on their long-term tolerance profiles remains incompletely characterized (1).

The incorporation of ARVs TDM data into the SHCS database provides pharmacokinetic and clinical variables together with efficacy endpoints, which offers a unique resource for research in the constant evolving field of HIV therapy.

DDIs with ARVs: because of their pharmacokinetic properties, these therapeutic agents have a high potential for DDIs. Protease Inhibitors (PIs), Non-Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors (NNRTIs) and Integrase Inhibitors (INIs) are metabolized by cytochromes P450 (CYPs), and/or uridine 5'-diphospho-glucuronosyltransferase (UGTs) and some of these agents can inhibit and/or induce different CYP and UGTs isoforms (2).

DDIs with ARVs can also occur via other mechanisms including drug transporters (3) (4), complexation with divalent cations (5) and pH-dependent drug absorption (6). The prevalence of DDIs with HIV therapy has been assessed in several studies (7-13), with potential interactions found in about one third of patients receiving antiretroviral therapy. The issue of DDIs is likely to worsen with the aging HIV population encountering age-related morbidities (14, 15) susceptible to increase the burden of poly-medication.

DDIs lead to substantial risks of either toxicity or decreased efficacy and subsequent emergence of drug resistance, with potential HIV transmission to seronegative partners (16). All the above elements constitute therefore strong arguments to prevent, identify and manage DDIs.

Although two publicly available websites (www.hiv-druginteractions.org; www.hepdruginteractions.org) are valuable resources for addressing the problems of DDIs, notably in the setting of HIV-HCV infections, 90% of the reported DDIs are only based on the knowledge of metabolic pathways of drugs. There is currently a major lack of real-life clinical data on the magnitude and management of DDIs, especially in the context of poly-morbid, poly-medicated patients poorly accounted for in treatment guidelines largely elaborated for *single* diseases (17).

DDIs with anti-HCV drugs: similarly to ARVs, new anti-HCV drugs are revolutionizing the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. In a context of HCV-HIV co-infection treatment (about 30% of all HIV patients in Switzerland are co-infected with HCV), information on DDIs with the new anti-HCV drugs is limited. Available information derives from the knowledge of their metabolism pathways. To the best of our knowledge, while studies on the DDIs potential of paritaprevir, ombitasvir, dasabuvir, daclatasvir, simeprevir, ledipasvir and sofosbuvir have been reported (18-20), there is at present limited published information on DDIs between ARVs and the latest generation anti-HCV agents ledipasvir, grazoprevir/elbasvir and velpatasvir, not to mention sofosbuvir.

Therapeutic Drug Monitoring (TDM) of antiretroviral drugs is a powerful tool to identify and manage DDIs. Despite limited clinical validation, TDM of ARVs is now commonly considered in case of virological failure, adverse drug reactions, in special clinical conditions (pregnancy, paediatrics, liver failure...), and when DDIs are suspected (21). For the latest anti-HIV drugs (i.e. raltegravir,

elvitegravir/cobicistat, rilpivirine, dolutegravir, etc), the availability of concentration exposure monitoring is certainly an important component of patient's follow-up.

For the new anti-HCV drugs, as the duration of treatment for hepatitis C is shortening, the role of TDM seems limited. Yet, TDM is still likely to provide useful information in specific cases such as suspected DDIs, problematic patho-physiological conditions (i.e. altered renal function and sofosbuvir treatment (22)). To that endeavour, a multiplex mass spectrometry method is currently being developed at the Lausanne Center and will be soon available for clinicians for monitoring plasma levels of sofosbuvir (+ its metabolite GS331007), daclatasvir, paritaprevir, ombitasvir, dasabuvir, ledipasvir, grazoprevir, elbasvir and velpatasvir.

Population kinetics/dynamics of antiviral drugs and interactions: population-based approaches seem to be a best way to characterize the pharmacokinetic profile of a drug of interest and to capture the contribution of multiple genetic and non-genetic factors affecting drug levels. Population pharmacokinetic analyses of the earlier NNRTIs (efavirenz (23-25), nevirapine (26), etravirine (27) and the more recent rilpivirine ((28)); the former PIs lopinavir (29-31), atazanavir (32)), indinavir (33) and the latest darunavir (34); for the integrase inhibitors (INIs) raltegravir (35) elvitegravir /cobicistat (36), and dolutegravir ((37)) and for maraviroc (38), tenofovir (39) and enfuvirtide,. have been able to quantify variability and to assess relevant sources of variations in drug levels, including drug-drug interactions.

4. Own Research in the Field

The Lausanne Center has a long-standing expertise in the clinical pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of antiviral drugs, testified by a number of publications in the field. Over the last four years, the SNF has supported our research program on the "clinical pharmacology and pharmacogenetics of HIV and HIV/HCV treatments in the complex care co-infected individuals" (SNF N° 324730-141234). SNF has renewed its support in 2016 for the present research project focused on DDIs, in conjunction with the SHCS (SNF N° 324730-165956).

A tandem mass spectrometry platform, an integrated pharmacology and genetics database for the SHCS, a center of excellence in population pharmacokinetic modeling and a contribution to a pharmacogenetics platform are available for further coordinated research projects.

Laurent Decosterd, the head of the Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology, is known to the SHCS for being involved in numerous research projects requiring bioanalytical developments by mass spectrometry. **Perrine Courlet,** Pharmacist, PhD student, will perform the analytical development, and will be in charge, with technical guidance and under medical supervision, to organize and regulate logistic aspects for data collection, mass spectrometry analysis and population PK analysis.

Chantal Csajka is an expert in population pharmacokinetics notably focused on antiviral therapy. She has participated to a large number of translational studies within the SHCS cohort.

Matthias Cavassini is a member of SHCS Scientific Board, he is in charge of the HIV outpatient clinics in Lausanne, has a particular interest in HIV care, resistance and adherence and has carried out several studies within the SHCS. PK data and samples collection at the Lausanne Center for this study will be carried out under his supervision. He is the PI for the NAMACO project, related (albeit distinct) from the present project.

Catia Marzolini, is a member of SHCS Scientific Board, based at the Basel Center. Over the last decades she has gained international recognition for various landmark works on the clinical pharmacology of ARVs. She is currently also in charge of maintaining and continuously improving the publicly available www.hiv-druginteractions.org. She will supervise the PK data and samples collection at the Basel Center. She is the PI for the SNF-supported *PBPK* analysis, linked to the project.

Thierry Buclin, Head of the Division of Pharmacology at CHUV has co-authored multiple publications with the SHCS. He provides his expertise in statistical analysis notably via the development of mathematical tools for the aggregation of population pharmacokinetic data from relevant comedications using meta-analyses techniques and the program EzeCHiel/Tucuxi developed thanks to the SNF-supported NanoTera ISyPeM2 project.

5. Study Hypotheses

Antiretroviral treatments have a high potential for DDIs with co-medications, not only for an increasingly aging population receiving numerous drugs for common age-related health issues, but also in the context of HIV-HCV co-infection treatment. Some of these DDIs may be of clinical significance.

The framework provided by SHCS represents a unique setting to investigate at a population level those DDIs in the real-life conditions.

6. Study Aims and Objectives

- Analytical development by multiplex mass spectrometry of commonly used co-medications
- Analytical development for latest generation anti-HCV drugs
- Population pharmacokinetics analysis of ARV and relevant common co-medications (and anti-HCV drugs) using sparse sampling approach: i) comparison with available PK data from reference individuals, ii) dissecting the influence of other covariates (age, etc...).

- Model-based simulation of DDIs and comparison with simulations obtained using the PBPK modeling approach

7. Study Design and Plan

Monitoring drug levels of ARVs and co-medications

For budget reasons, the present study on DDIs will be first limited to two centers: Basel and Lausanne. After one year, the progress of the project will be re-evaluated before possible deployment to other SHCS centers. The PK data (time/date of last drug intake and blood collection, for ARVs <u>and</u> comedications) at each SHCS visit will be entered in the TDM database (Lausanne) and then be exported into the SHCS database so that these data will be available to everyone for other SHCS projects.



Figure 1: Working frame for population-PK analysis and model-based simulation of drug-drug interactions. In blue, the frame of the present proposal.

SHCS Pharmacology database

The current procedure for feeding the SHCS pharmacology database is the following: Information regarding drugs pharmacokinetics (drug, dosage, time of drug administration and concentrations, time/date of blood collection) as well as comedications (ARVs and other drugs) are provided by the routine TDM-ARV Access database of the Division of clinical pharmacology (PCL) at Lausanne. All other information (demographics, physio-pathological, environmental and others) is emanating directly from the SHCS database. PK data extraction is undertaken regularly (\approx every 1 to 4 months) from PCL database to the SHCS data center. Securitized data exportation is been implemented at CHUV-Lausanne to take into account the new location of the SHCS database at Zurich.



Figure 2: Overview of the PK data form routine TDM merging procedure between the Division of clinical pharmacology at Lausanne and the SHCS database at Zurich

Systematic capture of PK data at SHCS visits, for ARVs AND co-medications

Pharmacokinetics analyses are critically dependent on the access to data on drug dosage, time of last drug intake and time of blood sampling.

A pilot study carried-out at the Basel Center has examined the optimal procedure to capture these critical information: Two alternative options have been tested: i) either the patients received at home a letter to remind their SHCS appointment for the blood intake, **together with the medication form** (see figure 4 below) to fill in at home and bring to the nurse, or conversely, ii) the patients have filled the form on the spot at their arrival at the SHCS visit. The first procedure was clearly found to be the best approach not only in terms of effectiveness but also with regard to patients' and healthcare providers' convenience, routine logistics and general workload. The PK data from ARVs and comedications will be recorded by the laboratory staff into the TDM database (Lausanne) before their exportation in the SHCS database at Zurich so that these data will be available for all SHCS scientists. Practically, the patients coming for a SHCS visit are identified and they receive the medication form one week before the SHCS visit. This administrative procedure will be performed either by the study nurse or the administration personnel based on the center organisation (Figures 3 and 4).

PK data and samples collection procedure

 Step 1: identification of patients coming for a SHCS visit and mailing of medication form: the patients received at home a letter to remind their SHCS appointment for the blood intake, together with the medication form to fill in and bring to the nurse by study nurse or admin personal

Step 2: collection of filled medication forms and rapid check by nurses

Step 3: BS: blood samples are sent and stored at laboratory of H. Hirsch. Medication forms are kept by nurses until shipment.
Plasma samples sent batchwise to lab of L. Decosterd in LS every 3 months.

LS: blood sample together with medication form sent in real time to laboratory of L. Decosterd (as for usual TDM)

Step 4: copy of medication form given to physician in charge of patient to compare **medication data** with **data from Webmed**, to identify any discrepancies and to correct Wedmed accordingly.

Figure 3: The four subsequent steps for PK data and plasma samples collection procedure

Patientenfragebogen: Medikamentenliste

Graue Felder bitte nicht ausfüllen

Kohorten-ID:	en-ID: Datum der Blutprobe:			Uhrzeit der Blutprobe:			
formation für Patie erwendet werden, um ideren pharmakologis mfassenden Informati ese Liste mit den Nar Zusammenhang edikamenteneinnahm Medikamentenli	nten: Im R die Medika schen Bela onen bezüg men und D mit Ihrer ne vor dem ste	ahmen Ihrer Behandlu amentenspiegel im Zus ngen zu messen. Um o jlich aller Ihrer zurzeit i osierungen <u>aller</u> von Ih HIV-Infektion stehen) Blutprobentermin an. V	ing nehmen wir regelmä ammenhang mit Medikan die Medikamentenspiegel eingenommenen Medikan nen zurzeit eingenomme . Wichtig: Bitte geber fielen Dank für ihre Unter:	ssig Blutproben (BP). Diese Proben können daz nenteninteraktionen, Medikamententoxizitäten ode korrekt interpretieren zu können, sind wir auf Ihr nente angewiesen. Bitte füllen Sie aufgrund desse ner Medikamente aus (auch Medikament, die nich i Sie das Datum und die Zeit der letzte stützung.			
Medikament	Dos	is Anzahl pro T	ag Datum und Zei	t der letzten Einnahme vor Blutprobe			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
	_ [mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
	_ [mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
	_ [mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
	_ [mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			
		mg x/Tag	Datum:	Zeit:			

Bitte hier das Etikett der Blutproben aufkleben	

Figure 4: Example of medication form (available in German and French) received by the patient before the SHCS visit. Medications are filled in by the patient at home, and the top selection is filled in by the nurse at the time of blood intake.

Of note: this form as well as the data collection procedure have been presented at the last CLC meeting (31.8.2016) and have been formally approved.

The medication forms are collected, and briefly checked by nurses. **In Basel**, these forms are kept by nurses until shipment. The blood sample taken within the SHCS visit is sent for centrifugation to H. Hirsch's laboratory: the collected plasma sample is then stored at -80° C. An aliquot (0.5 ml) of plasma is sent batch-wise to the Lausanne laboratory every 3 months. **In Lausanne**, the PhD student in charge, or the laboratory staff, will come to the Infectious Diseases Outpatient Clinic to collect the blood sample and medication forms, similarly to what is organised for the standard routine TDM service.

Finally, a copy of medication forms is given to the physician in charge of the patient follow-up to compare medication data recorded in Webmed, to identify any discrepancies and to correct Webmed accordingly. Divergence on the list of treatment drugs may occur when patients consult other specialists that may prescribe drugs without notifying the infectious diseases specialists. The checking/update of the co-medication list in the Webmed database is a valuable consequence of this research project on daily patients' follow-up.

Selection of co-medications under study

Since a considerable number of co-medications are given to SHCS patients, it is necessary to select the drugs to study in priority. The choice is based on:

- the frequency of use in the patients of the SHCS.
- the theoretical risk of potential DDIs the absence of real-life data for novel, or possibly less frequently used drugs which are characterized by a narrow therapeutic index (new anti-HCV agents, cytostatic agents, novel targeted anticancer drugs, immuno-suppressants, etc...)

Table 1 is a non-exclusive list of co-medications likely to be analysed for the above reasons. Initially, we consider to concentrate on a first selection of 15 to 20 drugs, that will be analysed by multiplex liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry.

For the sake of internal control validation, the study of a positive control of DDIs is considered in the project. Candidate drugs association could be those well known to interact *via* CYP3A4 metabolism (for example, some statins /ritonavir, etc.)

Table 1: Selected examples of therapeutic classes and comedications likely to be analyzed (not exclusive list)

Therapeutic Class	Drugs
statins	atorvastatin, pravastatin, rosuvastatin
beta-blockers	metoprolol, propranolol
calcium channel inhibitors	amlodipine, verapamil
antiplatelets/anticoagulants	clopidogrel, phenprocoumon
anxiolytics	diazepam
antidepressants	escitalopram, mirtazapine, venlafaxine
targeted therapy of cancer	imatinib, nilotinib, dasatinib, erlotinib, etc
cytostatic drugs	cyclophosphamide, dacarbazine, docetaxel,
	irinotecan, paclitaxel, vincristine, etc

7.1. Patients

All patients from Lausanne and Basel coming for a SHCS visit will be enrolled in this study.

In 2014, a total of 9198 SHCS patients have had at least one cohort visit.

As previously stated, the implementation of PK data record and samples collection is planned to be deployed initially in only two SHCS centers:

- Basel: ≈ 1000 patients, 2000 cohort visits/year
- Lausanne: ≈ 1000 patients, 2000 cohort visit/year

It is estimated that a total of ≈ 3000 filled medication forms will be obtained (i.e. 1500 per Center).

7.2. Intervention

No intervention is planned.

7.3. Study Evaluations

The implementation of PK data record and samples collection is planned to be deployed initially only to Basel and Lausanne. After one year, the progress of the project will be evaluated to decide whether it should be extended to other SHCS centers.

7.4. Data Analysis

Population pharmacokinetics modelling and simulation: for the antiviral drugs, we will take advantage of TDM data for HIV and HCV drugs currently in the pharmacology SHCS database:

- to perform population pharmacokinetic analyses of new anti-HIV drugs and last generation anti-HCV drugs
- to characterize the influence of different covariates (age, drug of the co-medication etc..)
- to apply the developed models to simulation studies of drug-drug interactions or in special situations identified .

For the other therapeutic classes, the sparse sampling approach implies that drug levels in samples taken at unselected times after drug intake must be interpreted with respect to dosing interval and dosage to yield PK data that can be exploited. This can be done through Bayesian maximum *a posteriori* approaches, using NONMEM[®] (Non-linear Mixed Effect Modeling). Comparisons between SHCS and control patients can be made with the help of the program EzeCHiel/Tucuxi that allows the aggregation of population pharmacokinetic data from relevant co-medications using meta-analyses techniques. This program is being developed at CHUV thanks to the SNF-supported NanoTera ISyPeM2 project.

Identification of DDIs from prospective TDM service and SHCS study: We will take advantage of data captured during our routine TDM Service for HIV and HCV drugs and also from the present SHCS study on DDIs. Starting from the "normality" or "expectedness" of a drug measurement result under a given dosage regimen with reference to population analyses, we can suspect the presence of a drug interaction (beside compliance problems or pharmacogenetics issues). The quantification of variability and the assessment of relevant sources of variations in drug levels, including drug-drug interactions, will be performed using NONMEM, as successfully applied in our previous studies for the analysis and simulation of the interactions of raltegravir-atazanavir (40), darunavir-ritonavir (34) and more recently, elvitegravir-cobicistat ((36))

Modeling and simulation of drug-drug interactions: In parallel to *in vivo* data analysed by NONMEM, *in silico* PBPK modeling approaches currently being developed by Catia Marzolini at the Basel Center will be applied to simulate a virtual clinical study scenario, notably in aging patients. For the clinical validation of such *in silico* predictions, pharmacokinetic data obtained from the systematic capture of TDM samples in SHCS patients will be of invaluable importance.

PBPK models will be developed for drug combinations frequently prescribed in the SHCS patients and for which clinical data on DDIs are lacking. In addition, such models will be developed for drug combinations less frequently used but difficult to manage due to narrow therapeutic index. For each of these drug combinations, clinical data obtained from the SHCS observational study will be used to validate the PBPK models. When applicable, results of POP PK analyses including interacting drug as covariates will also be confronted to PBPK predictions.

7.5. Time Frame

The link between TDM database and the SHCS database was critical for being able to start the collection of samples, and the record of PK data (drug dosage, time of last drug intake, time of blood collection, for both ARVs and co-medications). The first tests for the transfer of TDM data from Lausanne and Zurich Centers have been performed in October, and the process has been reported to be fully operational by the end of the year. The entire research program on DDIs is scheduled to start in January 2017, for a total duration of three years

7.6. Status of Ethical Approval

Separate ethics approval not required, covered by the general SHCS approval.

8. Study Budget

- No support is asked from SHCS for the initial one-year project.

Item	Center	Unit cost CHF	Number	Total CHF
Step 1 Identification of patients coming for a SHCS visit and mailing of medication forms by study nurse or admin personnel	Basel	15	1500	22500
• Step 2 Collection of filled medication forms and rapid check by nurses	Lausanne	15	1500	22500
Step 3 Sending and storage of blood samples	Basel	5	1500	7500
Step 3 Sending and storage of blood samples (insured by PhD student and laboratory staff at Lausanne Center)	Lausanne		1500	0
TOTAL (covered by SNF grant to Decosterd)				52500

- The financial compensation for the initial one-year project limited to Basel and Lausanne Centers will be insured by SNF N° 324730-165956.

9. Other Information

9.1. Specification of samples and data to be used in this project

\boxtimes	SHCS main database		Resistance database
\boxtimes	Genetic database		Mochiv database
\boxtimes	Plasma drug concentration		Cell samples
\boxtimes	Plasma samples	\square	Sampling pool

10. References

1. Brown J, Smith C, Johnson M, Lipman M, Abubakar I. Respiratory co-morbidities in people with HIV. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2016;16(1):21.

2. Barry M, Mulcahy F, Merry C, Gibbons S, Back D. Pharmacokinetics and potential interactions amongst antiretroviral agents used to treat patients with HIV infection. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 1999;36(4):289-304.

3. Marzolini C, Battegay M, Back D. Mechanisms of Drug Interactions II: Transport Proteins. In: Piscitelli CS, Rodvold AK, Pai PM, editors. Drug Interactions in Infectious Diseases. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2011. p. 43-72.

4. Kiang TK, Ensom MH, Chang TK. UDP-glucuronosyltransferases and clinical drug-drug interactions. Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2005;106(1):97-132.

5. Moss DM, Siccardi M, Murphy M, Piperakis MM, Khoo SH, Back DJ, et al. Divalent metals and pH alter raltegravir disposition in vitro. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2012;56(6):3020-6.

6. Beique L, Giguere P, la Porte C, Angel J. Interactions between protease inhibitors and acidreducing agents: a systematic review. HIV medicine. 2007;8(6):335-45.

7. de Maat MM, de Boer A, Koks CH, Mulder JW, Meenhorst PL, van Gorp EC, et al. Evaluation of clinical pharmacist interventions on drug interactions in outpatient pharmaceutical HIV-care. J Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics. 2004;29(2):121-30.

 Evans-Jones JG, Cottle LE, Back DJ, Gibbons S, Beeching NJ, Carey PB, et al. Recognition of risk for clinically significant drug interactions among HIV-infected patients receiving antiretroviral therapy. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2010;50(10):1419-21.

9. Kigen G, Kimaiyo S, Nyandiko W, Faragher B, Sang E, Jakait B, et al. Prevalence of potential drug-drug interactions involving antiretroviral drugs in a large Kenyan cohort. PloS one. 2011;6(2):e16800.

10. Marzolini C, Elzi L, Gibbons S, Weber R, Fux C, Furrer H, et al. Prevalence of comedications and effect of potential drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Antiviral therapy. 2010;15(3):413-23.

11. Miller CD, El-Kholi R, Faragon JJ, Lodise TP. Prevalence and risk factors for clinically significant drug interactions with antiretroviral therapy. Pharmacotherapy. 2007;27(10):1379-86.

12. Patel N, Abdelsayed S, Veve M, Miller CD. Predictors of clinically significant drug-drug interactions among patients treated with nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-, protease inhibitor-, and raltegravir-based antiretroviral regimens. The Annals of pharmacotherapy. 2011;45(3):317-24.

13. Seden K, Merry C, Hewson R, Siccardi M, Lamorde M, Byakika-Kibwika P, et al. Prevalence and type of drug-drug interactions involving ART in patients attending a specialist HIV outpatient clinic in Kampala, Uganda. The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2015;70(12):3317-22.

14. Hasse B, Ledergerber B, Furrer H, Battegay M, Hirschel B, Cavassini M, et al. Morbidity and aging in HIV-infected persons: the Swiss HIV cohort study. Clinical infectious diseases 2011;53(11):1130-9.

15. Marzolini C, Back D, Weber R, Furrer H, Cavassini M, Calmy A, et al. Ageing with HIV: medication use and risk for potential drug-drug interactions. The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2011;66(9):2107-11.

 Vernazzaa PH, B.; Bernasconi, E.; Flepp, M. Les personnes séropositives ne souffrant d'aucune autre MST et suivant un traitement antirétroviral efficace ne transmettent pas le VIH par voie sexuelle.
 Bulletin des médecins suisses. 2008;89:5:165-9. 17. Vigouroux C, Bastard JP, Capeau J. Emerging clinical issues related to management of multiorgan comorbidities and polypharmacy. Current opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2014;9(4):371-8.

18. Badri PS, Dutta S, Wang H, Podsadecki TJ, Polepally AR, Khatri A, et al. Drug Interactions with the Direct-Acting Antiviral Combination of Ombitasvir and Paritaprevir-Ritonavir. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2016;60(1):105-14.

19. Menon RM, Badri PS, Wang T, Polepally AR, Zha J, Khatri A, et al. Drug-drug interaction profile of the all-oral anti-hepatitis C virus regimen of paritaprevir/ritonavir, ombitasvir, and dasabuvir. Journal of hepatology. 2015;63(1):20-9.

20. Talavera Pons S, Boyer A, Lamblin G, Chennell P, Chatenet FT, Nicolas C, et al. Managing drugdrug interactions with new direct-acting antiviral agents in chronic hepatitis C. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2016.

21. van Luin M, Wit FW, Smit C, Rigter IM, Franssen EJ, Richter C, et al. Adherence to HIV therapeutic drug monitoring guidelines in The Netherlands. Therapeutic drug monitoring. 2011;33(1):32-9.

22. Vionnet J, Saouli AC, Pascual M, Stucker F, Decosterd LA, Moradpour D, et al. Therapeutic drug monitoring for sofosbuvir and daclatasvir in transplant recipients with chronic hepatitis C and advanced renal disease. Journal of hepatology. 2016;65(5):1063-5.

23. Barrett JS, Joshi AS, Chai M, Ludden TM, Fiske WD, Pieniaszek HJ, Jr. Population pharmacokinetic meta-analysis with efavirenz. International journal of clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2002;40(11):507-19.

24. Csajka C, Marzolini C, Fattinger K, Decosterd LA, Fellay J, Telenti A, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and effects of efavirenz in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2003;73(1):20-30.

25. Wyen C, Hendra H, Vogel M, Hoffmann C, Knechten H, Brockmeyer NH, et al. Impact of CYP2B6 983T>C polymorphism on non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor plasma concentrations in HIV-infected patients. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2008;61(4):914-8.

26. de Maat MM, Huitema AD, Mulder JW, Meenhorst PL, van Gorp EC, Beijnen JH. Population pharmacokinetics of nevirapine in an unselected cohort of HIV-1-infected individuals. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2002;54(4):378-85.

27. Lubomirov R, Arab-Alameddine M, Rotger M, Fayet-Mello A, Martinez R, Guidi M, et al. Pharmacogenetics-based population pharmacokinetic analysis of etravirine in HIV-1 infected individuals. Pharmacogenetics and genomics. 2013;23(1):9-18. 28. Aouri M GM, Cavassini M, Barcelo C, Rauch A, Buclin T, Decosterd LA, Csajka C and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics analysis of rilpivirine in HIV-1 infected patients. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. In press. 2016.

29. Crommentuyn KM, Kappelhoff BS, Mulder JW, Mairuhu AT, van Gorp EC, Meenhorst PL, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of lopinavir in combination with ritonavir in HIV-1-infected patients. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2005;60(4):378-89.

30. Lubomirov R, di Iulio J, Fayet A, Colombo S, Martinez R, Marzolini C, et al. ADME pharmacogenetics: investigation of the pharmacokinetics of the antiretroviral agent lopinavir coformulated with ritonavir. Pharmacogenetics and genomics. 2010;20(4):217-30.

31. Molto J, Barbanoj MJ, Miranda C, Blanco A, Santos JR, Negredo E, et al. Simultaneous population pharmacokinetic model for lopinavir and ritonavir in HIV-infected adults. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2008;47(10):681-92.

32. Colombo S, Buclin T, Cavassini M, Decosterd LA, Telenti A, Biollaz J, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of atazanavir in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2006;50(11):3801-8.

33. Csajka C, Marzolini C, Fattinger K, Decosterd LA, Telenti A, Biollaz J, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of indinavir in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2004;48(9):3226-32.

34. Arab-Alameddine M, Lubomirov R, Fayet-Mello A, Aouri M, Rotger M, Buclin T, et al. Population pharmacokinetic modelling and evaluation of different dosage regimens for darunavir and ritonavir in HIV-infected individuals. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2014;69(9):2489-98.

35. Arab-Alameddine M, Fayet-Mello A, Lubomirov R, Neely M, di Iulio J, Owen A, et al. Population pharmacokinetic analysis and pharmacogenetics of raltegravir in HIV-positive and healthy individuals. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2012;56(6):2959-66.

36. Barcelo C, Gaspar F, Aouri M, Panchaud A, Rotger M, Guidi M, et al. Population pharmacokinetic analysis of elvitegravir and cobicistat in HIV-1-infected individuals. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2016;71(7):1933-42.

37. Aouri M GM, Cavassini M, Barcelo C, Cavassini M, Buclin T, Decosterd LA, Csajka C and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Population pharmacokinetics analysis of dolutegravir in HIV-1 infected individuals. Poster presentation, PAGE. 2016 Lisbon. (In preparation)

38. Chan PL, Weatherley B, McFadyen L. A population pharmacokinetic meta-analysis of maraviroc in healthy volunteers and asymptomatic HIV-infected subjects. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2008;65 Suppl 1:76-85.

39. Jullien V, Treluyer JM, Rey E, Jaffray P, Krivine A, Moachon L, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of tenofovir in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients taking highly active antiretroviral therapy. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2005;49(8):3361-6.

40. Neely M, Decosterd L, Fayet A, Lee JS, Margol A, Kanani M, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenomics of once-daily raltegravir and atazanavir in healthy volunteers. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2010;54(11):4619-25.

VIII.2. Letter and medication form sent to patients for their

participation in the study SHCS #815

Patient Adresse

Lausanne, le date

Objet : Formulaire médicament/prise de sang

Madame, Monsieur,

Lors de votre prochaine prise de sang, nous allons mesurer les concentrations de médicaments dans votre sang.

Afin de bien interpréter le dosage des médicaments, nous avons besoin de connaitre la liste complète de **tous les médicaments** que vous prenez actuellement.

Nous vous prions donc de bien vouloir indiquer dans le formulaire ci-joint le **nom**, la **dose** ainsi que l'**heure** à laquelle vous avez pris la **dernière prise** de vos médicaments **avant votre rendez-vous pour la prise de sang** (remarque : si vous prenez plusieurs médicaments et à des moments différents, merci d'indiquer les heures de dernière prise pour chacun des médicaments).

Ce formulaire rempli par vos soins est à rapporter lors de votre prochain rendez-vous pour une prise de sang. Ce rendez-vous est prévu le date à heure.

Si vous avez des questions concernant **cette étude**, n'hésitez pas à contacter Perrine Courlet, pharmacienne responsable de cette étude, au 0795563270.

Cordialement,

Consultation ambulatoire de maladies infectieuses

BH 07-872 1011 Lausanne-CHUV Tél. secrétariat +41 21 314 10 22 Fax +41 21 314 10 08 SHCS #815 : fenêtres grises à remplir par l'infirmière lors de la prise de sang, fenêtres jaunes à remplir par le laboratoire

Formulaire pour les patients: liste des médicaments actuels

- Compléter le formulaire avec la liste complète de vos médicaments
- Indiquer le nom, la dose, et l'heure de la dernière prise
- Ne pas prendre vos médicaments le matin du jour de la visite
- Formulaire rempli à remettre à l'infirmière lors de la visite

N° de Cohorte : Date de la		prise de sang:		Heure de la prise de sang :	
Liste des médicaments					
Nom du médicament	Dose journ	alière	Date et heure de l	a dernière	prise de médicament
[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
[[mg	x/j	Date:		Heure:
Numéro du tube		BIOTHEQU	E PLASMA		
815		1 monovet	te EDTA 2.7 ml		
		Nombre d'a	aliquot : 2		
		Quantité/a	liquot : 300 μL et 700	ΟμL	
		Date et heu	ure de congélation : .		

VIII.3. Protocol submitted to the ethics committee for the PK

study with rich sampling

Drug-drug interactions between antiretroviral drugs and cardiovascular drugs in elderly patients from the Swiss HIV Cohort Study.

Research legislation:	Ordinance on human research with the exception of Clinical trials				
Type of Research Project:	Research project involving human subjects				
Risk Categorisation:	A				
Project Leader:	Lausanne Center :				
	Professor Thierry Buclin				
	Head				
	Division of clinical pharmacology and toxicology				
	University Hospital of Lausanne				
	Rue du Bugnon 17, 1011 Lausanne				
	E-mail : Thierry.Buclin@chuv.ch				
	Phone: +41 79 556 68 58				
	Basel Center :				
	Professor Manuel Battegay				
	Head				
	Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology				
	University Hospital Basel				
	4031 Basel				
	E-mail: manuel.battegay@usb.ch				
	Phone: 061 265 50 53				

	Head	Prof Thierry Buclin, MD		
	Division of Clinical	Service of Clinical Pharmacology		
Principal	Pharmacology, CHUV	Bugnon 17		
investigator	011	CHUV. 1011 Lausanne – CH		
0		Phone: +41 79 556 68 58		
		e-mail: Thierry.Buclin@chuy.ch		
	Research group leader.	Prof. Laurent A. Decosterd. PhD		
	Laboratory of	Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology		
	Clinical Pharmacology	Bugnon 19		
	CHUV	CHUV 1011 Lausanne – CH		
		Phone: +41 79 556 54 13		
		e-mail: Laurentarthur Decosterd@chuv.ch		
	Besearch group leader	PD Dr Catia Marzolini, PbD		
	Infoctious Discosos LISP	Division of Infostious Dispassos and Hospital		
	Infectious Diseases, 03B	Enidemiology		
		Petersgrabell 4 – 4031 Basel		
		Phone: +41 // 454 92 28		
		e-mail: Catia.Marzolini@usb.ch		
	Research group leader,	Prof. Chantal Csajka, PhD		
	Division of Clinical	Service of Clinical Pharmacology		
	Pharmacology, CHUV	Bugnon 17		
		CHUV. 1011 Lausanne – CH		
		Phone: +41 79 556 60 46		
		e-mail: Chantal.Csajka@chuv.ch		
	Head HIV Clinic	PD MER Dr Matthias Cavassini		
	Division of Infectious	Division of infectious diseases		
	Diseases, CHUV	Rue du Bugnon 46, BH07/866		
Co-investigators		CHUV. 1011 Lausanne - CH		
		Phone: +41 21 314 1022		
		e-mail: Matthias.Cavassini@chuv.ch		
	Head	Prof. Manuel Battegay, MD		
	Division of Infectious	Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital		
	Diseases & Hospital	Epidemiology		
	Epidemiology, USB	University Hospital Basel		
		Petersgraben 4 – 4031 Basel		
		Phone: 061 265 50 53		
		e-mail: manuel.battegay@usb.ch		
	Head HIV Clinic	Dr Marcel Stoeckle, MD		
	Division of Infectious	Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital		
	Diseases & Hospital	Epidemiology		
	Epidemiology, USB	University Hospital Basel		
		Petersgrahen 4 - 4031 Basel		
		Phone: 061 265 50 62		
		e-mail: marcel stoeckle@ush ch		
	PhD Student	Courlet Perrine		
	Laboratory of	Laboratory of clinical pharmacology		
	Clinical Pharmacology	Rugnon 19		
		CHII/(1011 aucanno - CH		
		CHOV, 1011 Lausdille – CH Dhone: ± 41.79 EE6 22.70		
		Phone: +41 /8 556 32 /0		
		e-mail: Perrine.Courlet@chuv.ch		

PROTOCOL SIGNATURE FORM

The project leader (main center) and the investigator (at the local center/site) have approved the protocol version 2 (dated 23.03.2018), and confirm hereby to conduct the project according to the protocol, the Swiss legal requirements (1, 2), the current version of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki (3) and the principles of Good Clinical Practice.

Project leader (Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Lausanne)

Site [Service of Clinical Pharmacology, Bugnon 17, 1011 Lausanne]

Name: Date: 23.03.20	Buclin Thierry			Signature:	l	Bid	in
lf	applicable	and	not Swiss Natio	identical	with	project	leader:
Name.		Decosterd (unuation, gr	antin 52475	0-105550)
Date: 23.03.20	D18			Signature:			
Sponsor	2: Manuel Bat	tegay/Catia	Marzolini	(Swiss Natio	onal Science	Foundation	n, grant N°
324730_	166204)						
Name:	Manuel Battega	ay					
Date:	23.03.2018			Signature:	Mann	e/ Zat	14/-
Name:	Catia Marzolini				~		
Date:	23.03.2018			Signature:	Cw	bizol	
Local	Project	L	eader	at	loca	I	center/site:
This page must multioually be signed by all participating local Project Leaders.							
Universit	y Hospital Basel, I	Petersgraber	ו 4, 4031 Ba	isel	1		li -

Name of Local Project Leader: Battegay Manuel
Date: 23.03.2018_______Signature:

1. GLOSSARY OF ABBREVATIONS

ARV	Antiretroviral
AUC	Area Under the Curve
BASEC	Business Administration System for Ethical Committees
CHUV	Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois
CRF	Case Report Form
CYP	Cytochrome P450
Darunavir/r	Ritonavir-boosted darunavir
DDI	Drug-Drug Interaction
FOPH	Federal Office of Public Health
HAART	Highly active antiretroviral treatments
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HRA	Human Research Act
HRO	Ordinance on Human
NNRTI	Non-nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitor
P-gp	P-glycoprotein
PI	Protease Inhibitor
USB	Universitätsspital Basel

2. BACKGROUND AND PROJECT RATIONALE

Highly active antiretroviral treatments (HAART) have transformed HIV infection from a deadly disease into a manageable chronic condition. As a consequence, HIV-infected individuals live longer and the proportion of older individuals within the HIV infected population is constantly growing (5). Thus, the management of HIV infection is becoming more complex as patients encounter more age related chronic but also severe morbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, tumors or acute diseases leading to polypharmacy and consequently to potential drug-drug interactions (DDI). In addition, aging is characterized by the decline in the function of organs which may impact the pharmacokinetics of drugs and thereby the magnitude of DDI.

Antiretrovirals are amongst the therapeutic agents with the highest potential for DDIs. Protease inhibitors (PIs) and Non-Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors (NNRTIs) are extensively metabolized by CYPs, and can inhibit and/or induce different CYP isoforms (4). DDIs with ARV agents can also occur at the level of drug transporters (5), glucuronidation enzymes (7), complexation with divalent cations (6) and pH-dependent drug absorption (8). The prevalence of DDIs with HIV therapy has been assessed in several studies performed in USA, the Netherlands, UK, Switzerland, and in resource-limited countries (9-15). These studies indicate that DDIs with HIV therapy are common and affect 19-41% of prescriptions, while clinically significant interactions are found in 1:3 patients receiving antiretroviral therapy. The issue of DDIs is likely to worsen with the aging HIV population where multiple treatments for co-morbidities may interact with HIV therapy (16). Importantly, DDIs can lead to substantial risks of either toxicity or decreased efficacy and subsequent emergence of drug resistance and potential HIV transmission to seronegative partners. For these reasons, the prevention, identification, and management of DDIs are crucial for patient care. However, one of the current issues is that there is a limited number of drug combinations evaluated in clinical studies. Therefore, the management of DDI is challenging in clinical practice, particularly in elderly individuals considering that available data on drug-drug interactions are mostly conducted in healthy volunteers and therefore might not reflect the situation of elderly individuals.

We aim to determine the magnitude of DDIs between antiretroviral drugs and commonly prescribed co-medications (e.g. amlodipine, rosuvastatin and atorvastatin) in HIV-infected patients of the SHCS. We will focus on patients over 60 years old, without excluding younger patients. For that purpose, we plan to conduct pharmacokinetic investigations initially in patients treated with a darunavir/ritonavir-or a dolutegravir-containing regimen and who receive one of the cardiovascular drug of interest. Eligible patients will undergo a pharmacokinetic investigation while treated with darunavir/ritonavir (strong inhibitor of drug metabolizing enzymes) and dolutegravir (no inhibitory effect on drug

metabolizing enzymes) in order to determine the magnitude of the interaction with the comedication.

In addition, the same study framework will serve to examine other drug combinations which are susceptible to interact and whose exploration could be of interest from a clinical point a view to stimulate further confirmatory research, including associations of other cardiovascular agents with other antiretroviral drugs. These investigations are called "exploratory investigations" throughout the document.

Besides their common use in elderly HIV-infected patients, amlodipine, atorvastatin and rosuvastatin were selected due to their predisposition to be victim of drug-drug interactions.

Amlodipine is a calcium channel blocker predominantly metabolized by CYP3A4/5 (17, 18) therefore there is a potential for interaction with strong CYP3A4 inhibitors such as darunavir/ritonavir, or with inducers such as efavirenz. The product information label mentions an increase in amlodipine exposure (+60%) in presence of diltiazem, a CYP3A4 inhibitor. The label indicates that a more pronounced increase is expected with other strong inhibitors like ritonavir however without further detail on the magnitude of the interaction and guidance on how to adjust amlodipine dosage.

Atorvastatin is a lipid-lowering agent predominantly metabolized by CYP3A4 into two major active metabolites: *ortho*-hydroxy atorvastatin and *para*-hydroxy atorvastatin which have a similar activity as the parent drug (19) (20). Importantly, the entry of atorvastatin in the liver, the site of action and metabolic biotransformation and elimination, is dependent on the organic anion transporter protein (OATP1B1/1B3) (21). PIs inhibits this hepatic uptake transporter and therefore have are expected to substantially increase atorvastatin exposure by both inhibiting the entry of the statin in the liver and by further inhibiting its biostransformation. This interaction can lead to serious side effects such as rhabdomyolysis (22). The current recommendations indicate to initiate atorvastatin at a lower dosage in presence of darunavir although formal DDI studies have not been performed particularly in elderly individuals.

Rosuvastatin is also a lipid-lowering agent. Contrary to atorvastatin, rosuvastatin undergoes minor metabolism. However, similarly to atorvastatin, rosuvastatin is actively transported in the liver by OATP1B1/3. Rosuvastatin is also a substrate of BCRP, a transporter present in the intestine and the liver where it limits the absorption and the biliaire elimination of drugs substrates. (23). PIs are also inhibitors of BCRP and therefore are expected to increase rosuvastatin exposure however no guidance is available on how to adjust rosuvastatin dosage in elderly.

Considering the actual paucity of data, this study is timely in view of an aging HIV population and will provide guidance on how to best manage DDI in this fragile population. In addition, these full

pharmacokinetic investigations will allow to consolidate and to refine previous population pharmacokinetic models developed using single point drug measurements through our TDM service (24, 25).

The study falls in the category A as the planned measures for sampling biological material or collecting personal data entail only minimal risks and burdens (clinical observations and peripheral venous blood sampling).

3. PROJECT OBJECTIVES AND DESIGN

3.1 Hypothesis and primary objective (and if applicable also secondary objectives)

Aging is characterized by physiological changes which can impact drug pharmacokinetics and thereby the magnitude of drug-drug interactions. We aim to assess the pharmacokinetics of amlodipine, atorvastatin and rosuvastatin in presence of darunavir/ritonavir (inhibitor of drug metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters) and in presence of dolutegravir (no inhibitory effects on cytochromes or transporters involved in the disposition of the evaluated co-medications) in order to characterize the magnitude of drug-drug interactions in elderly individuals. The first condition will be called the "interaction" condition, and the second condition the "control condition".

3.2 Primary and secondary endpoints

Primary endpoint:

 Quantification of concentrations of ARV and cardiovascular drugs in plasma and characterization of the change in the area under the curve (AUC) of the cardiovascular drug, namely amlodipine, atorvastatin and rosuvastatin in the presence of darunavir/ritonavir (inhibitory effect) or dolutegravir (no inhibitory effect).

Secondary endpoint:

• Exploration of further associations of any other ARV and cardiovascular drugs to detect whether the area under the curve (AUC) of the cardiovascular drug reveals a clinically significant change in case of modification of the ARV treatment.

The characterization of the interaction between ARV and cardiovascular comedications will be performed using non-compartmental methods. In addition, we will develop population pharmacokinetic models for individual cardiovascular drugs and assess the effect of the coadministered antiretroviral drug (this project is part of a separate SNF funded project).

3.3 Project design

A multi-center, open, observational design will be used to assess the pharmacokinetic interaction between selected ARV and cardiovascular drugs. The patients will be recruited in parallel from two centers: HIV clinic at the University Hospital of Lausanne (head of the clinic: PD Dr. M. Cavassini) and HIV clinic at the University Hospital of Basel (head of the clinic: Dr M. Stoeckle). The pharmacokinetic investigations will be performed in the clinical investigations units of each respective hospital following the same standardized investigation protocol. Importantly, the measurement of drug levels will be performed by a single laboratory (laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology at the University Hospital of Lausanne, head: Prof. L. Decosterd) to eliminate inter-laboratory analytical biases.

The patients will be eligible if they receive a once daily ritonavir-boosted darunavir- or a dolutegravircontaining regimen. These regimens, as well as the comedications of interest will be given for at least 2 weeks prior to the blood intake in order to measure steady-state levels of drugs.

The following scenarios will be considered for inclusion:

a) patients already treated with one of the cardiovascular drugs of interest (*i.e.* amlodipine, atorvastatin or rosuvastatin) and requiring a change of ARV for medical reasons. A change from darunavir/r to dolutegravir may occur for metabolic side effects or treatment simplification (single pill regimen). Although less likely to be observed, a change from dolutegravir to darunavir/r could be motivated in patients intolerant to dolutegravir (e.g. CNS side effects) or infected with a virus resistant to integrase inhibitors precluding the use of raltegravir or elvitegravir/c. These patients will be offered to participate twice in the study: once before and once after changing ARV. Such patients will therefore constitute their own control. The second investigation will be performed at least 2 weeks after initiating the new ARV treatment and adjusting accordingly the dose of the comedication (if necessary), in order to rule out any carryover effect and to measure steady state plasma concentrations.



The proportion of patients in this scenario is expected to be small compared to the total of patients included in the study. Yet they will be particularly informative. Importantly, this study will have no influence on medical decisions to modify the antiretroviral treatment.

b) patient treated with one of the cardiovascular drug of interest together with one of the ARV of interest (*i.e.* darunavir/r or dolutegravir). A single pharmacokinetic investigation per patient will be performed in this scenario and two distinct groups (interaction group and control group) will be considered for the pharmacokinetic analysis.





c) patient treated with any cardiovascular drug of exploratory interest (*i.e.* antihypertensive, cardiotropic agent, anticoagulant or antiagregant, agent acting on metabolic risk factors) and requiring a change of ARV treatment for clinical reasons, considered at risk of modifying the disposition of this cardiovascular drug. The patient will be offered to participate twice to the study: before and after changing ARV, so to constitute an own control. The second investigation will be performed at least 2 weeks after initiating the new ARV treatment and adjusting accordingly the dose of the comedication in order to rule out any carryover effect and to measure steady state plasma concentrations:



4. PROJECT POPULATION AND STUDY PROCEDURES

4.1 Project population, inclusion and exclusion criteria

The patients fulfilling the study inclusion criteria described thereafter will be asked to participate in the study. As described in the power calculation, we are aiming to enrol 10 patients for each drug combination which represents a total of 60 PK studies (i.e. 2 antiretroviral drugs each combined with 3 comedications). This number can be reduced if we enrol patients receiving simultaneously two comedications of interest in which case both pharmacokinetic profiles could be measured within the same investigation.

Extra patients included in the exploratory investigations will not be included in the main analysis, but their results will be presented separately.

Inclusion criteria:

- documented HIV-infection
- informed consent as documented by signature (Appendix Informed Consent Form)
- included in the SHCS and followed-up in the HIV Clinic in Lausanne or in Basel
- treatment with a HIV therapy including either once-daily ritonavir-boosted darunavir or dolutegravir (or others ARV drugs for the exploratory investigations)
- treatment with one or eventually 2 of the comedications of interest, *i.e.* amlodipine, atorvastatin or rosuvastatin (or any drug potentially involved in clinically relevant DDI for the exploratory investigations).
- Ability to comply with the study requirements

The presence of any one of the following exclusion criteria will lead to exclusion of the participant:

 Presence of severe comorbidities (i.e. cirrhosis (Child-Pugh score C), heart failure (NYHA 3-4), advanced kidney impairment (KDOQI 4-5)) which can substantially impact the pharmacokinetic of drugs and significantly confound the study results.

- Presence of interacting non HIV comedications (*i.e* comedications with known, strong inhibitory or inducing effects on drug metabolizing cytochromes and drug transporters, which might significantly confound the study results)
- Participants incapable of jugement or participants under tutelage
- Known or suspected non-compliance, drug or alcohol abuse considered at risk to significantly confound the study results
- Inability to follow the procedures of the study, *e.g.* due to language problems, psychological disorders, dementia of the participant,
- Enrolment of the investigator, his/her family members, employees and other dependent persons.
- Women who are pregnant or breastfeeding

The primary outcome of the study is the change in the AUC of the cardiovascular drugs amlodipine, atorvastatin and rosuvastatin in the presence of darunavir/ritonavir (inhibitory effect presumed) or dolutegravir (no inhibitory effect presumed).

The study size is calculated using a Z-test taking into account a significance level of 0.05 and a power of 80% and the standard deviation. The coadministration of amlodipine and indinavir/ritonavir has been studied in young HIV-infected subjects (17). The median, minimum and maximum amlodipine AUC, when administered alone, were shown to be 122, 75 and 234 ng*h/mL respectively. This corresponds to a mean and standard deviation of 138 ± 47 ng*h/mL (conversion is done using the method of Hozo *et al.* (26). The coadministration of amlodipine together with indinavir/ritonavir increased the median, minimum and maximum amlodipine AUC to 230, 99 and 312 ng*h/mL respectively. This corresponds to a mean and standard deviation of 218 ± 62 ng*h/mL. Based on these data, the calculated sample size per drug pair is:

$$n = \frac{\left(Z_{\alpha} + Z_{1-\beta}\right)^2 \times 2 \times \sigma^2}{(\Delta)^2} = \frac{(1.96 + 0.8416)^2 \times 2 \times 62^2}{(218 - 138)^2} = 9.4 \approx 10$$

where *n* is the calculated sample size, Z_{α} is a constant depending on the significance level and whether it is a one-sided or two-sided effect, Z_{1-6} is a constant set by convention according to the power of a study, σ^2 is the variance between people and Δ is the effect difference as detected in the reported clinical study. In this particular case, since the variance between people is unknown, we used the highest reported standard deviation.

This power analysis does not include extra patients recruited for exploratory investigations.

4.2 Recruitment, screening and informed consent procedure

The physicians of the HIV Clinics in Basel and Lausanne will be asked to identify potential eligible patients from their list of patients. As mentioned in the exclusion criteria, the selection of eligible patients will also take into account the current comorbidities and comedications. Thus, patients with severe comorbidities or interfering comedications will not be contacted for the study. Eligible patients will be asked to come to a study information meeting where they will receive details about the study goal and procedure from the study coordinator of the corresponding study site. The patients will have the opportunity to ask questions and will be free to accept or decline their participation in the study. If they accept to be included, they will be asked to sign the informed consent (see annexes) and an appointment for the pharmacokinetic investigation will be scheduled.

Patients will be offered a gift card of 100 CHF per investigation day to reward them for the time dedicated to the study. In addition, the study budget will cover the costs related to the transportation (for patients living outside of Lausanne) and the meals.

Note: the patients will be identified by their SHCS number (i.e. 5 digits number) throughout the study in order to maintain the patient's confidentiality.

4.3 Study procedures

The overall study duration including the recruitment of patients and the pharmacokinetic investigations (i.e. 60 clinical investigation days) is anticipated to last 18 months. The study duration for an individual patient will last either two weeks (patient undergoing antiretroviral treatment change in which case a full day pharmacokinetic investigation will be performed before and again two weeks after the antiretroviral treatment change) or one day (patient remaining on the same antiretroviral treatment in which case only one full day pharmacokinetic investigation will be performed). The pharmacokinetic investigations will be done in the HIV outpatient clinic at CHUV for the patients recruited in Lausanne and in the Clinical Investigation Unit (CTU) at USB for the patients recruited in Basel. The standardized study procedure is provided thereafter.

Procedure for the pharmacokinetic investigation:

On the morning of the investigation, the patient will take the antiretroviral medications together with the comedication of interest with a standard breakfast. Serial blood samples will be collected into EDTA-K monovettes (2.7 ml) from a catheter (Venflon) positioned in the forearm at the following time-points: t = 0 (just before the drug intake) and 30 minutes, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12 hours after the drug intake. A certain flexibility in sampling times is allowed, provided that dosing and sampling times are carefully recorded. The patient will then spend the night at home and return the following morning to provide the last sample of blood 24 hours after the drugs intake. In total, 30 ml of blood will be required for a full pharmacokinetic investigation). A second full pharmacokinetic investigation will be

performed for patients undergoing antiretroviral treatment change for clinical reasons. The investigation will be scheduled two weeks after switching treatment in order to be at steady-state and will be performed as described above.

The time of the drugs intake and blood samples will be documented in the patient case report form (CRF). Specific information will also be collected: time of the last drugs intake before the clinical investigation, complete list of comedications and any side effect reported by the patient during the investigation. All other relevant clinical information (CD4, viral load, chemistry laboratory parameters), co-morbidities will be extracted from the SHCS database.

Sample treatment procedure:

For the investigations performed in Lausanne, the blood samples together with the CRF will be shipped at room temperature on the same day to the laboratory of clinical pharmacology at CHUV. Upon arrival, the blood samples will be centrifuged and the separated plasma will be frozen at -80°C until analysis by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS).

For the investigations performed in Basel: the blood samples will be centrifuged and stored at -80°C at the CTU unit and sent every 3 months on dry ice to the laboratory of clinical pharmacology at CHUV. The tubes will be identified with the patient's SHCS number, the date, time of the blood sampling and the name of the study "DDI study SHCS_815".

Drug levels measurements:

Drug levels of ARV will be quantified by LC-MS/MS using the methods developed in the framework of our routine TDM service (27-29). In addition, LC-MS/MS methods will be newly developed for the quantification of the cardiovascular drugs (amlodipine, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin and the active metabolites, *i.e.* ortho-, para-hydroxy atorvastatin, and atorvastatin lactone).

Pharmacokinetic analyses:

The pharmacokinetics parameters will be first estimated by classical non-compartmental approaches:

- Maximal concentration (C_{max})
- Minimal concentration (C_{min})
- Area under the Curve (AUC)
- Slope of the terminal phase (λ_z)
- Clearance (Cl)
- Half-life (t_{1/2})

For the cardiovascular drugs, these parameters will be compared when combined with darunavir/ritonavir or dolutegravir using a variance analysis from log-transformed values. The analysis will accommodate the partial pairing of parameter values obtained in patients investigated in cross-
over, through the inclusion of a random patient factor assumed to take independent values only between patients. PK parameters of ARV drugs will be simply described.

Thereafter, population analyses will be performed by non-linear mixed effect modelling using the software program NONMEM[•]. This approach allows the characterization of the average pharmacokinetic profile of cardiovascular drugs from data pooled over all sampled individuals and quantify inter- and intra-individual variability. The advantage of this approach is that it allows to analyse sparse (few drug levels per patients) and unbalanced data. The models will integrate active metabolite when appropriate.

The pharmacokinetic variables quantifying cardiovascular drugs exposure will be calculated from the individual Bayesian pharmacokinetic parameters and will be presented with area under the curve (AUC), maximal (C_{max}) and minimal (C_{min}) drug concentrations and drug clearance (CI).

For extra pharmaceutical agents included in the exploratory investigations, only the classical noncompartmental calculations will be performed, and the results will be simply described without formal statistical testing.

4.4 Withdrawal and discontinuation

The patients have the right to withdraw from the study at any time and for any reasons. All data previously collected for these subjects will be anonymized, kept and drug concentrations in the plasma will be analyzed.

5. STATISTICS AND METHODOLOGY

5.1. Statistical analysis plan

The calculation of the sample size is provided under 3.3.

The Wilcoxon signed rank test be used to compare cardiovascular drug concentrations when coadministered with darunavir/ritonavir and dolutegravir. Significance will be defined as a p value less than 0.05.

5.2. Handling of missing data

Participants dropping out of the study will not be retained in the final analysis. These participants will be replaced until achievement of the desired number of study participants.

6. REGULATORY ASPECTS AND SAFETY

6.1 Local regulations / Declaration of Helsinki

This research project will be conducted in accordance with the protocol, the Declaration of Helsinki [3], the principles of Good Clinical Practice, the Human Research Act (HRA) (2) and the Human Research Ordinance (HRO) (1) as well as other locally relevant regulations. The Project Leader acknowledges his responsibilities as both the Project Leader and the Sponsor.

6.2 Notification of safety and protective measures (HRO Art. 20)

The project leader is promptly notified (within 24 hours) if immediate safety and protective measures have to be taken during the conduct of the research project. The Ethics Committee will be notified via BASEC of these measures and of the circumstances necessitating them within 7 days.

6.3 Serious events (HRO Art. 21)

If a serious event occurs, the research project will be interrupted and the Ethics Committee notified on the circumstances via BASEC within 7 days according to HRO Art. 21 (A serious event is defined as any adverse event where it cannot be excluded, that the event is attributable to the sampling of biological material or the collection of health-related personal data, and which: a. requires inpatient treatment not envisaged in the protocol or extends a current hospital stay;

b. results in permanent or significant incapacity or disability; or c. is life-threatening or results in death.)

6.4 Radiation

Not applicable.

6.5 Amendments

Substantial changes to the project set-up, the protocol and relevant project documents will be submitted to the Ethics Committee for approval according to HRO Art. 18 before implementation. Exceptions are measures that have to be taken immediately in order to protect the participants.

6.6 End of project

Upon project termination, the Ethics Committee is notified within 90 days.

The samples' and patients' data will be registered in an excel file, identifying patients with their SHCS number. The patient's blood samples and health data will be identifiable only with the SHCS number of patients, and kept for a maximum time of 15 years after the termination of the study and then destroyed.

6.7 Insurance

In the event of project-related damage or injuries, the liability of the CHUV and USB provides compensation, except for claims that arise from misconduct or gross negligence.

7. FURTHER ASPECTS

7.1 Overall ethical considerations

The management of DDI remains a key aspect of the care of HIV infected patients. One of the current issues is the limited number of drug combinations evaluated in clinical studies which makes the management of drug-drug interactions difficult. Also, available studies are mostly conducted in healthy volunteers and therefore do not reflect the situation of elderly patients. The present project aims to characterize the magnitude of drug-drug interactions between commonly prescribed antiretroviral drugs and cardiovascular drugs in elderly HIV-infected individuals. The results of this investigation will allow to personalize drug treatments and dosages while addressing the problem of interactions with co-medications, and thereby provide the most efficient and safest patient's care. More generally, this proposal aims to bridge a large translational research gap starting from mechanistic pharmacokinetics, going through population modeling, pharmacodynamics and ending up at the level of pharmaco-epidemiology, in an endeavour to bring significant contributions to current knowledge in the field of drug-drug interactions.

The participation to this clinical investigation will essentially require extra blood sampling (11 x 2.7 blood samples; 22 samples in patients investigated in cross-over). To avoid multiple punctures, blood samples will be collected from a catheter positioned in the forearm. This procedure is very common and is usually devoid of risks or complications. Finally, the patients will be informed that the participation in the study is voluntary and that withdrawal from the study will not affect their subsequent medical assistance and treatment.

7.2 Risk-Benefit Assessment

As this project corresponds to an observational study of category A, it does not expose to specific risks for patients outside the usual risks associated with repeated blood sampling through venous catheter over one or two days. Furthermore, this study does not expose participants to a novel treatment but rather allows for a closer monitoring of their current treatment.

All data gathered will be treated confidentially according to the law of data protection. The participants will be informed that some personal data will be accessible to the study investigators but will be kept confidential. During the data analysis, the investigators will assure that the participant's anonymity will be maintained (the participants will not be identified by their names but by an identification number on all source documents) and will guarantee that data are not accessible to unauthorized persons.

The participation to this study has little chance to produce a direct benefit for the patient through an adjustment of the comedication based on the drug measurements in the patient, which will be available only late. Still this project might indirectly improve the management of DDI in HIV treatment.

8. QUALITY CONTROL AND DATA PROTECTION

8.1 Quality measures

The study will be performed in accordance with International Conference on Harmonization (ICH GCP). All investigators involved in this study will have GCP training. Data files will be protected. The investigators will maintain adequate records documenting the conduct of the study. Copies of protocols, CRF, measurements results, analyses, correspondence, records of informed consent and all other documents relevant to the study will be kept on file by the principal investigator or his designee for a period of time as defined by local law for the preservation of hospital patient documents but at least up to 10 years after study completion.

In the laboratory, quality controls will be performed for drug levels quantification. The quality controls will be analyzed throughout the analytical run. The criteria of acceptance for an analytical run will include that 67% of all quality controls are within ± 15% of the theoretical values otherwise the run will be re-analyzed. The lab head will review the results of the drug quantification. The overall data collection and data entry will be reviewed by the investigator coordinating the study.

8.2 Data recording and source data

Once the paper CRF is completed, the data will be entered in an Excel file. To minimize errors, only one person will be allowed to enter the data in the file. Moreover, a regular backup of the database (every 10 patients) will be performed to ensure the traceability of the data. Before any pharmacokinetic or statistical analysis, the data entry will be double checked by the coordinator of the study and the corresponding computer file will be "frozen" i.e. protected as read-only immediately thereafter. All data management will be made on computers from the CHUV network, ensuring proper safety, backups, protection against unauthorized access and firewall.

Source documents include: signed informed consent, CRF (including data on last dose intake, time of blood sampling, comedications), and observations. These source data will be available at the site to document the existence of the study participants.

8.3 Confidentiality and coding

The **project data** will be handled with uttermost discretion and will be only accessible to authorized personnel who require the data to fulfil their duties within the scope of the research project. On the CRFs and other project specific documents, participants are only identified by a unique participant number.

Direct access to source documents will be permitted for purposes of monitoring, audits and inspections (ICHE6, 6.10). During the study, access to dataset will be authorized only for the person entering the data and for the investigator double checking the database. Importantly, data will be coded from the initial screening and at every subsequent steps of the study.

These source data will be kept all together in a binder which will be locked in a secure location in the division of clinical pharmacology. The source data and all other results will be entered in the study database. Access to the database will be allowed to the person entering the data and to the investigator supervising the clinical study. The electronic database will be regularly backed-up.

The **biological material** in this project is not identified by the participant name but by a unique participant number (*i.e* SHCS number of the patient). The biological material is appropriately stored in a restricted area only accessible to the authorized personnel. The biological material will be stored at -80°C at the laboratory of clinical pharmacology. An alarm will start if the temperature exceeds ±5°C. Moreover, the freezer is connected to the Evisense labguard [®] system, which ensures the continuous control of temperature, preventing accidental degradation of samples. It also ensures the complete traceability of the temperature in the equipment.

The biological samples collected at the USB study site will be sent on dry ice every 3 months to Perrine Courlet, laboratory of clinical pharmacology, CHUV, Bugnon 19, 1011 Lausanne. The corresponding CRF will be sent by separate mail.

8.4 Retention and destruction of study data and biological material

The patient's blood samples and health data will be kept for a maximum time of 15 years after the completion of the study and then destroyed.

9. FUNDING / PUBLICATION / DECLARATION OF INTEREST

Thus study is performed in the framework of a SNF funding.

The results of the study will be submitted to local, national and/or international congresses and to peer reviewed journals for publication. The principal investigator and the supervising investigator will be senior and corresponding authors on the publication. All other investigators contributing to the study will be on the publication. Importantly, the study participants will be informed about the results of the study by their HIV physician.

10. REFERENCES

1. Ordinance on Human Research with the Exception of Clinical Trials (HRO) (http://www.admin.ch/opc/en/classified-compilation/20121177/201401010000/810.301.pdf).

2. Human Research Act (HRA) (http://www.admin.ch/opc/en/classifiedcompilation/20121176/201401010000/810.305.pdf).

3. Declaration of Helsinki (http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html).

4. Barry M, Mulcahy F, Merry C, Gibbons S, Back D. Pharmacokinetics and potential interactions amongst antiretroviral agents used to treat patients with HIV infection. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 1999;36(4):289-304.

5. Marzolini C, Battegay M, Back D. Mechanisms of Drug Interactions II: Transport Proteins. Drug Interactions in Infectious Diseases2011. p. 43-72.

6. Moss DM, Siccardi M, Murphy M, Piperakis MM, Khoo SH, Back DJ, et al. Divalent metals and pH alter raltegravir disposition in vitro. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2012;56(6):3020-6.

7. Kiang TK, Ensom MH, Chang TK. UDP-glucuronosyltransferases and clinical drug-drug interactions. Pharmacology & therapeutics. 2005;106(1):97-132.

8. Beique L, Giguere P, la Porte C, Angel J. Interactions between protease inhibitors and acidreducing agents: a systematic review. HIV medicine. 2007;8(6):335-45.

9. de Maat MM, de Boer A, Koks CH, Mulder JW, Meenhorst PL, van Gorp EC, et al. Evaluation of clinical pharmacist interventions on drug interactions in outpatient pharmaceutical HIV-care. Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics. 2004;29(2):121-30.

10. Evans-Jones JG, Cottle LE, Back DJ, Gibbons S, Beeching NJ, Carey PB, et al. Recognition of risk for clinically significant drug interactions among HIV-infected patients receiving antiretroviral therapy. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2010;50(10):1419-21.

11. Kigen G, Kimaiyo S, Nyandiko W, Faragher B, Sang E, Jakait B, et al. Prevalence of potential drug-drug interactions involving antiretroviral drugs in a large Kenyan cohort. PloS one. 2011;6(2):e16800.

12. Marzolini C, Elzi L, Gibbons S, Weber R, Fux C, Furrer H, et al. Prevalence of comedications and effect of potential drug-drug interactions in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Antiviral therapy. 2010;15(3):413-23.

13. Miller CD, El-Kholi R, Faragon JJ, Lodise TP. Prevalence and risk factors for clinically significant drug interactions with antiretroviral therapy. Pharmacotherapy. 2007;27(10):1379-86.

14. Patel N, Abdelsayed S, Veve M, Miller CD. Predictors of clinically significant drug-drug interactions among patients treated with nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-, protease

inhibitor-, and raltegravir-based antiretroviral regimens. The Annals of pharmacotherapy. 2011;45(3):317-24.

15. Seden K, Merry C, Hewson R, Siccardi M, Lamorde M, Byakika-Kibwika P, et al. Prevalence and type of drug-drug interactions involving ART in patients attending a specialist HIV outpatient clinic in Kampala, Uganda. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2015;70(12):3317-22.

16. Marzolini C, Back D, Weber R, Furrer H, Cavassini M, Calmy A, et al. Ageing with HIV: medication use and risk for potential drug-drug interactions. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2011;66(9):2107-11.

17. Glesby MJ, Aberg JA, Kendall MA, Fichtenbaum CJ, Hafner R, Hall S, et al. Pharmacokinetic interactions between indinavir plus ritonavir and calcium channel blockers. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2005;78(2):143-53.

18. Lee JE, van Heeswijk R, Alves K, Smith F, Garg V. Effect of the hepatitis C virus protease inhibitor telaprevir on the pharmacokinetics of amlodipine and atorvastatin. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2011;55(10):4569-74.

19. Kearney AS, Crawford LF, Mehta SC, Radebaugh GW. The interconversion kinetics, equilibrium, and solubilities of the lactone and hydroxyacid forms of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, CI-981. Pharm Res. 1993;10(10):1461-5.

20. Lennernas H. Clinical pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2003;42(13):1141-60.

21. Wu X, Whitfield LR, Stewart BH. Atorvastatin transport in the Caco-2 cell model: contributions of P-glycoprotein and the proton-monocarboxylic acid co-transporter. Pharm Res. 2000;17(2):209-15.

22. Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M, Backman JT. Drug interactions with lipid-lowering drugs: mechanisms and clinical relevance. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2006;80(6):565-81.

23. Kitamura S, Maeda K, Wang Y, Sugiyama Y. Involvement of multiple transporters in the hepatobiliary transport of rosuvastatin. Drug Metab Dispos. 2008;36(10):2014-23.

24. Aouri M GM, Cavassini M, Barcelo C, Cavassini M, Buclin T, Decosterd LA, Csajka C and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Population pharmacokinetics analysis of dolutegravir in HIV-1 infected individuals. PAGE. 2016.

25. Arab-Alameddine M, Lubomirov R, Fayet-Mello A, Aouri M, Rotger M, Buclin T, et al. Population pharmacokinetic modelling and evaluation of different dosage regimens for darunavir and ritonavir in HIV-infected individuals. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2014;69(9):2489-98.

26. Hozo SP, Djulbegovic B, Hozo I. Estimating the mean and variance from the median, range, and the size of a sample. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2005;5:13.

27. Aouri M, Calmy A, Hirschel B, Telenti A, Buclin T, Cavassini M, et al. A validated assay by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for the simultaneous quantification of elvitegravir and rilpivirine in HIV positive patients. J Mass Spectrom. 2013;48(5):616-25.

28. Fayet A, Beguin A, Zanolari B, Cruchon S, Guignard N, Telenti A, et al. A LC-tandem MS assay for the simultaneous measurement of new antiretroviral agents: Raltegravir, maraviroc, darunavir, and etravirine. Journal of chromatography B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences. 2009;877(11-12):1057-69.

29. Colombo S, Beguin A, Telenti A, Biollaz J, Buclin T, Rochat B, et al. Intracellular measurements of anti-HIV drugs indinavir, amprenavir, saquinavir, ritonavir, nelfinavir, lopinavir, atazanavir, efavirenz and nevirapine in peripheral blood mononuclear cells by liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of chromatography B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences. 2005;819(2):259-76.

VIII.4. Participant information sheet for the PK study with rich sampling

Interactions médicamenteuses entre la thérapie antirétrovirale et les médicaments cardio-vasculaires chez les patients âgés de la Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS)

Cette étude est organisée par la Division de Pharmacologie et Toxicologie clinique du CHUV, en collaboration avec les services de maladies infectieuses du CHUV et de l'Hôpital Universitaire de Bâle.

Madame, Monsieur,

Nous vous proposons de participer à notre étude. Cette feuille d'information décrit le projet de recherche dans une version longue (version détaillée).

Information détaillée

1. Objectifs du projet de recherche

Dans le cadre de votre suivi pour votre infection à VIH, vous recevez un traitement antirétroviral. Le succès de ce traitement va de pair avec une exposition constante du virus à l'action des médicaments. Grâce aux antirétroviraux, l'infection par le VIH est devenue une maladie que l'on peut stabiliser sur le long terme. Par conséquent, les patients infectés par le VIH vivent de plus en plus longtemps et sont confrontés à des problèmes de santé liés à l'âge, telles que les maladies cardio-vasculaires. Ceci conduit à des associations médicamenteuses complexes, avec un risque d'interactions médicamenteuses. A ce jour, très peu d'études ont mesuré l'exposition à ces médicaments chez les personnes âgées recevant des antirétroviraux.

Nous aimerions quantifier l'effet de votre traitement antirétroviral sur les autres médicaments que vous prenez. Nous nous intéressons plus particulièrement à trois médicaments, qui sont l'amlodipine (anti-hypertenseur), l'atorvastatine et la rosuvastatine (hypo-cholestérolémiant). Mais nous sommes également ouverts à explorer d'autres médicaments.

2. Sélection des personnes pouvant participer au projet

La participation est ouverte à toutes les personnes séropositives, faisant partie de la Swiss HIV Cohort Study (SHCS) et qui, en outre, reçoivent à la fois un traitement antirétroviral (darunavir-ritonavir ou dolutégravir, ou éventuellement d'autres antirétroviraux), et au moins une des 3 comédications cardio-vasculaires citées (amlodipine, atorvastatine, rosuvastatine, ou autres).

Cette étude est en revanche fermée aux personnes incapables de discernement ou sous tutelle.

3. Informations générales sur le projet

- Il s'agit d'une étude nationale, qui recrute des patients suivis à Lausanne et à Bâle.
- Tous les patients de la SHCS ayant une thérapie antirétrovirale contenant du darunavirritonavir ou du dolutégravir (ou autres), et un des 3 médicaments d'intérêt (amlodipine, atorvastatine, rosuvastatine, ou autres) peuvent participer à cette étude.
- Il s'agit de prélever une série d'échantillons de sang sur une journée afin de suivre heure après heure les concentrations sanguines (taux sanguins) de vos médicaments (antirétroviral et comédication). En pratique, les participants demeurent 12 heures dans notre centre d'investigation clinique, passent la nuit à la maison et reviennent le lendemain matin pour la dernière prise de sang prélevée 24 heures après le début de l'investigation.

Cette investigation pourra être répétée une deuxième fois si votre traitement antirétroviral doit être modifié pour des raisons médicales et que vous devez recevoir un autre médicament antirétroviral qui fait aussi l'objet de cette investigation.

- Les médicaments sont administrés à la dose prescrite par votre médecin.
- L'étude sera terminée pour vous après la prise de sang de 24 heures ou, le cas échéant, de la deuxième investigation. Les résultats de l'étude vous seront communiqués par votre infectiologue.
- Au total, nous prévoyons d'inclure 60 patients pour cette étude (10 patients pour chaque comédication lorsque administrée en présence de darunavir/ritonavir ou dolutégravir).

Nous effectuons ce projet dans le respect des prescriptions de la législation suisse. La commission cantonale d'éthique compétente a contrôlé et autorisé le projet.

4. Déroulement pour les participants

En pratique (voir schéma ci-dessous), vous serez convoqué à 2 reprises au service de maladies infectieuses du CHUV afin de prélever des échantillons sanguins. Ces échantillons seront utilisés pour mesurer les concentrations de vos médicaments (antirétroviraux et médicaments cardio-vasculaire). Ces échantillons seront également associés à vos données personnelles liées à votre santé qui seront récoltées dans votre dossier médical.

Avant votre visite à la consultation médicale prévue pour l'investigation, notez très précisément sur votre feuille de rendez-vous l'heure à laquelle vous avez pris la dernière dose de vos médicaments avant ce rendez-vous. Ces informations sont essentielles à l'étude. Ne prenez pas les médicaments antirétroviraux avant la consultation, mais emmenez votre traitement habituel avec vous.

Lors de la consultation pour l'investigation, un cathéter veineux (Venflon) sera inséré dans une veine de votre avant-bras par une personne qualifiée. Le but ici est de permettre des prises de sang répétées sans devoir vous piquer à chaque fois.

Une prise de sang initiale vous sera faite pour déterminer les concentrations de médicaments restant suite à la dernière dose. Après cette première prise de sang, vous prendrez sur place la dose prescrite de vos médicaments antirétroviraux et de votre comédication (amlodipine, atorvastatine ou rosuvastatine), au cours d'un petit déjeuner offert par le CHUV.

À environ 30 minutes, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 10 et 12h après la dose, des prélèvements de sang seront pratiqués pour déterminer les concentrations sanguines. Vous devrez rester à l'hôpital pendant ces 12h. Vous rentrerez ensuite à votre domicile et vous reviendrez à l'hôpital le lendemain afin de réaliser une dernière prise de sang correspondant aux concentrations de médicaments 24h après la dernière prise. Au total, 30 ml (11 tubes de sang de 2.7 mL) vous seront prélevés pour cette étude.



La durée de l'étude est de 18 mois, mais dépendra de la capacité de recrutement des patients. Les résultats finaux de l'étude seront disponibles lorsque le nombre minimum requis de patients aura été atteint (au plus tôt mi 2019).

5. Bénéfices pour les participants

La participation à ce projet pourra être bénéfique pour vous puisqu'elle pourra permettre un ajustement du dosage de vos médicaments, selon le degré de l'interaction observée. De plus, les résultats du projet contribueront à mieux adapter les doses de médicaments pour d'autres patients qui reçoivent le même traitement que vous..

6. Droits des participants

Vous êtes libre d'accepter ou de refuser de participer au projet. Si vous choisissez de ne pas participer ou si vous choisissez de participer et revenez sur votre décision pendant le déroulement du projet, vous n'aurez pas à vous justifier. Cela ne changera rien à votre prise en charge médicale habituelle. Vous pouvez à tout moment poser toutes les questions nécessaires au sujet de l'étude. Veuillez-vous adresser pour ce faire à la personne indiquée à la fin de la présente feuille d'information.

7. Obligations des participants

En tant que participant au projet, vous serez tenu :

- de suivre les instructions médicales de votre médecin investigateur, et de vous conformer au plan de l'étude (notamment vous rendre aux visites prévues par l'étude). Nous vous rappelons qu'il est demandé de ne pas pendre son traitement avant de venir à la visite pour l'investigation, mais de l'amener avec vous au rendez-vous.
- d'informer votre médecin-investigateur / direction du projet de tous les médicaments que vous pourriez prendre, même les médicaments de médecine complémentaire ou toute forme en vente libre (plantes médicinales, remèdes homéopathiques, essences spagyriques, remèdes asiatiques, et préparations vitaminiques).

8. Risques

En participation au projet, vous serez exposé à des risques mineurs tels que la pose d'un cathéter et les prises de sang. Des réactions locales et transitoires pourraient apparaître au site de prélèvement (rougeur, induration, œdème, hématome, saignement).

9. Découvertes pendant le projet

Le médecin-investigateur vous avisera pendant l'étude de toute nouvelle découverte susceptible d'influer sur les bénéfices de l'étude ou votre sécurité, et donc sur votre consentement à y participer. En cas de découvertes fortuites qui, chez vous, pourraient contribuer à la prévention, au diagnostic et au traitement de maladies existantes ou probables dans le futur, le médecin investigateur vous en informera.

10. Confidentialité des données

Pour les besoins de l'étude, nous enregistrerons vos données personnelles et médicales. Seul un nombre limité de personne peut consulter vos données sous une forme non codée, et exclusivement afin de pouvoir accomplir des tâches nécessaires pour le déroulement du projet. Les autres personnes participant au projet ne peuvent consulter vos données que sous une forme codée. Le codage signifie que toutes les données permettant de vous identifier (p. ex. le nom, la date de naissance, etc.) sont remplacées par un code, de sorte que les personnes ne connaissant pas ce code ne peuvent pas lier ces données à votre personne. Toutes les personnes impliquées dans l'étude de quelque manière que ce soit sont tenues au secret professionnel. Vous avez à tout moment le droit de consulter vos données.

Durant son déroulement, le projet peut faire l'objet d'inspections. Celles-ci peuvent être effectuées par la commission d'éthique qui s'est chargée de son contrôle initial et l'a autorisé, mais aussi être mandatées par l'organisme qui l'a initié. Il se peut que la direction du projet doive communiquer vos données personnelles et médicales pour les besoins de ces inspections.

11. Retrait du projet

Vous pouvez à tout moment vous retirer de l'étude si vous le souhaitez.

Après l'analyse nous rendrons vos données et votre matériel biologique anonymes, en effaçant définitivement le code les reliant à votre personne (ou le cas échéant : et nous détruirons entièrement votre matériel biologique après conservation pendant 10 ans). Après cela, plus personne ne pourra savoir que ces données et ce matériel sont les vôtres.

12 Rémunération des participants

Si vous participez à ce projet, vous ne recevrez pour cela aucune rémunération. Les investigateurs ont toutefois prévu de vous offrir un bon d'achat de 100 CHF pour vous remercier du temps consacré. Les dépenses, telles que les frais de transport, qui découlent directement de la participation à l'étude vous seront remboursées (selon tarif des transports publics 2^{ème} classe)

13 Réparation des dommages subis

Les dommages de santé que vous pourriez subir du fait de cette étude relèvent de la responsabilité de l'organisme ou de l'entreprise qui l'a initiée et est en charge de sa réalisation. En cas de dommages causés dans le cadre de l'étude, le CHUV répondra de ces derniers en sa qualité de promoteur conformément aux dispositions légales applicables. Les conditions et la procédure sont fixées par la loi. Si vous avez subi un dommage, veuillez-vous adresser au médecin responsable du projet.

14 Financement du projet

L'étude est intégralement financée par le FNS.

15 Interlocuteur(s)

En cas de doute, de craintes ou d'urgences pendant ou après l'étude, vous pouvez vous adresser à tout moment à l'un des interlocuteurs suivants :

- Médecin pharmacologue responsable du projet :

Prof Dr med Thierry Buclin

Service de pharmacologie clinique

Bugnon 17

CHUV. 1011 Lausanne – CH Téléphone : +41 79 556 68 58 e-mail : Thierry.Buclin@chuv.ch

Médecin infectiologue responsable, site de Lausanne :
 PD MER Dr Matthias Cavassini
 Division des maladies infectieuses
 Rue du Bugnon 46, BH07/866
 CHUV. 1011 Lausanne - CH
 Téléphone : +41 21 314 1022
 e-mail: Matthias.Cavassini@chuv.ch

Collaborateurs

Pharmacienne responsable, site de Bâle :
 PD Dr PhD Catia Marzolini
 Infectiologie et hygiène hospitalière
 Universitätsspital Basel
 Téléphone: 077 454 92 28
 e-mail: Catia.Marzolini@usb.ch

Pharmacienne responsable du site de Lausanne :
 Perrine Courlet
 Service de pharmacologie clinique
 Bugnon 17
 CHUV. 1011 Lausanne – CH
 Téléphone : +41 79 556 32 70
 e-mail : Perrine.Courlet@chuv.ch

Déclaration de consentement

Déclaration de consentement écrite pour la participation à un projet de recherche

- Veuillez lire attentivement ce formulaire.
- N'hésitez pas à poser des questions lorsque vous ne comprenez pas quelque chose ou que vous souhaitez avoir des précisions.

Numéro	BASEC	du pro	oiet :

(après soumission à la commission d'éthique	
compétente) :	
Titre de l'étude :	Interactions médicamenteuses entre la thérapie
(titre scientifique et titre usuel)	antirétrovirale et les médicaments cardio-vasculaires
	chez les patients âgés de la Swiss HIV Cohort Study
	(SHCS)
Institution responsable :	Division de pharmacologie clinique du CHUV
(adresse complète) :	Bugnon 17
	CHUV 1011 Lausanne – CH
Lieu de réalisation du projet :	Lausanne et Bâle
Directeur / directrice du projet sur le site :	Lausanne : Prof. Thierry Buclin
(nom et prénom en caractères d'imprimerie) :	Bâle: Prof. Manuel Battegay
Participant / participante :	
(nom et prénom en caractères d'imprimerie) :	
Date de naissance :	femme homme

- Je déclare avoir été informé, par le médecin investigateur /par la personne assurant l'information soussigné(e), oralement et par écrit, des objectifs et du déroulement du projet ainsi que des effets présumés, des avantages, des inconvénients possibles et des risques éventuels.
- Je prends part à cette étude de façon volontaire et j'accepte le contenu de la feuille d'information qui m'a été remise sur le projet précité. J'ai eu suffisamment de temps pour prendre ma décision.
- J'ai reçu des réponses satisfaisantes aux questions que j'ai posées en relation avec ma participation au projet. Je conserve la feuille d'information et reçois une copie de ma déclaration de consentement écrite.
- J'accepte que mon médecin traitant soit informé de ma participation au projet.
- J'accepte que les spécialistes compétents de l'institution, du mandataire du projet, de la Commission d'éthique compétente pour cette étude, puissent consulter mes données brutes afin

de procéder à des contrôles, à condition toutefois que la confidentialité de ces données soit strictement assurée.

- Je serai informé des découvertes (fortuites) ayant une incidence directe sur ma santé.
- Je sais que mes données personnelles (et échantillons biologiques) peuvent être transmises / transmis à des fins de recherche dans le cadre de ce projet uniquement et sous une forme codée.
- Si je bénéficie / devais bénéficier d'un traitement médical en dehors de l'institution responsable de ce projet, j'accepte que le médecin responsable du projet du projet contacte les médecins traitants afin d'obtenir mes données médicales pertinentes pour ce projet.
- Je peux, à tout moment et sans avoir à me justifier, révoquer mon consentement à participer à l'étude, sans que cela n'ait de répercussion défavorable sur la suite de ma prise en charge médicale usuelle. Je sais que les données médicales et le matériel biologique (échantillons de sang) qui ont été recueillis jusque-là seront cependant analysés.
- Je suis informé qu'en cas de dommages éventuels dans le cadre de l'étude, le CHUV répondra de ces derniers en sa qualité de promoteur conformément aux dispositions légales applicables.

Lieu, date	Signature du participant / de la participante

Attestation du médecin investigateur /de la personne assurant l'information : Par la présente, j'atteste avoir expliqué au participant / à la participante la nature, l'importance et la portée du projet. Je déclare satisfaire à toutes les obligations en relation avec ce projet conformément au droit en vigueur. Si je devais prendre connaissance, à quelque moment que ce soit durant la réalisation du projet, d'éléments susceptibles d'influer sur le consentement du participant / de la participante à prendre part au projet, je m'engage à l'en informer immédiatement.

Lieu, date	Nom et prénom du médecin investigateur / de la personne assurant
	l'information aux participants en caractères d'imprimerie.
	Signature du médecin investigateur / de la personne assurant l'information

VIII.5. Poster presented at the EACS congress 2019

Cent	ral nervous system pene neurocognitive impairm	tration of antire lent, assessed fr	troviral drugs in HI om paired plasma-	V-positive patier CSF concentratio	its with ns	
Perrine Courlet ¹ , Phanie Bidlin, Muil Unit Universit & Laurante	gmeyer ² , Isaure Nadin ³ , Marc Sanche clinical pharmacology ; ² Service of In all from Lausanne Univ	z ⁴ , Thierry Buclin ¹ , Laurer fectious Diseases ; ³ Depa rersity Hospital and Unive	It Decosterd ¹ , Katharine Dar rtment of clinical neurosciel rsity of Lausanne, Switzerlaı	ling ² , Renaud Du Pasquier nces ; ⁴ Service of psychiat nd	3, Matthias Cavassini ² ry ENSNE emmont sin and a 24730-16356 to LAI	SWISS HIV COHORT STUDY AD
Introduction and objectives	Results					
 Antiretroviral (ABV) drug penetration 	◆ 210 paired plasma/CSF were obt	ained in 72 patients.	Figure 2: CSF/plasma ra	tio of ARV drugs stratifie	d by therapeutic classes	
into cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) has been	Table 1: Patients' characteristics		NRTI	NNRTI	PI	
incompletely examined.	Characteristics (N=72)	Median [IQR] or n (%)	6.00			
penetration is associated with a better	Age (years) Men	48 [42-56] 39 (54)			-	
 However, the association between CSF 	Body weight (24 missing values) CD4T-call count	69 [63-77] 581 [437-787]	•	-∐- + -∯		
ARV penetration and neurocognitive impairment is dispurted	Plasma HIV RNA< 50 copies/mL	68 (94)	-2.5- LOG		-	
 We aimed to evaluate factors 	CSF HIV RNA< 20 copies/mL NCI	66 (92)	nine Naline (dine (dine (davir	aninin aninin aninin aninin aninin aninen aninin	JINEJ JINEJ JINEJ JINEJ	7
associated with ARV CSF passage	Asymptomatic NCI	12 (17)	edA () ivoio) oiovir Lamiricita Lamiricita Lam	uenta enivelv viqlifa nesetA narut	nidoj Poluteg Maiteg Moluteg	
Methods	Mild NCI HIV-associated dementia	4 (b) 1 (1)	م المرقم المرقم المرقم المرقم المرقم - CSF to plasma ratios wei	re highly variable (Coeffici	ent of variation 668%).	
◆ Patients seen at the Lausanne	Non-HIV associated NCI	40 (56)	Table 2: Factors associa	ted with log(CSF/plasma)	l ratio in univariate analyses	5
University Hospital Neuro-HIV Platform	Abbreviations: IQR: interquartile ra	inge	Est	timate Confidence interval (CI)	+ Log(CSF/plasma) ratio sli increases along do	ightly
 Multidisciplinary clinical examination. 	Higure 1: Type of ARV regimens by Patients without NCI (n=15) Patie	r neurocognitive status ents with anv NCI (n=57)	Free fraction 0.0	32 0.027-0.037	interval by 5% per hour	9
◆ NCI classified according to Frascati		2%	Time after dose 0.0 Age -0.(47 0.018-0.075 0034 -0.028 to 0.021	 Compared to doluteg 	gravir,
 Criteria. Therapeutic drug monitoring in paired 	70%	18%	Gender -0.(0615 -0.59 to 0.47	nevirapine and lamivu	udine,
plasma and CSF samples (liquid	%/17 mm	8%	Body weight -0.(CSE albumin lavel -0.0	0005 -0.03 to 0.03	increased log(CSF/pla	asma)
chromatography coupled with tandem	27% 13%	19% 33%			 ratio by 4-5.5 fold. 	
mass spectrometry).	13%		Conclusion			
 Free fraction retrieved from the summary of products characteristics. 	boosted INSTI combined	INSTI NNRTI PI	 CSF/plasma ratio marke 	edly varies between ARVs	-	
 Linear mixed-effects models (R) with log transformed CEChlorms ratios 	 NNRTIs are more represented i 	n patients with any NCI	 CSF penetration needs 	to be considered accord	riding to specific ARV mole	ecule
10g-traisonneu corpuasina ratios.	compared to patients without N	CI.	rather than ARV class.			

Abbreviations: INSTI: integrase inhibitor; NNRTI: non nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; NRTI: nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; PI: protease inhibitor; combined: PI+INSTI, PI+INSTI+NNRTI, PI+INSTI+NNRTI

VIII.6. Posters presented at the CROI conferences 2019 and

2020

ERACTIONS IN HIV-INFECTED ELDERLY a Guidi ^{11,5} , Susana Alves Saldanha ¹ , Deolinda Alves ⁴ , and the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. V Hospital of Basel, Switzerland. ¹⁰ Epartment of Molecular and Clinical Pharmacology, University even, University of Lausanne, Switzerland.	Methods	Multicentre (Lausanne & Basel) prospective study within the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. PLWH were contacted before their bi-annual follow-up visit to fill in a form recording all their current medications (including over-the-counter drugs).	1675 collected forms from 1034 PLWH (among which 131 (13%) were 2 65 years-old).	25 non-HIV drugs. edications Anticholinergic drugs (anticholinergic risk scale, ARS 23) and benzodiazepines. Between ART and cardiovascular or CNS drugs using the Liverpool drug interaction database (https://www.hivedrusinte-arcinons.org)		Inappropriate medications in elderly	 Inappropriate medications were found in 14% of elderly PLWH and included mostly benzodiazepines, not recommended as elderly are more sensitive to their effects. 	\star Considering all patients, the most frequently prescribed drug with ARS \ge 3 was hydroxyzine,	representing 33% of drugs with ARS ≥ 3.	Potential DDIs by age group	<65 years-old ≥ 65 years-old	Lipid modifying agents	A Agents acting on the Agents acting on the renin-anglotensin system	Beta blocking agents	Divretics	Calcium channel blockers	Psycholeptice-	Psychoanaloptics-	Analgesics	Antieplieplics Antieplieplics (1990)	C Unter nervous system drugs (Separation)	Anti-parkinson drugs-	 Although PDDIs remain common, their rate is decreasing compared to a previous analysis of the SHCS (Marzolini et al. ANT 2010) due to the increasing use of unboosted to a previous analysis of the SHCS (Marzolini et al. ANT 2010) due to the increasing use of unboosted INSTIS. PDDIs with cardiovascular drugs were more common in elderly PLWH whilst CNS drugs were anially involved in PDDIs in younger PLWH. Of interest, no deleterious DDIs were detected as physicians have appropriately adjusted drug dosage in problematic range and red DDIs. For instance, quetiapine dosage was reduced to 1/6 in presence of boosted protease inhibitors. In our Swiss population, use of unboosted INSTIS is growing thus decreasing the rate of PDDIs. However, 1/3 of elderly had complex ART regimens acting as perpetrator of DDIs. Given the higher prevalence of polypharmacy and the additional risk of inappropriate drug use, caution is needed when prevalence of polypharmacy and the additional risk of inappropriate drug use, caution is needed when prevalence of polypharmacy and the additional risk of inappropriate drug use, caution is needed 	the risk of prescribing errors in this vulnerable, growing population. This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation grant SNF 324730-165956 to LAD
IAPPROPRIATE DRUGS & DRUG-DRUG IN1 Arzolini ^{2,3} *, Matthias Cavassin ¹⁴ , Manuel Battegay ² , Moni Ii Waelti Da Costa ⁴ , Chantal Csajka ^{1,5} , Laurent Decosterd ¹ , Lausame, Switzerland. ¹ Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University of Ga ity Hospital of Lausanne, Switzerland. ¹ School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Ga	pu	deadly disease to a manageable chronic condition. physiological changes and comorbidities, predisposing to Study design propriate medication use.	Data	trail nervous system (CNS) drug use across age groups. Polypharmacy trail DDIs (PDDIs) and inappropriate drugs in < 65 vs ≥ 65 Strate across dosages. In appropriate across dosages.	Results	Number of comedications by age group			1984				7388+			10-24 25-24 35-44 45-54 55-64 x=05 (n=127) (n=23) (n=225) (n=215) (n=215)	Polypharmacy is highly prevalent in PLWH > 65 years (46%) compared to	other age groups.	Type of comedications by age group		 Liptid modifying agents Agents acting on the remin-angiotensin system 	 Antitriterinoide agents Psycholophics (antitychics, anxio)/sics and sedatives) 	40%	 Prescription of cardiovascular drugs increases with age whereas use of CNS drugs stays stable.
0466 POLYPHARMACY, IN Perrine Courlet ¹ , Catia N Note Note *second thread Pharmacology, University Hospital of the proof, UK, "Division of Infectious Diseases, University Hospital of the Interview of University Hospital of the proof.	Backgrou	 Antiretroviral therapy (ART) has transformed HIV infection from i People living with HIV (PLWH) are aging, experience age-related the risk of polypharmacy, drug-drug interactions (DDIs) and inapt 	Aims	 To assess the prevalence of polypharmacy and cardiovascular/cee To determine the type of ART as well as the prevalence of poter years-old PLWH. To assess the nevalence of deleterious DDIs by looking at competing 		Patients characteristics	Total number of participants 1034 (100%)	Median age, [IQR] 51 [42-58]	Maie gender, n (%) 707 (68)	Date of HIV diagnosis, n (%)	Before 1990 124 (12)	1990-2000 253 (25)	2001-2010 393 (38)	≥ 2011 228 (22) Transmission risk n (%)	Homosexual contacts 3,85 (37)	Heterosexual contacts 488 (47)	Intravenous drug use 70 (7)	HIV RNA < 50 copies/mL, n (%) 998 (96)	Median CD4 T-cell count, [IQR] 683 [524-904]	Polypharmacy, n(%) 167 (16)	IOK=interquartile range	Type of ART by age group	 G5 years-old 265 years-old 366 23% 366 23% 366 23% 366 23% 367 years-old 367 years-old 368 23% 369 23% 369 23% 360 23%	PLWH have more complex ART characterized by a higher DDI potential.

